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	When Michael Bishop died on November 13, 2023, our field of fantastic literature lost one of its most treasured authors. Mike’s career began in 1970 with a short story sale to Galaxy Magazine. By the time he sold his first...
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	I was slow to warm up to science fiction conventions. I attended my first, Boskone boskone.org , many years ago as a new and very lightly published writer (one story sold, but not yet in print) and stayed only for...
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	The first of three powerful novellas in the May/June 2024 issue is Rich Larson’s thrilling tale about a group of “Barbarians.” Complex and brutal interactions and betrayals make this story a true page turner/swiper! Michèle Laframboise takes us aboard an...






	ON BOOKS: IS ENGLISH THE LATIN OF SF?



	Well, of course it is, because English is the second language of many places where it isn’t the first language, just as Latin was once the intellectual language everywhere—even when it ceased to be the first language anywhere....






	SF CONVENTIONAL CALENDAR



	Spring is almost here, and with it a lot of convention activity. I haven’t firmed up my schedule yet, but you can be sure I’ll be around. Don’t forget the Glasgow WorldCon later this year, and Seattle in 2025. Plan...
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EDITORIAL: CRI DE COEUR

By Sheila Williams


 

When Michael Bishop died on November 13, 2023, our field of fantastic literature lost one of its most treasured authors. Mike’s career began in 1970 with a short story sale to Galaxy Magazine. By the time he sold his first tale to Asimov’s, Mike’s fiction had already received at least five Nebula and four Hugo nominations. That first sale to us, “Cabinet Meeting” (Summer 1977), was a novelette that appeared in our second issue!

The first of Mike’s stories that I worked on was “The Gospel According to Gamaliel Crucis (or, the Astrogator’s Testimony),” a novella that was our November 1983 cover story. That tale was a finalist for the Nebula Award. It was also one of our most controversial publications, which meant that we received a few letters of complaint from our readers. Mike was a practicing Christian and inspiration for the story had come from his faith. In an editorial on “Religion and Science Fiction” that Isaac Asimov wrote for our June 1984 issue, the Good Doctor described the story thus:

[“The Gospel According to Gamliel Crucis”] dealt with a sensitive subject—the coming of a savior, or, in effect, the second coming of Christ.

What makes it even more effective as a science fiction story is that the savior is an extraterrestrial, and not a particularly attractive one to our human eyes since she (!) is a giant mantis. This is entirely legitimate, it seems to me, since if there is other life in the Universe, especially intelligent life, one would expect that a truly Universal God would be as concerned for them as for us, and would totally disregard physical shape since it is only the “soul,” that inner intellectual and moral identity that counts.

Isaac added that, “The result was a tour de force which we obviously considered quite successful, or we would not have published it.” With Isaac’s permission, the entire editorial was reprinted as the Introduction of Mike’s 1986 short story collection, Close Encounters with the Deity. The book also included Mike’s Hugo and Nebula Finalist, “A Gift from the GrayLanders,” which appeared in our September 1985 issue; the collection’s near title story, “Close Encounter with the Deity,” which was published in Asimov’s in March 1986; and “Alien Graffiti (A Personal History of Vagrant Intrusions)” from our June 1986 issue.

The 1992 World Fantasy Convention was held in Mike’s hometown—Pine Mountain, Georgia—and that’s where I got the chance to really get to know him. After spending time with Mike and his wife Jeri, they invited me, and a couple of other people, over to their beautiful home. They gave us a tour of their house, which I believe had been owned by Jeri’s family for a few generations. They also regaled us with stories about their son Jamie and daughter Stephanie, who were both away at college.

My oldest daughter was born in 1993, and I tentatively included a photo of her in a few of our authors’ holiday cards. Mike’s response to the photo and his sincere interest in my family encouraged me to continue to include these photos in cards and to expand on the number of people who received them. [I know some authors were perplexed, but I was delighted that eventually many started sending photos of their kids and/or pets back to me.] As I told Mike years later, I also tried to emulate the loving home life for my kids that he and Jeri had provided for their own children.

Mike’s ninth story in Asimov’s, “Cri de Coeur,” was our September 1994 cover story. This moving novella about the journey on a generation starship was also a finalist for both the Hugo and the Theodore Sturgeon Award. There was a twelve-year gap between Mike’s tenth Asimov’s story in 1996 and his eleventh in 2008. During that time, Mike and I mostly stayed in touch via holiday cards.

On April 16, 2007, Mike and Jeri experienced one of the most terrible tragedies that can befall a family. Their thirty-five-year-old son Jamie, now an instructor of German at Virginia Tech, was murdered in the deadliest school shooting in U.S. history. Mike’s next tale for us, “Vinegar Peace, or, The Wrong- Way Used-Adult Orphanage” (July 2008), was the painful story of a society that sends adults to orphanages after their last child dies. It, too, was nominated for a Nebula.

In February 2015, we published Mike’s powerful novelette about “Rattlesnakes and Men.” This story was partially inspired by the use of rattlesnakes in certain religious services and Nelson, Georgia’s 2013 ordinance that required that every head of household own a working firearm. Like “The Gospel According to Gamliel Crucis,” the tale generated some controversy, but it was also another Nebula finalist.

Unbeknownst to all of us, the appearance of “Gale Strang” in our July/August 2017 issue drew Mike’s forty-year publication history with Asimov’s to a close. Yet, he and I never stopped corresponding. Alas, the pandemic made it impossible for me to include a photo of my daughters with the 2021 holiday cards. After Mike lamented this absence, I journeyed from my home in NYC to our Connecticut headquarters to make sure that I got a photo into the 2022 card.

It broke my heart to learn that Mike had entered hospice care this past June. But I knew that he’d been suffering and that this was a well-thought-out decision. That knowledge didn’t make it any easier to learn that he’d died on the day after his seventy-eighth birthday. Lately, I’ve been rereading his tales, and I’m grateful that the magazine and I both benefitted from our relationship with this remarkable man.
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REFLECTIONS: LOVECRAFT’S FIRST FOLIO

By Robert Silverberg


 

Imagine a world without The Tempest, Twelfth Night, Macbeth, Measure for Measure, Julius Caesar, and thirteen more of Shakespeare’s thirty-six plays. It could have happened, but for the devoted work of a couple of Shakespeare’s colleagues, the actors John Heminges and Henry Condell, who in 1623 published a massive volume containing all but one of the generally accepted plays of the greatest playwright in the English language, along with his only known portrait. This is the famous book known as the Shakespeare First Folio, of which 235 of the original 750 copies are known today, prized by libraries and collectors everywhere. Individual editions of eighteen of the plays had been published before, though Heminges and Condell regarded them as “stol’n and surreptitious copies, maimed and deformed by frauds and stealths of injurious imposters.” They offered corrected versions of those, and eighteen more that otherwise would quite probably have been lost forever.

H.P. Lovecraft was no Shakespeare, but he did write some of the greatest works of fantasy and horror that we have—“The Rats in the Wall,” “The Dunwich Horror,” “The Color out of Space,” “The Call of Cthulhu,” and many others—and even two magnificent science fiction novellas, “The Shadow Out of Time” and “At the Mountains of Madness.” These stories would not have been lost, as the uncollected plays of Shakespeare almost certainly would have been, but until 1939 they existed only in the pages of such pulp magazines as Weird Tales and Astounding Stories, known just to a small coterie of fans and collectors, and it is altogether likely that they would have remained obscure to readers in general as those old magazines grew increasingly fragile and rare. Instead, thanks to the work of two men who played for Lovecraft what Heminges and Condell did for Shakespeare, they were collected in a substantial omnibus volume that gave them true permanence and set Lovecraft on the path to fame that steadily increases as the years go by.

Lovecraft, an eccentric and somewhat reclusive native of Providence, Rhode Island, was born in 1890. An early interest in science led him to study chemistry and astronomy as a boy. And when he was thirteen he began publishing a small hectographed magazine, The Rhode Island Journal of Astronomy, which lasted six years and sixty-nine issues. But the quirks of his curious mind drew him also toward fantasy and the occult, and as a young man he began to write stories of alien beings and elder gods, at first merely for his own amusement, and then—with the founding of Weird Tales in 1923—for publication. He quickly became one of that magazine’s most popular authors, a prolific contributor for the next dozen years. Only when he ventured into science fiction with the brilliant novellas “The Shadow Out of Time” and “At the Mountains of Madness” did Weird Tales turn his work down, but the stories found a home in a surprising venue for Lovecraft, Astounding Stories, the dominant science fiction magazine of the day, where the readers, though at first puzzled by his presence there, were quickly won over by the dazzling inventiveness of the two long stories.

Though he rarely left Providence, Lovecraft was an industrious correspondent, and gathered about him a circle of friends who were also active in the fields of fantasy and science fiction and regarded him with an almost religious awe. This group included such writers as Frank Belknap Long, Robert Bloch, Clark Ashton Smith, and Robert E. Howard, some of whom would write stories borrowing characters and themes from Lovecraft’s own fiction, with his full encouragement and enthusiasm. Two young writers who were part of the ever-expanding Lovecraft circle were August Derleth of Wisconsin and Donald Wandrei of Minnesota, both of whom had come to Lovecraft’s attention in 1926 after publishing a number of stories in Weird Tales. Derleth and Lovecraft would exchange letters virtually on a weekly basis for the next ten years, and his friend Wandrei maintained similar contact with the master throughout the same decade.

Lovecraft died of cancer in March 1937, only forty-seven years old. His death sent a shock wave through the circle of his disciples, and before long Derleth and Wandrei had resolved to keep Lovecraft’s work alive, Derleth suggesting the publication of a memorial volume of his best short stories, Wandrei expanding that into a project for collecting all his work, including his numerous essays and a selection from his vast correspondence. Together they assembled a bulky volume of stories and offered it to two prominent publishing houses, Simon & Schuster and Charles Scribner’s Sons. They both turned it down, noting that the stories were of considerable literary interest but that short-story collections did not sell very well, and a huge collection of esoteric work by an obscure writer like Lovecraft had very poor commercial prospects.

It did not seem to occur to Derleth and Wandrei to offer a smaller group of Lovecraft’s stories to one of the New York publishers. Instead they chose to publish the omnibus, and perhaps later volumes, themselves. They formed a company that they named Arkham House, Arkham being the fictitious Massachusetts city, patterned somewhat after Salem, in which Lovecraft had set much of his work. Though neither man had much money—very few people did, in the Depression year of 1937—they scraped together whatever they could, Wandrei providing four hundred dollars and Derleth dipping into funds he had raised to build a house for the rest. They talked a local printer, the George Banta Publishing Company of Menasha, Wisconsin, into doing the book, hired the celebrated artist Virgil Finlay to do a jacket illustration, and by the fall of 1939 they were offering the imposing volume, under the title of The Outsider and Others, for sale at five dollars a copy. The monumental book, 553 pages of very small type, contained both of Lovecraft’s great science fiction novellas, most of his best weird tales, and his long, erudite essay, “Supernatural Horror in Literature.”

Five dollars was a big sum for the time, and Derleth and Wandrei were under no illusions of swift and eager sales. They did get advance orders from Lovecraft’s most ardent admirers for 150 of the 1268 copies printed, but the rest moved slowly despite general critical acclaim and it took four years for the whole edition to sell out. Gradually it achieved some success in the aftermarket. I think I paid twenty-five dollars for my copy, no small amount for me at the time, somewhere in the 1950s, but the price rose steadily thereafter, and by now a copy in good condition sells in the thousands of dollars. Even as the Heminges-Condell First Folio kept eighteen of Shakespeare’s most significant plays from vanishing, the Derleth-Wandrei omnibus of Lovecraft preserved his most important work and made it available not only to a new generation of readers, but also to other publishers. Shepherded by Derleth, who remained his chief advocate and continued to stir interest in his work, two volumes of his stories were issued by one of the pioneering paperback houses in 1944 and 1945, a small hardcover collection appeared also in 1945, and in 1944 two of his best stories, “The Dunwich Horror” and “The Rats in the Walls,” were included in a notable Modern Library anthology, Great Tales of Terror and the Supernatural. Since then his work has been reprinted in hundreds of anthologies and any number of hardcover and paperback collections. That first Lovecraft omnibus had removed him from the world of moldering pulp magazines and launched him properly into the arena of general fiction publishing.

Wandrei went into the armed services when World War II began, but Derleth remained in civilian life and continued to issue books under the Arkham House imprint—a collection of his own short stories in 1941, Derleth never being averse to promoting his own work, and then a book of stories by Clark Ashton Smith in 1942, and, in 1943, a companion to The Outsider and Others, another jumbo volume that brought together most of Lovecraft’s lesser stories under the title of Beyond the Wall of Sleep. In the years that followed, Arkham produced dozens of other books of weird and fantasy fiction, including just about every scrap of Lovecraft’s writings, and work by Ray Bradbury, Fritz Leiber, A.E. van Vogt, Robert E. Howard, and many another notable figure of the field. Even after Derleth’s death in 1971, Arkham House continued under other editorial auspices, going on into the twenty-first century and publishing books by such modern writers as James Tiptree, Jr., Lucius Shepard, Greg Bear, and Barry Malzberg. 

But its great achievement was to put Lovecraft on the map, in a way that Lovecraft himself would scarcely believe. During his lifetime he was published only in low-paying magazines that allowed him to exist barely above the subsistence level. Today he is not only represented by stories in innumerable weird-fiction anthologies, but has become a major literary figure with a firmly established reputation in the world outside that of weird and horror fiction fandom. It would surely amaze him to discover that there is a Lovecraft story collection in the Library of America, a distinguished series of books that includes work by the likes of Hemingway, Fitzgerald, Henry James, and Saul Bellow, and another in the Penguin Classics series, where he keeps company with Homer, Tolstoy, and Marcel Proust. He would be further surprised to see his novella “At the Mountains of Madness” included in the Modern Library Classics series, but doubtless he would be utterly astonished to learn that in 1967 a heavy-metal rock group came into being under his name and released several songs based on his stories. Since then a group called Black Sabbath recorded songs based on “The Call of Cthulhu” and “At the Mountains of Madness,” and he has made other inroads into the world of rock as well. There are also Lovecraft video games such as Call of Cthulhu and Dark Corners of the Earth, and in 2020 came a television series, Lovecraft Country, in which a young man traverses the country in search of Lovecraftian secrets pertaining to his family.

All this, and much more, because a pair of Lovecraft’s disciples refused to let his work be forgotten, and risked their own slender savings to produce a superb omnibus volume, more than eighty years ago, that stands in relation to his stories as the glorious First Folio does to that of William Shakespeare.
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ON THE NET: CON-VINCED 

By James Patrick Kelly


 

your con my con

I was slow to warm up to science fiction conventions. I attended my first, Boskone boskone.org, many years ago as a new and very lightly published writer (one story sold, but not yet in print) and stayed only for a few hours. Too much bustle, too many strangers and I was (then) painfully shy. Oh, and there was that snowstorm! Several years later my friend Eileen Gunn eileengunn.com promised to introduce me around and share her con-going skills. This was my second Boskone, and since then I have never looked back. I’ve attended cons around the US and the world and have learned to appreciate their unique place in the writing and reading community of our genre.

I recently went back to one of my favorites: the first in-person Readercon readercon.org since the dark days of COVID. In perhaps an excess of caution, the con organizers insisted that everyone attending an official con function wear masks. Despite a weekend of sometimes muffled panels and readings, it was a great success. There were over a hundred and fifty editors, agents, and published writers on the program and many more in attendance. Among the Asimov’s stalwarts I was happy to hang with were Alex Jablokov ajablokov.com, Susanne Palmer zanzjan.net, Rick Wilber rickwilber.net, Sarah Pinsker sarahpinsker.com, Michael Swanwick michaelswanwick.com, and Stephanie Feldman stephanie feldman.com. Our peerless leader Sheila was there, too, scouting for new writers.

While I’m sure that many ’Mov’s readers have attended cons, I know that many, many more of you have yet to enjoy an SF or fantasy convention. Clearly you can have the complete science fiction experience lounging on your favorite armchair while perusing this fine publication. But these far-flung gatherings of fans and readers and SF professionals can be a way to deepen your appreciation of the stories you read here. Alas, while I can’t serve as your wingman as Eileen did for me, I can share some of the opportunities and pleasures that cons offer.

 

con tour

Before there were SF cons, there were SF fans. Back in the early 1930s, readers of magazines like Amazing Stories archive.org/details/amazingstories magazine?tab=collection and Astounding Stories archive.org/details/astoundingstories?tab=collection found ways to get together and talk about the stories that had so astounded and amazed them. How? If you click the links above you can actually browse some of these classic early magazines. Do so and you’ll find that they all featured lively letters columns from readers. Signed and with addresses! Their readers soon decided to write to one another.

(Historical note: Asimov’s continued this tradition of running letters from readers back in the early days, with Isaac Asimov himself commenting on them. We closed the letter department after his untimely death.)

Credit for organizing the first con is in dispute. While British fans began planning for a large assembly to take place in 1937, late in 1936 a handful of New York fans hopped a train to Philadelphia to meet up with some fans there. Although this was a smallish group gathered in a private home, American fandom claims October 22, 1936, as the date of the first SF con. By 1939, with cons happening in both sides of the Atlantic, New York fandom organized the first World Science Fiction Convention, now often referred to as the Worldcon, to coincide with the New York World’s Fair. As I write this, the 81st World Science Fiction Convention en.chengduWorldcon.com in Chendu, China, is on track for an October 2023 opening, but if you missed it, you can still sign up for Glasgow 2024—A Worldcon for Our Futures glasgow2024.org, which is happening August 8-12, 2024.

In the U.S., you can attend a genre convention pretty much every weekend of the year—often more than one if you’re ambitious! Lest you think this an overstatement, flip the very last page of this issue. The SF Conventional Calendar asimovs.com/current-issue/conventional - calendar, compiled by superfan Erwin S. Strauss en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Erwin_Strauss, has been a regular ’Mov’s feature for as long as I’ve been publishing here. His list includes dates, guests of honor, and sometimes capsule descriptions of next month’s cons. You can thank him in person for his efforts should you spot a gentleman wearing a Filthy Pierre name badge at your next con. Alternatively, you can check out the listings on FanCons fancons.com, which not only lists upcoming cons but also attempts to serve as an archive of cons past. Clicking around this site reveals the global reach of con culture: for instance, this map of upcoming cons fancons.com/events/map points to over thirty different countries.

Scanning these lists, it becomes clear that there are all kinds of conventions. Small and midsized cities will host local cons that can attract from 100-500 attendees. If you travel to some of the long established cons like Philadelphia’s Philcon philcon.org or England’s Eastercon eastercon.fandom.com/wiki/Eastercon_Wiki, you might meet a thousand like-minded fans. Regional cons like Norwescon fancyclopedia. org/Norwescon, in the Pacific Northwest, or Eurocon fancyclopedia.org/Eurocon, in Europe, might draw as many as a couple of thousand. Depending on where the Worldcon lands in any given year, attendance might range from 4000-8000. The biggest genre convention is the San Diego Comic Con International comic-con.org which most recently exceeded 150,000!

 

variety show

But size is not all that matters, because things have changed since that handful of fans got together in 1936. The early conventions focused primarily on the written word, and, for the most part, on short fiction, since science fiction novels had not yet come to dominate genre publishing. In addition to discussing the magazines, creative con goers began to dress up as their favorite characters and wear these costumes to cons. Andrew Liptak points to that first Worldcon lithub.com/ how-costumes-and-conventions-brought-sci-fi-fans-together-in-the-early-20th-century as the origin of the hall costume fanlore.org/wiki/Hall_Costume, where costumers attend all con functions in full character dress. The second Worldcon saw a costume party, a judged event with multiple contestants; this evolved into organized masquerades fancyclopedia.org/Masquerade over the years, now part of programming for many cons. There are even cons entirely dedicated to costuming fancons.com/events/schedule.php?type=costume& loc=us. Artists also were eager to join the convention community. In the early years art auctions used as fund-raisers were common, but by the 1960s, art shows began to spring up, with aspiring artists hanging their work next to that of established professionals.

While early conventions focused on fiction, fans also loved to get together to talk about their favorite movies (and, later, television shows). Indeed, the costumes that made their debut at the first Worldcon paid homage to the movie adaption of H.G. Wells’s Things To Come youtube.com/watch?v=knOd-BhRuCE. Because SF fans have traditionally been early adopters of the latest tech, con programmers began to find ways to screen their favorite movies and shows at conventions. While almost all print fans are also media fans, the reverse is not necessarily true. Over time media-only conventions blossomed, most famously those devoted to Star Trek memory-alpha.fandom.com/wiki/Star_ Trek_ convention, and anime anime cons.com/events/. Interest in SF&F games has alway run high at conventions and many still have programming tailored for board game and role-playing fans. However, many gamers prefer to attend the myriad game-centric conventions gamerant.com/gamin-conventions-world-smallest-largest-ranked. While this splintering of big tent SF&F conventions into special interest conventions has accelerated over the past decade, there are still many cons that offer a range of wonders for every taste.

Just about all conventions offer multiple chances to meet and talk to your favorite writers, artists, editors, teachers, and scientists. You can attend panels where four or five worthies engage in a lively discussion followed by (sometimes obstreperous) questions from the audience. There will be kaffeeklatsches or literary beers where a small group (up to ten) gets an hour with professionals with no agenda other than to get to know one another. Readers and book collectors will want to line up for a quick chat at scheduled autograph sessions. If you forget your favorite author’s book at home, or discover that they have a new one, there’s a hucksters’ room, where friendly fans will sell you SF&F flavored books, magazines, comics, T-shirts, games, jewelry, swords, wands, and some otherworldly merch that you’ll find nowhere else! There will probably be an art show, as well as rooms dedicated to games and a video track. If there’s a masquerade (and even if there isn’t), you will run into people in elaborate costumes. There may be an awards ceremony—our genre loves its awards! Fans will throw room parties open to all, often to advertise an upcoming convention or to display their special interests. And look for the con suite offering free drinks and snacks, where any member is welcome.

 

exit

When you go to your next (or first) SF convention, take a moment to think about the good people who make it happen. Because every convention is a gift from a dedicated group of conrunners conrunner.net, volunteers who spend months planning and frantic days mounting these SF&F extravaganzas. Their unselfish commitment to come together to put on a show for the rest of us speaks to a community spirit that is all too rare in these insular times. Yes, sometimes their abilities are stretched to the limit or mishaps might occur. If microphones fail, computers glitch, panelists forget their schedules or the program chair takes sick, we make do and struggle through. There was a Saturday night snowstorm at Boskone three or four years ago that shut Boston’s entire subway system down so that no commuters could make it to the con hotel for Sunday programming. When only one of my fellow panelists showed up, I invited a couple of people from the audience to join us at the podium, and it was one of the best discussions of the weekend.

Of course the disaster that has sent the convention community into a tailspin is COVID. Not only were most conventions canceled in the plague years, but planning for future cons came to a standstill. The conrunners managed to put on some virtual programs, but staring at talking postage stamps on a computer screen does not compare to watching Connie Willis azsf.net/cwblog crack up a panel live or bumping into a pal in the huckster room and heading out for an impromptu lunch. In the aftermath of the pandemic, some cons folded and others have gone on hiatus. But I’m here to say that con fandom is bouncing back.

And we want you!
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	into the reptilian darkness....






	ARTEMIS AND HER BROTHER
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	Of farther reaches....






	HILDE MANGOLD (1898-1924)
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	Imagine, never in your born life being alone....






	6,800 YEARS
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	I’ll never see Neowise again....






	JOHANNA WESTERDIJK (1883-1961)
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	so you can still get lost in them....






	STORIES



	survived at all....






	HERE IS WHAT IS LOST TO ME
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	The words for simple truths....






	NON CURRICULUS MENTIS
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	once again....
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BRAIN
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Neurologists are probing

the deepest cave-chambers of the brain,

prodding synapses and the ganglia

 

forming the corpus callosum.

They launch a safari

into the medulla oblongata,

 

and ride its enigma variations,

an exotic grammar of matter

fomenting into cosmic harmonics, 

 

epiphanies of becoming—

and from deep within the convolutions . . . 

thunder: Niagaras of thought

 

cascading into a roiling cistern:

Consciousness distilled?

The soul?

 

One hundred billion neurons

flash and dance

in a neo-cortical repartee

 

as they seed new synapses,

launch sorties of memory and longing

into the reptilian darkness.

 

BY FRED D. WHITE
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	HOW SERE KEPT HERSELF TOGETHER



	I huddled in the back of the transport barge as it putted its way down the canal. I’d had to jam my ass between a pump housing and a falling-over pile of fertilizer sacks. Any ripple on the water, and...






	UNE TIME MACHINE, S’IL VOUS PLAIT



	The rocket ship blasted off from the Devereaux Airstrip on the outskirts of Ottawa and headed straight into the stratosphere. Ruth Mulu, one of four passengers, stared at the cappuccino machine and tried not to throw up....
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HOW SERE KEPT HERSELF TOGETHER

By Alexander Jablokov 

  Alexander Jablokov is pleased to have finally gotten back to the cases of Sere Glagolit, and is currently working on another one. Her casebook is, in fact, quite thick. He is also revising his latest novel, Holdfast, and hopes that doing so won’t turn into a hobby like making birdhouses for his old age.

 

I huddled in the back of the transport barge as it putted its way down the canal. I’d had to jam my ass between a pump housing and a falling-over pile of fertilizer sacks. Any ripple on the water, and my knees smacked my chin. I’d been confident when I started my business: “Sere Glagolit, Private Inquiries.” A few months on, my bruised hips hinted that “desperate” was maybe a more appropriate mood.

My new client, Brice, had hidden himself here in Sryll District. He was probably the only Om around here. Humans tend to get skin conditions from the eternal wet, and it’s a mostly Qippi neighborhood. I caught a few glimpses of those six-legged climbers about their business amid the dripping vertical gardens way above me.

The only person who seemed unhappier than I was about this trip was the Mesklitch piloting the barge.

Of the various nations with the misfortune to end up here in Tempest, Mesklitch are the most adaptable. You find them in almost every district of the City of Storms, bounding around, bouncing off things, and chattering endlessly with each other. They evolved in warrens under some kind of vast grassland, and so take to crowded city life better than most species. They mostly keep to themselves, require minimal services, and like jobs that don’t attract much attention.

So this one, on its own, wrinkled hide oiled against the eternal drip, and sensitive nocturnal eyes sun-goggled against what light made it down into this mist-filled canal, was completely out of place here. And, as if things weren’t odd enough, the Mesklitch had a water-filled live well at the stern, where it tossed fish it had caught. Aside from the odd grub, Mesklitch were plant eaters. Sometimes you have to grab an opportunity, regardless of its drawbacks and dangers.

I’d heard about my particular opportunity at a party. A girl had been gossiping about this guy who was desperate because a Cryptor had stopped stalking him, “as if you could even tell it was gone.” I was getting really tired of living in my aunt’s back room above a rumbling slideway—through probably not as tired as Aunt Tirsunah felt—and so I wouldn’t disdain even the result of random eavesdropping. I got her aside, found that the poor disdained prey’s name was Brice Perikan. The Perikans were a well-off Om family from a much better neighborhood than mine, so maybe he’d pay a decent rate. After some undignified begging from me, she got him a message. Brice got back to me and said he wanted to hire me. I wasn’t about to argue about the laxness of his due diligence, and agreed.

I’m always glad to meet another down-and-outer trying to keep things together, so I struck up a conversation with the barge pilot and started to help load and unload things just so I could stay warm. Mesklitch names are the grinding of their ever-growing teeth. This one was [Creak-snap-groan]. I had to incorporate a shoe scrape against the gunwale to get it, but I was pleased with the result.

I learned that [Creak-snap-groan]’s business was in trouble, the financing no longer worked, the Qippi delighted in spilling water on it at unexpected moments, it was behind on maintenance . . . information that, as a passenger, I definitely didn’t need.

The canal sometimes ran through tunnels under the tall Qippi buildings, and it was in the shadows of one of these that a dark shape appeared in the water ahead of us. [Creak-snap-groan] had to back the engine to avoid hitting it.

Water poured off the Voyog’s wide back as it rose up and stared at us from two wide eyes on top of a massive, shield-shaped head that ended in a decorative neck frill.

“I can give you a cut on the rate, [Creak-snap-groan].” The Voyog spoke the same traffiq the Mesklitch and I had been using, though it seemed more fluent in it than either of us, and certainly didn’t need to rely on a shoe scrape to get the name right. Its voice came from a resonant cavity in its domed head, and echoed off the low vault overhead. “We share an interest in improving the quality of transportation in Sryll District.”

“Business is going well, and my reputation is good.” [Creak-snap-groan] turned off the engine. “No cash flow problems.”

“Your vessel needs serious repairs. You can’t even afford the fuel to idle your engine. You’re putting your goods at risk.” I felt myself the focus of the Voyog’s attention. “Not to mention your passenger.” I liked this struggling Mesklitch, but I had no interest in becoming a hostage in some fight with a competitor.

The Voyog now switched to a creaking language I recognized as a Mesklitch dialect, but couldn’t understand. It was unusual for one nation to use another’s language this effectively. That was why we had various traffiqs that took into account the widely differing mechanics of communication among Tempest’s many nations. Voyogs had such a flexible sound generation apparatus that it could mimic anything.

But [Creak-snap-groan] was no more persuadable in its own language, and switched back to traffiq. “I need to make my deliveries, Glublugss.” 

“These channels are riskier than they seem.” The Voyog gave up on the private conversation. “You may take on water and damage some of your goods. Or even drown your Om passenger.”

Glublugss dove and, not even bothering to make it seem accidental, bumped us as it passed underneath. The barge rocked, sloshing water and fish out of the live well. Fish flopped among the goods. I managed to flip one of them back into the well with my toe. A couple more escaped back into the canal through the scuppers.

The Voyog was swimming placidly away when one of the escaped fish, maybe uncomfortable with its new freedom, darted into a hiding place behind the Voyog’s neck frill. It surged out of the water with a loud rumble I could feel in my chest, flipped its head violently back and forth, and dove and vanished down the canal at high speed. A moment later the unfortunate fish bobbed to the surface and floated there. It hadn’t had much of a chance to enjoy its freedom.

“Glublugss is too sensitive.” The Mesklitch restarted the engine. “Should be careful who it picks on.”

As we emerged from the tunnel, water cascaded down on us. “Much sorry!” a Qippi called from somewhere overhead.

“Glublugss the Voyog hires these,” [Creak-snap-groan] said. “Mostly construction, repair, and engineering, at which they excel. But also harassment and sabotage, at which they are even better. All at a reasonable price that is still more than I can pay.”

Just beyond a bridge we passed a many-gabled four-story house. Qippi pipe plants had grown over it and dribbled water down its red and green roof tiles. It was of Om design, and had to be Brice’s house. Another canal came from behind it to join ours at an angle to form a triangular pool surrounded by high structures. Qippi scuttled amid the dangling flowers, not caring that they were a hundred feet up.

“Oh, Glublugss has been here, too,” [Creak-snap-groan] said.

Part of the landing stage opposite Brice’s house had been damaged by some impact, and was blocked off by safety barriers. A couple of Qippi workers waved the barge over to a temporary dock. After an argument, the Mesklitch was forced to pay a use fee to offload.

A tall Om guy in a dark jacket over an open-necked shirt, black hair brushed straight up, stood at an upper window of the extravagant house. Brice was better looking than I expected from his somewhat frantic communications.

The Mesklitch made a limb-checking gesture when it saw where I was looking. So Brice’s reputation was generally known.

“Be careful there,” [Creak-snap-groan] said. “Only part of you may come out.”

Cryptors mostly preyed on Oms. Other nations had picked up on the paranoia, though, and stayed away from anyone being stalked.

I was a big Om girl, taller than any Mesklitch or Qippi, and was usually obvious even among other Oms. I’d done my hair and worn a dress jacket that had taken just a bit of repair and temporary coloring to be presentable. Brice spotted me instantly and waved me toward the bridge that crossed the pool.

When I got to his door, I turned to wave, but [Creak-snap-groan] and its barge were already gone.

“What’s your Cryptor experience?” Brice said. “Have you ever been in the presence of one?”

I’d expected the question, but not the aggressive tone. He was twitchy, unable to sit still, though we sat on comfortable chairs in a room near the back of his house. I could hear the distant sound of the water that sluiced over the roofs.

I just went for it. “I once found a cryptic covert in the back room of a house owned by a man with a missing arm he didn’t know was missing. He always had a reason he couldn’t touch or pick something up.”

“It never regenerated?” he asked. “After the Cryptor . . .”

“They don’t always stimulate regeneration after feeding.” I had to play expert, or he’d drop the deal. “Even then they can take their sweet time about it.”

“Katin didn’t seem to have anything missing,” Brice mused. “But there was something uneven about her. How she walked? I don’t know. I only saw her once.”

“And Katin is—”

“What happened to him?” Brice asked. “To the one-armed man stalked by a Cryptor.”

“He died. After I knew him. Non-Cryptor causes. He just didn’t take care of himself.”

“And the Cryptor?” 

“The Cryptor had left for some other prey long before. No one knows when.”

It wasn’t a comforting story, and it clearly disturbed him. He smoothed an invisible crease in his beautiful shirt. He had the comfortable self-assurance of Perikan money. And this house, despite the eternal rainstorm around it, was expensive.

“But your Cryptor has vanished, and you want to find it,” I said. Either I’d given him enough, or I’d have to get other work.

“Skedastr didn’t vanish,” Brice said. “It was taken.”

“Taken?” I said. “You mean kidnapped?”

“No. I mean, I don’t know. But something’s very wrong. I came home a week ago, pretty late, from a party. And Skedastr was gone. You never really see a Cryptor, or maybe only when they want you to. But I knew right away.”

“Did you see signs of forced entry? Or a struggle?”

“No. It was just . . . silent. Things had changed between us a couple of months ago. I felt like the chase had finally begun to interest it. So it’s natural that that’s when Katin would try something. She was Skedastr’s prey before me, and she’s still bitter.”

I had to get him to stick to a narrative that was at least somewhat tied to events, rather than his own suspicions and resentments, otherwise I’d never understand what happened, much less find Skedastr. 

“How did you meet Skedastr?” 

“I’d just moved to Hiddar District,” he said. “I had few friends, so when someone invited me to a party, I went. But the person who invited me wasn’t even there, and no one else cared. I was about to leave when I caught something out of the corner of my eye. Now I suspect that was intentional. My heart was pounding, I didn’t know why. My body understood at a deeper level. I walked over to a quiet corner in another room and sat down in an armchair.

“I didn’t know what to do. For a minute I tightened up, tried to hide myself. Then I let myself loose, my limbs, my head, everything. And I was rewarded. I saw Skedastr again, for a full second, maybe more. Cryptors have fur that absorbs light, all light, so they always look like an absence, a hole that leads nowhere. It brushed past my fingers. The charge went up that arm and down the other. I waited a long time after that, but nothing else happened.

“I went home. I felt I had lost something really important, but couldn’t remember what. But then . . . I saw signs. Something visiting me. Scratches on the wall, a light dimmed. After a while, a long while, Skedastr spoke to me. They do talk, you know, Cryptors. Just only to specific Oms, no one else. To their prey. There’s no feeling like it, to have the undivided attention of a creature so magical.”

“So Skedastr left Katin.” 

“She was at that party, I saw her but didn’t know who she was. Katin Vetserik. Skedastr had been stalking her. So she was resentful about what happened. I was too busy with Skedastr to worry about it. Then she threw Skedastr into the canal.”

Cryptors had a terror of water. Their limbs were built to confine their prey while they fed, not for swimming. That complex fur got soaked and they sank. “When did this happen?”

Brice leaned forward. His shirt had an asymmetrical neck opening that swooped down to show his collarbone and the top of his right pectoral muscle. Some time in the past, something had ripped a chunk out of that muscle. Translucent skin had grown back over it, but the muscle was no longer the same shape as it had been.

The Cryptor sign was clear, and recent.

“A couple of months ago. I heard a terrifying screech like no sound I’d ever heard. Skedastr never spoke above a whisper, but I knew immediately who it was, that something had happened to it. I just ran out into the street and down the stairs to the canal. I didn’t even put my shoes on.”

“The Hiddar Canal?” It lay between Hiddar and Sryll.

“That’s right. It was quiet there, under the ventilation tower, no sign of anything. I was starting to think that I had been wrong, that the sound had been something else, when I looked into the water and saw Skedastr, just as a dark shape, down at the bottom. I dove in and pulled it out. When I got it on the quay it looked terrible, just a lump of black hair. I was sure it was dead. Then it moved and I heard its voice. We left Hiddar the next day and moved here to Sryll, where no one cares what we do. And things have been different, like it had finally decided I was a worthy prey.”

“Did Skedastr tell you Katin did it?”

“She did it, and now she finally took it. I should have known she wouldn’t give up.”

Like a lot of people, he was free with theories and miserly with facts. He was hiring me to confirm his darkest suspicions. Digging too much for what might actually have happened could end our relationship prematurely, and I needed him to hire me. I listened to the eternal cascade of water that covered the house and swirled around its base. A decent defensive position, but an even better prison for a Cryptor that feared water. Whatever Skedastr might have been up to at the canal, Brice wanted to make sure it never even thought of trying it again.

“Can you take me around the house?” I said. “Let’s see if we can find signs of what happened the night it vanished. Was taken.”

Brice started out tentatively, but was soon in full house-proud mode. He took me through room after room full of massive furniture. I lived in a small bedroom at the back of my aunt’s house, above the Erq slideway. I tried not to resent him for having so much space.

“What’s in here?” I stopped at a door that clearly led down into the cellar.

“Just support equipment, pumps, hot water, stuff like that.”

I just waited. A key Cryptor gift is getting us to ignore what was right in front of us. I could tell he’d never really noticed that door before. Finally, he opened it and led me downstairs.

It was a utility area, and had everything he had mentioned, and lot more besides. I noticed that there had been recent work on a wall below a line of three windows. “What happened here?”

“A barge hit the front of the house. Lots of unlicensed shippers on the canals. Like the one you came in on. Might even have been that Mesklitch. I had to hire some of the local Qippi to come repair it before the basement flooded. Seem to have done a decent job.”

His complete ignorance of the space was all the clue I needed. It still took me awhile to find what I knew had to be there.

Brice goggled at it. “What is that?”

“A covert.” It was a dusty skein of fibers, strips of cloth, and metal wires, a bit like a hammock, including a lot of found objects, like strips of metal, pieces of bone, and chewed-up wood, turned into something almost like paper by the Cryptor’s own digestive juices. “Cryptors make these as a place of concealment.” I didn’t mention that ones this elaborate were often a response to stress.

Brice reached out and touched it delicately, then turned to me. “I know I probably won’t remember after you tell me, but . . . do you think I was ever really Skedastr’s prey?”

I could see that a Cryptor had taken a delicate slice at his pectoral muscle. Brice had no idea it had happened. Not consciously. But there was a kind of blindsight that came with Cryptor predation. You acted on impulse in a way that showed that some part of your mind knew something had happened.

It had long been shameful to even mention being pursued by a Cryptor. But I’d heard that was changing, and this high-style clothing of his made it seem like the fashion might be coming back.

“Yes,” I said. “Skedastr has preyed on you.”

Detail wouldn’t help. It might even disorient him. He had trouble thinking his way around the Cryptor. I thought the bite might have happened when he grabbed the Cryptor out of the water. It might have reacted without thinking.

Or maybe it had decided that he was worth devouring after all. We can always dream.

“Oh.” He may have teared up a bit, but definitely wasn’t interested in crying in front of me. “I can’t remember, can’t see . . . thank you. Please find Skedastr for me, talk to Katin, find out what happened.”

“I will.” I wished I hadn’t negotiated my rate before seeing the client’s desperation, but I had consulted my own desperation instead. Lesson learned.

I’d do my best, even though I more than half suspected that Skedastr had skedaddled on its own, from a situation that had grown intolerable to it, just as it had from Katin. But how had it managed to get out, through waterfalls and across that water? I’d figure it out.

I had, in fact, met a Cryptor before, when I was still in school, a few years ago. It had been just a random bad experience for a long time before I decided to capitalize on it.

It had been a red evening, when Umber was alone in the sky and there was enough light to find your way, but not enough to illuminate the bad decisions you’re making. A red evening is when you go to parties in unfamiliar neighborhoods and spontaneously develop friends, lovers, and deadly enemies. So Videl and I picked our way across some scrubland near our Panetto neighborhood in search of a party he said he’d heard of. I’d dressed up for the evening, because Videl had told me we were going out somewhere nice. We’d been together for three weeks and the whole thing was already looking pretty shaky. Tam, Videl’s predecessor, hadn’t lasted much longer, and I had been hoping to raise my average length of relationship, to show I was growing up. So maybe I was trying a bit too hard.

I was chattering to him about something, trying to keep his interest, when he grabbed my elbow. “Careful!”

I looked down and saw I’d almost stuck the toe of my pump into a trap with sharp teeth. Still, he’d hurt me with his grip, and I shook him off.

“Just watch out,” Videl said. “He says things dig up his grounds. Vermin. He calls all of us that.”

With that cryptic statement, he spent a few moments looking around until he found another trap. This one had a squirming creature in it, a sand squirrel I thought, with big digging limbs and a fluffy tail, its neck broken. With fierce precision he rammed his heel down on its head, killing it.

I must have gasped, because he gave me a sidewise glance. He looked particularly bewitching when he did that. “Sometimes ya gotta.”

Despite the landscape and the horror of the approach, when we got to it, the house was fairly nice, with high windows and an overhanging roof, kind of romantic, really, surrounded by trees with dangling tubular leaves, an open space behind it sloping down into a wetter area. I could hear music from inside, and people laughing.

And there was a party there all right, people, all Oms, on couches, music, smoke, hissing brain inflation setups, even some sausage rolls and shrimp crisps on plates that had previously been used for something else. It was just that no one there was happy to see us, and the owner, a tall, stringy-haired character named Apilsin, was actually hostile.

He half rose when we came in. “It was my territory. All there is to it, Videl. I think I told you that.”

Apilsin had only one arm, and his sleeve dangled loosely. From the looks of the cuff, it often made its way into the dip.

“Apilsin!” Videl, big grin, was all charm and smarm. “You were totally clear. I crossed a line and I apologize. I recognize your rights to the egg dumpage zone. But I got some other stuff. Some of it might even be of interest to you.”

He found a space on the couch and babbled about some plant that had been stunted by toxic metal waste, a collectible he’d been making a business of. You’d think seeing your date bullshit someone else would put you on your guard about what they might be doing to you, but it weirdly doesn’t work that way. Instead, I was admiring, because Videl was all charming, funny, kind of goofy, even though I could tell Apilsin scared the shit out of him.

Then Videl pulled out some packets of brain flares that he hadn’t bothered to let me know about. It wasn’t a drug I favored, but you should at least let your date know what you’ve got, right?

He instantly forgot all about me.

I recognized two of the girls, Lillios and one whose name I’d never learn, and a guy with a thick crest of hair: Zabiun. He was Apilsin’s younger brother, though still a lot older than me. He used to chase another girl I knew, who wasn’t here.

Pretty soon Videl was yucking it up with some of the guys on the couch, tossing them brain flares and making jokes about getting the shakes from metal toxicity while digging stuff up. The girls had no interest in this inane business discussion and were talking about something that they made clear would remain forever a mystery to me.

Apilsin leaned over the snacks on the table, sleeve dangling, and started cursing. “Don’t hide those things, dammit.” He shifted position and looked desperately at a sausage roll. He gasped for breath, as if making some gigantic effort.

A girl laughed, then, too late, turned away and tried to smother it.

Apilsin stood up, knocking glasses off the table. “I’ll show you, you little . . .”

“Get out,” Zabiun said to the girl. “Get out now, or it’ll be on you.”

“She was just—” The girl’s date tried to bluster, but the look in Zabiun and Apilsin’s eyes shut him up. “Come on . . . come on.” He hustled her out as she complained about how rude everyone was.

Zabiun picked up a sausage roll and fed his brother with it. “You got it. You’ve just gotten clumsy. Your grip . . . you’ve lost your grip.”

“I’ll say,” I muttered to myself, then felt someone next to me. I jumped, expecting to be the next one to be tossed out into the night.

It was Videl. “Careful, sweets. You’ve got a loud voice.” He tugged me a bit away from the rest of the party. Fortunately they were all intent on calming Apilsin down. This was his house, and he was clearly the one with the drugs and the food. That was why they hung out here. If he got pissed off and tossed everyone out, they’d have to find someone else to sponge off of.

After another weird, invisible bobble, Apilsin picked up a glass with his left hand and took a deep drink. In addition to a missing arm, the chest on that side was oddly shaped, poking out under his armpit. He sat back down, still, if not relaxed.

“I need you to do something for me,” Videl said. It shows what a pathetic state I was in that I even listened to him. “I need you to take a look out back. Just check things out, where things are, if there are any windows, you know, that kind of thing.”

“You didn’t tell me you had some kind of beef with this guy.”

“No beef, nothing serious. We had a territorial dispute. But I do got some stuff I have to do, so be a good girl and take a look around for me. If there are any, like big eggs in enamel cases back there, let me know that, too.”

“What the hell is going on, Videl?” I could tell that the eggs had always been the point of this ridiculous trip.

“You’re a smart girl, you’ll figure it out.”

Pathetic, but that was probably the nicest thing anyone had said to me in a long time.

I did need to use the bathroom. While everyone else was occupied pacifying their meal ticket, I went down a narrow hall to the back. There it had the signature scent of Abandoned Single Om Male: stale body, forgotten food, dried beer, and dried other fluids I wasn’t interested in considering. I would run into it all too often as I got older, but this was my first encounter with it.

I poked my head into a couple of rooms that looked like people had abandoned them when escaping some disaster, but found nothing interesting. Here was the bathroom. I peeked in nervously, but it wasn’t quite as disgusting as it could have been. Life’s so much easier once you lower your standards. That conclusion, and my full bladder, got me into that dank little room.

Afterward, I kept on down the hallway until I was in a small room with a window opening out onto the wide area behind the house. There was nothing here except more mess, a tangle of dusty laundry hanging down from a corner. I looked again. Was it some kind of hammock? An odd one, at a weird angle.

I froze. There was something in the room with me. I couldn’t see anything, but felt a puff of air that carried a delicate, sweet scent, one that was gone even as I realized I was smelling it. I felt a prickle and jerked my shoulder blades back.

First I thought it was the shadow of something climbing on the outside of the window. A dark shadow, silent, sliding across the floor toward me.

“What do you see?” Suddenly Apilsin was there, sweaty hair plastered to his cheek. There was nothing evanescent about the smell of stale sweat. “What’s here? Anyone?”

His big shape blocked the door. 

“I . . . I don’t know.” And I didn’t. 

“Tell me! Is it still here? Is it still hungry? Ask it what it wants.”

There was a scuttering on the floor. The shadow rose up the wall and vanished into what I now know is a covert, but then just looked like some insane way of storing lint, hair, and bread crusts.

“It’s right there, it’s right there!” While he looked wildly for what I was pointing at, I pushed past him and into the hallway. Disoriented, I turned the wrong way, and ended up in a kind of storage area, with shelves lining the walls. Most of the contents were tools, solvents, and rusted chunks of metal, but among the crap were a few ovoids, maybe eight inches long, that gleamed a dark, iridescent blue. One was cracked open and I thought I saw a paler blue inside. These were the egg cases stupid Videl was so obsessed with.

And there was Apilsin again, right behind me. He seemed befuddled, not caring that I was poking around his private collection. “Here, is it here? I never hear its voice anymore. . . .”

“No! It’s back in there, in that other room. Still here, still in your house. But you should get rid of it. Let’s do it.” I was suddenly inspired, though I had no idea of what was back there. I just knew it was dangerous. “Let’s do it now!”

“Don’t you dare!” He swung his shoulder forward, but there was no arm attached to it to grab me with. I dodged, and, off balance, he fell against the shelves, knocking things onto the floor. But he didn’t yell, just muttered to himself.

I ran, down the hall and out into the living room. People were in that kind of stupor where reactions had little connection to stimuli. They might hear a branch tap against a window and all panic, or do nothing as smoke poured into the room.

Stupid Videl was just as befuddled as everyone else. He gave me a moon face from the couch.

I didn’t have time for explanations. “Come on. We’re late, remember? We were just like . . . stopping by on the way.”

Zabiun, Apilsin’s brother, was the only one with enough consciousness left to be suspicious. “Where’s my brother? What happened?”

“That damn toilet of yours.” Even as I spun the story, I yanked Videl to his feet. “Leaking all over. Gotta keep up on the maintenance. Apilsin’s trying to fix it. Not doing so great. Not sure why.”

“What? He’ll hurt himself.” Zabiun jumped up and headed for the back. We only had a couple of seconds. I managed to get Videl on his feet and out the door before anyone else could react.

Hiddar was a heavily Om neighborhood, much nicer than Panetto, where I grew up. In fact, it was so much nicer that there was no way across the river to it from Panetto, the reason I’d had to take a huge detour around it and come via the glaciers and the muck of Onkmire to take a barge into Sryll, rather than just going through Hiddar. 

But it was just across the Hiddar Canal from Sryll, and I was at Katin’s place in fifteen minutes. Brice hadn’t moved as far as he seemed to think.

Katin was an older woman with long white hair, with a thin braid here and there to show she was still paying attention. Her slender frame was made for wearing elegantly draped clothes. Everyone was dressing better than I could afford to. She examined me with deep attention.

“Please sit down,” she said. “You never really get rid of a Cryptor.” 

Her small but high-ceilinged apartment was located on the top floor of an apartment building high up the ridge that formed the spine of Hiddar. Her tall windows gave a view across the multicolored roofs that tumbled down the slope toward the canal, and then out across Sryll. From here Sryll, with its growth-covered buildings, eternal mist, and glints of water, looked romantic rather than soggy.

“Did you know Skedastr left with Brice?” I said.

She looked amused. “I should hope so. It took some work to make that happen.”

We’d get back to that. “Skedastr vanished from Brice’s house about a week ago. Brice is worried, and hired me to see if I can track it down.”

“Skedastr left Brice? So soon?” She seemed agitated now, and turned to peer out of the window, as if she’d be able to see the Cryptor toiling up the hill toward her. “It’s on the loose? What happened?”

“Before I go into that, I need to understand Skedastr itself. How did you and Skedastr meet?”

She thought for a moment. “The introduction to that story is this. I was alone for a long time, met a man, we fell in love, he died. I had been lonely before without knowing it. Now I really did know it.”

“I’m sorry,” I said.

“Thank you. I didn’t know what to do, how to be. I hurt every day. I’d leave my house and walk around, hoping for something to happen to me. One day I went down among those warehouses in Lower Sryll.” 

I was startled. “That area is dangerous, if you’re not prepared for it.”

“People are afraid of grief. It’s the perfect defense. So no one ever even got close to me. It was just me and all the vermin that gathers around places like that: rats, raspers, skriffles, sand squirrels, quite a collection, the torment of a dozen nations. I saw a rasper with rear legs so overgrown it looked more like a grasshopper. It didn’t really know how to use them, so was just kicking them until it died.”

“Skedastr?” I said.

“I eventually figured that out. I kept going back. I’d heard that a Cryptor could be a cure for grief. They erase parts from you so thoroughly you never miss them. Why not that? It circled me and circled me and eventually I found it in my house. It was there for about six months.”

“Until it stalked Brice. You’re saying you planned that?”

“I realized that forgetting my grief was even worse than feeling it,” she said. “I began to resent Skedastr for what I was no longer feeling. Grief at least contains remembered happiness. Forgetfulness contains nothing. Then Brice showed up in Hiddar. He had money, he liked to show it off. But there was something about him that caught my attention, made him seem like he might be useful. I was of no interest to him, so I could watch him. Eventually I realized that he was buttering.”

“‘Buttering’?”

Katin winced. “A nasty slang term. But I don’t know a better one. It’s a kind of fungus that can grow on Oms and make us more appealing to Cryptors. They often hesitate to prey on us, despite all the stories about how out of control they are. But flesh butter can make an Om almost irresistible. There are dealers. You meet them up in Khruskr-run bars. Multinational work exchange bars like Kharsh in Amtoum, Legee in Ffolio, Compressor, Three Slices, Quiver. Once you’re exchanging one thing, it’s natural to exchange others.”

“You decided Brice might be able to attract Skedastr.” I wasn’t sure how self-serving this version of the past was. I meant for things to work out this way.

“I should feel guilty. But he wanted it so much. One day, he showed up at a party I’d been invited to. Really Skedastr was the one invited, no one found me that interesting. And I just let things take their course. Eventually I realized Skedastr had wandered off. So I did as well. After that day, it never returned home.”

Actin had declined in the sky enough that its bright light came into the room. Katin squinted into it, but didn’t move from her seat. I’d been trying to figure out if either of her legs was regenerated. She wasn’t helping me out.

“I won’t pretend it didn’t hurt,” she said. “I was miserable. Miserable about Skedastr abandoning me, and again, about my husband’s loss, which came back just as fresh as if I had never left it. But having someone else make that decision for me was the only way. I sold the apartment and moved up here, to a space I can control, and a view that just might show me what is heading my way.”

“Brice says someone threw Skedastr in the Hiddar Canal, down below here somewhere. Brice heard it scream and managed to pull it out. He says you did it.”

“I didn’t. And Skedastr didn’t like getting near the water.”

“Brice thinks you kidnapped Skedastr from his house,” I said.

“Brice thinks more than I would have expected. But, no, I didn’t do that either. Brice should know that Cryptors have more ways of leaving than any other nation. And nothing terrifies me more than the idea that it might now be on the loose somewhere. Maybe heading here.”

The bright light of Actin was full in her face now, so she was squinting. At last it was too much. She hopped up. Both legs seemed fine. Her movements were actually quite graceful.

She went to the window and reached to pull down the shade. It was too high, she’d have to get a step stool . . . she hunched her shoulder a bit and I watched as her arm, seemingly multijointed, extended and stretched until it easily reached the top of the high window. The shade closed and the room grew dark.

I may have gasped.

“Don’t tell me,” she said, calmly. “It doesn’t help to tell me. For a long time that was all anyone wanted to do. The reason I know something is different about me is from other eyes. I can’t see it myself, and will forget as soon as you tell me. I don’t even try to guess anymore.”

“Thanks for your help,” I said.

The arm returned to normal. “Skedastr isn’t coming. I won’t let that happen. It’s gone. When you do find it, just tell me where it is. I just need to know it isn’t here. That I really am alone in here. That’s the way it’s going to be from now on. Just me and my memories.”

“I will.”

On the Hiddar side the Canal had a comfortably wide quay, while on the other side Sryll hid itself behind a series of mostly windowless structures that rose right out of the water, their smooth surface interrupted only by the occasional balcony or catwalk.

I followed the narrow, deep canal down a few thousand feet, seeing various channels pour into it on the Sryll side, until the quay ended abruptly and the canal angled to the left, to vanish into the flats of Lower Sryll, where it ran between mud banks and ruins.

I could hear the clang of a metal shop. A few barges, and even a couple of houseboats, were moored on the collapsed and muddy shore. A variety of groups, outcast or simply seeking privacy, made their homes in that area. The pale dome of a steam bath was a sign of community.

Not far away from me, just where the canal took its bend and left Hiddar, a Mesklitch in a green-and-yellow raincoat sat on a chunk of concrete and dangled a fishing line in the water. Was that [Creak-snap-groan]? At this distance I wasn’t sure, but how many Mesklitch fished? I raised my hand in a tentative greeting. It didn’t respond.

I made my way back up the quay to examine the spot where Skedastr had likely gone into the water. Recently rebuilt stairs curved around a stubby, hissing tower, ventilator for an underground excavation I remembered had been dug up at this end of Hiddar. I knew that the subterranean Mimnurrn, those overevolved tube worms, did good work, and the ventilator tower gave the location a dramatic feel.

I’d just spent a couple of hours checking on Brice’s old house, and his neighbors, to see if I could get a sense of anyone there who might have had motive or opportunity to snatch Skedastr. 

After several conversations, I didn’t have any reason to believe anyone there was any more involved in Skedastr’s disappearance than Katin seemed to be. But I did figure out that Brice couldn’t have been home when Skedastr fell into the water and screamed. His apartment was on the far side of the Hiddar ridge, and there was no way any sound had carried there from this canal.

No one likes a private inquirer who, having found out nothing, comes back to press you on the lies you’ve told. I wanted to clarify events. Brice’s description of the location seemed pretty accurate, so it was just where Brice had been when he heard the scream that was at issue.

A bright flare on the catwalk opposite cut through the murk. The walls on the opposite side had several openings in them, but their catwalks had corroded away and been removed, leaving just supports and doors that led nowhere, but high above the water.

But, to one side, a catwalk did survive, though in terrible shape. A Bik worker with several businesslike limb attachments was welding the supports and rebuilding it. An equipment-filled boat was tied up below it.

The welding torch flared again, sending sparks down into the water.

“Hey!” I said. “Were you working here maybe two months ago? I want to find out if you saw something.”

It stopped, turned, and rose up on its rear limbs to examine me. I’d recently encountered some Biks on a case, and they had held me hostage for a short while before we resolved our differences. This would give me a chance to find out what my reputation with that nation now was.

“I have been working here for months,” it said.

“So, did you—”

“Wait. I want to explain something to you.”

It lowered itself into the boat and paddled over to me. It sat down on the stairs next to me, then unrolled a package and pulled out several ingots of metal. “Unusual alloys! Difficult, to get them to connect safely. Old Biks did build this. But I’ve had to do a lot of work on my welding arm.” He waved the limb in question, almost knocking me into the canal. “It requires a change in diet, uncomfortable and unpleasant. But I think I have worked out the best flame.”

Biks love talking tools and they love talking about their own bodies, which ends up being pretty much the same thing with them. I’ve met plenty of Om men who are remarkably similar, without the excuse of an accessorizable anatomy.

“Don’t even know why this should be repaired,” it said. “But I do what pays.”

“Something happened here a couple of months ago,” I said, once I realized it was done. “A Cryptor fell into the water and screamed. Were you here?”

“Yes.” The Bik turned and extended an eye so it could examine the work it had done so far. “I was just getting started.”

“What happened?”

It pointed at a doorway maybe ten feet above where it had been working. Behind the temporary safety barrier I could see some stairs leading upward. Whatever that doorway had once opened on was long gone.

“I was working. And then something appeared in that doorway up there. A black creature.”

“A Cryptor?” 

“Yes. They eat limbs.”

“That’s their reputation.”

It banged its armored hide. “My limbs are safe. It would choke.”

“I don’t doubt that. What happened then?”

“It had been moving fast and almost fell out. I told it there was nowhere to go. But it didn’t seem to want to turn around and go back up. Then a Voyog floated up from underneath the water. Didn’t use to see any here, but now Glublugss is building a transport company in Sryll and bothers everyone along the waters. The Voyog made a sound. And the Cryptor spoke! No common traffiq I could understand. Cryptor language, must have been.”

“So you couldn’t tell what they talked about.”

“No. But Glublugss has been through this area looking for workers, so it might have been about employment. I went back to work. After some time there was a sound from the water. I looked down and the Cryptor had fallen, or jumped, I didn’t see.”

“Is that when it screamed?”

“No. It sat on the Voyog’s back. They still spoke. Cryptors are unreliable, dangerous to hire, more dangerous to fire, and frustrating to communicate with. A futile recruiting effort. The Voyog got loud, everything shook, I almost lost a tool off the catwalk. Then it sank right into the water, threw up a huge wave that damaged my boat, and swam away under the water. That was when the Cryptor screamed.”

I looked up at the doorway. It looked like Skedastr had come from somewhere in Sryll. But this encounter happened when it and Brice were still living in Hiddar, before they moved to the big house in Sryll. 

“What happened then?”

“The Cryptor splashed and was very loud. I lowered a cable to it. It did not grab on. Too panicked, wrong manipulator ends, I don’t know. Biks cannot float. I am daring, with a boat. I was about to lower myself when an Om appeared above me, in that same opening the Cryptor had jumped from. The Cryptor had vanished under the water. The Om dove. Daring act, the water has many obstructions beneath it, and Om bodily structure dangerously inadequate.”

I wasn’t about to argue. “What happened then?”

“After a long while the Om came back out of the water and climbed out right here, at these stairs, and carried the Cryptor off. After that I installed that safety barrier.”

Brice must have been so focused on Skedastr that he hadn’t noticed the Bik at work above, and so hadn’t incorporated it into his story.

“I must return to my task.” The Bik got back into its boat.

“Can you get me up there, to that doorway?” I said.

“My upper limbs can just reach. The safety barrier is inadequate support should you lose your grip up there. Possible consequences are a fall into the water, and a lower likelihood of an impact with the boat. If your spine is hit, damage to the spinal cord is likely. Paralysis is an almost inevitable consequence of running your main communication channel right inside a dorsal support made out of irregular chunks of crystallized calcium.”

“I’ll take my chances.”

It was a bit hairy, getting boosted up by the Bik’s two forelimbs, one of them still a welding torch, and then toppling over the safety barrier to land on the hard stone. Nice spot for a cervical fracture, but I wasn’t about to give it the satisfaction. I got shakily to my feet.

The Bik was already back at work and so didn’t say anything like “Are you okay?” I appreciated that, too.

The stairs led up to a wide hallway, somewhere deep in the structure. There were a few dwellings and businesses along it, all shut up tight and silent. I turned right and strolled down its length. The light was red and dim, but there was enough for me to see by.

The structure had a window at the end, with slightly rippled glass. This showed a much higher view of the swamps in lower Sryll. I couldn’t spot the Voyog, the Mesklitch, or anything else I was familiar with. Big warehouses, poorly kept up but still standing, lined one side of a canal beyond the houseboats and the steam dome.

I turned around and walked back, past the stairway I had come up, and to the other end. There was more activity here. I heard some thumping music, and then the sweet-sour smell of a Khruskr. I resisted the urge to flee. The Khruskr were a dangerous nation, fast predators. But they were also incredibly smart and knew how to make themselves useful.

The ideogram of a glowing red oval being pushed in on both sides let me know I was at a work-interchange bar called Compressor, conveying a complex sense of high pressure and temperature where normally stable substances react, a very Khruskr name for a work interchange bar, where different nations met for business. When it benefits them, Khruskr are good at keeping the peace. Work interchange can be ticklish, but works best when combined with intoxicants and the knowledge that misbehavior can lead to bodily damage. It had been in Katin’s list of places to find someone who dealt in flesh butter, which she said Brice used. Of course, she might well have come here herself, at some point.

Inside, the ceilings were low, the air hot, and the lighting red-dwarf dim. The Khruskr bartender extended its fighting limbs so that I had to brush past their sharp-edged ends and provide a good sample of my identifying scent so it could locate and kill me in the dark if necessary.

It didn’t try to block my entrance, at least, so that was a cover charge I was willing to pay. This was an unusual amount of doorway security. People didn’t usually try to get into a bar like this unless they had real business to transact.

Not surprisingly, given its Sryll location, Compressor had a lot of Qippi clientele. Since their six grasping limbs could hold on to walls and ceiling, the bar was effectively several times larger for them than for the rest of us. Here, many of them hung from the ceiling. Water dripped down in that corner of the bar, probably turned on just for them: Qippi Hour.

The Khruskr bartender kept its eyes on me, too. Its subsidiary eyes, not its main ones, a bit deflating. It didn’t see me as much of a challenge.

I’m a big girl, for an Om, so the dangling Qippi, with their long spinal bristles, were a real hazard. I ducked underneath to get to the bar’s back room and check things out.

Four tendril-covered Saristifians sat at the same table, but facing away from each other, chattering to the air. A tray of the salted and dried crustaceans whose shells had a psychoactive effect on them sat almost empty between them. Saristifians favored a mild sense of unreality that might have disturbed some other nations. These seemed to have overindulged and, while cheerily sociable, had completely ceased to believe in each other’s actual existence.

I did notice that one of them kept running its hand across its arms and legs. Though maybe I was overreading—Saristifians rarely interacted with Cryptors. Maybe it had just overdone it and ceased to believe in the existence of its own body.

At the next table, three Darkwings, wrinkled wings unfurled to reveal their beautifully decorated bodies, shot jets of golden pollen at each other. Sitting with them was a block-headed Iffrin in a wrinkled hide cloak. Its muzzle was golden with pollen, but instead of enjoying the high, it snuffled and rubbed its nose. Their association was odd enough that they had to be making some kind of deal.

Seeing that their pleasures translated poorly into Iffrin, two of the Darkwings went out to the bar and soon came back tottering under the weight of a dark slab, maybe a foot square. Darkwings had evolved from some flying creature, but this nation, unlike Sosh and some others in the City of Storms, couldn’t so much as glide a thermal. They had the hollow bones and light structure of a flying creature still, and were relatively weak and breakable. Carrying that slab was a strenuous and risky enterprise for them. They were really interested in closing whatever deal they were negotiating.

All the Qippi had now gathered in a tight bunch on the ceiling. Qippi never got high individually. The dominant personality ingested a toxic fungus. I’d noted that the bar carried an unusually good selection. Once it had metabolically detoxed the fungus, the others drank its blood. The willingness to take this sometimes-fatal risk was how an individual wanting status achieved and maintained dominance. Sometimes the community could demand a much more toxic treat, taking care of the overmighty. 

The two Darkwings clumsily lifted the dark slab and slammed it down on the Iffrin’s downturned head. 

It shattered, sending tiny fragments skittering across the floor. They seemed almost frictionless, like pieces of dry ice. The Iffrin shuddered and the two Darkwings steadied it as it lowered its weight back into its seat.

Everyone was getting high but me.

The Iffrin took a small handful of pollen and blew it back at them. It was a nice social moment, an exchange of intoxicants and chitchat before getting to the heart of the matter. It now pulled out a small container made of folded paper, looking as elegantly irrelevant as a party favor. But the Darkwings’ response to it was far from casual. They shivered and spread their wings—

There was a crash as the constellation of Qippi, too intoxicated to hold on, fell from the ceiling.

They just lay there, clacking their limbs together in their version of laughter: look, we’re oriented as if we’re on the ceiling, but now we’re lying on the floor. I can feel the floor on my back! Can you feel the floor on your back? My legs don’t do anything when I move them except wave in the air! Isn’t this a crazy world?

The one who had provided the detoxed blood meal lay still, though still alive. If it survived, its status would be greatly enhanced.

I remembered that my Mesklitch barge pilot, [Creak-snap-groan], had mentioned that local Qippi had been doing work for the Voyog, Glublugss. A drunk’s information is generally less reliable, but more willingly given.

I squatted down next to them. “Any of you been doing contract work with Glublugss?” 

They moaned and giggled. Finally, the fungus consumer said, “Voyog breaks, we fix. And we pour water on the Mesklitch’s head! Don’t tell, but we’d do that for free.”

They all clacked their limbs. Tormenting poor [Creak-snap-groan] was clearly hilarious.

It was a sad state, being the only sober person in a happening bar. I had a brief impulse to see if I could get some of this almost-dead Qippi’s blood. I told myself that having an Om suck its blood would sink its status beyond recovery, harsh payback for answering my questions.

“Glublugss ran into the front of the Om’s house at the pool,” I said. “Brice Perikan’s house. Did you guys do any repair work on that?”

There was a slight tinkle of its claws, which might have been a giggle, and then it passed out. How in the world would I resuscitate a Qippi? 

“No unpurchased intoxicants,” the Khruskr said from behind the bar. “And no unauthorized bodily contact. Any such attempt will result in permanent expulsion.”

Great, now the Khruskr bartender had me pegged as some kind of pressurized pervert. It could lead to my banning at every Khruskr-run work interchange bar in Tempest, a serious social handicap in my line of work.

But I’d allowed myself to get distracted. The table at which the Iffrin and the Darkwings had been negotiating was now empty. The deal had been done. I cursed my inattention. That Iffrin was clearly a dealer that worked out of this bar. If it hadn’t sold Brice the flesh butter, it would likely know who had. But where had it gone?

A movement caught my eye. A tiny yellow dot hopped across the tabletop. I looked more closely. It was a hopping insect of some kind. I reached to brush it off—

Suddenly a Darkwing loomed over me, its wings outspread. “Please . . .” it whispered. “Please.”

I looked up into its long, concentrated face. Delicate Darkwings, all stick and fabric, rarely confronted us heavy lumps. But it needed something so badly it was willing to take that risk.

The Darkwing brought a wing joint close to the table. I could now see other yellow dots on the wing membrane. With that clue, I knew what to do. I put my mouth down and give a slight breath. The little aphid flipped into the air and onto the wing.

The Darkwing then folded up and shrank until it was a small, spindly creature. “Thank you.” It turned to totter off toward the bar door, where the shadows of its compatriots were just visible.

“Wait,” I said. “Where did the Iffrin go?”

For a moment, I thought it would ignore me.

Then it turned back. “This city has ruined us. We are passionate for infection. We wish to be parasitized, simply to avoid rotting away. So we come here, for our need. This place isn’t for you. Your nation itself is an infection.”

Everyone seemed to be down on Oms today. “It’s for a friend.”

Did it actually find that funny? At any rate, it answered: “A door in back. We do not fit, risk damage, so our dealings in the dangerous open, subject to Qippi falls.”

“And what should I bring? After what you provided.”

“Green. Dark green. It has a calming effect. Perhaps you will live through the encounter. If that’s your goal.”

“At the moment,” I said, “it is.” It vanished into the murk of the corridor.

By the time I got up to the counter, the bartender had pulled out a rack of the slabs the Iffrin seemed to favor. I felt a bit gamed.

Bars existed to take advantage of their customers’ weaknesses in a pleasing way. That was clear to everyone involved. It was just that a Khruskr was such a sophisticated predator that it might be a weakness you hadn’t come in to expose.

Hence the seductive charm of a Khruskr bar.

What had the Darkwing said? Dark green. The commercial ideograms on that one said “For psychic detachment and conceptual connectivity.” Iffrin definitions of getting high were a bit more abstruse than mine.

It wasn’t cheap, but Brice was covering necessary expenses. Would money spent in uncovering the fact that he been misleading me count as necessary? I was too excited to balance the risks. I paid, grabbed it, and headed through the back room to the door.

A spiral staircase led up from the door. I have wide hips and a lot of other projecting equipment. I’m not built for narrow, and the slab got jammed against my ribs as I climbed up.

Eventually, I found myself in a curving chamber packed with ridged hide tubes, dangling intestinal loops, and dishes of substrate with glistening larvae gliding over them. I was pretty sure that the Iffrin also nurtured a variety of parasites and infections under the hide cloak. Their bodies were a kind of mobile pharmaceutical laboratory. It probably supplied Compressor with most of its non-shelf-stable intoxicants.

I realized I could clearly hear the slap of water in the Hiddar Canal, as well as the bustle of streets up the ridge opposite, through the porthole windows around the domed ceiling. In fact, the curve seemed to focus the sound. Was that the hiss of the Bik’s welding torch?

The Iffrin regarded me without surprise. It had a wide, heavy head, with big eyes mounted outboard of even that, giving it a deep 3D view, which allowed it to do extraordinarily fine manipulations.

“You wish to do business with me?” it said. 

“I want to ask you a couple of questions.”

“So you do wish to do business with me.”

“I suppose I do.”

“Then let us do it.” It bowed its head down before me.

“What in return?” No matter what nation you were dealing with, it was always a mistake to assume the terms of an agreement.

It considered. “Five minutes of information.”

“Questions and gaps not counted,” I said.

“Of course not.”

It brought its complex shoulders up and kind of hooked them on the bone projections that held its eyes so that it could breathe deeply. It was prepared for its new high.

I brought the slab up above my head, brushing a low loop of dangling bioreactor intestine, and brought it down on his head, putting all of my muscle into it. As I did it, I was suddenly conscious of every part of my body, and the way my clothes hugged me, the tightness of the shoulders, the way my shoes held my feet, the way I bounced a bit from the impact.

Too much perception going on here. It was a dangerous location.

It stumbled back, shivered, shook the glittering fragments off its head. A few writhing creatures fell out from under its cloak. It quickly scooped them up and slid them gently back against its body.

“Did an Om named Brice purchase a flesh butter fungus from you?” I said.

“I don’t know his name, as I’m not interested in knowing yours. But an Om did. Not a common purchase, it took some bioreactor work.”

“How well does that fungus work on Cryptors?” 

“Often unreliable. But when the infection is managed by someone with skill, it can overcome a Cryptor’s natural finickiness. While Cryptors rework the nervous system of their prey, stimulating it while keeping it from knowing it is being devoured, they themselves are driven by signals they cannot perceive. The fungus changes scent, heat distribution, and texture, increasing prey appeal. That Om had heard of my reputation. I’ve been breeding this fungus for years, making it harder for a Cryptor to resist.”

“Did it work?”

“The Om claimed it didn’t. I helped it attract the Cryptor. Now it complained that the Cryptor was not actively preying on it. Everyone wants things quickly. Parasitization, infection . . . these require patience and commitment. Not something done on impulse.”

“I’ll keep that in mind.”

“Having a Cryptor in pursuit had given that Om a status it now feared losing. I was adding fungus, more quickly than is prudent, when I saw something move through this space. Iffrins have vision sufficient to see a Cryptor. A bar purchase is required to come see me. The Cryptor made no purchase, and generated a sense of unease and even despair. The bar has upgraded security since then. No more Cryptors.” 

This explained the Saristifian’s tic, and the bartender’s state of high alert. A Cryptor could kill a bar’s business.

“Skedastr followed Brice here?” I said.

“I do not much distinguish individuals. A Cryptor, an Om. Not many different stories, after all. But this Cryptor was clearly the object of the fungus’s attractive powers. But it wasn’t here because it had been pulled. It had developed a suspicion. An unusual amount of self-perception. But self-perception is a weak defense. I could see that the increased fungal load I had provided would work. Was working. The Cryptor was held here, even if the Om could not see it. So, most unprofessionally, I allowed myself a moment of weakness.”

“What did you do?”

“Under the guise of explaining more about Cryptor responses, I pulled out an external parasite that conceals itself under a Cryptor’s insulating and concealing fibers and digs into their integument. Fear of having such an infection passed to them is one source of Cryptor suspicion of each other. The Cryptor realized there were dangers here, and fled. My client was oblivious. Instead, it focused its anger on me. I was beginning to think I must call the Khruskr up to protect me. Then . . . there was a shriek, that of a despairing, dying Cryptor.” The Iffrin looked up at the windows. “Resonant and clear. One would only make such a revealing sound if there was no other choice. The Om left with its treatment incomplete.”

So Skedastr had been fleeing what it had learned up here in the parasite pusher’s lab: that its motivations were not entirely its own, that it had become something like the fungus-infected Brice’s prey.

The Cryptor might have escaped then, found a place to hide. I still didn’t understand the Voyog encounter the Bik maintenance worker had witnessed, but there was no question that Skedastr had ended up in the water right after leaving the Iffrin’s lab and screamed in panic. Brice had heard it from here, not from home, and run down to save it.

What had happened then? Had Skedastr been overwhelmed with gratitude? Or by the effects of Brice’s renewed fungal infection? Maybe it had bitten Brice through sheer reflex. Getting wet threw Cryptors into an uncontrollable panic and made them extremely dangerous. Whatever the reason, it had finally taken a chunk out of Brice, and then seemingly accepted that Brice was its intended prey.

“Did you see ever see either of them again?” I said.

“The Cryptor, no. The Om did return, much later. Good mood now. With a magnificent shirt and cloak. When Cryptors were new in Tempest, they were used in complex interpersonal struggles between Oms, as incremental assassins. Then the relationship, and its social valence, evolved. Being a Cryptor’s chosen prey became a sign of status. An Om had to depend on the skill of its tailor for a design that revealed the devoured and perhaps regrowing parts, since the wearer was not consciously aware of what had happened.”

I wasn’t much interested in ancient history. “Is that why Brice came? Just to show off ?”

“To repair water damage. I had warned it about that, to cover the fungus if it planned to enter water. Clearly my strictures were of no interest. But it did boast that the Cryptor had purchased these clothes for it, to increase its desirability as prey.”

“Wait,” I said. “Brice said Skedastr bought those clothes for him?”

“Yes. The Om paid me what it owed me, but would not take a maintenance contract. People underestimate how fragile special-bred parasites can be, particularly if their origins are on a different planet than theirs. The fungus can reach a reproductive state and sporulate. Those spores will not breed true, but can cause respiratory problems in those with cycling oxygenation systems. It was more interested in returning home to further tempt its Cryptor.” 

“Thank you,” I said. “This has been immensely helpful.”

“I provide value. You know, many Oms are reducing their obsession with a notional bodily isolation and accepting a more differentiated and varied sense of self.”

I’d been expecting a sales pitch. “I wouldn’t be a good customer for you.”

“A small pinworm might be an easy start. A toxoplasmodium? The mental changes can be quite interesting. Surprisingly affordable . . . no? You do seem like someone who enjoys an entertaining risk. But getting between an Om and a Cryptor is just a good way to become prey to both.”

The Iffrin was just having fun with me. But I sensed something more serious behind it. Was it warning me? As it had scared Skedastr away to save it from the attractions of the infected Brice?

This warning was in vain here, too. I needed the money.

It was the next day before I could get back to Sryll. I had to help my aunt with a few things around the house, avoiding promising I would pay the rent I owed her, something I desperately wanted to do. I wanted to just give it to her without warning, from this job. Restraining myself like that made me feel mature.

When I got to the boat hire docks at the lower end of Onkmire, as I expected, [Creak-snap-groan] and its barge were nowhere to be seen. Instead there was a Voyog with makeshift seats on its back. It looked precarious, but I was in a hurry, so I took the chance.

I was the only passenger, since locals clearly had more sense than to use it. This wasn’t Glublugss, but some other Voyog, someone it had roped into its business enterprise. Of course Glublugss itself wasn’t going to be doing the heavy lifting.

The Voyog sang gently to itself as it went, a beautiful sound that resonated in the tunnels. It wouldn’t talk to me, though I was sure it understood my traffiq. The seating was as precarious as I suspected, though not deliberately, I didn’t think. It was just makeshift, particularly the back row, which tilted precariously.

The Qippi weren’t lurking overhead to drop water balloons down on the passengers now that poor [Creak-snap-groan] had been driven out of business, but Glublugss would have to deal with the fact that the sort of sabotage it had encouraged could return and become a regular shakedown.

“You can’t expect me to do my best work if you don’t tell me the truth.” As soon as he opened his door, I pushed past a startled Brice and into the dankness of his nowempty Cryptor prison.

“What? I don’t—”

“You weren’t in your apartment when you heard Skedastr scream for help. It’s too far. And it would have taken too long for you to make it there to rescue it.”

“That’s ridiculous,” he said. “You don’t know how sounds can carry, what with all those walls, that water. And the wind down off the glaciers . . . it can be surprising what you hear.”

“Come on. You weren’t home. You were right across the canal, up in Sryll. Getting a Cryptor-related treatment. You know the one.”

He was wearing a single piece outfit today, delicately embroidered, of a soft, clingy cloth. It fit perfectly. Aside from the growth on his chest, he was a decent physical specimen. I’ve certainly enjoyed worse. Despite himself, his hand hovered above his chest.

“I . . . I was desperate.” He caved quickly. “Skedastr had given such strong signs that it was pursuing me . . . and then, nothing. I know you don’t know what happens to you . . . but you can sense if something might. So I sought out—” 

“Really? Are you claiming you started buttering only after Skedastr was living with you? That you didn’t start in order to lure a Cryptor in the first place?”

His face crumpled at that. He turned away from me. “I needed something, I didn’t know what, then. But when I met Skedastr, I knew it was right. And it still didn’t work. . . .”

It’s easy to tell yourself you won’t work for a liar. Just as easy as telling yourself not to make those bad decisions, to not trust your untrustworthy boyfriend with all the business accounts, to not spend money you don’t really have yet to show everyone you’ve already made it . . . but so difficult to actually not do those things. And after you’d done them, you found that you didn’t have the freedom to turn down the next bad opportunity that presented itself.

Which always led to taking an even worse opportunity later. Money is measured and numbered freedom, and I didn’t have enough in my bank account to make me free enough to turn my back on this job. This idiot Brice was all I had going for me right now.

“We can find Skedastr.” I turned to calming. “But I need the truth from you to do it. Now, your clothes. Skedastr bought them?”

This last piece of knowledge was finally enough to crush him, to get him to believe that no matter what he hid, I would find it. But could I get him to believe I would quit, even if I didn’t believe it myself ?

He took me upstairs and threw open his closet.

“This stuff is really exciting now.” Just like that, he was enthusiastic, a pitchman for a new lifestyle. “Cryptors are present in a way they haven’t been in years. I always arouse a lot of comment when I go out. No one can ever be sure whether there’s a Cryptor lurking nearby. That can make people jealous. So maybe it was my fault that Katin came back into Skedastr’s life.”

He’d be of no help if he stuck to his absurd theories. “I don’t think she had anything to do with Skedastr’s disappearance. Neither did any of your other neighbors in Hiddar.”

“What . . . but then . . . why. . . ?”

“Skedastr had secrets you didn’t know about. No surprise, it’s a Cryptor. How did Skedastr buy these clothes for you?”

“They started getting delivered, first one or two a week, then pretty much every day. Every delivery person needed a big tip, for the ‘hardship’ of getting through Sryll. Everyone has their hand out these days.”

As he spoke, he pulled the clothes out of the closet and threw them on the bed. The rich fabrics, the gold embroidery, the tight cut . . . I’m a bit of a clothes horse myself, I can recognize quality. I felt the lining of a couple of them, fingered the collars. . . . I had never seen such beautiful clothes before. Even if it was all what I would really have to call lurewear. 

“No,” I said. “I mean, how did Skedastr afford it?”

“Cryptors can have money.” Brice was clearly nettled by the question, maybe because he’d been so dazzled by his own magnificence that he’d never thought to ask it. “Bank accounts, all that. They are citizens, even if many despise them. Skedastr had worked. With me, of course, it didn’t need to do that. So it used its savings to give me what it thought I deserved.”

Skedastr hadn’t earned that kind of money disposing of pests in a warehouse in Lower Sryll, I thought. But Brice clearly wasn’t the one to explain Skedastr’s finances to me.

“Did you ever know Skedastr to talk to a Voyog?” 

“A Voyog? One of those underwater people? I mean, you could hear them. New to the area, I think, just like us, like me and Skedastr. Singing in the water. More dependable for transport than that Mesklitch, I hear. But I doubt Skedastr got anywhere near them, near the water, after what happened.”

What had happened to Skedastr in the Hiddar Canal had been an intimate conversation with a Voyog, the entrepreneurial Glublugss. A conversation that went badly wrong. Brice would have had no idea that when he brought Skedastr here, he was putting it in a situation where it could always hear the insinuating voice of the Voyog—speaking intimately in the Cryptor’s own language. Its covert hung right by the wall.

A wall that an impact had damaged, forcing Brice to hire local Qippi to repair it. Glublugss had shown a willingness to damage the landing stage to harm a competitor’s business. Why might it have done the same to Brice’s house?

“Let me take another look at the repairs downstairs,” I said.

The windows above the Cryptor’s covert in the lower level were pretty high up above us, but from outside, they were just three feet or so above water level.

They looked like they had hinges, but no handles. “How do those open?” I said.

“I don’t really . . .” He looked around. “They changed the model of window. Without asking me. I don’t know what these are.”

“I need to take a look from outside.” I could see the steady downpour of water from the pipe plants that overgrew the house. “Do you have a raincoat or anything like that?”

“Yes!” He seemed pleased that he knew where something was. “I keep one here, a nice one, right by the back. . . .” He dug around in a closet. “It was beautiful! Yellow and green, down to my knees. I got it because it really is so wet here. It was . . . where could it have gone?”

I should have expected that. He dug deeper and came up with a woolly kind of jacket that was more likely to weigh me down than protect me from a Cryptor-confining cascade. I decided to take my chances.

I went out the front door, then worked my way down along a kind of maintenance catwalk there, actually a bit better than the one above the Hiddar Canal.

I mostly kept out of the dripping water. The day was sunny, with mist mostly localized, in patches that made this or that spot in the pool a bit more mysterious. The vine-covered buildings on the pool’s far side were lush, now producing small, vivid red flowers. Qippi jumped in and out of their apartments. I wondered if any of them were hungover from their blood-toxin binge the day before.

I lay down on the catwalk to look at those windows. The right and left ones were fixed panels, not made to be opened. The center one . . . I leaned out farther, and found myself catching the water dribbling from above. No help for that.

Right at the top, this window had a latch, the kind you usually found on the inside. I pulled myself out farther and, with a stretch, was just able to get my fingers on it. I flipped it up and yanked. I found myself peering in at a startled Brice.

“This is a real security problem,” I told him. “You should get this fixed.”

I pushed it shut, almost knocking myself into the swirling water below, then managed to work my way back onto the catwalk.

Inside, Brice didn’t have a towel ready for me. He was just dismayed at how wet I was, and asked me to stand on a tiled spot near the door. My hair was now limp and bedraggled, my clothes clammy. I was a mess no matter how you looked at it.

Brice paced back and forth. “My fault. It’s all my fault. I took it all for granted. No wonder Skedastr wanted to escape. No wonder all it could figure out to do was to get away from me.”

Until just a couple of minutes ago, that was exactly what I had thought, that Skedastr had just escaped from an intolerable situation, the way Cryptors do.

I tried squeezing my hair to get the water out of it. Brice wasn’t helping me at all. I went to the closet that had once held the missing raincoat, pulled out the inappropriate woolly jacket, turned it inside out, and put it on. It could absorb some of the water, at least.

“I went out too often, with those great clothes,” Brice wailed. “I should have known.”

“No,” I said. “I think you were right before. Someone kidnapped Skedastr. But not Katin, and not any of your old Hiddar buds. Have you received any kind of ransom demand?”

“No! Nothing like that. I would have told you.”

Of course you would have. “Would you be willing to pay for its return, if that proves necessary?”

“Yes, yes.” He was desperately eager. “I’d pay anything to get Skedastr back.”

“Let me see if I can track down where Skedastr was taken.” I paused, then took the necessary plunge. “This will cost a bit extra.”

A couple of weeks after our disastrous night at Apilsin’s party, Videl’s buddy Cleto heard from Zabiun that Zabiun and his brother Apilsin were off to stay with family somewhere more pleasant than Apilsin’s collapsing wasteland house. I’d told Videl what I saw in the back of Apilsin’s house to calm him down after we got away from the Party of the Damned. Maybe I oversold it, because Videl concluded that there was something valuable there, something that he would have dug up himself if Apilsin hadn’t chased him off the piece of land he claimed for himself.

That might not have been enough, but Cleto got excited and planned a mission to get back what was rightfully Videl’s. I was actually excited to be included. I was staying with my aunt, as I sometimes did then, and, sadly, still do. I swiped a flashlight from downstairs as I snuck out, wrapped it in a scarf to protect it, and stuck it in my pocket.

The group turned out to be Videl, me, Cleto, and Cleto’s girlfriend Yasira, a dramatic girl who was wearing a lot of jewelry to participate in a house break-in.

“Dried lizard?” Yasira said, as we made our way through the scrub toward the house. “That’s what we’re after?”

“Valuable shit,” Videl muttered.

“These lizards were, like, pets, to something big,” Cleto said. “Remediators, Harnoi, whatever. Long time ago, early in Tempest. These lizards, they laid a lot of eggs. If they hatched, great. If they didn’t, the owners decorated the eggs and gave them a funeral, out in the flats. Kind of their entertainment, I guess. People now pay for ones that have something inside. “

“So, Videl.” Yasira was clearly unimpressed by this explanation. “This one-armed guy chased you off his egg ground and now you want to get back at him.”

She sure had my boyfriend pegged.

“He’s got one with an embryo,” Videl said. “Sere saw it in back. Pretty rare.”

“Oh, she did.” Yasira was no more impressed as she looked me over. “In back of Apilsin’s house? You come out the same as you went in?”

“I don’t understand,” I said.

“Oh, of course not.” Yasira dismissed me with a flick of a dangling earring. “No one ever understands anything. It does get tiring.”

Yasira and I stopped a few hundred yards from the house while the boys went ahead. “I’ll let you know if we need any help,” Cleto said.

“Don’t bother.” Yasira was done, with him, with everything. But she was still there, the same way I was. “Try not to lose anything I might want to use, Cleto.” 

“Ha ha.”

I wasn’t sure Cleto got what she was saying. Videl looked apprehensive, like he really didn’t want to do this, like this wasn’t at all his idea, but then they were gone, vanished in the dark. Both suns were down, but a decent moon was up, you could just see to get around.

“What’s back there?” I said. “In Apilsin’s house. What do you know?”

“You’re the only one who’s been there,” Yasira snapped. “You should know better than anyone.”

“But you do know!”

“My grandma had an expression about someone who’d had a lucky life. ‘She died whole,’ she’d say. She grew up in a different time. She knew what those things could do with you. It’s nothing to play around with.”

“What can you do about it?” I said. “Anything?”

“Cryptors eat the living, not the dead. They’re pretty fussy that way. Could you give me your flashlight for a second?”

“What?”

“Your flashlight, dammit.”

She wasn’t bigger than me, but she was a lot rougher. She grabbed my arm, hard, and then reached into my pocket, grabbed my aunt’s flashlight, and walked off with it. In a moment I saw it flicker out in the brush. She was looking around for something. Something she’d dropped? I had no idea.

After a few minutes she seemed to find something and squatted down to look at it. The light went out, leaving me alone in the darkness. Maybe she was just taking a crap. I sure felt like taking one.

Maybe five minutes later, she was back next to me. Without a word she shoved the flashlight back into my pocket. She wasn’t as careful about rewrapping the scarf around it, so it felt a lot bulkier.

“Now,” she said. “Get away from me.”

I’d somehow hoped that flashlight would buy me something. If not liking, at least mild gratitude. I walked away to hide my shame, around to the side of the house.

I don’t know whether each of them assumed the other knew more about housebreaking than he did, but Videl and Cleto were completely unable to get anywhere with that house. The windows were covered with grates, the doors were solid. They circled it a couple of times. I could see them waving their arms and arguing with each other.

I heard a metallic click and then a scrape. I was around the side of the house and could see the back. I watched a grate slide up, and saw a dim light behind a window. I walked up to it and looked in. There was nothing, just that bare back room.

The one with what I would later learn was a Cryptor covert dangling in it.

Then I climbed in. I only assume I had a good reason to do it because I did do it. I don’t remember at all what I was thinking.

The place was empty, though the smell of Apilsin’s old clothes lingered, along with something darker, stickier. Something rotting. Maybe all the leftovers of that party a couple of weeks ago. Now I can recognize how narrowed down my mind was. I saw reality only through a narrow chink. I walked through the house to the front door, pulled back the bolts, and opened it.

Videl and Cleto were standing a few yards away, still arguing. It took them a few seconds to even notice me.

“How did you do that?” Videl said.

“There was a grate in the back that looked latched, but really wasn’t,” I said. “I managed to flip it up. Apilsin hadn’t bothered to lock the window behind it.”

“We checked every window,” Cleto said.

“Obviously not,” Videl snapped. “Let’s go. We’ve wasted a lot of time.”

Yasira appeared. “There’s something wrong, Cleto! You checked, right? You said that. You checked.”

“Yasira, we’ve got our opening,” Cleto said. “We have to take it.”

She glowered at me. “She looks all there. So someone else won’t be.”

“Stay out of stuff you don’t understand,” Cleto said.

“That I don’t understand?” Yasira said. “This is ridiculous. I’m going.”

“Go, then,” Cleto said.

Maybe Yasira had been bluffing. But now she played it out. She turned and walked off into the night. I desperately wanted to follow her. When she was some distance away, I saw a flashlight shine through the branches.

“Sere!” Videl said behind me. “Show us where. We’ve got to get on with this.”

I walked back there with them and pointed at the shelves. I could see the disorder from when Apilsin had fallen against them. Maybe it was the aftermath of that which led Zabiun to take his older brother back home. Both Apilsin and his house had a sad, abandoned look. The rot smell seemed stronger here.

As soon as I looked at them, I realized I had been wrong about the one case I’d seen. It did show a pale crescent where the case was open a crack, but it was some kind of packing material, not anything like an egg inside.

That made me angry. I’d been trying to please Videl and it was my fault we were here.

I shook the shelf in a rage, sending things toppling.

“Hey!” Cleto yelled. “Don’t do that.”

“It’s all a bunch of bullshit!” I shook it harder, then backhanded an egg case. It sailed off the shelf and landed somewhere.

“Sere!” Videl was wide eyed.

“Get her out of here,” Cleto said. “We gotta get her out of here.”

Cleto grabbed me and yanked me out of the room. Videl made one of those weak boyfriend yelps, but that was about it.

Cleto tugged me down the hallway and threw me into the back room. He closed the door. I heard him jam something against the door, but I didn’t even try to get out. I was still too startled at everyone I had to deal with here.

Plus I could just leave by the window . . . though, now that I looked at it, the grate was down again, and the window closed. The rotting smell filled my nostrils. But there was something sweeter and more delicate above it, quickly gone.

“You are disrupting,” something whispered, in a traffiq all us kids knew, though it didn’t seem like it talked very often.

“I don’t want to be here,” I said.

“You came here. You are here. You are a distraction.”

At that moment, from somewhere, I asked an inspired question. 

“How do I keep from distracting you?”

“Smell dead, look dead. Feel dead. Death I ignore. Living flesh can be too much. But you knew, you already understood.” It wasn’t as if the Cryptor cared about me, but it had other plans.

I reached my hand into my pocket. It wasn’t the flashlight in there. Of course not, I’d seen Yasira turn it on as she stalked away from the house. Whatever was wrapped in there was soft, sagging, stinking.

I’d lost any ability to react to anything. No pleasure, no disgust. I pulled out the rotting carcass of a sand squirrel and its rotting stink filled the room. I flopped down on the floor as if dead.

Then I got scared. Maybe this was how the Cryptor ensured no resistance. It was playing a trick to get its prey to cooperate in its own consumption. I almost got back up. Something kept me there.

Out in the hallway, I heard Yasira yelling, “He’s coming. I saw them, at the station. Apilsin’s on his way home. He’s almost here.”

The window slid open, the grating clanked. I smelled the fresh outdoors.

There was a scramble. Someone struggled with the door, then finally got it open.

“Sere!” Videl said urgently. “Where are—”

He found me lying on the floor, with the Cryptor over me, or so he later said. As time went by, he’d add that he’d struggled with the Cryptor to save me. If he’d looked, he might have caught a glimpse of the Cryptor as it went silently out of the window into the night.

I jumped up and threw the rotting sand squirrel into a corner. We all burst out of that front door. The boys never got an egg. We didn’t need the slideway station. We pelted through the darkness until we reached the outskirts of Panetto. 

That was it for me and Videl. For a long time we did maintain a pact of silence about that night. Eventually, he started telling his exaggerated Cryptor stories. By then I could ignore him, and add that event to the reputation I’d already acquired for experiencing things other people were afraid to.

I never learned what happened to that Cryptor, and have never tried to find out. Apilsin did seem bereft without it, grew sick, and died a year or so later. His egg cases vanished, as his house did, eventually. Nothing was left, save an experience I could use to get a job I should just have stayed away from.

To get to Lower Sryll, I stayed away from Voyog-based transportation, recognizing, a bit late, that I was providing Glublugss with entirely too much information by doing so. Instead, I finally scored a Qippi repair barge. By this time I was used to squeezing all my dramatic bodily equipment between metal housings and rough sacks. They overcharged me, and made fun of me. But they could not dampen my enthusiasm, because I was already wet. They finally let me off at a stage below the bend in the Hiddar Canal before they headed off to do work. If that work was for Glublugss, maybe I had wasted my time in trying to conceal myself.

There was no way Skedastr had enough money to buy even a single shirt in Brice’s closet, much less every piece that now stuffed it.

I had a theory about where it had gotten that money and what the consequences were, and I knew who probably had enough information to confirm or deny it. Skedastr’s ultimate goal in getting that money and then spending it that way was more obscure, and the only reliable source I would be able to find for that was Skedastr itself.

I trudged along the shore from the landing stage. The area looked unpromising from a distance, but along with the various settlements and the big steam dome, there was a commercial area between two of the canals, with a good selection of stores, as well as a line of food stands. I grabbed a fried eel from a stand and ate it standing up, letting the oil drip on the ground in front of me.

I might not have been able to resist getting another one, but someone shouted to me from behind. “Look cold! Warm up.”

A Mesklitch was selling some cross-national knits from a small-wheeled stand. It was smaller than [Creak-snap-groan], and a bit more graceful.

The clothing had a number of options in how it could be strapped and folded, so it could fit on a wide range of bodies. Not a Voyog maybe, or a Cryptor, but most of us bipedal types, a common body model among the nations of Tempest. And what it was holding up to me, a vest in a pattern of purple and green, would fit almost anything.

The wind now picked up and I shivered. The vest seller had picked me at my most vulnerable moment, and it took only feeling the softness of the knit for me to knuckle under.

“Do you know [Creak-snap-groan]?” I said as I was paying, to make it seem to myself like this purchase fit into the day’s planned activities. “Used to operate a transport barge in the area.”

The Mesklitch squinted at me. “Life is already hard.”

“And I have no interest in making it any harder. But it knows something that can help someone.” I took an imaginative leap. “Someone who has also suffered from the Voyog.” 

“From Glublugss!” 

“Yes. [Creak-snap-groan] lost his barge.”

“Our trade will be ruined,” the Mesklitch knit seller said. “Already deliveries are late. [Creak-snap-groan] was reliable. Now sits and fishes. Today, up past the steambath. Already defeated. Already crushed. Why add fish?”

“I’ll see if I can find out.”

“Stay warm.”

And the vest really was warm, though it wouldn’t go with anything else I owned. At least it and me would always have this moment. I went along the muddy track and past the domed steambath, with its many hissing pipes. A big gauge showed the current steam temperature. Various nations liked getting hotter than their physiological norm, but it was crucial to distinguish between the temperature at which they took pleasure, the temperature at which their parasites weakened, and the temperature at which they died. Right now it was much hotter than any Om would be able to tolerate. A short line of Varanoi, with their heavy hides and auxiliary digging claws, dirty from some construction job, waited to get in, each leaning its head on the rough back of the one in front.

Beyond the steam dome I found [Creak-snap-groan], sitting on a weed-covered stretch of concrete just where the next warehouse’s side channel split off, with its line in the water, still wearing Brice’s yellow and green raincoat, which seemed to fit it with only minor adjustments.

Next to it was a large bucket, as well as a tray and rack that held three or four of what looked like silgrass rhizomes, a common Mesklitch food. These were larger than the ones I usually saw at the market, six inches long and three or four inches thick, yellow brown, with the tuft of grass at one end that indicated freshness. There was certainly no silgrass field anywhere near here. They looked placed to grill, as if they were its prepared lunch, but there was no fire.

“No ride,” it said as I sat down next to it. “Business gone.”

“It’s gotten really hard to get around up there.”

“Talk to Glublugss.” 

The fishing rod’s float bobbed. [Creak-snap-groan] had caught a fish. It yanked it out, took it off the hook, and banged its head on the concrete. It scaled it, gutted it, throwing the guts back in the water, and deftly filleted it, keeping it in one piece. The bones followed the guts. It then painted something all over the fish and rolled it in the tray, covering it with what looked like dough. It made some marks on it with a stylus, jabbed a couple of blades of long grass on the head end, and put it on a rack with the rhizomes, which I now realized were also deftly disguised fish.

“My nest won’t eat fish,” [Creak-snap-groan] said. “But there is little food, and Mesklitch can digest the proteins, with a bit of enzymatic assistance, and be healthy. So I disguise fish as grass root. Have an art now, grown quite realistic. Nestmates must know what it is. But baked, it allows an illusion, while keeping us alive.”

“We all need illusions. About ourselves if nothing else. Does Glublugss the Voyog lend money often?”

“Part of the business plan, how it recruits employees. Loans them money backed by an indenture contract for their labor, waits for them to default, and then enforces the contract. It is a good judge of both personal improvidence and professional skill. I refused to borrow, it drove me out of business. Now it offers me work. Good work, on contract, not indenture. If I pass an audition.”

“What audition?”

Unexpectedly, it hunched uncomfortably in the raincoat and then, twitchily, checked its limbs, its body conformation, even the continued presence of its spatulate front teeth.

“I have been reluctant.” It gazed at the nearby warehouse, which showed signs of recent repair. The channel even seemed to have been dredged recently.

“Where did you get the raincoat?” I said.

It huddled deeper into it. “Found it. Thrown out on the ground. Right over there.” It gestured at that same warehouse.

The water swirled and we froze, both anticipating the appearance of the Voyog, but it subsided, and in a few seconds all was placid again. The City of Storms hooted and roared all around us, but seemed distant here, in this quiet eddy, where those who had lost grip on their employment slowly circled.

“A Cryptor was kidnapped from the house at the pool,” I said. “Someone wrapped it in that raincoat to keep it from getting wet and panicking, and took it out through the cascades that cover the house. Do you know what happened, and where it might have ended up?”

The Mesklitch stood up and walked off. I followed.

There were a lot of houses tucked away here and there along the channel. But as we neared the repaired warehouse, they became sparser and finally vanished. A few collapsing structures showed that someone had once lived here, and, from the looks of what was left, had departed recently.

[Creak-snap-groan] led me up to the warehouse’s base, to a rusting metal door deep in the wall. A few covered buckets of mortar and some ladders showed that it was used for maintenance access.

“Glublugss offered me a work trial,” it said. “Rebuilding some of the passenger seating on the new Voyog-based transport vessels. In the lower levels here.”

I thought about my perilous ride to Brice’s. “That definitely is something they need to work on.”

“Would be good work. If could just persuade self to go in and do it.” The Mesklitch unlocked the door and pushed it in. Beyond I could see nothing but dark. “It would be worth a sacrifice of freedom, like the freedom to disguise boned fish as nutritive roots so my nest can eat.”

[Creak-snap-groan] wanted to try the work the Voyog was offering. But it knew, consciously or not, that a Cryptor lurked somewhere in the warehouse. It couldn’t bring itself to go in, even at the risk of penury and the hunger of its nestmates. The fear was below consciousness. The fear you didn’t know you had was the most debilitating.

Skedastr was in there. I still didn’t know why it had taken the risk of a loan from the Voyog to purchase extravagant lurewear for Brice, but suspected its presence in this semi-abandoned warehouse was a consequence of defaulting on that loan.

[Creak-snap-groan] was helping me achieve my own goals—while allowing me to solve a problem for it in the process. If I’d had to manipulate the Mesklitch into getting me to this door so I could go in and find the vanished Cryptor, I’d have done it without hesitation. So I really shouldn’t have felt that surge of petty resentment at being manipulated to end up at exactly the same spot to do exactly the same thing.

I guess I’m basically childish. But I’d be a fool if I turned this opportunity down. I went in.

I tripped over fallen ceiling tiles as I made my way down a narrow corridor. Dim light showed the way forward. I passed a couple of locked metal doors and into a wide passage, where light from a few caged bulbs high overhead, as well as occasional strips of window, let me see what was in the high storage areas to either side. The first few were empty, though there had been some effort to stack fallen tiles and bricks, and here and there restraining mesh had been put up to keep more from falling. I couldn’t tell how long ago any of that work had been done.

Here and there, ventilation tubes had been stapled to ceilings and walls, with vents and the occasional filter housing to clean the air. If I listened, I could just hear the hiss of air. It all had a makeshift feel, temporary structures to get things operating until further revenues allowed the financing of longer-term improvements.

Somewhere ahead of me the rhythmic slap of water, with an occasional deeper slosh, indicated that the passage eventually led to loading areas where the recently dredged channel passed through the structure.

The next storage area to the left was filled with a range of recycled seats from various vehicles. Members of most nations can rest at least some part of their weight on the appropriate support, and it looked as if Glublugss intended to include them all. A rack of pneumatic tools waited for [Creak-snap-groan] to show up for its audition.

Across the passage to my right a security screen blocked access to a storage area. Ideograms on a warning sign told me that the area was dangerous, though it listed “vacuum” and “radioactivity” as possible hazards, along with sharp edges, falling rocks, and insecure surfaces, all of which seemed more plausible. It didn’t include “Cryptor-induced limb loss,” so it was due for an update.

That storage area was dark, smelling of brick dust and ringing with silence.

I reached into my pocket for my flashlight, with a slight fear that I would be pulling out the rotting corpse of some small animal, an eternal gift of anxiety from Yasira. I never saw her after that night at Apilsin’s, though I’d seen Cleto here and there around the neighborhood.

The flashlight I pulled out might be the same one I’d had to buy my aunt to replace the one Yasira took off with, all those years ago. I switched it on and tugged at the security screen to peek around it into the dark room. The screen pulled right off and tumbled to the ground, leaving me a big space, big enough to go in if I wanted. I poked around and saw that the flexible screen was supposed to be held up by tension cabling. Something had snipped through it, and a lot of the cable was missing.

I stepped through the opening. Structures bulked here and there: something that looked like the wall of an Om house, with a door and windows; the kind of bulbous structure Mesklitch can grow from glands on their necks under emergency conditions, though this one was clearly artificial; a Sosh nest high up under the ceiling; and a few other representative dwellings of various Tempest nations. As I investigated, I saw that each simulacrum was centered on security precautions: locks, alarms, entry baffles, booby traps, even a laser spotter that flickered, charge almost out.

A transport case stood open. In the padded interior were a couple of strands of something black. I pulled one out. Cryptor fur feathered out into what were essentially nanotubes, the reason they absorbed light. And the hair did vanish in the darkness, until I put it onto the pale surface of a standard off ice table, next to a dismantled Erq thumper alarm, where I could see its structure clearly. Definitely Cryptor. 

I pushed back out into the hall and moved on, now smelling the water as well as hearing it.

An air filter housing stood open just inside another storage area. The filter panels were still there, but the insides had been ripped out, the way a finicky kid excavates the insides of a crusty loaf of bread.

This, and the missing tension cable, were more signs that Skedastr was here. I looked around and quickly found its covert.

Well, I found something that looked like a covert. It was made of cabling, insulation, and other materials, and dangled insincerely behind a couple of big packing cases. I’m certainly no stranger to half-assed attempts to fulfill a requirement, so I was sympathetic. Someone had a role for the Cryptor to play here, and it was pretending to do it, with a minimum of work. I don’t think it’s really possible to like a Cryptor, but as far as that was possible, I was starting to like this one.

I heard something scurry along the floor. I turned just in time to catch sight of a lizardlike thing with four gigantically swollen limbs as it hopped high into the air—and onto me.

I’m afraid I shrieked, maybe not as loud as a drowning Cryptor, but plenty loud enough. I waved my hands as it scrambled around on my shoulders and into my almost-dry but now matted hair and finally managed to smack it with the back of my left hand and send it flying.

But it bounced back like a rubber ball, making a tk tk tk sound loud enough to echo off the walls. I dodged as it jumped, but it managed to grab my hair and was once again on me.

I gritted my teeth, focused on what I had to do, and instead of flinging it off again, I closed my hand on it and pulled it off of me.

It writhed in my hand. It had a short neck, and not much in the way of teeth. I ran to the doorway, and remembering how [Creak-snap-groan] had dealt with the fish, bashed the thing’s head against the wall. It was tougher than a fish, or maybe my technique was just not up to standard, because it took multiple bashes, while it writhed and scrabbled at me with its legs and tked frantically, to finally kill it.

I flung its dead body away into the dust and got the hell out of there and through the arched end of the passage.

The canal ran through a high vault, lit from overhead by caged lights. Other passages like the one I had just come down opened onto narrow quays on either side. I walked along the water. I wasn’t quite sure what I was looking for, but I knew I hadn’t found the most important thing: Skedastr’s actual base of operations. I didn’t know what it was up to, but I did know a Cryptor wouldn’t put up a decoy covert unless it had a real one somewhere else.

In between every pair of doors a stone reinforcing arch formed a rib in the vault. At the second arch down, the caged overhead bulb had something coating the side facing the arch, so that a large area at the arch’s peak was in shadow. It would have been easy to miss, and I almost did miss it, but I was already getting a sense of something of what Skedastr was up to. I looked carefully until I saw it.

Skedastr’s covert, its real covert, hung up there, a long hammock made of many colors of fiber, supported by long stretches of metal cabling stretching from one side of the passage to the other. I could see the bits of air filter innards, insulation, and chewed-up warning posters. It was an impressive construction, all the more since it dangled directly above a Cryptor’s greatest fear, the water.

The covert shook a little. Something moved inside.

“Skedastr?” I said. “I’d like to talk to you.”

I kept my eye on the covert. It shook again.

I had never expected to just find it like this. I looked closely. Was that the shape of its body in there? And where would it climb out of the covert? It seemed more like a cocoon, like something it had spun around itself and that could only be exited by destroying it.

I froze. How long had I been standing here? I was chilled through, decorative knitted vest or not. Then I felt a spot of warmth travel across my body, from my left hip, across my belly and breasts, and up to my right shoulder, like a single shaft of Actinlight coming through the clouds on a frosty day.

Once again, I smelled the fleeting scent of a Cryptor, there and gone again. The molecules of a Cryptor’s scent clogged Om smell receptors like leaves in a downspout so you stopped smelling it as soon as you started.

“Brice will buy out your indenture,” I said. “If that’s what you want, I’ll go back to him and tell him that you’re in here.”

I felt Skedastr’s breath at my throat, thought I even felt its weight on me. But, of course, I couldn’t ever be sure. Maybe I already had only one leg and would fall on my face as soon as I tried to turn and take a step.

Then I heard a kind of whisper, only a bit louder and clearer than the eternal lap of the water at my feet. “Should I?”

I wasn’t qualified to give life advice to a stealth predator trying to choose between returning to Brice and staying in the employ of the Voyog. Fortunately, I had a client, and a job and a set of professional responsibilities, all of which put a lot of weight on the side of telling Skedastr that, yes, it should go back to Brice.

Still, I was curious.

“You deliberately ran up a debt for things you didn’t need, to someone whose business proposition you had previously rejected. It seems you wanted to be here.”

“Could not choose to leave without making the choices that led to no choice but to leave.”

Self-binding. That was what it had done. After the fall into the water, the reflexive bite, and the slow recovery of Brice’s flesh butter, it had been unable to tear itself away, even from a situation that no longer paid off for it. So it had run up an unpayable debt, which the Voyog was only too happy to provide, until default led to indenture, and some Qippi came and hauled it out of its covert and here.

“Do you have the power to decide now?” I said.

“No power to decide. React to circumstances. Circumstances are everything.”

“But now you’re catching rats in the basement of a warehouse.”

“Not just that. Learning. Ancient skills. Valuable.”

Now I realized the meaning of what I had seen in the room with all the simulated dwellings. I didn’t think Skedastr had been training on how to penetrate various domestic security systems just to remove pests. The Iffrin parasite pusher mentioned that Cryptors were once used as incremental assassins. I wished I’d paid a bit more attention.

“You self-bound to ensure you were taken from Brice, because you could not have managed to get out yourself. But now you are bound to Glublugss.” 

“I am bound. Only Brice can free me from it.” It paused. “Only Brice’s money.”

Skedastr had traded an emotional indenture for a contractual one, and found that hunting pests was its own kind of hell. Oms aren’t the only nation that inappropriately discounts future costs.

“I can leave here and tell Brice you want to leave,” I said. “And you will go back with him. Or I can leave here and tell him I couldn’t find you, and you can stay in the situation you chose.”

I only knew I was going to offer it a choice when I heard myself say it. Stupid, putting my fee at risk that way.

Skedastr decided to lift the burden of my client-betraying impulses. “I will go to Brice.”

After that was the kind of silence that only a Cryptor could manage.

“What is your employment situation?” The Voyog’s voice rumbled right under my feet and echoed off the walls of the water-filled tunnel under the warehouse.

“I have a decent set of clients,” I said.

It rumbled again. I don’t know how Glublugss managed to express polite doubt with that sound. I felt weirdly intimate with it, because I was riding on its broad back in a kind of contoured seat, with a strap to provide me with a misleading sense of security.

I wish I could say I couldn’t believe I was doing this, but I’d been right there all through my frenzied discussion with Brice, his persuasive final payment offer, and my agreement to climb onto the Voyog to give a lift to a Cryptor, so I couldn’t exactly claim someone had tricked me into it.

“It’s interesting that you would go through so much effort for pest removal,” I said.

“If you don’t run a warehouse, you have no idea how much damage uncontrolled vermin can do. And in Lower Sryll, there is no shortage of them.”

“But there must be other ways of killing rats and raspers than indenturing a Cryptor.” 

“A good contract increases the employee’s value as well as the enterprise’s,” Glublugss said. “There are many skilled persons who never realize the full value of their skills because they lack yet other skills essential to realizing that value.”

“And you provide those value-realization skills.” I was enjoying its pitch. It took my mind off the fact that we were now in a water-filled tunnel with a low roof, heading for an encounter with a Cryptor. 

“Our labor contracts may seem harsh. Those who labor under them invariably insist they are. They are delighted when they work their way out, and often spend a fair amount of money on the ceremony celebrating their freedom. A year or two later they are again in debt, again unable to decide how to best proceed, again in confusion. They declare moral bankruptcy and are working for us again. Again their value increases when their choices are constrained. Again their skills and mastery grow. Again they feel mistreated, unrecognized, taken for granted.” 

“We should know our own limitations.” I tried to guess its point.

“We should know when our own ability to make decisions ends and our addictions begin.”

“No one can know that,” I said. “Not from inside.”

“Absolutely. That is why you enable someone who can understand that boundary from outside to assume an executive function when necessary.”

“Assume an executive function when necessary” was probably the smoothest description of the Voyog’s role in indenturing people that it could have come up with. I had to respect it.

I could see something of the Voyog’s larger plan: building out an incremental assassination capability in its organization in preparation for a larger scale business expansion outside of the soggy precincts of Sryll and Lower Sryll, an expansion that was bound to meet stronger resistance than it had so far encountered from people like my Mesklitch friend, poor [Creak-snap-groan].

While biting the legs off lizards in a warehouse basement couldn’t be Skedastr’s final career goal, I didn’t know if hired assassin was either. I suspected that its immediate goal was to get free of both the Voyog and the Om. But how did Skedastr expect to do that, when Brice was waiting just outside the warehouse to once again overwhelm Skedastr’s willpower with his irresistible flesh?

I was willing to put up with some ominous recruiting from the Voyog to get a look at how Skedastr hoped to accomplish it. And it might well be helpful to build a relationship with a future kingpin like Glublugss early in its career.

The Voyog came to a halt. I recognized where we were: at the doorway that led to where the Cryptor was supposed to be, as well as its makeshift training site.

“You are reluctant, of course.” The Voyog sounded a bit patronizing. “I will provide supervision. The Cryptor will be eager for its freedom.”

It could afford confidence, lacking the kind of easily consumed limbs Oms and other terrestrial creatures had, and living underwater to boot.

The only reason I went into that hallway so confidently was that I was pretty sure Skedastr wasn’t in there. But I wasn’t going to tell the Voyog that, because that would reveal I had been in here the previous day, before going back to Brice’s and telling him what freeing Skedastr would entail.

I poked my head into the storage room with the decoy covert.

“Brice has repurchased your contract,” I said loudly. “You’re free to go.”

An echo was my only answer.

Out in the channel, the Voyog said, with some surprise, “There you are. Interesting. I will take you and the Om out of here. Thank you for your labors.”

I ran out onto the narrow quay. The Voyog had pulled forward and was now immediately below the Cryptor’s covert, where it dangled in the dark shadow of the arch.

And there, shockingly, was the Cryptor itself. It was still just a dark smudge, impossible to get a visual grip on, as if something completely outside our reality had incautiously touched the scene with an inky thumb.

Glublugss had risen up out of the water, as it had when it was trying to browbeat [Creak-snap-groan]. The Voyog seemed suddenly uncertain. It must have sensed something wrong about this whole situation. Like maybe that odd covert above the water, one I now suspected Skedastr had never used either.

Before Glublugss could figure things out, the covert above it burst, and hundreds of still-living rats, raspers, slizards, and other warehouse pests cascaded down onto its broad back . . . and immediately sought refuge behind its neck frill.

I’d seen what happened when a single fish had tried to get back there. It was the only sensitive spot on a Voyog’s otherwise well-armored body. But I didn’t have any time to do anything useful with that knowledge.

The Voyog submerged itself, then tossed its head and rose up again. In the enclosed space this made the water surge up as well, and I was instantly washed off my feet. The water closed over my head.

I swirled, unable to tell up from down. A Voyog fin smashed me against the wall, then sucked me forward. I saw stars, and almost sank into darkness. All I could do was hold on to a single spot of consciousness.

Then there was sunlight, and a swirl of water that finally spit me up onto the surface. I splashed my arms and legs more or less at random, no longer having a sense of what I was supposed to be doing to survive.

And there was Brice. He loomed high above me, standing in the small patch of trees and other growth by the channel as it turned and rejoined the rest of the water in the canal.

I tried to wave at him, which lost me my precarious position on the surface. The weight of my legs and wet clothes sucked me back under. By the time I struggled back up, the current had carried me away from him.

The Cryptor’s shriek of panic was even louder than I had imagined it. Even in my current condition, it made my head ring. I grabbed onto the channel’s side. I didn’t have enough strength to pull myself out, and was cautious about trying to wave again. Brice wasn’t paying any attention to me. Instead he searched the water behind me. When he finally saw what he was looking for, he dove in.

I lacked the strength to keep holding on and found myself sinking again, probably for the last time. Then something yanked at my collar and hauled me out on the bank in one movement.

It was my Mesklitch friend, [Creak-snap-groan]. I really hadn’t given it enough credit. It had gotten me to scout out the dangerous insides of the warehouse, and I had accomplished its, and my, mission. But it hadn’t forgotten me.

“You have nothing to worry about,” I managed to gasp. “The Cryptor is out, and the Voyog is, for the moment, distracted. You should get to work.”

“This would be a good opportunity, at that. Thank you. I hope your mission will be successful.”

I looked at where Brice was pulling what looked like a sink clog out of the channel: Skedastr, completely soaked. “I think it will be.”

[Creak-snap-groan] unbuttoned Brice’s green and yellow raincoat and gave it to me. I realized I was shivering, this time soaked to the skin. I put it on.

In the other direction, the Voyog had made its way out into the main channel, moving with a kind of calm dignity. It would be back soon enough, and I wanted to be out of here before it did.

I got to my feet and squelched down the shore to where Brice stood over the sodden lump of Skedastr. 

Brice had put on the best of his “I’m a Cryptor’s prey, eat your heart out” outfits. It was now soaked and covered with crap from the water.

Brice himself didn’t look much better. His flesh butter fungus now bulged out from under his shirt, completely undeniable. It was overripe, I thought, ready to explode. Sporulation was close. I didn’t want to be in the vicinity when it came.

Skedastr shivered on the channel’s edge.

“It looks like . . . like a lump of muck.” Brice curled his lip in disgust at the actual appearance of his fantasy predator. “I don’t . . . I don’t know if I can take it home. Not like this.” He looked at me and frowned. “Isn’t that my raincoat?”

I handed it to him. Not caring about how wet and dirty it might have been, he tugged it on over his fancy clothes. It had fit [Creak-snap-groan] better.

The soaked and bedraggled Skedastr really was managing to look as repulsive as possible. Brice, sporulating and with an unflattering raincoat over his lurewear, didn’t look much better. No one cared what I looked like, but I’d say I was doing the best out of the three of us.

I’d wondered if all of Skedastr’s planning would just get it back into the same place it had been escaping. Now I saw that wasn’t true at all. At the end, it really was free. It had waited out the flesh butter fungus. Brice was no longer irresistible. And it had done the hardest thing for a Cryptor to do: it had revealed itself. And in a most unappealing light, a lack of appeal it must have noted when Brice rescued it from the Hiddar Canal, after it discovered that Brice was buttering. Brice’s repulsion had been clear then and was even clearer now.

You could almost hear the last air wheeze out of this particular predator/prey relationship, here on the side of the channel.

The next few weeks at the Brice manse would be tense and unpleasant, but Skedastr would be free at the end of it. Without a lot of assets, maybe, but with all debts clear. And leaving behind a ruined Om, who, having spent all of his money to recover something he no longer wanted, would suffer for his attempt to fluff his prey appeal with flesh butter.

But that wasn’t all. Glublugss had been shown that it was dealing with something much more dangerous than it had originally thought, and been punished for its attempt to indenture Skedastr. 

Both had learned that Skedastr was no one to be messed with. Brice was defeated. But Glublugss was a different story, one that certainly was not over.

“I get a lot of work from referrals,” I told Brice. “Let your friends know. Confidential inquiries. Lost things found, unwanted things vanished, channels of communication opened, chapters closed.” I listed my name, address, and contact information.

He nodded without looking at me. The contact information wasn’t for him, of course. He had my card. And no money. Even as I said it, I wondered at myself: did I really want a Cryptor back in my life, even as a client?

I’d talk that over with Katin, when I stopped by her house to tell her what had happened, and what she might have to watch out for, before I headed for home to dry off and pay my aunt the money I owed her.
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SUNSETS

By Lavie Tidhar

  Lavie Tidhar is the author of the science fiction novels Central Station and Neom, as well as the forthcoming The Children’s Book of the Future, which aims to offer hopeful scenarios for tomorrow’s children. A massive fan of Cordwainer Smith, who gets his dues in this story, most of Lavie’s stories are set in an expansive, Solar-System-wide future history. Here, he takes us from Mars to old Earth as a recently bereaved woman chases one perfect sunset.

 

She left her heart in Paris, a kidney in Berlin. In Barcelona, blinking in the sunlight, she felt tiny new ears grow down one side of her face. The sound multiplied. Vale vale vale! Rapid-fire Spanish, Catalan, Asteroid Pidgin, a robotnik beggar shaking coins inside a tin can, begging for change or spare parts, a dog barking, the waves of the Mediterranean breaking against the shore, the cry of a bird, the horn of a cargo ship. She retreated into a coffee shop and ordered chocolate.

“Hey, lady!” Some snot-nosed kid in the corner, reading a comic book. He stared at her curiously. “Are you an alien?”

“No,” Valentina said. “I’m from Mars.”

She felt so tired then. The kid’s eyes grew large.

“Mars!” he said. “Is that why you . . . ?” He indicated the growths down the side of her face. Perfect little ears, four of them, she noticed when she touched the tips of her fingers to her cheek.

“No,” Valentina said. “That’s just a Linebarger virus.”

The kid made a face and retreated into his comic book—she couldn’t get over how people on Earth still read from things made out of dead trees, as though trees were commonplace. On Mars, a tree was something rare and precious. Valentina grew up in Yaniv Town, deep in the Martian desert, a small place under a small dome. They had one olive tree, planted in the days of settlement in the town square. It was said Basho had rested under its shadow once. People came from all over to see it, from as far as Enid or Port Jessup.

She drank the chocolate, deliciously sweet. She couldn’t stop marveling at Earth. The only dome was as large as the planet itself. Water fell from the sky. There were a thousand smells and a thousand sounds. Earth was too big, too confusing. She stepped out and searched for a nearby organ shop.

“I can give you fifty creditos per ear,” the woman at the organ shop told her. She was a thin, small woman, with round glasses, those being a fashion for some reason. She could see perfectly well without them.

“That seems low,” Valentina said.

The woman shrugged.

“Take it or leave it,” she said.

Valentina just wanted the ears gone. And she needed the money. She nodded. The woman indicated for Valentina to follow her. To the back room, and surgical equipment, and hearts and spleens in vacuum-sealed containers. The operation only took a moment, the woman shaving off the ears neatly and packaging them away.

“You could have let them grow,” the woman said. “These are still small, and there’s less demand for children’s ears.”

Valentina shrugged.

“There’ll be more,” she said.

The woman looked at her curiously.

“Can you control it?” she said. “I’m in need of a pancreas.”

Valentina just shook her head. She felt so tired.

“Can I have my money now?” she said.

The woman pinged the cash into her node. Valentina thanked her and left. Above her rose Nueva Barcelona, all gleaming skyscrapers reaching for the skies, transparent bridges woven in between them like spiders’ silk. She found a cheap hotel off Las Ramblas. A four-armed Martian Re-Born drew a crowd outside as he performed the Three Card Monte on an upturned carton. It made her laugh. Another Martian down in the Old World.

Her left side itched. She could feel a kidney growing. The hotel was a pod hotel, popular with off-worlders. Clocks on the wall above reception showed the time in Tereshkova Port and Ceres Prime and Tong Yun. She heard Lunar Chinese and Venusian Hindi. She crawled into her pod. A small, comfortable space and blessed cool silence. The gravity was a killer. She closed her eyes.

What was she doing on Earth, anyway?

“They say you can catch the perfect sunset.”

“The what?”

Lying with Amir in the bed in their co-op building.

“The perfect sunset,” he said, laughing. “Not like a Martian sunset, with the sun so small. On Earth it’s huge. It fills up the whole sky.”

“I don’t know,” Valentina said. “I don’t much care for sunsets.”

He drew her close to him. He had the smell you never quite got rid of, when you worked in the fish tanks underground. Salt, fish, seaweed. She liked it. She nestled close.

He said, “But I do.”

It was something she thought about often, later. Amir, and the sunsets on Earth. Lots of people had the Linebarger, it was introduced into the populace centuries back, when hospitals were poor, and for a time there were public health campaigns, too: Do your part. Help save a life. Grow a kidney. Now it was just a good way to make some extra money, if you didn’t mind the inconvenience, only something had gone wrong, some form of the virus had mutated inside Amir without either of them realizing it, and he began to grow new organs too fast, they spread over his body like cancer. He sprouted lips from his shoulder, ears on his chest, his stomach bulged with new livers and spleens. As quickly as they were harvested they regrew. She had to watch him all through that final year, and only when it ended, with Amir barely recognizable under the weight of what he had become, a monstrous growth of misshapen faces and inside-out stomachs, only when he was mercifully given the fatal dose that sent him, dreamless, into the final dark, was she allowed to grieve.

All that remained of him after the harvest was a thin corpse. A ghost collector came from Tong Yun and removed Amir’s node, to go into repository at the Public Heavens. In the Yaniv Town cemetery, outside the dome, Valentina had a small headstone erected for Amir’s physical remains. A robot priest from Port Jessup performed a final ceremony. She had found it hard to grieve, hard to reconcile the man she knew with what he had become, and as she finally cried over him, days later, in their nowempty apartment, a ring of eyes as small as gemstones round her finger wept with her.

She tried to get back to her life. She worked in the bug factory outside town, raising grasshoppers and crickets and ants, delicacies packaged and sold across the Martian outback. It was only months later that the message came, of Amir’s last will and testament, and she realized what he had done: how all the harvested organs piled up in that final year, how he had signed away the rights to his own out-of-control body. The organs tallied up at market price, and scattered all around the planet like dandelion seeds. She imagined parts of Amir in everyone she met, imagined his essence in a farmer in the Valles Marineris, in a climber on Olmpus Mons, in a shopkeeper in Tong Yun. 

He had left her a lump sum: the totality of a body measured out in Martian shekels. It was not a fortune, but it was more than she had ever had, to do with as she pleased.

Damn him! she thought savagely. She had wanted him to still be there, not this useless money, to drink away in Maya Khouri’s izakaya or down at the Re-Born dive that was the Water of Life.

One night, drunk on grief and vodka, she stumbled under the old olive tree and tried to reach Amir. His spirit, when at last it came, was barely a whisper of who he had been. A few jumbled memories, traces of a person recorded in their node: that was usually all you could hope for. The spirit could barely speak words, but accessing the heavens in Tong Yun Valentina could nevertheless feel a sense of enormous love come through on the connection, and instead of words she saw a sunrise, glorious and wild in reds and yellows and pinks, like something that could never be seen on Mars.

“Fine,” she whispered, and she cut the link. The next day she took the train to Tong Yun. From there to orbit and on to the Gel Blong Mota, an old ship that did the Mars to Earth run.

She didn’t even like the sun! Valentina thought, lying in the pod, her body feeling the unaccustomed weight. How could she be so heavy! The sun, this ball of flame too close, and hot, not like the comforting sun of Mars, hanging like a lantern in the sky. She tried to sleep, and when sleep at last came she dreamed of home, of the apartment gathering dust, cats dozing in the town square, the trains passing through the airlock on their way elsewhere. It wasn’t much, but it was home, and home had more than adequate sunsets, as far as she was concerned.

She emerged back into the city as the sun fell down in the sky, but its setting was obscured by buildings. The quality of light changed, though. There was a warmth to Earth sunsets that startled her. And Barcelona was warm, hotter by far than the old cities she had visited up to now, which in their faded grandeur and utter immensity dwarfed even Tong Yun into nothing more than a sleepy backwater on a faraway planet. No one here much cared about Mars. Why would they when they had this entire world all to themselves? Just exploring Earth would take anyone a lifetime.

She saw the Martian warrior still out there, dealing out his Find the Lady routine. The oldest tricks were the best, and people gathered around him to try their luck. She watched a while. Some sort of flying machine appeared, lights flashing, and people scattered as the Re-Born gathered up his makeshift table and his cards and ran for it.

She caught up with him a few minutes later, in a bar down the street where the Re-Born sat for a beer and a plate of octopus in olive oil. Valentina wasn’t sure what made her do it, but she went and sat beside him.

“Where are you from?” she said.

“New Israel,” he said. “Kibbutz Rephaim, near the Soviet border. . . .” He looked up. “You?” he said.

“Place called Yaniv Town,” she said. “How did you know I was Martian?”

He smiled. He had a nice smile.

“Did you know you have an eye growing on your cheek?” he said.

She blinked. A third eye opened. The vision was blurred.

“I didn’t notice,” she said.

“Well,” he said, answering her earlier question, “you came to talk to me, so I figured.”

“Not many people do?” she said, surprised.

“Not like you did,” he said. He pushed the plate into the middle of the table. 

“You want some?” he said.

She realized she was hungry. 

“Thanks,” she said.

A waiter came by. She ordered a beer. She dipped bread into the olive oil, scooped up a slice of boiled octopus. Almost no one ate crickets here, she thought.

“How long have you been down here?” she asked him.

“Earth? Six months or so. I chased a wild Hongyan in the Gobi when it was laying down cities, then went into the Drift.” He shrugged. “I saw the Taj Mahal. The pyramids, too. The usual. I did some casual work in Neom. What about you?”

“I’m looking for a sunset,” she said. 

“A sunset, huh? I get that.”

“You do?” She must have looked surprised, because he laughed.

“I love sunsets,” he said.

“What’s your name, anyway?” she said.

“An’tu,” he said.

“Your real name,” she said. “I mean, you know.”

“My name before I. . . this?” he said, four hands gesturing—red skin, grafted arms, the lot. He smiled. “Before I heard the call of the Emperor of Time of Mars-That-Never-Was?”

“Right.”

“Sami,” he said.

“I’m Valentina.”

“Nice to meet you, Valentina,” he said.

“So where do I find one?” she said.

“Find what?” Sami said.

“A sunset.”

“Everywhere,” he said. It was his turn to look surprised. He touched her cheek gently.

“You have another eye growing there,” he said.

“I tried,” she said. “I tried to find a sunset he would like. But they all just look the same!”

“Maybe it’s not where the sunset is,” he said, “it’s what you are when you get there.”

“I wish I could see them the way you do,” she said.

He said, “I could try to show you.”

The airship glided over the Atlantic, the coast of Africa far on their left. They boarded in Barcelona, flew over Valencia and Grenada and now sailed toward the Islas Canarias, “Which the Apollo 11 astronauts visited after coming back from the Moon,” Sami said. “Not many people know that.”

“You’re full of surprises,” Valentina said.

“They saw Earthrise,” Sami said, “but they came back for the sunsets.”

“Why are you traveling,’’ she said. “If you’re a Re-Born . . .”

“Mars-That-Never-Was is always there,” he said. “I wanted to see other places for a while.”

To Valentina, Sami’s old Mars was just a shared-world simulation, no different to the Guilds of Ashkelon or other game worlds where people often spent their lives. To the Re-Born, though, it was more real than the physicality, a place in some parallel past where the Emperor of Time held sway and brought them back to their true selves, warriors in his service. Their Mars had breathable air and beautiful canals. It had glorious sunsets.

She realized, with some surprise, that she enjoyed hearing him talk.

Eyes grew on her forehead and the back of her hand. They flourished on her cheeks. Small at first, they opened. She thought about Amir, who never got to visit Earth, and never got to see those sunsets. Each night the sun fell down into the ocean, swallowed by the waves, and the sky was lit with an enormity of colors. She watched it every night, and all her eyes were open, and each night the seeing was the same and each night it was different.

Amir would have liked it, she thought.

When the airship reached Maspalomas at last, Valentina went back to land with mixed feelings. At an organ shop near the beach, nestled between a Church of Robot node and a mojito bar, she had her extra eyes shaved off. She was sorry to let them go, for they had seen something in a way she hadn’t before. Her skin smooth again, she walked along the sea, alone, her feet sinking into the wet, warm sand.

She thought of Mars then, knew that she would soon go back. She thought of Collins, Buzz, and Neil as they came back to Earth and must have visited this shore, where once an ancient relay antenna helped them reach the Moon, long before anyone built a golf course there. It must have felt as strange to them as it did to her, now, being here, with all that sand, and all that sea and sky. Children built castles to hold against the tide. An elderly couple collected crabs in a rock pool. Valentina stepped into the ocean and felt the water lapping at her ankles, and stood there, with the warm wind on her skin.

She let go of something then, and felt lighter: as though she had buried a heart in the sand. And then she watched the sky as, without any hurry, the Earth rotated on its axis and began to swallow up its star.
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ARTEMIS AND HER BROTHER
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Artemis circled the moon to earn

Her way to its regolith and return

Her brother’s favor, steady as you go,

Make it so her boots will leave prints

As once her brother did, who’s long since

Notched arrows aimed for museums

While Artemis aims to stay and dream

Of farther reaches.

 

By Rick Wilber
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	TURTLES TO THE SEA



	“That your ancestors owned my ancestors?” Captain Johnny Winstead raised an eyebrow and tilted his chair back from the conference table, which had been painted sea green. “I promise not to hold it against you, Bill.”...






	THE MAN IN THE MOON IS A LADY
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	The theatergoers shuffle in and find their seats, the red velvet torn in some cases and splotchy with stains in others. Frescoes cover the walls, scrunched between goldrimmed ornamentation. A great golden chandelier hangs overhead, lit and dazzling. Only thirty...






	THE LAST CLOUD PAINTER



	On Oliver’s last day in Clarkesville, he took his balloon, Hildegard P. Eveready , up into a thick bank of clouds chasing a plump, white cumulus with the crispest borders he’d seen. He shivered, though not from the sharp-edged wind...






	CHARON’S FINAL PASSENGER



	I followed Alvin’s binoculars and saw it as well: a shadow against the night sky, rising in an arc above the Kura River. The terraplane’s running lights were off, its shape indistinct. But yes: it was there....






	THE INEFFICIENCY OF PANGENETIC SELF-REPLICATION AS A THEORY OF ANTHROBOTIC EVOLUTION



	“Wah!” he exclaimed aloud through his aural module, then broke out into a rendition of an ancient song, “Saala, mein to sahab ban gaya!”...
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TURTLES TO THE SEA

By Sandra McDonald 

  Visit the beautiful barrier islands of Georgia and you will hear many interesting stories, some of which are true. Sandra McDonald, author of more than a hundred published short stories and books, heard rumors of a military accident in 1958 that resulted in an atom bomb being dropped into the ocean near Savannah. That bomb, which remains lost to this day, became the launching point for this story of time travel and sea turtles, racism and conservation. A military veteran, former Hollywood assistant, and lifelong teacher, Sandra has a shelf of awards she’s won and which the household cats keep knocking over. She lives in Florida, where she fosters LGBTQ+ teenagers and recently returned to working for the government in ways in which she’s not supposed to talk about.

 

1. A turtle only travels when it sticks out its neck, 2488

“It’s a little awkward,” Major William Bristol said, after they’d been briefed.

“That your ancestors owned my ancestors?” Captain Johnny Winstead raised an eyebrow and tilted his chair back from the conference table, which had been painted sea green. “I promise not to hold it against you, Bill.”

Bristol smiled thinly.

Standard procedure before any Recovery Corps mission was to review the profiles of each pilot, including performance evaluations, peer reviews, education, and genetic and cultural lineage. Bristol didn’t flaunt his vast inherited wealth, but his New York family’s name adorned many chunks of expensive Savannah real estate. Johnny’s lowcountry ancestors had lived for centuries on the coastal islands of Georgia, most of which were now submerged.

The briefing officer for this particular mission had managed to dig up a daguerreotype of the Thomas D. Bristol plantation on Little Missoe Island in 1860, with a bearded white man standing squarely on his porch. Surrounding him were the enslaved workers, rigid in their caps and scarves, dresses and jackets, as if dressed for Sunday church. A separate accompanying list contained thirty neatly penned names, including an entry for Sarah Winstead. 

“There’s an 87 percent chance you are descended directly from her,” the briefing officer said.

“Thirteen percent wrong,” Bristol said.

“Which one is she?” Johnny asked.

“We don’t know.”

Her name remained, but her face and story were lost. Johnny didn’t mind too much. History was always being erased by time. Before the colonists and missionaries, the islands had been occupied by the Guale indigenous people. Generations built on generations built on generations. He felt lucky to live in an age blessed by the gods, doing the important work they dictated. Just last month he’d prevented the ocean crashes of Malaysia 370 and Air France 17. Sarah Winstead should be proud.

During suit-up the next day, he and Bristol climbed into Air Force uniforms appropriate for the era and pocketed vintage money and fake identification cards. Once they were aloft, backstreamed, and cruising at thirty-five thousand feet over nighttime Georgia, the barrier islands bare specks on the horizon, Johnny gave a brief nod to Sarah and other long-dead ancestors who’d spent their lives down there, who even now were buried in cemeteries likely lost to marsh and tide.

“Savannah Control, we’re holding time-steady in the mission frame,” Bristol reported on the upstream channel. “Relative clock is 00:20:15 and the date is February 5, 1958. Target acquisition report to follow.”

“I’ve got them.” Johnny’s scope was bright with five targets. “Two B-47 bombers, call signs Ivory One and Ivory Two, simulating a combat mission. Ivory Two, serial number 51-2349, is carrying a Mark-15 Mod. Zero two-stage thermonuclear bomb. Coming up fast we’ve got three F-86L Sabres on a training interception. Our friend Lieutenant Stewart is in serial number 52-10108, call sign Pug Gold Two.”

Although Johnny had been on many missions to prevent accidents, the pilots about to collide in mid-air here and now were not the primary objectives. Still, his stomach tightened in sympathy as the clock ticked down to 00:33:30 and Lieutenant Stewart bumped his fighter plane into the second bomber.

“Impact,” Bristol reported. “Never even saw him coming.”

Stewart’s fighter plane lost both wings. He ejected into the stratosphere, his deploying parachute a thin white stream illuminated by the waxing moon. Johnny didn’t envy the long icy descent back to Earth or the frostbite that would follow. The plane fell toward Earth and its eventual crash-landing in a field.

Bristol followed Ivory Two as it veered toward the coast and began a rapid descent. The bomber’s right outboard engine was hanging on by a thread, in imminent danger of detaching and sending the off-balance plane into a tailspin. They listened to the pilot try to secure emergency landing clearance at Hunter Air Force base, but its main runway was under repair. Very logically, the pilot decided to drop his hydrogen bomb into the waters off the coast rather than risk accidental detonation if he crashed.

At an altitude of seven thousand feet, the pilot detached the 1.69 megaton bomb over the blackness of Wassaw Sound, right off the coast of Little Missoe Island. It didn’t detonate. At almost twelve feet long, with nearly eight thousand pounds of shell and components, it sank immediately. The wounded bomber headed inland, where it would soon land safely. Johhny didn’t watch it go; he was too busy mapping the location of the Mk-15 for retrieval.

“No wonder the navy couldn’t find it later,” he said, glancing at the data scrawling on his screen. “The seabed here is full of monazite deposits. Gives off enough radiation to confuse anyone.”

The coordinates went to Savannah control upstream. The mission officer said, “We’ll send out the recovery divers. Come on home.”

Bristol veered the timeship back toward Little Missoe Island. Something flashed on the main console, a bright spark of hot-white that blinded Johnny. His seat rumbled beneath him, a bizarre airborne earthquake, and the realization they were crashing came only a few seconds before the crash itself, into the dark and icy Atlantic, into the crushing turbulence of waves and depth of the sea, into blackness and terror as water slammed down on him, as he tried to orient toward the surface, as the ocean did its best to shove itself down his throat and nose and kill him.

But he woke up: the gods had saved him. He blinked his eyes open to a gray sky, a woman’s face, the grit of sand under him, blazing pain in his legs and arms. His head felt full of eggshells. The Atlantic ocean rolled against his boots.

“Stay still,” said the woman, who was young and yellow-haired and pale as an eggshell. “You were shipwrecked.”

Time-wrecked, he wanted to say. But he didn’t. Not for many years while he waited for rescue; not for decades as he struggled with faith and belief and the crushing disappointment of being abandoned; not until well after their daughter was a teenager, and when he finally told them, his family called him crazy.

 

2. Be Comfortable in your Own Shell, 2023

Marnie’s phone chimed at four in the morning with a summons for a gravid diamondback terrapin killed by the side of US-80 near Neptune Island. She was in desperate need of some good sleep but of course she said yes. Eggs didn’t stay viable for more than a few hours; the babies, they needed her.

She wrapped a scarf around her hair and drove in the pre-dawn June darkness to downtown Savannah. Twenty minutes, not bad. The sidewalks along East Bay Street were empty of dreaded tourists, the orange trolleys and black carriages not yet roused to haul visitors around the squares and to restaurants and bars and shops. Marnie liked historic architecture and charming parks as much as anyone else, but sometimes she thought the entire city would one day collapse under the immense weight of its own success, a sinkhole of margarita buckets and fish tacos and garlic parmesan oysters collapsing into the river and floating out to sea while tourists snapped selfies of themselves drowning.

Her fuel light lit up on the Islands Expressway. Of course it would. She swallowed down cold coffee from yesterday’s thermos to quell the worry of stalling out. Kindly enough, the grizzled police officer who’d reported the find was still by the side of the road with his lights on, red illumination in the early morning mist.

“Good to see you, Jim,” she said, joining him with her emergency kit. “Late night?”

“Early morning for you, Marnie. The eggs are that way, but I didn’t touch them.”

The dead momma was about five pounds, her beautiful carapace severely cracked from impact with a car or truck. While Jim kept his flashlight aimed at the marsh to dissuade any nearby gators, Marnie used her own light to collect seven eggs scattered by the impact. They were beige and leathery, each one about half the size of a ping-pong ball. Three were cracked, but the four others might still have a slight chance.

“You still retiring this year?” she asked.

“Linda says nope, she ain’t having me around the house every day.”

Sounded just like Linda, who had grown up on the island with Marnie. Jim paused, as if about to say something about Mark and then reconsidering. She didn’t ask. And she didn’t ask about his mother, who’d once been her mother-in-law. He didn’t say anything at all to acknowledge the decades they’d been family. Divorce did that. Made people all awkward around each other, even though they’d known each other for decades.

Jim said, “Maybe I’ll come work out there with you. Don’t you need a security guard?”

“You’d make more money at McDonald’s,” Marnie said, and wasn’t that true. Million-dollar marine science center and minimum wage jobs. The truth of her whole damned career.

“I do like me those egg muffins,” Jim said. “But I was thinking about the island.”

Marnie chose not to answer.

Like others on the rescue and research teams, she kept a portable incubator in her car. The four intact eggs went inside it, and she set the temperature to eighty-six degrees before securing the latches. Later in the day, if her boss Robert Rowe agreed they were viable, they’d go to the care of the University of Georgia. Knowing Robert, he’d ask Marnie to drive and then haggle over reimbursing her the gas. If all went well there, in fifty or sixty days the terrapin population of Georgia would increase by four little hatchlings. If they survived someone else would name them, but for now she called them Eenie, Meenie, Miney, and Moe.

“Keep up the good work,” Jim said as they wrapped the dead momma in a towel and loaded it into Marnie’s trunk. “Say hi to your mom for me.”

Marnie didn’t tell him that the last time she’d talked to Emilyn had been more than two years ago. Since then there’d been only birthday cards and Christmas cards, perfunctorily signed and exchanged.

“I’ll tell her,” was all she said.

Jim walked back to his cruiser and paused at the door. For just a moment, in her headlights, he almost looked like Mark. For a moment she remembered something her father had said long ago about trains that branched away on different tracks with just a flip of a switch, a single decision. She wondered what her life would be like now if she had married Jim, not Mark. If she had chosen the responsible brother, not the dreamer.

But the past was gone and Mark was gone and all her retirement savings gone, too, into the paychecks of lawyers. The only train she was riding was the one that led to bankruptcy if she wasn’t careful and to neglect in a nursing home twenty years away, because everyone knew the neglect that came to old black women with no children or husband to fight on their behalf.

The gas station five miles down the road was open, garish neon lights under a faded logo featuring the god Poseidon. By a miracle Marnie’s credit card didn’t decline. With quarters fished from the armrest she bought herself a cup of coffee, and while the gas pumped she watched the eastern sky lighten over the inlets and grasses, creeks and reeds. The blue-gray-green world breathed, the breeze thick with salt and decay, all the morning birds making unusually loud caws full of quarrels and gossip.

Beside her, the Civic began to tremble. Puzzled, Marnie turned to see the fuel hose start to swing. A car alarm went off on the other side of the gas station. Quickly she unhooked the gas and shoved the nozzle back in place. She took several shaky steps away into the open parking lot, where nothing could fall or topple on her, but within seconds the world went still again.

The cashier from the station, a Latina woman with a phone pressed to her ear, came outside looking panicky.

“It’s done,” Marnie said. “But there might be aftershocks. Better stay out here.”

The next tremor came three minutes later, but it was much milder. Marnie risked getting into her car and driving to Tybee. The radio was full of news about the primary quake, which rated a 4.1 on the scale but had not done much damage. On Big Missoe, the science center was all sleek wood and steel posts and tempered glass windows, nothing obviously broken. She was glad. The facility was only two years old, erected on beachfront land donated by the famed Bristol family, and she doubted that earthquake mitigation had been factored into its construction. Quakes were too rare in coastal Georgia for most people to worry about them, even though Savannah had been shaken strongly more than once.

Kelly, a fresh-faced sophomore from the university, had arrived early to let in the construction workers upgrading the sea turtle tank in the undercroft. She opened the gate to the employee parking area for Marnie and said, “Did you feel that quake? It was crazy.”

“I did. I was just picking up eggs from a highway kill.”

“Oh, babies!” Kelly waited for Marnie to remove the incubator and peered through the plastic lid. “Only three?”

Marnie looked through the lid and counted one, two, and three. The fourth cradle was empty. Carefully she checked the corners, in case it had somehow rolled. Empty. She checked the latches; secure.

The fourth egg had entirely disappeared.

As an endangered species, terrapins were protected by state and federal laws. Marnie’s marine turtle permit required, among other things, careful conservation and protection of resources. She couldn’t very well report that the fourth egg had somehow slipped out and was rolling around the floor of her Civic.

“Yes,” she lied. “Three intact.”

And that was the story she stuck to for the rest of the morning, as she input the rescue data into the computer and Robert double-checked her work. Three. Just three. After several phone calls and video consultations the eggs were deemed viable, and sure enough, Robert asked Marnie to drive them and the dead terrapin and the cracked eggs to the university rehab center on Jekyll Island. She didn’t tell him she’d only had about five hours sleep. The sleep woes of post-menopausal women were of no interest to Robert unless he could use them to somehow recruit more donations or grants. Marnie fortified herself with more coffee and delivered Eenie, Meenie, and Miney to Jekyll Island and a fancier incubator.

“Three’s better than none,” said the director who inspected the eggs and signed off on the transfer.

Marnie drove home dreaming of a long, uninterrupted, blissful sleep she surely deserved. The radio station mentioned the earthquake once or twice, but experts agreed no danger was imminent. Unfortunately the outlet mall traffic was horrendous, everyone busy buying single-use plastic goods destined for landfills or oceans, and Marnie’s head was pounding with fatigue by the time she pulled into the driveway. She brought the empty incubator inside, used the bathroom, checked that no one had broken into her nice home that was no longer home to anyone but her, and finished off the cold pizza she’d ordered for dinner a day or two ago.

When she remembered to clean the incubator she saw she’d forgotten to turn off the heat. Inside, inexplicably returned to its cradle, safe and innocently nestled in warmth, was the fourth egg.

 

3. Sleepy turtles never catch a sunrise, 1958-1985

“You don’t get to keep a man just because he washed up on the beach,” Vita Hoover said.

“I’m not trying to keep him, Mother,” Emilyn replied. “You know his situation.”

Vita harrumphed. It was her favorite sound. Emilyn heard that harrumph at least five times a day, whether it was over Emilyn’s manly looking clothes, the ridiculous amount of time she spent wading through the marsh and tidal pools, or her hobby of bringing home dead sea turtles and dissecting them in the old shed behind the family cottage.

If Emilyn’s father was still alive, god bless his soul, he’d have a thing or two to say about it all, or so Vita said between all those harrumphs.

Emilyn’s alcoholic father had drowned while drinking and boating. No great loss. After barely scraping through high school, Emilyn had been sent by Vita to secretarial school in Savannah to mend her wild wilderness ways. Everyone told Vita that Emilyn would bounce right back and so Emilyn did, barely a month later. During tourist season she cleaned rooms at the Drayfield Inn, which Vita managed for crusty old Libby Bristol. But in every spare hour she roamed her beloved island, and it was on a winter beach that she found handsome Johnny Winstead washed ashore in a ruined uniform.

He spent weeks recovering at the cottage. Because of the nature of his top-secret air force mission, he didn’t want them calling anyone to come get him. Vita was initially wary, but his military ID seemed genuine and he spoke convincingly of being trained at Tuskegee Institute in Alabama and serving as a bomber pilot in Europe. Vita had never heard of black pilots, but when she called Tuskegee they confirmed the enterprise. Her own father had served in the army. He would have rolled over in his grave to know the military had been integrated.

At least Johnny paid his way. His wallet was full of paper bills wrinkled from seawater but perfectly useful, and Vita treated herself to a new dress from Woolworth’s in Savannah.

Come spring, Johnny began exploring the island in small doses. He went to the Division, where the few remaining year-round black residents lived. He went to the mainland to check in with his superiors and came back with a letter from his captain that only Vita was allowed to read. Everyone knew the Russians were probably parked in submarines offshore ready to nuke Charleston, so Vita let him stay on and do his spy work undercover while working at the inn in the maintenance department.

But the man had his quirks. From his first morning on the island Johnny had refused to eat seafood, claiming he was allergic. He’d eat pig and cow, but not perfectly good fish, shrimp, or scallops. Vita slipped some clam juice once into his dinner to test the allergy claim and he was perfectly fine, not a hive in sight. Also, although he went to Sunday church with Emilyn, his worldly travels had apparently exposed him to people who believed in many different gods, including gods deep in the ocean who would one day rise again and be sad at how mankind had desecrated their home.

“Gods like Posideon?” Vita heard Emilyn ask him in a teasing way. “Neptune?”

Johnny’s tone was somber. “Older gods. Ancient and angry.”

Those strange beliefs maybe explained why Johnny was always single-handedly cleaning up beach debris, and pestering Vita to impose blackouts on the inn’s windows during summer nights to avoid distracting sea turtles and hatchlings, and asking boat captains to not dump their toxic greywater without treating it first. Vita wished he’d just go on back to the military, but when 1960 brought Libby Bristol a devastating stroke, and Vita became her full-time caretaker, she didn’t have much time to worry about Johnny. When Libby died a few months later, she left Vita her personal share of the old Bristol lands. Ten thousand precious and priceless acres. The developers soon came calling.

Emilyn said, “You can’t ruin it all with hotels and restaurants, Mom.”

Johnny said, “They’d destroy the habitat, Miss Vita.”

Both of them were crazy. All her life Vita had waited for a windfall, catering to the rich folk on the island while scrimping and saving her meager wages. She wasn’t going to let fortune pass her by. But then Emilyn told her she was pregnant with Johnny’s baby and they intended to marry, and a heart attack struck Vita down before the day was over.

Emilyn and Johnny married in the African Baptist Church, presided over by Reverend Stillman III, whose grandfather had founded the congregation. Within months the newlyweds started a museum in the old shed. Johnny cataloged the fauna, drawing them with a steady hand in notebook after notebook. Emilyn handled all the sea life. With baby Marnie in tow, they set about trying to save the island in ways big and small; they cataloged tree blight and loggerhead nests, fought the government’s attempt to dredge an offshore channel, and successfully warded off developers who saw every beach as an opportunity to pour concrete and lay sewer lines and build hotels.

When she was ten years old, as barefoot and curious and persistent as her mother, Marnie found a collection of metal debris that Johnny had been keeping for years in the woods. He told her it was debris from a special plane, and that he locked it in an old hunting shack to keep it from other collectors.

“This is part of the landing gear,” he said, handing her an ordinary-looking rod. “And that there is a handle from a door.”

“Is it worth money?” Marnie asked, because she needed new shoes. And she wanted a record player. Emilyn was always saying they were paradise-rich but cash-poor, which Marnie thought was grossly unfair.

“Money isn’t what we need, baby girl,” Johnny replied.

He was wrong, but she didn’t tell him. The way he looked at the pieces of metal, all wistful and maybe sad, made her think he wouldn’t listen anyway. Marnie handed back the rod and handle and sat back against the shed, whose inside walls were covered with drawings Johnny had made of turtles. Loggerheads and leatherheads and Kemp-Ridleys and hawksbills. Sometimes he drew them with crowns on their heads, or magic wands held aloft in their flippers. She loved turtles, too, but her father was a little too obsessed for his own good.

 

4. A turtle never abandons its carriage, 2023

Big Missoe Island had only a few attractions, but they were popular; a scenic lighthouse, a Civil War fort with a history of ghost sightings, and the marine science center, which brought in busloads of school children, Girl Scouts, and Boy Scouts. A busy regional airfield serviced private planes and helicopter tours. A pirate festival every summer encouraged even more tourists to spend their money at bars, restaurants, and inns right along the beach. Marnie herself had spent her honeymoon with Mark at a hotel overlooking the Big Missoe pier. Tourists were well and good, providing jobs and revenue, but in their wake they left plastic trash and cigarette butts and garbage, always garbage, so much garbage.

Little Missoe, a long narrow strip several miles offshore, had no restaurants, no inns, and a ban on all private cars. It was only accessible by government ferry or private boat, and notorious because of the decades-long war between Marnie’s mother with her ten thousand acres of private land and the National Park Service, which owned the other twenty thousand acres (and mismanaged it daily, to listen to Emilyn). Only two hundred tourists per day were allowed on the island in high season, and overnight campers had to carry out whatever they carried in.

Marnie took the ferry to Little Missoe on a sunny Saturday with a mob of campers, hikers, and seashell collectors. She tried to blend in, but as the only black woman in the crowd, the captain recognized her anyway. During the ride across Wassow Sound, most of the passengers hung over the rails looking for dolphins. Marnie kept herself and her backpack inside, well aware of the faint hum of Moe’s incubator. Traveling back to Little Missoe always reminded her of journeying to the end of the world, or maybe the beginning of it; sometimes, on those rare nights when she slept soundly, she dreamt of being lost on endless beaches with the gray ocean always trying to pull her to its depths.

Once on the island she ignored the welcome center, which decades ago had been the ramshackle Drayfield Inn and before that had been the site of a Confederate Army fort and before that a Guale Indian shell mound. Most of the day visitors headed for the bike rental shack, but after checking her watch she set off on Founders Trail, which detoured inland past the towers and gables of the four decaying Bristol mansions and their accompanying stables, garages, and servant quarters. Marnie knew every inch and corner of the terraces and staircases, bedrooms and libraries, all their faded grandeur and lingering ghosts. She could see where roofs were caving in, windows falling out of frames, and enormous posts rotting away. Grass was cracking apart bricks and ivy tearing down shingles, the maritime forest reclaiming land that had been stolen from it a hundred years before.

If Marnie listened hard, she could hear her own giggles cascading down the decades. Or the racing footsteps of island children chasing each other through old ballrooms and grand dining rooms where the robber barons of New York had escaped winter’s grasp to take refuge in paradise.

She kept walking and ignored the aches in her heart and knees. Once past the Bristol mansions, the trail split north and east. The eastern path led to the oneroom, shuttered African Baptist Church. The congregation had moved decades ago, leaving behind a cemetery overgrown and forgotten. The church marked the beginning of the Division, where most of the cabins were now decayed piles of wood and tumbled brick chimneys. Tourists who ventured that far on foot took pictures of themselves amid the rubble but rarely mentioned the workers who had made their homes there. Ghost stories abounded about the Guale Indian spirits whose tiny glowing lights swirled in the air after dusk, or about the toothless old Preacher Man in the woods. He was two hundred years old, made immortal by a magic green sea turtle, and if you took his picture he would be invisible in the image.

Marnie turned north and startled an armadillo in the bush. It lurched off and ran over a snake that startled a warbler into flight. She checked her watch again. Two miles more along through oak groves and noisy herons, a small marker noted the end of government land and the beginning of private property. Black vultures eyed her warily as she closed in on Emilyn’s cottage, and Thistle started barking well before she reached the front gate.

“Give me a kiss, you big old monster,” she said, leaning over the posts. Most people would say a Newfoundland dog really had no business being on a Georgia barrier island, but Emilyn never did care about anyone else’s opinion.

The two-story cottage was continuing its slow decline; peeling white paint, lopsided porches, windows stuck open or closed, and a front yard filled with overgrown plants and gnarled driftwood. The side yard reeked of death. Marnie knew without looking that it was full of buckets of rotting sea turtles or porpoises, macerating in seawater so that Emilyn could claim the skeletons for her museum. The museum itself, wedged down a stone path behind the house, was Emilyn’s pride and legacy, open to visitors who had to request access via mail because electronic communication did not exist on this corner of Missoe.

“Hello?” said a man as he rounded the house. He was short, compact, maybe in his mid-fifties. The posture of a former Marine officer, but the scruffy beard of a man who’d gone native. “Can I help you?”

“I’m Emilyn’s daughter,” Marnie said.

He squinted at her, but before he could pass judgment Emilyn called from the road, where she was dragging along a tarpaulin that reeked of more death.

“Just in time to help,” Emilyn said, red-faced and soaked with sweat but undaunted. As usual she had a pistol on her hip and a knife strapped to her leg. No one would imagine that she was more than eighty years old, or that she’d happily arm-wrestle you for a beer and win.

Marnie grabbed a corner of the tarp and started dragging. “Where’s your ATV?”

“Broke.”

“You should fix it.”

“How’s Mark?” Emilyn retorted tartly, and Marnie understood the barb. You mind your own business, child, and I’ll mind mine. But there was a deeper insult there, too, because Emilyn didn’t believe in divorce, never had, never would.

The man came to help with the tarp and forestall the impending argument. He said his name was Ralph Hartman, but not what his job was or where he came from. Marnie didn’t much care about the details. For decades the guest cottage had hosted whatever biologists, historians, or other visitors floated ashore. Ralph was familiar enough with Emilyn’s procedures to take over care of the dead sea otter in the tarpaulin, which left Marnie free to wash up inside.

“Help yourself to lemonade,” Emilyn called after her. A peace offering, that. “Get me a beer while you do.”

Inside was dim, dusty, and hot. Shelves bowed under the weight of books, the old cushions smelled of mold, and the walls were covered floor to ceiling with shells, jaws, teeth, and skeletal oddities. The vintage refrigerator held marine specimens as well as some meager groceries. Emilyn didn’t use supermarkets. She ate from the sea and forest and from her garden, from anything she could catch or slaughter or simply found on the beach. If Marnie stayed overnight they might eat shark for dinner, harvest eggs from the chickens for breakfast, and fry up bacon from one of the unlucky pigs in the yard. No, the only thing Emilyn needed to buy from a store was beer, and that was only because she didn’t have time to brew her own.

By the front door were the only family pictures Emilyn had ever seen to frame and put up. The largest was a young black man in profile, bare-chested at the shore and staring out to sea. His face was as long and serious as the one Marnie saw in her mirror every day.

“Hello, Daddy,” she said.

Marnie brought the cold can of beer to Emilyn in the yard, and Ralph announced he was going down the beach for a swim. He took a bike and he took Thistle, leaving Marnie and Emilyn standing over the putrid bucket of what was labeled a squirrel.

“You didn’t write you were coming,” Emilyn said, her blue eyes narrowed. 

“Do I have to?”

“Of course not. This is all yours.”

Marnie didn’t fall into the trap of old arguments. Into the field of landmines waiting to detonate on words such as legacy and duty and family. Her watch beeped a warning she was glad to heed.

“I need to show you something,” she said. “Inside.”

The museum had once been a long, narrow shed. Thanks to solar panels and gas generators, it now had ventilation and lighting and humidity control. After decades of work it was now the most extensive and well-cataloged collection of Georgia’s marine and plant life in the entire state, if not the whole of the eastern seaboard. Formaldehyde jars of jellyfish and sea anemones and snakes and fish lined dozens of shelves, accompanied by boxes of alligator bones, squirrel bones, bones from anything on the island that had bones. Overhead, strung by sturdy wire, hung the spines of porpoises and the carapaces of loggerheads and one very large horse skull. Somewhere in other boxes was a perfectly preserved baby sperm whale.

It took effort to clear just a few inches of desk space for Marnie’s incubator. Emilyn looked through the lid at Moe, clearly unimpressed.

“You came out here after two years to show me an egg?” Emilyn asked.

“I came because it’s not an egg.” Marnie wished she’d helped herself to one of Emilyn’s beers, but settled for draining her lemonade. “Not just an egg, I guess you’d say. It comes and goes.”

“Comes and goes,” Emilyn repeated.

“On its own. Like the ones Dad was always looking for.”

“I don’t see anything coming or going anywhere.”

“It’s about every six hours now. The first time, it was twelve. The intervals are getting shorter.”

Emilyn’s mouth twisted in disbelief and Moe, perhaps eager to please, disappeared. Vanished entirely. One moment the incubator held one beige egg, and the next it was empty.

“We called him crazy,” Marnie said softly. “Time traveling eggs.”

From outside, the vultures squawked loud and sharp. The sea breeze rustled through the trees. Ten thousand acres of maritime forest seemed to lean in closer to the museum, to Marnie, to the family secrets that had twisted their lives.

“I have no opinions about crazy.” Emilyn abruptly straightened. “I’m going for a walk.”

She left the shed without saying anything else. Marnie reset her watch and took the incubator to the house, where she watched and waited. Waited some more. Five hours later, Moe reappeared. Outside, a group of vultures screeched and fell silent.

 

5. Travel at your own pace and you will arrive, 1958-1961

“Coffee and one of those doughnuts, please,” Johnny said to the waitress as he took a seat at the counter.

She blinked at him. “Say what?”

He was sure he’d spoken clearly. The bright cafeteria in Levy’s Department Store wasn’t very busy at this time of morning. He’d bought himself a new shirt, which was folded neatly along with the receipt in the bag. Later he was going to look for some boots, because the ones he’d washed ashore in had been ruined by the saltwater.

“You can’t eat here,” she said, shaking her little blonde head. “Your kind.”

Johnny blinked. Looked around at the other customers, who were all white. The Civil Rights movement hadn’t come to Savannah yet. He was too early for sit-in protests, for the mountains of Jim Crow laws to be shaken and rattled and eventually toppled. The waitress stared at him, foot tapping, safe in her pale little bubble of protection based only on race. She arched an eyebrow, impatient.

Face burning, he left the store and forgot his bag and new shirt.

Later he went to the movie theater and was told he’d have to sit in the balcony with the other colored folk. Tried to clear his head in Forsyth Park, but a sign said it was for whites only. The enormous Confederate War monument in the middle of the park seemed to him an obscene middle finger. Although he’d checked into a hotel for blacks only, he hadn’t truly realized how segregated Savannah was, how limited and awful and dangerous.

That night, paranoia crept in. Was that why the Recovery Corps hadn’t come to rescue him? Because he was black? Surely not. Racism in his age was nowhere near as common as now. But in the weeks he’d spent recovering in Vita’s cottage, waiting to hear if Bill Bristol’s body had washed ashore (it hadn’t) or for rescue to come (it definitely hadn’t), he’d taken to endless wondering about how long he’d be stuck in the past and why, since the Corps knew exactly when he was, they hadn’t sent a message or retrieval team.

Standard operating procedure for any pilot stranded downstream was to hold position. And so he’d held. Held for five months now. This one-week trip off the island was a risk, maybe, but Vita was increasingly skeptical about Johnny’s cover story. He planned to buy a typewriter and create verifying documents so he could return to Little Missoe for as long as he needed to.

Of course the island was segregated, too. He wasn’t foolish enough not to notice. Only white folks stayed at the Drayfield Inn. Only black people lived in the Division, and of those only a handful still remained compared to the decades past. But a man could breathe on Little Missoe, could roam the forest and marshes and beaches without worrying about the hard gaze of a policeman carrying a baton, of rowdy white teens looking to prove themselves after illicit drinking, of a white lady claiming offense and inciting a mob to drag away, torture, and kill a black teenage boy.

He bought the typewriter and then, papers in hand, re-sold it. Took a boat past the segregated beaches of Tybee Island and waited, endlessly waited, while love found him and brought him a tiny baby girl. She was the prettiest shade of brown Johnny had ever seen, though he admitted to a little bias. Emilyn wanted to call her Marine but the county clerk typed it wrong, and so the name Marnie stuck.

 

6. A turtle always carries its coffin along with it, 1878-1960

“You go into the world and you make yourself something,” Sarah Winstead told each of her sons when they left Little Missoe. Eight boys, each born before the war that set them free. She’d had girls, too, but the angels took their souls to flight and left peaceful tiny bodies to be buried behind the church. Every Sunday she put blue or white or pink wildflowers on their graves. Their names, carefully engraved in her bible, were forgotten by everyone except Sarah.

One by one her big handsome boys went to Savannah, to Charleston, to Waycross, carrying with them the crosses she’d carved for them from driftwood. The last one left in 1878. All of them except Albert got themselves good jobs, married mostly good women, raised families with all the joy and heartbreak that came natural. Her own husband went to the Lord in his sleep, and though more men came sniffing, she was happy, finally, to have a bed and cabin to herself for the first time in decades. She kept working in the kitchens in Mr. Bristol’s new hunting lodge, attended services faithfully at the African Baptist Church, dug up Indian shells in her vegetable garden, visited the beach every single day, and said nightly prayers for all her brood but especially for Albert, bless his soul, who was determined to drink his way through every lowdown saloon in Brunswick.

Every few years her sons tried to persuade her to leave the island where her parents and their parents had been born and died. They told her if she came to live with them she’d have her own room. She wouldn’t have to work anymore, wouldn’t have to live in the Division, wouldn’t need to defer to the wealthy New Yorkers starting to build new mansions as their winter palaces. She’d see her grandchildren grow up.

Such a simple thing, they thought. Give up the island whose salt was in her blood and her blood in its graveyard. Give up the waves that lulled her to sleep and the winds that spoke in her dreams. Say goodbye to the enormous sea turtles, those magnificent beasts that crawled up the sand to build their nests, their tiny hatchlings boiling out weeks later to make their madcap dash to the sea. Unlike her neighbors she absolutely refused to eat turtle soup, or anything else that came out of the waters.

“Our people went into that ocean,” she would tell them. “They died in chains, thrown overboard. Or threw themselves, in desperation. How can I take from them?”

People would just shake their heads, call her silly, what did that matter now? Slave ships hadn’t come to Big Missoe since 1803, and the last one in the whole state to Jekyll Island in 1858. But it was Reverend Wilson Stillman, a learned man who’d been all over the world, who confirmed to Sarah that many thousands of their ancestors had been consigned to the deep, thrown overboard like cordwood, maybe hundreds of thousands not counting the ones who’d jumped on their own, and their sad souls still haunted the seas no matter how many years had passed.

Didn’t stop the fine reverend from eating oysters and crabs, Sarah noticed.

Reverend Stillman’s first wife had died in childbirth. His second wife was a woman from St. Simon’s Island who claimed to be of Guale blood. Her ancestors had been living peacefully on the barrier islands when the first Spanish settlers showed up in the 1500s, bringing hate and violence and chains. That woman told Sarah that the souls of the dead came back to the world as turtles and birds and crabs. That the whole world itself was built on the shell of a magnificent turtle, who in turn lived on the shell of a bigger turtle, and it was an ancient truth that the creator of the entire Universe was a turtle. Her Guale people held this truth as sacred.

“That’s an interesting idea,” Sarah said, diplomatically.

“I will allow that some people believe the world to be a turtle resting on a turtle, or an elephant resting on an elephant, or a turtle resting on an elephant,” Reverend Stillman said, chewing on his cigar. “But those are the old-fashioned and outdated beliefs of heathens.”

Reverend Stillman’s second wife left him a few years later to go back to her own folk, the heathens.

Whenever her sons tried to persuade her to leave Little Missoe, Sarah told them she couldn’t leave the island she loved so much. And she did love it, even as the rich folks built absurdly bigger and bigger mansions and did away with the fields and logging camps. Harrison and Anne Bristol alone employed a hundred servants.

She didn’t change her mind even during the night earthquake of 1886, which toppled the stone lions right off Harrison Bristol’s front steps and snapped the rope of the bell at the church, sending it hurtling down. When the new century brought Sarah’s first paralyzing stroke, it was Albert who came home with two little sons in tow and made sure she could stay where she wanted. He was sober, he was serious, and when he wasn’t working at the ice plant he took her in a wheelchair to the beach to observe her beloved turtles and nests.

On her last visit to the shore she crossed paths with little Vita Hayes, whose father had come to Little Missoe after the Spanish-American War with his Key West bride to run the stables for Harrison Bristol. If anyone had told Sarah that Albert’s great-great-several-great grandson Johnny would one day wash ashore and marry Vita’s daughter Emilyn, Sarah would have called them crazy.

Sarah died in 1910. Albert buried her behind the church with the infant daughters she’d loved so much, then took his sons away to Jekyll Island. Johnny Winstead saw Sarah’s picture in a daguerreotype in 2488, though he didn’t know which face was hers; in 1960 he found her marker in the Division graveyard and put wildflowers on it.

 

7. All the thoughts of a turtle are turtle, 2023-1976 and back again

Marnie’s second-floor bedroom hadn’t changed much over the years. The wallpaper of pink roses Emilyn applied in 1975 was still mostly intact, though peeling by the door. The white four-poster bed that Johnny brought over by boat one Christmas was still sturdy, even if the mattress desperately needed replacing. The child’s desk and chair were too small for her to sit in, but the rocking chair by the window held her weight as she listened to Emilyn and Ralph downstairs, finishing up the catch of shrimp Ralph had fried for them. Their words floated up through the cracks in the floorboards.

“I met some campers on the beach today,” Ralph said. “They swore they saw the Preacher Man in the woods last night.”

“People will say any old fool thing,” Emilyn replied.

Music started up. Emilyn had an old hand-crank record player and a fondness for Duke Ellington. Or maybe Duke Ellington had been her dad’s favorite, and Emilyn had taken him on as well. Marnie wished she could remember more of his likes and dislikes, his habits and quirks. She’d been too busy being moody to pay attention, at least during her teen years. Commuting every day to the mainland for school, envying the other students their after-school activities and easy access to shopping and movies. Emilyn had told her to count her blessings that she had this enormous natural wilderness at her disposal, but after most all of the other families had moved to the mainland in search of employment, it had felt more like a prison than a paradise.

The brassy cheerful notes of “Take the A Train” floated up through the floor and out the window, toward the shore. On Marnie’s dresser, the portable incubator hummed. Moe was away again. He’d disappeared three hours ago. The intervals, shortening. She checked her watch, uneasily aware of a countdown she didn’t understand.

A summer night like this, but no music. Dad telling them an incredible story of being a man stranded from the future. If she closed her eyes she could bring herself there, a memory burned forever when she’d been just fifteen years old. He said he was a pilot tasked with traveling into the past to keep the oceans from being ruined by sunken ships and submarines, fallen planes and satellites, lost missiles, and jettisoned nuclear weapons.

“Like the Titanic,” he said, pacing the living room while Emilyn and Marnie sat on opposite ends of the sofa. “And the Lusitania. The Challenger shuttle. My ship crashed and the gods spared me to wash up here.”

“Johnny,” Emilyn said, her voice even, but her hands clenched. “You’re not making sense. No one saved the Titanic from anything.”

He kept talking as if he hadn’t heard her. “Eighteen years I’ve been stranded. Waiting for rescue. They’re supposed to rescue us. It’s been so long I’m starting to forget what our mission was. Do you know what it’s like, to lose yourself ? But now this. I found this.”

He put a turtle egg on the coffee table. It was small and beige and unremarkable.

“I’ve been watching it for weeks,” he says. “The hatchling never develops. But it’s not dead, either. Watch what it does.”

The egg did nothing.

“Daddy.” Marnie wanted him to stop ranting about crazy things. She needed him to be the steadfast and attentive adult in her life, because god knew Emilyn was so absorbed in her museum work that Marnie could be dead in her bedroom a week before Emilyn even noticed.

“It travels,” he insisted. “It disappears. It’s moving in time. I think maybe the engine compartment got breached and the fuel leaked out of the Veles Drive. Maybe the fuel and the old Mark-15 are affecting each other. I don’t know. But the sea turtles got exposed. Maybe I can use the eggs as a beacon. Maybe I can find a way back.”

The egg sat on the table and continued to do nothing.

Human and canine footsteps on the stairs broke Marnie’s reverie. She sat up straighter and checked the time. Bedtime came early under Emilyn’s rule, because she regularly woke herself and had visitors at three A.M. to observe sea turtles nesting on the beach. It occurred to Marnie not for the first time that her problems sleeping these days might be linked to Emilyn’s nocturnal habits, but for decades Marnie had been able to sleep soundly between the hours of ten and six. It was only now, in her sixties, without Mark by her side, that she found herself staring at the ceiling for hours while the planet spun and the clocks advanced and she was dragged, against her will, toward another day of work on a bad night’s rest.

Emilyn’s door clicked shut. Marnie went downstairs for a glass of water and saw Ralph sitting in the living room, leafing through an old picture book of the Bristol mansions. The book rested on the coffee table where her father had put down a single egg so many years ago, the egg he said could travel in time.

“Sorry?” Ralph said.

Marnie blinked. “What?”

“I thought you asked something.”

At the sink, she filled a glass with water. “How’s your stay going?”

“The museum is amazing. I can’t believe your parents collected all those specimens—how many? Five thousand? Ten? Organized impeccably. You can’t believe it.”

She could believe it, because she’d lived it. Had watched the museum consume her mother’s life, decade after decade.

“Are you getting what you want from it?” 

“What do you think I want?”

Marnie returned to the living room, but didn’t sit. “Mom thinks you’re here to help her fight the state’s new fire management plan for the island. That you’re a lawyer with experience in federal wilderness areas.”

“All true. But you sound suspicious.”

“You wouldn’t be the first person sent to trick her.”

“I’m not trying to trick anyone, Marnie. I want to fight for the island the same way she does.”

“No one fights like Mom,” Marnie said. “No one in the entire history of the eastern seaboard of America. When the Bristols tried to contest Libby’s will, she fought with my grandmother. When my grandmother wanted to ruin the island with hotels, Mom stood up to her, too. The last time Mom left Little Missoe was in 1999, only because she had appendicitis and they made her go get her appendix taken out. I know there are nonprofits out there trying to save the barrier islands, but trust me. Mom is a warrior with nuclear weapons and they are tiny little stick figures with plastic swords. Tiny like me.”

Ralph stared at her.

But it was true. All true. And every time Marnie trudged out to the beach with schoolchildren disinterested in the ocean, every time she reviewed her meager paycheck or listened to Robert Rowe choose dollars over science, she had one more brick of evidence to add to the wall of belief that she could never follow in Emilyn’s footsteps. She wouldn’t be able to stand strong in the face of multi-million-dollar development deals or incompetent government managers. She wouldn’t be able to endure decades of loneliness like Emilyn had.

Little Missoe’s private land was doomed if Marnie inherited it, and maybe it was better for everyone if she just admitted it now.

Upstairs, Thistle began to bark. Bones on the walls started to shake. The bookshelves lurched sideways, and dozens of books abruptly chased each other in a downward topple to the floor. The rumble of a freight train broke across the night quiet as the whole cottage began to bounce and shake in a mad dance.

“Outside!” Ralph said, but she was already flinging open the screen door to thick outdoor air.

Emilyn joined them in the yard just moments later, her white nightgown billowing around her skinny legs as she clung to Marnie’s arm. Thistle barked and howled and dashed off toward the shed. As the earthquake kept going and going, Marnie realized this was no 4.1, no little offshore event. Upstairs, the bedroom windows cracked and showered down to the roof of the front porch. Thudding noises of falling furniture bellowed out from inside, and fetid water sloshed out of the buckets in the yard. Oak branches thicker than Marnie’s arm crashed across the picket fence, splintering the posts.

Just as Marnie began to doubt the cottage could stand much longer, the tremors subsided. The yellow lights from downstairs spilled across fallen debris and reached the three of them.

“What about a tsunami?” Ralph asked anxiously. “We should move to higher ground.”

Marnie didn’t think a tsunami was imminent, but never before in her life had she been in an earthquake so strong. She hoped the marine center on Big Missoe was undamaged, all the sea life safe inside. She even hoped Mark was safe in his big house in St. Simon’s, though she wasn’t generous enough to extend that hope to his pretty new wife.

“We should go,” Ralph insisted.

Emilyn said, “Highest elevation on the island is in the old church. But I’m staying here.”

Ralph evacuated. He said he was going to spend the rest of the night on high ground and take the first ferry out in the morning. Marnie and Emilyn dragged porch chairs out to the side of the dirt road, unwilling to risk the house collapsing around them if a stronger quake came. Small aftershocks rumbled through thirty minutes after Ralph left, and then more powerful ones at midnight. Thistle returned and then darted away again, his tail between his legs. Above them, tree branches swayed back and forth under the starlight.

“Maybe we should go to the church, too,” Marnie said.

Emilyn popped open a can of beer she’d rescued from the refrigerator, which had crashed through the back door. “I’m not leaving.”

During the tremors, the sound of breaking glass and collapsing shelves rolled out of the museum. Marnie thought Emilyn should be upset by it all. That the continuing destruction of Emilyn’s life’s work would devastate her. But Emilyn reclined in her chair and drank more beer and snoozed between tremors. Marnie couldn’t sleep, worried as she was that the dark rising Atlantic would rush out of the trees and engulf them at any moment. She could hear the distant waves against the beach, and never before had they sounded so threatening. Just before four o’clock, the ground shook so furiously that one of the front porch posts splintered and the second story caved in, spilling Marnie’s bedroom furniture to the dirt. The four-poster bed collapsed into white sticks of kindling.

The incubator slid along a path of wreckage and toppled upside-down. Marnie retrieved it with shaking hands, and saw Moe safely inside.

The world grew quiet after that. Marnie wanted to believe the earthquakes were over, but instead she felt like the island itself was moving into the dangerous eye of an invisible hurricane. A lifetime of living in the south had made her sensitive to barometric pressure, and she could feel it plummeting.

Roused from her napping, Emilyn clicked her flashlight beam off and on. Off and on. Toward the giant river oaks gnarled by sea wind over the decades. Off, on. Waiting for the tsunami, maybe. Or sending a message to the sea.

“Mom, what’s happening?” she asked.

Emilyn’s mouth twisted in a bitter line.

“A train is coming,” she said. “Time to get onboard.” 

 

8. Turtles, turtles, turtles, all the way down, 1985-2023

“They found the Titanic last week,” Emilyn said one September night to Johnny. “It’s at the bottom of the ocean, rusting away.”

Marnie was visiting for the week. She had graduated college in the spring with her master’s degree in environmental science and was due to start a new job soon at the Miami Seaquarium. Spending the summer on the island had seemed like a good idea, and some days it was, but then there were nights like these. Johnny had come around for dinner and stayed a bit afterward. He looked well enough, if skinny and unshaven. He and Emilyn were downstairs now on the front porch. With her bedroom window open to catch any summer breeze, Marnie could hear every word clearly.

“It doesn’t work that way, Em,” Johnny said, sounding weary.

The discussion or argument or whatever they wanted to call it had been going on for a decade now, rolling in and out like an extremely slow tide, never settled. Johnny could not be persuaded out of his obsessions and Emilyn could not be persuaded into them. They’d moved apart, Emilyn keeping the cottage and Johnny taking up residence in Reverend Stillman’s old cabin. Emilyn kept up the museum, and Johnny continued his search every day for time-traveling turtle eggs. He documented nests and examined any eggs that didn’t hatch. He asked tourists and campers if they’d seen anything strange on the beach and incessantly reminded them not to litter, not to leave straws or plastics behind, because of the harm they caused marine life, because the sea deserved better. Sometimes he preached so incessantly that people complained to the park rangers.

Emilyn said, “Explain it to me. How is it you say you saved the Titanic from sinking, but the newspaper’s got a picture of it two miles in the deep?”

Silence. The smell of tobacco smoke drifted up to Marnie’s window. Her mother wouldn’t stop smoking cigarettes for another decade. Her father never started.

“I’ve told you before. Changing the past creates a different future. Like switching the track on a railway line. People in the past don’t ride on the new track. They keep going down the original line. It’s only people on the new track who notice the difference. When I return to the future, I’m on the changed track.”

“Okay,” Emilyn said. “Train tracks. Your time travel ship crashed and you got stuck here in 1958. What do you expect turtle eggs to do about it?”

Silence for a moment. On Marnie’s bed, her orange cat Sammi stirred in his sleep and settled back again.

Finally Johnny said, “I don’t know. Mankind didn’t invent time travel. It’s a gift of the sea gods who wake up angry and order mankind to fix the dying oceans. On my train track that happens a few hundred years from now. So these eggs—I don’t know. I don’t. But I have to have hope, Em. It’s all I’ve got.”

More silence.

Marnie put down her pen and laid her head on her diary. She almost felt dizzy, or nauseous. She wanted them to stop talking. She wanted her dad’s mental illness and obsessions to go away and never come back.

“You have us,” Emilyn said softly. “But we’re not what you truly want.”

Now, in 2023, sunrise came with clouds and winds. Marnie could see the whole house was leaning toward the east, unsafe to enter without substantial structural repairs. Strips of her bedroom wallpaper fluttered in the breeze. But the shed had fared better. Several specimen jars or boxes had shaken off the shelves and broken on the floor, but the shelves themselves had held and the ceiling was intact. Emilyn turned on the solar batteries to power an electric pot while Marnie swept up.

“We should check the beach,” Emilyn said, pouring hot water over instant coffee in a reusable cup for Marnie. For herself, she opened another beer. “Bring your friend.”

“My friend?” Marnie asked.

Emilyn nodded to Moe’s incubator. Then she wedged a ladder into place, stepped up four rungs, and retrieved a small wooden box. With the box secured in a backpack, she grabbed another can of beer and headed out. Marnie followed reluctantly.

“Shouldn’t we go to the park station?” she asked. “See if anyone needs help?”

Emilyn didn’t answer. Thistle dashed ahead of them and circled back, then dashed ahead again. The weather seemed especially warm already, promising a scorcher of a day even with the overcast sky. From the trees, Marnie heard no birds at all. No vultures or wrens or woodpeckers. They had all fled inland or were silently hiding. When they reached North Beach, Emilyn stopped at the top of the dunes to survey the shore below, and when Marnie saw the vista she lifted a hand to cover her mouth.

The tide was low. The dark wet sand was littered by an infinite amount of junk, more than Marnie had ever seen anywhere, stretching for miles and miles: twisted beach chairs, torn beach umbrellas, battered canoes and kayaks, lobster traps, fishing nets, orange buoys, pieces of a wooden pier, styrofoam coolers, rusted bicycles, car tires, soggy mattresses, and plastic. So much plastic. Bottles and cups and straws and spoons and food wraps and egg cartons and buckets and tiny shovels for kids to dig in the sand. Further down the shoreline, a hulking green cargo container had spilled out what looked like ten thousand white sneakers, and another had spread a wide debris field of flat-screen televisions. Near the containers, a rusted truck rested upside down beside what might have been a small, crude, vintage submarine.

More startling than the trash, however, were the thousands of sea turtles standing guard at the high tide line, stretching for miles in a wavy line. All of them were facing inland and stood unnaturally still. Enormous loggerheads, four hundred pounds each. Much smaller Kemp-Ridleys, clustered in groups. The most massive leatherbacks Marnie could imagine, their black rubbery backs still glistening with water, so heavy that it would take a squadron of men to move one. Some of the turtles were of no species Marnie could easily identify, and those if anything made the hair on the back of her neck stand up.

Emilyn crouched down in the sand with her wooden box and lifted the lid. Inside were three small beige eggs nestled in old newspaper.

“How long have you had those?” Marnie asked.

“Long enough. Add yours.”

Numbly Marnie took Moe from the incubator and put it with the other eggs. Nothing happened.

Movement in the corner of her eye made Marnie glance up. A man in the distance was moving amid the leatherbacks. Tall, skinny, clad only in blue pants worn thin, and touching the turtles reverently, his arms willowy. He was dancing, she realized. The Preacher Man, tourists called him, but Marnie had another name she preferred. She waited until he came to them before she used it.

“Daddy,” she said.

Johnny smiled toothlessly. “Hello, baby girl.”

He hugged her with all his strength and she melted against him, her head on his bony shoulder. For a moment her worry fell away, but when she opened her eyes the turtles were still there in their formidable array and clouds were boiling on the horizon.

“What’s happening?” she asked.

In response he let her go and slung a sack off his bare back. From it he pulled a long wooden box. Inside, cushioned in faded blue velvet, were six more little eggs. He looked at Emilyn’s three and Marnie’s one and raised an eyebrow. Emilyn shrugged.

“We’re here now, aren’t we?” she asked, and drank more beer.

Johnny said, “Yes. We’re here now.”

He put all the eggs together. They began to pulse with an inner light, a dull white. Out in the dark water, something large moved slowly through the waves toward them. Marnie thought it might be a whale. The barometric pressure was dropping again and the air temperature rapidly increasing, though the rising sun was still behind thick clouds. Thistle barked at the water, spun in a circle, and dashed off toward the trees. Marnie almost joined him but her legs seemed paralyzed in the sand, her heartbeat hammering like the beat of an ancient drum.

When the enormous shape started to rise from the water it was not a whale she saw but instead a gigantic carapace, rising and rising and rising, the fortress and coffin of a giant from the depths of an ocean unmapped. Behind it, more shapes swam inexorably and wrathfully toward land.

“Hold my hands, my darlings,” Johnny said, and they did, and the sea gods came.
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What I did wasn’t pretty.

You might even call it monstrous—

literally.

 

My needles were made of glass,

hot wax, and children’s hair.

My two-headed newts slept through.

 

Whatever happened to them afterward,

it wasn’t good. Most died. Those who survived

were little creeps, little amphibian demons,

witch’s potion ingredients, two for the price of one.

 

 I a Frankenstein, my newts my funny sweet creatures.

I stared into the pond water and watched them grow. 

 

My illustrations are, let’s face it, cute.

It’s possible these little pals were happy.

Imagine, never in your born life being alone.

 

By Jessy Randall
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THE MAN IN THE MOON IS A LADY

By Ian Baaske 

  Ian Baaske’s bio will appear at the end of this story.

 

i.

The theatergoers shuffle in and find their seats, the red velvet torn in some cases and splotchy with stains in others. Frescoes cover the walls, scrunched between goldrimmed ornamentation. A great golden chandelier hangs overhead, lit and dazzling. Only thirty years since the invention of the electric light.

 

ii.

A low hum of conversation reverberates around the room, accented by the occasional slide of a trombone or light pounding on the timpani. The orchestra is warming up. A woman in a bird-inspired headband works her way down the aisle. Swaying feathers sprout from the silver wrapping. Her eyes, nearly fully circled in black makeup, scan the seats. Her husband trots behind her, cozy in a full-length fur coat, the oils of his waxed mustache catching the light from the chandelier.

 

iii.

Now the audience settles, and the conversations fade as the curtain rises. Three women on stage, each with extravagant bits of shiny metal strapped to their heads, crowned by real fire, dance by, their voices clear and ethereal. No instruments play; no words discernible.
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iv.

15 October 1929—Dr. Newel over-imbibed at dinner. And while I tried to explain the Arguscope, he didn’t listen much and touched my leg more than once. His fingers swirled around my thigh, elliptical like an orbit. He described the ordinary telescope to me in great detail; I found it difficult to pretend anything he was saying was new to me. He had something green stuck in his teeth.

16 October 1929—Sheila is annoyed because I have pieces of the Arguscope spread out all over her desk. Well, and all over my desk and on the floor and part of the kitchen counter. I need the space. She thinks I should get my own apartment.

 

v.

A portrait of Vera Viora: 

Tall, at least five foot nine. Streaks of white paint her dark, frizzy hair. Lithe; some would say bony. Her astronomer’s robe clings randomly about her thin collarbones and dusts the floor.

 

vi.

A photograph of New York University’s Celebratory Astronomers Society:

Black and white, grainy. All men except Vera. She’s at the rear, her multi-colored head barely visible over their shoulders. They wear suits and, though some have mustaches and some have pince-nez and some are bald, they all manage to look the same.

If you squint, you can see in the narrow crack between one man’s shoulder in the front row and another man’s hip in the second, Vera is clearly clutching the Arguscope. 

 

vii.

While the lights are down, the audience shuffles as audiences do and here and there a cough rings out. When the lights come back up, the male members of New York University’s Celebratory Astronomers Society march back on the stage. Each man clutches a thick telescope in his hand. The band strikes up and they wave them high in the air as they sing.
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The audience explodes in applause.

 

viii.

19 October 1929—I tried to explain the Arguscope again to Arthur Clarence. “Have you ever heard of Argus from Greek mythology?” I asked him. He told me of course he had, but when I asked him to tell me something—anything—about him he couldn’t. Then he turned the subject to my eyes and how I have dark circles. Which is fine for him considering his are little pig squiggly ones.

Frank Cunningham was a little more receptive. He at least admitted he hadn’t heard of Argus. But when I told him Argus was a giant with a hundred eyes that Hera set as a watchman, he wanted to know where on Argus’s body all the eyes went. “Are they all above his nose? And does he have a massive forehead or are the eyes very tiny?” When I told him he wasn’t real so they could be wherever he wanted them to be, he stormed off.

20 October 1929—At lunch today my mother commented on my eyes, too. It wasn’t like her. She’s always the one who understands. I shouldn’t have let it bother me as much as I did, but I couldn’t help it. She felt bad and ordered me a piece of chocolate cake.

It’s true that I haven’t slept much recently. All I do is work on the Arguscope. I woke Sheila up just now. It’s two in the morning. I think she’s ready to throw me out on the street.

 

ix.

The lights cut out and blink the male astronomers into darkness. A spotlight appears atop the catwalk that runs along the back of the stage. Vera stands on her balcony, trying to twist two pieces of the Arguscope together. A glowing full moon lowers with a creaking sound. Vera looks up and begins to sing softly to the moon.
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x.

A screen drops from the theater ceiling, and a projector somewhere behind begins to whir. Dust hangs in the shaft of light it sends toward the screen, as a scrambled set of numbers begins to show.

Then:

In black and white, a rocky landscape under a night sky. We are moving quickly forward across it. A narrator’s voice sounds.

“The Moon. The glowing orb that speeds across the night sky. That lurks behind the branches of trees in winter. That hides its shining face under the wispy haunted clouds.” The Narrator is standing to the side of the screen. He wears a black suit and blends into the dark stage. The film’s light reflects in the sheen of his slicked back hair. On the screen, we continue to skim the Moon’s surface. The ground is silver and white, pocked with rocks and craters, but here and there a stream trickles by and still other times we pass over a pond.

“None have journeyed here before,” the Narrator says. “None have crunched their boots upon the rock. None have drunk from the Moon’s many streams and rivers.”

The Narrator squints down at his script. “There’s no sunlight on the Moon,” he announces. “We here on beloved Earth block the way, casting our inconsiderate shadow on our orbiting friends.”

Now, we can see looming in the distance a tower—Gothic in its construction, with high sharp spires, but arranged seemingly randomly like a tree’s branches.

“There is all sorts of life on the Moon,” the Narrator intones. “Sagebrush trampled in the Moon dust. Boulder vines and Moon mice and mastodons. But there are only three intelligent species.

“The first is the rockhorse.” On the screen, a gray horse’s head passes, moving left to right. The creature turns toward the camera, his eyes wide and black, and the audience gasps as earthen wings unfold from his side and flap and he launches into the night sky. “The rockhorse earns its unusual name by virtue of the fact that its skin and muscles and bones are all made from the Moon’s surface in various consistencies.” A thick shiny slide of sweat decorates the Narrator’s temple.

“The rockhorse,” he continues, “has no legs.” It’s true. As the beast flutters past, he bears a horse’s head and neck and tail and haunches, but nothing below. “It glides along the Moon’s surface,” says the Narrator, “melding its body to the dusty ground. In this way, it can reach speeds of over forty-five miles per hour.”

The crowd murmurs.

“The rockhorse never speaks and has no known language, but understands and reacts to the three main Lunar languages: East Luna, West Luna, and Common Luna.”

We plow forward as the rockhorse disappears from view. Still the tower looms in the distance, but as we approach, we now see a handful of small hovel-like structures. Many with broken, crumbled walls. Many without roofs. We can see clearly inside as we pass and the film captures lit fire pits and huddled humanoids with wild gray hair in thick strands like ropes. Seen from the front, their skin is the same dull color as their hair. Their black saucer eyes seem pupil-less. These are the Wheezes, or so the narrator seems to be saying. He’s grown more agitated.

“The Wheezes huddle in squalor on the outskirts of the great Lunar cities. They practice a primitive religion of Earth worship. When our planet rises in the morning, they can all be found facing it, lying prostate, arms before them, buried under their unruly hair. The Wheezes dream of kidnapping Earth children. The Wheezes have no gender, and their genitals can and do often morph between female and male configurations. By birthright, Wheezes share an arcane knowledge of magic and spellcasting.” The film speeds forward and in the corner of the screen, a Wheeze can be seen levitating, fingers spitting with crackling lightning. The audience gasps. The tower grows closer. The Narrator flips his script to the next page.

“Finally, ladies and gentlemen, the Lunarian.” 

Here now, on the screen, we approach some manner of town before the great tower. We see humanoids: tall and thin with long arms and fingers, they look silver in the black and white. They part and move aside as we push through along the jagged cobblestone streets, lined by strands of small glow lights.

“Their skin, difficult to see here, is a pale shade of blue—nearly translucent. In fact, when they become upset, you can see their bones and organs. Those strange black husks atop their heads are their hair, which, unlike soft human hair, stands rigid.”

“Lunarians spend their days,” the Narrator says, “operating large machines that probe deep below the Moon’s surface for water and then press it upward and out into the pools that dot the landscape. Or they operate Fire Presses that dig deeper still and harness the churning molten lava at the Moon’s core to power their town.”

We can see these machines standing idly, jagged pieces of iron, shaped with large spikes and powerful drills. No one is operating them.

“The Moon is ruled by an East Lunarian named Callas. He lives atop a great tower.” We’ve reached now the base of the tower, where a large crowd has gathered and we begin panning upward. A rockhorse flaps across the shot. The tower has split into a number of smaller ones, but the main one leads higher and higher as the camera sweeps upward along the massive height. The Narrator disappears from the stage. Sweeping music starts up; the film cuts out, and the screen is hustled off the stage. The lights come up. The stage now has its own tower. Like the one in the film, it is dark.
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xi.

Callas, near the top of the tower, stands forth on a balcony. Light blue and with a crown of deer antlers, a rare and valuable prize on the Moon, he surveys the crowded Lunarians below. He grasps a megaphone. The Lunarians are chanting. “Callas Forever! Power to the Great!” He’s nodding . . . swaying even . . . dancing maybe. He brings the megaphone to his lips.

“Lunarians! East Lunarians!” he cries. “With this tower we now control the surface of our satellite. None will dare question our power. Our photon artillery, placed here, can reach into West Lunaria. We can pound our enemies into dust. We! You! I!—as your vehicle. I!—as your humble medium claim all that can be seen from this highest point.”

Callas Forever! Power to the Great!

Callas Forever! Power to the Great!

The noise all cuts out as the red curtain slides closed so quickly it sways back and forth before settling.

Applause is hesitant and scattered.

 

xii.

“Is this what you’d thought it’d be?” asks Ruby Martin, her legs crossed, her silky evening gown clinging to her legs. She hugs her mink stole tightly over her goosefleshed shoulders.

“More or less,” replies bored Edgar Hill, biting down on his cigarette holder, the smoke rising up to the rafters.

 

xiii.

30 October 1929—Sheila told me the most amazing thing today. She said she couldn’t stand all the pieces of the Arguscope being out on the balcony because it was going to rain and she was worried they’d all get ruined. It’s raining now. Pouring, actually, and the Arguscope parts are all laid out on the counter and coffee table again, but she doesn’t seem to mind. I’m writing this by candlelight in the living room. Sheila’s on the couch reading The Bishop Murder Case. She says it’s about some fella who got shot with an arrow and the arrow has a note that reads “Who Killed Cock Robin?” I said, “Okay, it was me, Sheila, I confess,” and we laughed for a long time about that one.

31 October 1929—I guess it’s technically Halloween. It’s four, but I think I did it. Dear diary, I did it! Dear, dear beautiful cat’s meow diary, I did it! The Arguscope, as God is my witness, is complete! Damn this rain! I’m going to wake up Sheila. She’s sleeping with her book folded over her chest, her glasses down at the end of her nose. She’s going to kill me but I can’t help it! I. Did. It.

 

xiv.
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xv.

A bird tweets as the song ends. 

“Vera!” Sheila says. “A bird.”

“Yes, a bird. So what it’s a—oh my word! It’s a bird!”

The far end of the stage is lit in blues and oranges.

“The Sun will be up any minute, Vera. Quick, let’s look at the Moon with your contraption.”

“Sheila, the Moon set hours ago.”

“The Moon sets?”

A small laugh bubbles up from the audience as Vera rolls her eyes.

“Well, what can we see?” Sheila asks.

“Venus, my dear. The evening star. It sticks around sometimes until the morning.”

“In that case, point your telescope!”

“It’s an Arguscope!” Vera cries. Another laugh surfaces. From the wings, the tuxedo-clad stage manager Mr. Williams gazes out into the darkened audience, and at his actors glowing in the spotlight’s beam. He looks behind him and smile-shrugs at someone unseen.

Vera helps hold the Arguscope to Sheila’s shoulder, and she peers into it.

“Dear lord, Vera, this is Venus?”

“It should be.”

“I think you should have a look.”

They shuffle positions and now Vera’s eye is against the eyepiece while Sheila steadies the bulky mass.

“Oh my,” is all Vera can muster. “It appears to be a very amorous planet.”

The crowd chuckles knowingly.

“Very amorous indeed,” Sheila says. “Might I have another look?”

The crowd guffaws as the lights cut out.

 

xvi.

Now, New York University’s Celebratory Astronomers Society’s Annual Halloween Masquerade Ball.

The members had planned to each dress as one of the nine planets. Dieter Boeck dressed as Mercury with golden winged slippers and a golden winged helmet he’d made in part by breaking the spike from his older cousin’s Pickelhaube. Stocky Frank Cunningham dressed as a martial Mars painted red from head to toe and Arthur Clarence clutched a trident as Neptune. From there the theme mostly died, with the partygoers dressing instead as clowns and devils and even one member in a giant donkey head, shaking his over-large muzzle from side to side in time with the music.

 

xvii.

31 October 1929—Oh, Diary! I forgot all about the stupid Masquerade Party. I don’t have a costume. We’re supposed to dress like one of the planets and they thought I should go as Earth because I’m a woman and Earth is a mother. Really now, how stupid is that? I’m in a cab now, on my way to the observatory. I’ll tell them I don’t have a costume and that I was up most of the night and that the Arguscope works. It’s here on my lap. The cab driver gave it quite the once-over. He told me he thought it was a mace made from a bassoon. I told him he was right.

 

xviii.

The women dress as mermaids, fairies, another clown, a Greek goddess in a toga. Most are young co-eds, except Mrs. Newell, whose silvery hair fits perfectly under her pointed witch’s hat. They waltz with their male counterparts.

Mrs. Newell of course dances with Dr. Newell, who’s dressed as a satyr. The long-necked French exchange student Cossette Moreau dances with Arthur Clarence. Evelyn Roe’s blue wings flap as she flutters about with Frank Cunningham across the ballroom—which is the observatory’s main level repurposed. Spiderwebs hang all about and floating ghosts and black cauldrons, suspended from the ceiling, sway back and forth. A string quartet in tuxedos stands on the far side near the mustachioed statute of Tycho Brahe.
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When Vera enters, the song has just ended, and her fellow astronomers notice she isn’t wearing a costume and laugh. “Why, Vera, dear,” calls Arthur Clarence to the chuckles of his friends, “have you dressed as an annoying lady astronomer?” A fat fellow by the name of Edward Edwards, dressed as a clown with an over-made red sad frown, says, “I think she’s Davy Crockett with her long-barrel rifle.” His date swats at him playfully.

“Dear girl!” Mrs. Newell says, rushing forward, her black cape flowing behind her. “Did no one tell you it was a masquerade ball?”

“I—” Vera says and stumbles. “I did know, but I quite forgot. I’ve made rather an important discovery today.”

“Of course you did, my dear, dear girl! But we must get you changed into something more appropriate.” The witch seizes her arm tightly and drags her toward the door. “Come with me.”

“Mrs. Newell!” Vera cries in protest as she’s carried off.

 

xix.

From Vera Viora’s 1952 memoir, How I Discovered the Moon. (Not to be confused with her lunar history from 1961, The Moon Before the Apocalypse.):

I’m not sure what to say about that moment in the women’s toilet. Mrs. Newell disrobed me so quickly and efficiently that I hadn’t even time to protest before I was in my undergarments. Almost immediately, she was re-clothing me in witch’s robes. I thought then she was half-maternal, half-hateful and meant half to help me and half to humiliate me—knowing full well the percentages didn’t add up to one hundred.

 

xx.

No one wants to dance with Vera. This doesn’t seem to bother her and it isn’t long before she’s mounting the stairs upward, which, in the stage set, wrap up and around the dancing mess below to a second-story landing outside. Here a telescope sits, positioned on a curved stone wall. Stars twinkle all around. Vera replaces the telescope with the Arguscope and the telescope rolls away and lands out of sight with a clatter. Vera puts her eye to the eyepiece.

With a brief but audible squeak, the large yellow Moon rises into sight. A West Lunarian girl’s blonde curls fan out across the green cushion propped against it. Like all Lunarians, she’s a light blue color. Streaks of makeup in broad white swathes swell all around her eyes.

The ballroom down below has gone dark. The shooting star dancers from the opening chorus reappear in that space, lit up by lights they carry. Vera sings, “The Man in the Moon is a Lady.”

This is the scene in which Mame famously fell from the rafters and ruined the only other performance of this show. Mr. Williams watches from the wings with bated breath, but the actress here makes no such mistake and the curtain drops on the first act to a mix of applause and murmuring.

 

xxi.

As the lights go up, some—maybe many—head for the exit, flipping on their floor-length fur coats and mink wraps. A row breaks out in the seats nearest the stage where, veins visible on his neck and forehead, a salt-and-pepper-haired older man is crying out at a departing younger couple. The substance of his tirade seems to be the amount he paid for the seats. Those seated nearby assume his rage is rooted in recent stock market losses and that the money spent to come here is suddenly much more valuable than it was in the past. They try to busy themselves with their playbills and are interested to learn the name of the West Lunarian Vera Viora spotted is Tabitha.

 

xxii.

Importantly, almost every assumption Vera makes in her song is incorrect. It’s true that Tabitha has lovely blonde curls, but while there is a vibrant red color to her mouth, she’s not wearing lipstick. Rather it’s blood. She has no bed of green cheese. She’s laying back in the bow of a boat moving quickly across the Sea of Tranquility. What Vera’s seeing is the mossy hue of the water framing her curls. Tabitha’s head faces upward; she does seem peaceful, but it’s only because she’s sleeping.

It’s been now twelve hours since the completion of the tower and the quelling of the riots that followed. The tower doors opened and the Moon King Guard spilled out into the streets, jagged spears in hand. They wore bristly, bird-like helmets and armored shirts that looked like carved ribs. The people greeted them with thrown rocks and the guards charged in. Tabitha was struck during the skirmish, her nose and lip bloodied. Undeterred, she climbed to the top of a nearby fire press and shouted in defiance. The mob rallied around her. It took three separate spear charges for the MKG to dislodge them and route them back through the city streets.

 

xxiii.

This is then how the second act begins. The lights die at the same moment as the orchestra strikes up a forte diminished chord, drowning out the still-raging shouting matches in the audience. Two more chords follow: each struck and sustained, lingering like smoke. Underneath, a minor key arpeggio, quiet and pretty. The screen again lowers from the ceiling. From the seats, no one can see Tabitha reclined in the boat, so instead it’s projected. Something flies upward and its shadow slides across Tabitha’s face and there’s still shouting for a moment before it quiets with a few more barks. The film isn’t in sync with the live music—the technology doesn’t exist for such a thing. But they’re close, and the effect is disquieting as Tabitha sings. On the stage, the boat is highlighted in a spotlight and wispy smoke rises all around it. Tabitha’s blonde curls spill over the side. Blue Lunarians with handkerchiefs tied over the lower parts of their faces row.
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xxiv.

From How I Discovered the Moon:

In November, I was able to sketch barebone maps of East and West Lunaria and some of the great Sea of Tranquility, but I couldn’t seem to find any trace of the girl with blonde curls.

I spent most of my time trying to patent the Arguscope, which involved a great deal of diagrams and documentation and back-and-forths with the U.S. Patent Office. At one point, the well-meaning bald-headed clerk suggested things might go faster if my husband submitted the request. I’ve had several offers of help as well from a fellow society member whom I won’t name—though I will say he now occupies a prestigious position in an Ivy League school’s astronomy department. I was suspicious of his aid. In my most paranoid moments, I suspected he intended to steal the Arguscope altogether. I always hate to ascribe bad intentions unfairly, but this person became quite hostile when I politely refused his assistance. “You’re mad!” he told me. “You’re not a scientist,” he said. “You’re a madwoman parading in a scientist’s garb.” I remember laughing, which only made him angrier.

 

xxv.

Vera is alone on stage with the Arguscope when Frank Cunningham enters. He sings a dapper tune called, “I Would Patent That.”
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He spins around the stage, lands on one knee, dances with her before she pulls away. Her only line in the song: “I thank you, sir, but I think I can manage.”

 

xxvi.

A quick run of four powerful chords as the lights come up in Dr. Newell’s office and Frank Cunningham comes barreling in.

[image: Picture]


Dr. Newell remains seated at his desk. He drops his pen and removes his glasses and rubs his eyes. He replaces them and brings the tips of his fingers together by the bridge of his nose, his gray beard fluffing out beneath his palms. He sings in recitative, “What proof do you have to offer of this serious charge? She’s different, of course. Offbeat? No doubt? But mad?”

He gets up from his desk. The music starts up again, but now the tempo has slowed to a light and evenly measured andante.
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Just then, the same four chords that ignited this number sound again. Lights sweep up to the upper story of the stage. There, the Moon King, Callas, sits atop a twisted black throne. Flanking him on either side are MKG standing at attention, holding their tridents erect. A robed figure stands near the throne, partially bowing.

She’s mad! he cries.

Who’s mad? the robed figure asks.

 

xxvii.

2 December 1929—Dear diary, I have an awful feeling I can’t quite shake. Like most reactions, it was two things combined. Already shops are closed. I counted four, including Mr. Meyer’s jewelry store. I remember last year it was a solid wall of red and green and yellow lights and some of them were blinking and there’d be lit-up Santas and nutcrackers and little mechanical soldiers waving. This year, the street is pocked with darkness. Like little separate eclipses.

But as I stood there gaping, a group of carolers, maybe a dozen, passed me by. Each carried a candle up close to his or her face. The bridges of their noses, the brightness of their eyes shone in the yellow glow. They each smiled at me, but they were singing, “What Child Is This?” and, oh, dear diary, it gives me such a strange feeling that melody. And you know better than anyone that I don’t believe in any of that. Still—I can’t quite describe it. The closest I can come is being both happy and sad at the same time like when I remember my grandmother before she died and the memory is so warm, but of course she’s gone. I don’t know enough about music to know why. I’d always wanted to figure it out exactly.

2 December 1929 (continued)—Dear diary, I’m sorry about before. I got off track. That isn’t even what I meant to write about, my dear friend. Of course, the shops are closed because of the market crash, and I know everyone says they’ll be open again soon. It’s just that it was awful quick and the dark blotches really make it all stand out. But that wasn’t even it either. It was the men. Two of them, to be precise. They were older and one wore very thick-rimmed glasses while the other was tall and had almost no chin at all. They followed me into Gimbel’s and up to the perfume counter and stood around pretending to sample different fragrances while I bought the hair mist my mother likes. Two different salesgirls offered them help, but these men brushed them away each time. When I left, they left and without buying anything, and by now I was really starting to get scared. I quickened my steps and behind me I heard their steps quicken as well. I only lost them because I ducked into the ladies’ restroom. A half-dozen or so tourists from Kansas were standing by the sinks with a huge burden of shopping bags. I huddled with them when they left. I didn’t see the men anymore, but still stayed close to my new tourist friends until I was right by the door, then slipped out. It had started to snow. I can’t think of any reason anyone would want to follow me, but it all makes me very anxious and I’m finding it hard to sleep.

 

xxviii.

In the audience is the recently promoted Major-General J.F.C. Fuller, the bald front portion of his head reflecting the stage lights. A thin mustache brushes the top of his lips; he wears his dress uniform. He is now three years from the retirement he’s already contemplating, and the outlines of his three-volume master work, A Military History of the Western World, blanket his desk at home and run always through his mind. Tonight is the first time he’s considered writing about the Moon.

 

xxix.

From A Military History of the Moon (1964), by the military historian Major-General J.F.C. Fuller:

Under the surface of the Moon existed still a large network of tunnels dug by an ancient race known as the Selenites. Little is known of these mysterious creatures or their society beyond the underground honeycombs they’d left behind. Complex art decorated the dark walls in many places, depicting some form of lunar cattle, a race of bald and pencil-thin humanoids often bowing before a large figure in black robes and a black hood. The cave drawings shift in flickering light, creating an illusion of animation.

A particularly dense series of tunnels worm their way beneath the islands on the north end of the Sea of Tranquility. Tabitha and the West Lunarian rebels occupied this spot upon their retreat from the Tower of East Lunaria. 

The Moon King’s Guard, known as the MKG, hunted for them all across the Sea of Tranquility.

 

xxx.

Blue lights come up and mix with fog covering the stage to create a facsimile sea. The MKG, their spears up against their shoulders, crowd a rowboat and row by. Their armor and strange helmets glint in the watery light. First one boat passes, then another, then another.

 

xxxi.

In the audience, to Major-General Fuller’s right, sits the eccentric occultist and mystic, and some say Satanist, Aleister Crowley. Like his friend, he’s bald but, unlike his friend, his face is round and pudgy. He wipes sweat from the top of his head with a handkerchief as large dark bags pool under his eyes. In his symbol-patterned black cloak, he strikes a fair contrast with the clean edges of Fuller’s uniform.

It’s unusual for a man of Fuller’s background, who’s written extensively on the cold logic of military tactics, to exhibit such a keen interest in the occult. He was an early member of Crowley’s secret society until they publicly broke in 1913, when Fuller found himself distressed by Crowley’s eagerly confessed bisexuality. Yet here they are.

 

xxxii.

15 December 1930—Dear diary, I encountered the same two men again! It was as I was leaving the Astronomers Society building. It was evening. I’d been working with the Arguscope on the upper level. I’d spotted a very strange and beautiful light. Oh diary! Please, I must first document the light. It radiated outward in wide concentric circles. Its color was a very marked pink color. This on some islands in the green sea. A number of Moon creatures seemed to crowd around afterward in some sort of battle. Diary, I wish there was a way to document the color. Anyway, this was on my mind as I walked and really it’s all I wanted to think about.

When I saw these two goons, I didn’t know quite what to think, and when I heard their footsteps behind me, I whirled on them. I don’t remember my words exactly, because I was burned up. But they told me not to ask, they were on official business of the New York Psychiatric Ward and did I really believe I could see people on the Moon? This made me even angrier, and I stamped my foot. . . .

 

xxxiii.

From A Military History of the Moon:

In their explorations, the rebels had discovered multiple entrances and exits to each tunnel, which allowed them to rig photon explosives in the depths and flee before they were detonated by the advancing MKG. Photon explosives explode outward in concentric circles of pulsing light, usually neon pink or green, and emitting a high-pitched whine. They disintegrate all in their path except the solid rock of the moon’s base. An estimated forty or more of the one-hundred-and-fifty-strong MKG force are thought to have been lost in photon blasts.

The surviving guards were routed, but found their exits blocked by rebels with sharpened knives and stolen spears. Fierce and bloody hand-to-hand fighting broke out between the two sides, with Tunnel Entrance 7 and Bloody Mouth (Tunnel Entrance 13) seeing the highest numbers of killed and wounded.

The MKG were able to force their way out of the tunnels and drive the rebels from their base. The rebels fled back across the water. The Battle of the Sea of Tranquility is officially an East Lunarian victory, but the cost was very high.

 

xxxiv.

The lights representing the photon blasts shine all over the stage. Then the boats come back the other way, this time loaded with rebels. “We should not have blocked the exits,” an old Lunarian is saying. “We could have waited a few islands away and just taken our base back when they retreated.”

Tabitha doesn’t look up, doesn’t look at him, but her organs are visible through her skin.

 

xxxv.

Lights up on an outdoor scene, a Manhattan city street. The fog from the boats still lingers on the stage and stagehands dressed in black rush past holding blankets trying to sweep it away.

Two men from the New York Psychiatric Ward are following Vera as she leaves the Astronomers Society. She’s deep in thought. Then suddenly she turns. “Who are you?” she demands.

“Don’t bother with us,” the first one says.

“That’s right,” says the second. “We’re on official business with the New York Psychiatric Ward.”

“And what on Earth does that have to do with me?” Vera asks.

“On Earth?” says the first man as the music starts up. “Nothing on Earth.”

The two men sing in harmony. It’s a waltz in one.
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Vera objects.
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She jabs her finger in their faces and they back away a step for each step she takes forward. The musical break is a strange sort of waltz between the three—with no one touching but still following the steps.
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But the song ends with the two men grabbing Vera and pulling her from the stage.

 

xxxvi.

The stage lights crosscut to the scaffolding. Tabitha and two other Lunarians are climbing it. Two Wheezes wait atop the uppermost level. They sit lotus-style, their curly gray mops shrouding their faces. They levitate—it’s not clear how they’re doing this, and quiet astonishment ripples through the audience. Behind them is the Moon’s rocky surface.

“Why have you come?” they ask together when the Lunarians reach the top. They’re not singing, but their voices hover in some sort of parallel harmony.
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Tabitha swallows. She looks at her companions, then back at the Wheezes. “My name is Tabitha. These are my friends, Gibbs and Herbert. We come from West Lunaria, and we come to ask your help.”

“Your war does not involve us,” the voices intone.

“But it does!” Tabitha says. “It involves everyone on this satellite. What do you think it will be like with Callas in that tower? What kind of freedom do you think you’ll have? He can strike at anyone at any time. Even you. His photon cannons can reach us even here.”

The Wheezes are quiet. The Lunarians are quiet. Music starts, a sustained low note. When the Wheezes sing, they sing in a manner similar to how they talk, in a parallel harmony.

As they sing, a collection of poorly clothed youths slowly joins the Wheezes onstage; as they do, they chime in as a background chorus, filling out the chords with hums.

At the song’s end, Tabitha looks at the children. “Were you kidnapped from Earth?” she says.

“Not kidnapped,” a girl answers.

“We’re the ones no one wanted,” a boy says.

 

xxxvii.

25 March 1930 - I’m sorry to say you’re not my diary. Now, you seem like a perfectly nice pad of paper so I’m sorry if that sounds cruel. I am glad to know you and be able to record some of what I’m thinking. It’s just that—well, I want to be truthful and not lead you on.

If it’s inconvenient to have me writing in you, I can say at least then I don’t know how many times I’ll do it. Every day is the same here. I feel this odd mix of trembling anxiety and boredom that’s difficult to describe. Maybe each day I’ll try? I don’t want to bore you, dear notepad.

I’m not crazy and I don’t think anyone seriously thinks I am. They want me to disappear and they found a way—for now at least. I wonder where the Arguscope is. That’s what frightens me the most, notepad. That someone’s taken or . . . done things . . . to my beautiful Arguscope. It frightens me second-most that I might be in here for a very long time. When I wake up in the middle of the night sometimes I scream at the thought that I’ll never leave, that they’ll keep me here forever. When I do, the nice lady who thinks she’s Marie Antoinette comforts me, and, notepad, her voice is so sweet and she tells me in her French accent, “Both of us are going to keep our heads, mademoiselle. You watch and see. We’re both going to keep our heads.” She sings “Au clair de la lune” to me very softly and very slowly and I giggle, wondering if that tune is even as old as the French Revolution, but it eases my mind and I go to sleep.

 

xxxviii.

Up on the catwalk, Tabitha sits cross-legged beside the Wheezes. The Wheezes recite words in a strange language and Tabitha repeats them. The language sounds like differently pitched gravelly neighs.

Lights come up on the main part of the stage. Vera sits at a table in the asylum’s common room. Next to her is a woman in a full Marie Antoinette costume. They’re playing cards. Other patients meander around them, some muttering, some purposeful. Some sit reading; some write letters.

Vera deals the cards and her dealing has a slow, constant rhythm. A piccolo begins to double it. Then Marie Antoinette starts to sing lightly to the same beat. Vera cocks an eyebrow, then joins her.
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From downstage, a woman dressed as Cleopatra sits at a different table playing solitaire, her severe bangs quivering under her gold crown. Her cards make the same percussive sound before she sings her own part.
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The music cuts out and we only hear Tabitha and the Wheezes above . . . call and repeat . . . call and repeat . . . then suddenly—the whole orchestra is in and everyone is up dancing.

 

xxxix.

The stage manager, Mr. Williams, was known to be generally uncomfortable with the sexual nature of the dancing in “Pipes”—especially the later interlude, when Mata Hari’s hips pulse erotically to an alto sax. The actor playing Callas and the actor playing Tabitha both stand in the wings beside him, laughing as he rubs his mustache uncomfortably.

 

xl. 

From A Military History of the Moon:

It is difficult indeed to argue any singular event was more consequential in the Lunarian Civil War then the full recruitment of the Rockhorses to the West Lunarian movement—an event that can be fully traced to Tabitha’s learning of the Rockhorse language in the sixth Earth month of the conflict. Until then, Rockhorses had generally maintained a largely neutral disposition in any kind of Lunarian conflict.

Tabitha held a series of three summits over a period of two earth weeks, and by late March, a joint force of West Lunarians armed with stolen shock spears and West Lunarians mounted on Rockhorses departed for the Tower. A small number of Wheezes accompanied the irregular contingent, but they played a critical role.

 

xli. 

From How I Discovered the Moon:

Anyone who claims to have witnessed the Last Battle through the Arguscope should look up March 29, 1930, in the almanac. It was a new moon.

 

xlii. 

Mrs. Newell enters Dr. Newell’s office. She’s dressed all in black, a black fur coat and a black fur hat with black feathers. But the coat is open and underneath she wears a slinky silver dress, hugging tightly to her generous curves.

“Robert.”

“Yes, dear,” he says absentmindedly. He’s writing and doesn’t look up.

“Robert, how could you?”

He pauses writing and looks up. He pushes his glasses up his nose. “How could I what?”

“Vera Viora.” 

“What about her?”

“She’s been committed?”

“So I’ve heard.”

“So you’ve heard! Robert, your signature is on the committal statement.”

Dr. Newell places his pen down. “Dear, the woman is delusional. What was I to do? She claims to be able to see people on the Moon.”

Mrs. Newell’s head flies back in exasperation. “And has anyone checked to see if she’s telling the truth?”

He takes his glasses off, rubs his eyes. “Dear, it is not our job to pursue ideas of little merit when there are so many legitimate—”

Mrs. Newell leans forward and slaps her hands down on the desk. “Enough! You know as well as I this girl is not mad.”

“I—”

“But you shall soon see me mad—madder than you’ve ever seen before if this horrible wrong isn’t righted.”

 

xliii. 

The screen lowers again, and the projector starts up again with a whir. The black and white Moon’s surface reappears. Again, the camera pushes forward across the landscape. This time, however, we are in a mob of Lunarians. Rockhorses plow across the surface, leaving a wake of gravel and turned stones. Some soar through the air, lit from behind by the stars in the dark night. The Narrator reappears on the stage and boldly announces, “With the Rockhorses’ loyalties no longer divided, the rebels marched again on the tower.”

We see them raise their shock spears, like pitchforks from an Earthly mob, and many hold glowing light orbs aloft like torches. Here and there, Wheezes float, gray and glowing, interspersed among the Lunarians. Fanfare rings throughout their triumphant march.
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“Callas,” cries the Narrator, “ordered his men to fire their photon cannon upon the swelling crowd.”

In the distance, concentric circles in pinks and neon greens float up from the tower—the only color in the film. The circles spread outward in size, rise up into the starry sky, then plummet downward toward the marchers. But before they land, black ink clouds waft up from the fingertips of the Wheezes, blot out the stars, and swallow up the blasts. The colors smear upward, like smoke, and rise harmlessly out of sight.

 

xliv. 

23 April 1930—Oh dear diary. You mustn’t be mad at me. I’ve dreamed of writing in you every day and if I had you with me, I never would have written in the notepad. I am so glad to be here, dear diary. I can’t thank Mrs. Newell enough. I honestly feel bad for Dr. Newell. I wouldn’t want to face her anger.

And, oh yes, I got the Arguscope back! You should have seen me, diary, when I got home and saw Sheila again. We hugged and we both bawled, and then we laughed because we were both crying. I said, “Sheila, I don’t suppose you were able to keep the Arguscope out of their hands.”

She shrugged and gave me this coy smile and said, “No, I wasn’t able to.”

I told her it was okay. I understood.

Then she said, “But I was able to save this hat rack.”

Diary, there it was! My beautiful life’s work, stood up on its end and decorated with Sheila’s bonnets. I started laughing so hard and then the tears came again and I was crying and then I was laughing again.

 

xlv. 

From A Military History of the Moon:

Removed from power, Callas fled with a small number of loyalists to the Selenite caves. Tabitha hunted for him, but was never able to find him. His followers secretly scavenged scrap metal and circuitry. Over time, he assembled a makeshift laboratory and worked tirelessly on a horrible weapon.

 

xlvi. 

Rows and rows of giant mainframe computers line the dusty cave walls. Green lights streak across their screens. Two other East Lunarians work with him, inserting punch cards from large piles. The lights are low in the theater and in the front row, just above his elaborate mustache, a younger gentleman’s pince-nez shines with the computer’s readout.

“The Death Particle,” Callas says to no one in particular, “will be a photon blast so large and so powerful, it will blow everything on this satellite to dust. Every structure, every being, even the water. Dust.”

The man with the pince-nez is visibly shocked as the lights cut. The seat next to him is empty. His fiancée has left.

 

xlvii. 

The fanfare rings out again. The lights come up on Vera center stage, peering through the Arguscope, looking up into the night sky. The film screen drops one last time and the hum of the projector starts up. Tabitha sits in the high tower, Callas’ deer antler crown perched atop her head. She has her own telescope, and she’s scanning the sky.

The fire-capped dancers from the show’s beginning reappear, flanking Vera and working their way up the scaffolding, reprising “The Chorus of the Shooting Stars.”

Tabitha’s telescope sweeps back and forth until at last her large magnified eye locks in on Vera and the audience behind her. The audience gasps.

 

xlviii. 

Maybe a third of the audience remains, but those who do applaud. Some stand and pound their hands madly, even shouting cheers. Others remain seated.

The actors appear. The Shooting Stars, then the astronomers and the Moon guards. With each group, the clapping intensifies like sudden rain, then slows until the next. Cleopatra and Marie Antoinette. Frank Cunningham. Dr. and Mrs. Newell together.

Callas and Tabitha follow. Vera comes out last, and the applause is loudest for her. They all join hands in a long line before bowing. Once, now again. They smile at each other and bow a final time before leaving the stage. The red curtain sweeps back into place. The great golden chandelier slowly illuminates.
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On Oliver’s last day in Clarkesville, he took his balloon, Hildegard P. Eveready, up into a thick bank of clouds chasing a plump, white cumulus with the crispest borders he’d seen. He shivered, though not from the sharp-edged wind that blew through the basket.

Beside him, thick tubes of hydrostatic paint rolled side to side in their case as if trembling with the same anticipation. Next to them, his five best brushes sat upright like a quiver of arrows, black tufts tasting the sky.

Feeling his way through the wind currents and drifting wisps of vapor, he brought the balloon slowly downward, controlling its altitude and attitude with the complex series of rudders and counterweights until he hung before the vaporous surface.

The cloud’s mist brushed his lips with the flavor of rain. Oliver reached for one of the tubes and his mop brush, gripping them with gloved hands, the finger cutouts allowing him to feel the different textures—hard wood; soft, pliant metal. He unscrewed the cap with his teeth, dropping it to the bottom of the basket. He was racing time now, his tools in hand, and a frenetic energy suffused him, coursing like a second heartbeat.

He squeezed out the paint, light and spongy like soft foam, onto his palette. He dabbed some on the brush and began to trace the outer curves of the cloud. The brush passed through, leaving the hydrostatic paint clinging to the water molecules, edging the cloud in bright cyan.

Oliver moved quickly, letting his mind align with his body, allowing the painting to emerge without the distractions of his conscious mind. Time was short, and he had much cloud to cover.

Still, thoughts of Laura Cartwright and her dimpled smile dogged him. He’d always painted alone, and Aunt Rosalie had taught him that was the life, but he’d asked Laura to come up with him, thinking to open a door long sealed shut.

“Tomorrow?” she’d said, her hand still in his. “It’s Sunday tomorrow. Church. Where you should be.”

“But the clouds,” Oliver said. “They’ll be perfect.”

Laura pulled her hand away. “You love the clouds so, but what about who made them? What about your soul?”

He’d wanted to say painting was his soul, but knew she wouldn’t understand. Reverend Ives’ congregation provided a community for the small black population of Clarkesville—and he’d hoped it could be his home—but he’d never fully found his footing. Maybe because he was all too often off the ground.

Laura’s father had offered to teach Oliver his trade, working the railroad. Mr. Cartwright’s hands were gnarled and calloused, not a painter’s hands, but it was an honest profession, and in that modern year of 1908 it seemed a more secure vocation than cloud painting. A future had begun to take shape, he and Laura married, a nice house with a porch and a chicken coop out back, a steady job and a family. No more scraping by, no more having to choose between a full belly and a new tube of paint. A happy, normal life, staked and tied to the ground.

The vision of that future had begun to coalesce, but there was no color in it, no life. He couldn’t paint that picture. Not yet, at least. Not like he could the god that floated before him.

He pulled the balloon back to take in the whole of his creation. Formed of colored cloud, elephant-headed Ganesh looked out at the world around him, lord of all he surveyed. His four arms moved as the wind tumbled the cloud, his feet danced.

Ganesh winked at Oliver, compelled by the questing breeze, and Oliver looked down, hoping for other witnesses to his creation. But the fields below were empty.

He didn’t paint for the attention; it wasn’t that. But if one other person saw it, it would gain a life of its own, a life that transcended him. And all artists played at creating life, didn’t they?

Church bells rang below. He imagined Laura and the congregation kneeling, eyes down, imagining Hell below them, while Oliver floated in the sky, looking up at a colorful god.

A wind gust massaged Ganesh’s smiling form, and his trunk waved eastward. Oliver gripped the basket’s edge. The Lord of Beginnings was pointing east.

He had plenty of fuel. His belongings, what little there were, were still at Mrs. Horsley’s boarding house, but he could wire at the next town and have his steamer trunk sent ahead.

But Laura. His heart still fluttered like a flag in the wind when they held hands. Her father had already arranged for him to spend a day with the railroad crew. The Cartwrights cared for him, wanted to help him. Could he really throw that away?

And yet. Whether surrounded by Reverend Ives’ congregation, or sitting with Laura, holding her hand, or eating ham hocks and black-eyed peas with her family, he still couldn’t shake his loneliness. He was never fully part of their world. Aunt Rosalie had warned him, but of course he hadn’t comprehended it at the time.

He’d thought the decision made. The day’s painting was supposed to be the start of his transition, shared with Laura, a goodbye of sorts. Not forever—never that—but an end to cloud painting being what defined him. Now, though . . .

Oliver opened the burner and raised Hildy to where the west wind would push him eastward.

Ganesh waved at him as he went.

Oliver didn’t see the cloud dispersed by the wind, or the resulting azure halo that hovered over Clarkesville for hours.

He also didn’t see, two days later, when the rain in Barrington, some 120 miles away, deposited a sheen on the town lake in pinks and yellows and blues, an apparition some said resembled a lotus floating atop the water’s surface.

In Ohio, Oliver painted a rabbit emerging from its burrow beneath a bright sun. Afterward, he noticed some supplies were running low. While replenishing them, he met an Indian named Francis with two gray braids and three stained teeth. “A cloud painter, eh?”

“You know of us?”

Francis nodded. “I’m a stone painter. We’re cousins of a sort. Stone painters, cloud painters, and the others.”

“Others?”

“Oh, sure. The lake painters who slide colored oils across the surface of the water. The fire artists who use special powders to color fire. And the wave painters.” He shook his head. “Can you imagine riding a wave and painting it at the same time?” Oliver was skeptical but liked thinking he was part of a larger “family.”

Back at his camp, he warmed himself before the fire, spooning beans from a can, feeling his loneliness beside him, a figure of emptiness formed from the dark. He thought of Laura, the warmth of her hand in his, the light of her smile. But he wasn’t ready to turn back. Not yet. He shivered and moved closer to the fire.

The next day he sought out Francis, to ask more about the other painters, but the Indian was gone, moved west to ply his trade.

Oliver didn’t see the waterfall in northern Virginia several days later where the normally white water blushed brightly with color many said resembled cavorting fish dancing down the rocky slope. They splashed into the waiting pool below leaving colored flowers in their wake.

Oliver continued east, to the coast, still unsure what he was looking for. He stood in Hildegard’s basket on a cliff overlooking the beach, heart pounding as he stared out over the waves. He inhaled the salt spray. Vast, he thought. Inviting.

After securing Hildy, he visited a market near the docks to replenish his food. He was down to his last few dollars and would need to find work soon. He bought some apples, fresh preserves, and a loaf of dark, dry bread.

As he completed his business, he noticed a man watching him. He was in his forties, with a thoughtful, lined face, wearing a thick sweater beneath a well-worn raincoat.

“Can I help you?” Oliver asked.

“Tch. Sorry,” the man said. “Forgive me. But . . . are you a cloud painter?” His voice was accented, Spanish maybe.

“Yes. How—”

“I knew it!” The man clapped his hands together, a great grin on his face. He stepped closer to Oliver, very close, and put a meaty, calloused hand on his arm. “I saw you, in your aerostato, your balloon.” Up close, he smelled of old sweat and machine oil, though not in an unpleasant way. Oliver amended his previous guess from Spanish to Italian.

“When I was a bambino, my father,” he made the sign of the cross, “took me to see one such as you. I remember it clear as day. The colors . . .” He gestured with both hands to indicate something startling, or maybe explosive. “Magnifico.” 

“I’m glad you enjoyed it,” Oliver said, not sure how else to respond.

“Ah, sorry. I am rude. My name is Bernardo Vitelli. I am captain of the steamship, Il Gabbiano.” 

“Oliver. Where are you bound for?”

“A Coruña, Spain.”

Oliver turned wistful, imagining far-off Spain and the lands beyond.

Bernardo seemed to notice, a gleam entering his eyes. “You wish to travel, no?” 

“Sure,” Oliver said. “But my balloon can’t cross the Atlantic.”

“No.” He winked at Oliver. “Not without help, eh? My help.”

“I’m sorry?”

“Semplice.” Bernardo opened his arms wide, palms out. “You come with us.”

“On your ship?”

Bernardo threw a heavy arm around Oliver’s shoulders, his grip strong as he squeezed. “I explain. I have room for you, and your balloon, aboard the ship. In return, you paint for us.”

“On the ship?”

“Si. We have a cable, we connect it to your balloon. You go up and paint.” He mimed painting.

“I don’t know. You’d be moving fast. I don’t think I could paint like that.”

“You misunderstand. They expect us in six days, in Spain.” He held up his fingers to indicate the number. “But I can make the crossing in a little less. We can stop to let you paint, when there are clouds in the sky.”

“But why?”

Bernardo shrugged. “I never forget that day, as a boy.” He shrugged again. “I’d love to see it again. Also, the crew’s been working hard. Many days. It can get . . . difficult. It would be a big help to them. What do you say? You come, no? Batti il ferro finché è caldo.” 

“Sorry?”

“Beat the iron while it’s hot.”

Oliver, still holding his supplies, considered the offer. He’d just met this man, but . . . he couldn’t help picturing himself in the sky above the ship, open sea all around him. Beat the iron while it’s hot indeed.

“Okay. But I’ll need help getting the balloon on board.”

Bernardo clapped his hands together, his smile wide. “Of course! I will handle it.” He squeezed Oliver’s shoulder. “Chi trova un amico, trova un tesoro. He who finds a friend, finds a treasure.”

Oliver nodded.

For three days, Oliver sailed with the Il Gabbiano, sleeping in a berth with other crewmembers, enjoying the sights, sounds, and smells of the ocean. The ship was loud, and not a place of comfort, but his berth was dry, and he pitched in where he could, often in the galley, cutting vegetables or peeling potatoes. Bernardo had warned him of seasickness, but perhaps because of his time aboard Hildy, what unease he felt was only mild.

The ship’s crew, a rough bunch, treated him coldly at first, but after the first day, they softened, helped, most likely, by Bernardo’s seemingly endless proclamations about the upcoming entertainment. The men were from all over the world—hands from Madagascar, India, China, Mozambique, Morocco, and Indonesia. They worked hard, drank hard, and sometimes fought hard, though the captain quickly curtailed the latter.

In the evenings, Oliver ate with Bernardo and they traded stories of their travels. Bernardo had seen much of the world, and Oliver listened, enraptured, thinking his own wanderings meager by comparison. But Bernardo never seemed to tire of asking him where he’d been and, more particularly, what he’d painted. Often Bernardo would wave his hands in the air, as if imagining the paintings in front of him. As much as Oliver marveled at tales of the Egyptian pyramids, the Hagia Sophia, or the Taj Mahal, Bernardo seemed just as engrossed by Oliver’s paintings. Oliver never felt the trade was equitable, but he went to sleep every night feeling full and content.

The morning of the fourth day, he stood on the deck with Bernardo in the early morning, gazing out across the ocean. “Il mattino ha l’oro in bocca,” Bernardo said. “The morning has gold in its mouth.”

The endless waves mesmerized Oliver. “Do you ever get tired of it?”

Bernardo turned to the ship and waved his arm over it. “This? Sometimes.” He turned back to the railing, and the sea beyond. “This?” He shook his head ever so slightly, a smile spreading across his face. “Never.”

They gazed out in silence for a while, then Bernardo looked up. “Aha! I think those clouds will do, no?”

A cluster of fat, white clouds floated overhead, the scouts for a larger cloudbank in the distance. A perfect blank canvas. “They’ll do just fine.”

Because the wind was blowing east, and would pull at the balloon, Bernardo made some adjustments to the ship’s position and decided to keep it moving at a crawl to put less strain on the cable. This was attached to the side of Hildy’s basket with an iron hook.

As the crew assembled on board, Oliver took Hildy up, the length of cable unspooling beneath them.

Below, the white-capped waves tumbled and crashed, while above the clouds hung, thick as smoke, just the greyest side of white.

Oliver loaded his first brush. He’d thought hard about what to paint for the crew of the Il Gabbiano, and over the great curves of cloud he painted Poseidon, the sea god, a brilliant trident of yellow and orange in his hand. Maneuvering the balloon proved challenging with the strong wind and the drag of the cable, but Poseidon began to take shape, majestic and fierce.

But as Oliver began the lower half of Poseidon’s body, a fishtail of aquamarine and jade, the wind intensified, and Hildy began to shudder. Tall waves rocked the ship below, while ahead, the cloudbank moved in, faster than he’d thought possible. The clouds there had darkened, and lightning speared their flanks, branding glowing eels behind his eyelids. He fumbled at Hildy’s controls in an attempt to pull her away, hoping the Il Gabbiano was preparing to reel him in. The cable snapped taut as the wind pulled at the balloon, and the rocking of the ship jerked Hildy back and forth. Oliver tightened the straps on his harness for fear of being thrown out of the basket.

He felt the reassuring pull of the cable as the winch tugged them in. But then the ship tilted, adding slack to the line, and Hildy snapped back violently, yanked by the wind. The ship righted, and the cable straightened, but the waves continued to toss the steamer, sending Hildy and Oliver reeling back and forth. The winch and cable moved with agonizing slowness while the thunderstorm, and its lightning, sped ever closer.

Hildy was about halfway to the ship when another violent jerk ripped the cable, and the securing metal rod, out of Hildy’s basket. The cable rippled into the darkness, and Hildy shot off, as if from a bow, away from the Il Gabbiano. 

Hildegard’s basket rocked and shuddered, and two of Oliver’s brushes went flying from their case. Oliver, bones shaken, teeth chattering from the cold, bent down to secure them.

Then light swallowed the world. Oliver shielded his eyes but was unprepared for the mighty crash that followed. A sound like the world cracking apart. Hildy jerked again, and Oliver slammed into the metal of the control rig. His last thought as he fell into darkness was that he’d aroused Zeus’s jealousy, and for that earned the Thunderbolt.

To his surprise, Oliver awoke in Hildegard’s basket on what felt, miraculously, like solid ground. His head ached, and he gently probed the wound from striking the rig. It was tender, and painful, but there wasn’t much blood.

He next checked his brushes and tubes of paint and gasped with relief at finding them all accounted for. He’d count the wound a worthwhile cost if it had helped him secure his most valuable possessions.

He stood, swaying, as dizziness took hold of him, and looked out at a vast nothingness. No, not nothing, but mist, thick and white.

Only the creaking of Hildy’s basket as he clung to it broke the still and utter silence.

Oliver carefully exited the basket, his boots coming down on gravel, reddish-black in color. He sifted it through his fingers. “Hello?” he called, but there was no reply.

He walked for a minute, hoping for a landmark, but the mist was impenetrable. When he looked back, Hildy was little more than a shadow.

Oliver moved farther, calling out again, but there was still no response. He’d never experienced true silence in his life; he’d always had the roar of the wind, or the waves, or the call of distant birds. But this silence was absolute, and it terrified him.

Minutes passed, and he still couldn’t see beyond the mist, couldn’t hear anything other than his voice. He turned back to Hildy, but she was gone. He walked a straight line back the way he came, but no Hildy, not even after a few minutes. Frantically, he began moving in circles, trying to find the balloon.

But the mist had swallowed her.

Oliver sank to his knees, and if not for the gravel beneath him, he wouldn’t have been sure any of it was real. His head throbbed, and he was suddenly very tired. Tired in his flesh, tired in his bones.

Elusive shapes appeared in the mist. Shadowy figures.

Am I going insane? he wondered.

His head felt heavy, leaden, but he looked up into Laura Cartwright’s dimpled smile.

Oliver gasped. “How?”

“You’d be better off wondering how you got here ’stead of how I did. If you’d stayed with me, you wouldn’t be in this mess. You ever consider you’re alone because you choose to be?”

“I’m sorry.”

She looked down at him, her expression aloof. “Didn’t think you liked being on your knees. You could have been in church, with me, listening to God.”

Oliver hung his head. “I tried, but he never talked to me.”

“Hmph,” Laura said. “Maybe I’m better off. Maybe you’re not as special as I thought.”

“Laura . . .” But when he looked up, she was gone.

“You aren’t special,” a voice said to his left—Franklin, the stone painter, his form faint. “Not as special as the wave painters. Can you imagine? Riding and painting before they’re swallowed by the ocean.” He shook his head. “What are we next to that?”

Oliver shut his eyes, and when he opened them again, Franklin was gone. Only the mist remained, his gravel-dimpled skin the only sign he wasn’t in some strange limbo.

Or was he?

“You’re not,” snapped a whip of a voice with no time for even the faintest hint of nonsense. She appeared in the mist, Stetson hat perched at its usual angle, linen blouse, cream trousers and vest, robin’s egg blue tie. Aunt Rosalie. She pushed her painter’s goggles up over her forehead. “You’re here, Ollie. Alive. You’re just taking a break.” She sighed. “We all need a break every now and again.”

“I’m lost,” he said.

She nodded. “It happens. But you’ll find your way back again. What do I always say?” She nodded again. “Use your brain, but trust your heart.”

“I don’t know what my heart is saying any more, Auntie.” His vision blurred, her image smearing like paint on tumbling clouds.

“You will.” She nodded. “You’ll hear it. And you’ll hear God, too.”

“I will?”

“Ollie, I love you dearly, but you can be as dense as a lead brick. When you’re up in the clouds, when you’re lost in a painting and your fingers and arms and instincts are moving faster than your mind can think? When it feels like you’re not sure if you’re painting the picture or the picture is painting you? That’s when God’s speaking to you. That’s when you’re touching God.”

Oliver nodded, suddenly exhausted, and he closed his eyes, resting his head on the gravel, until he fell into vast, silent darkness.

He awoke some time later, lifting his gravel-imprinted face from the ground. The obscuring mist had cleared, revealing a blue-gray sky. Just ahead, mere feet away, the ground fell away to a rocky cliff hundreds of feet below. If he had wandered a little more in that direction . . .

Hildy was also revealed. Oliver rushed to her, inspecting her in the clear light. His head still felt full of fuzz, but the throbbing had faded to a low hum.

Hildy’s basket wasn’t much damaged beyond the wound the metal hook had left. Her envelope was marvelously intact, with only a few small tears that could be mended with patches and glue. His supplies caused him the most heartache. Though he’d secured the brushes and paints, he’d lost two canisters of fuel, and what was left wouldn’t last long. He was also dangerously low on food and water, as he took his meals on the Il Gabbiano. Only a few mushy apples remained, along with a moldy hunk of bread and the jar of preserves.

The lack of water posed more of a risk. Oliver kept two jugs on Hildy, one for drinking, and one for cleaning brushes, and both were dangerously low. In the absence of rain, he’d run out within a day or two, even with careful rationing. Otherwise he’d have to collect water from clouds, which would eat into his fuel.

The sky ahead was mostly a wide expanse of blue, but behind him loomed a strange, heavy cloud he couldn’t place.

Oliver weighed the canister of fuel in his hand and closed his eyes, letting his experience calculate times and distances without the need for numbers. There might just be enough to spare for a quick look around, to spot nearby settlements or sources of food or fresh water. Something other than mist and gravel.

He patched Hildy’s envelope and restored the rigging for her controls. When everything was ready, Oliver gripped the burner’s valve tightly. It needed to be a short flight. Take Hildy up, look around, come back down again. Get the lay of the land.

Hildy’s envelope filled slowly, but Oliver’s patches held. The basket lifted off the gravel and up into the sky, showing a mountaintop, the ground sloping off in the distance, a mix of reds, blacks, and greys. Only a few thin stands of trees broke up the desolate landscape, with no other signs of life.

Then they cleared the highest horn of the mountain and Oliver stared wide-eyed at the source of the strange, looming cloud.

It wasn’t a mountain at all, but a volcano.

He maneuvered Hildy away from the volcano’s plume to get a better view of the surrounding area. Beneath the graveled peak stretched great furrows of dark rock, the remnants of lava flows. Interspersed with the sparse living trees were dead ones, some standing, some gnarled and uprooted. He spotted no water, no source of food.

He checked his pocketwatch. He’d been up longer than planned. Every second, precious fuel burned away. Cursing, he lowered Hildy to a location farther down the volcano.

He secured her near a stand of dry, dead trees, then wandered, hoping to find something he might have missed from above. He walked a craggy wasteland of porous volcanic rock and dead trees. He fell twice, the sharp rock gashing his arm and bruising his knee. If not for his gloves, he would have ripped his hands to ribbons trying to arrest the falls. When night’s gloom came on, he hurried back to Hildy’s sanctuary.

The next day Oliver descended for hours down the slopes of the volcano until he reached living trees, tall and green, the edge of a forest. The lush vegetation enveloped him and helped salve his desperation. As did the birds that flitted between the trees.

He found a small stream but hesitated before filling his jug. Was it safe? Was it clean? Did he have a choice? He filled the jug, deciding it would be a last resort. He would continue to ration his water until then.

The forest continued for quite a distance, and though it contained life, it wasn’t ideal. He’d hoped to build a signal fire to reach someone, anyone. But the trees would prevent people from seeing such a fire. And the upper slopes were too far—any light would be lost in the mist and clouds or taken for fire from the volcano.

He sketched out a rough map of where he’d traveled, then turned back, early enough that he’d still have light. He’d left markers behind him, splotches of paint to mark his trail, but they’d be lost in the dark.

By the time he reached Hildy, the sun was already setting and the night was coming on cold. He used a thick blanket from Hildy’s basket to make a nest, tucking it around him.

Oliver assessed his options. He didn’t have enough fuel to get far, and there was no telling where the nearest land mass was. There might be people on this island, but it would take days of searching on foot. Hildy would help, but if it was uninhabited he would use up all his fuel in the attempt.

That left the option of a signal fire. He could take Hildy down to the base of the volcano, attempt to build something there, but it was a shot in the dark which location would best be seen by a passing ship.

Through all these deliberations, a thought wormed its way to the fore. A way to make a signal visible on all sides, to the island’s inhabitants, or to a passing ship. But was it foolhardy? Voices in his head told him it wouldn’t work. They sounded like Laura Cartwright and Reverend Ives.

Still the thought persisted that this was a chance to do something that had never been done, a chance to be who he was. Not an explorer or a woodsman. A cloud painter.

He decided to sleep on it, covering the basket with Hildy’s envelope to keep out the worst of the cold, but the buzzing thought interrupted his sleep. By morning, it was bigger, louder, and impossible to ignore.

Above him, the ash cloud billowed from the smoking peak of the volcano, thick and white. A canvas unlike any he’d ever seen or experienced.

Aunt Rosalie, did you ever imagine? He knew the answer was “no,” but he also knew that if anyone would have encouraged him, it would have been her.

He began making preparations to paint the ash cloud.

Oliver knew the ash cloud would differ from the clouds he was familiar with, and he’d have to contend with heat and particles. He needed protection.

He had his goggles, of course, carefully treated to not fog up in vapor, a hat, and a handkerchief to cover his nose and mouth. His hands, as always, would be safe in his gloves.

The true test would be how the cloud moved, how its currents flowed. Aunt Rosalie had taught him each cloud was unique and had a life of its own. To paint a cloud you had to read it, take in its size, speed, composition, and movement. And in no more than an instant or two. Wait too long and the cloud might change shape or disperse. Oliver had trained himself to read rainclouds that way, trusting to instinct and experience. But the ash cloud was uncharted territory, a different species. After years of learning to wrangle house cats, he was attempting to wrangle a lion.

Given enough time, and repeated attempts, he was sure he could do it, but he was constrained by the amount of burner fuel remaining. For this to work, he needed to get it right, immediately.

He paused before firing up the burner. He’d be risking his life. He could choke on fumes, or heated rock particles, or strong winds could blow Hildy into the volcano. So many undesirable ends. But what was the alternative? Starve on the island? Run out of water or be poisoned by what he had left? Even if he eked out some meager survival, what life was left to him here? What life was left without being able to paint clouds?

As Hildy ascended, Oliver wondered if any cloud painter had dreamt of such a thing. He thought again of Aunt Rosalie. She’d been the odd aunt in the family, the one no one really understood. The first time she took Oliver up in her balloon, he saw her brush gliding against a cloud and knew it was what he was meant to do. She showed him how to apply the paints, which brushes to use, how to control the balloon.

Oliver had asked how she’d learned. “My daddy, your grandfather, taught me,” she said, wielding her brush. “He was a slave, you know. Belonged to a white man named Jeremiah Cronus who painted the clouds. Cronus came from a long line of cloud painters and, the way Cronus told it, the first in his family painted clouds in Paris, France, to celebrate the revolution. You know Paris?”

Oliver nodded, though he only knew it from maps, and once from pictures in a book.

“Only the white man got old and frail and his old bones couldn’t handle the brushes and paints, not to mention all the doo-dads in the balloon, the controls.” She waved at the weights, rudders, and pulleys. “So he started taking my father up. Daddy learned how to work the balloon, and eventually how to paint the clouds. Jeremiah taught him all about the brushes and paints, and how the different clouds worked. All to help Jeremiah, of course. He taught Daddy like you’d teach a stablehand, how to care for and saddle your horse, never intending for him to ride.” Rosalie lifted his chin up so she could meet his eyes. “Not master and apprentice, you understand? Master and slave.”

“So did Grandpa paint?”

“I’m getting to that,” Aunt Rosalie said. “One day, because God is good, old Jeremiah Cronus died.”

“How?”

She frowned at him, never stopping her painting. “I don’t know how. He was old. Old people sometimes die. Now pay attention. Jeremiah wasn’t a farmer and only had two slaves—my father, and a woman, Hettie, who took care of the house. With the old man dead, and no living children, the slaves were expected to pass to Jeremiah’s younger brother, who was set to arrive in the morning to inspect the estate.

“Well, your grandpa didn’t intend to be passed around like a bowl of potato salad. The night Jeremiah died, he fetched Hettie and took her to Jeremiah’s balloon. Daddy knew how to get it ready, how to work the burner, everything he needed to fly away. So he did, along with Hettie and all of Jeremiah’s painting supplies.”

Oliver stared at her with wide eyes. “Did he get away?”

“He did. He went north, kept them moving.” She stopped painting for a moment and nodded. “He said that first morning, waking up as a free man, was the brightest dawn he remembered, despite the clouds in the sky. But because there were clouds, he took the balloon up and that very morning, his heart near to bursting, he painted his first cloud. He’d been a slave his whole life, and never had a place that was his own. But he said that morning, he found his home. That morning, he found himself.”

She was silent for a moment and nodded slowly again. Then she resumed her painting.

“He found Hettie a place where she was safe, then traveled, earning his way by painting the clouds. He changed the colors on the balloon so it didn’t look like Jeremiah’s anymore. He traveled the length of this country, from ocean to ocean, though he stayed clear of the South. When the war came, he fought in it, and after that he met your grandma. He slowed down then, to raise a family. He wanted us to grow up with a home of our own. To do that he gave up the traveling life. But I know he sometimes missed it. He used to light up something fierce teaching me the ways. Even when he was older, he came alive every time he was in the sky.”

“Why didn’t Mama learn?” Oliver had never known his mother to touch the brushes. She’d become a teacher instead.

Aunt Rosalie shrugged. “That, I don’t know. Daddy offered to teach her, but she was never much interested.” She shrugged again. “Some people are just born without it in them. And others,” she winked, “are, and just need a chance to let it out.”

“Like me?”

She nodded. “I knew it right away, at least when you were old enough to show the kind of person you were. I knew you’d take to it like a fish to water.”

“Will I get my own balloon?” he asked.

“You better.” She gave him a warning look. “You have the talent, Ollie, you have to use it. Oh, now I’ll help with the balloon, and the brushes. God knows you’ll get what’s left of all of this when I’m gone. But you have to promise me you’ll use it. Not just the brushes and the balloon, but what’s inside of you. It’s important.”

“Why?”

She tilted her head to the side. “Ollie, my father spent most of his life in shackles of one sort or another. My mama, too. Their parents and grandparents, and all of the sisters, brothers, cousins, friends . . . well, they had it worse. I paint the clouds to give shape to their dreams. Their hopes. We owe it to them.”

She looked at him again. “Besides, if you have the power to make people smile, or gasp, or cry, if you can reach inside them and move them in even the smallest way, why wouldn’t you?”

Oliver nodded, thinking that made sense.

She stepped away from the cloud and pulled the balloon back so they could see the finished painting. A black man emerged from the heart of the cloud. He was dressed smartly, in a cream jacket with a matching hat, and she had found a way to make his eyes shine in the brown face. She didn’t say, but Oliver knew it was a picture of his grandpa who had died when he was still a baby.

“Just know, Ollie,” she said, still looking at the painting already scattering on the breeze. “It can be a lonely life.” Her voice was wistful, and he recalled the many times his mother had commented how Rosalie had never married, how she’d never had a family of her own. Rosalie squeezed his shoulder. “It’s worth it, don’t get me wrong, but it’s not without its sacrifices.”

It wasn’t until many years later, long after she had gone, that Oliver understood what she’d been talking about.

Unlike rainclouds, which were only ever temporary, the volcano seemed to continuously exhale. The edge of the vapor carried a mineral scent with a touch of sulfur, strong even through the handkerchief tied around Oliver’s face.

He moved Hildy to the tip of the cloud, clear of the volcano’s mouth and hopefully clear of an eruption.

Even the wind currents felt different, swifter and stranger than those he usually battled, and it took some adjustments to Hildy’s controls, and some trial and error, before he could orient correctly.

The smell of sulfur and rock and heat grew stronger. Grit blew into his face, though handkerchief, hat, and goggles protected him from most of it. Still, he needed to pause every few minutes to wipe the goggles clean—something he’d have to factor into his painting.

With a trembling hand, Oliver extended the mop brush, heady with salmon foam, and brushed it against the bloom of the cloud. He was filled with a strange energy, the massive cloud full of possibility.

As he wielded the brush, he fought the flow of the ash cloud, the internal currents and eddies that pulled the vapor this way and that. His first strokes were sucked deep into the cloud, while others swirled away, this one clockwise, that one counterclockwise.

He had set out to paint a bright bird, but the currents had their own notions. His lines bowed into curves and spirals, his careful use of color bled together in a muddy blur. All the while, he was conscious of his precious fuel, burning away.

He recalled reading in National Geographic magazine that some cultures revered volcanoes, believing they were home to gods. Oliver wondered if such a god lived in this volcano. If so, it might not take kindly to his attempts. The plume might be its breath, or its voice, and Oliver was trying to claim it, to contort it.

He trailed different colors into the cloud, marking where the currents took them, trying to make sense of them. He needed to understand the cloud. He needed a kind of communion.

He was so focused on the currents that he didn’t notice Hildy drifting deeper into the plume. A sudden wash of heat enveloped them, lifting them higher. But even as he tried to compensate, the pressure dropped beneath them and they plummeted.

Oliver almost lost the brush he held, dropping it into the basket as he fought for control. Thick grit battered Hildy’s envelope. One of the lines connecting the basket to the envelope snapped. Then a second. The balloon tilted and two tubes of paint and a brush tumbled free of the basket and out into space. Somewhere beneath him, magma roiled and bubbled.

Oliver shifted his weight, jamming the rudder hard, slamming counterweights, and pumping hard at the pedals. His skin was slick with perspiration, and his hands felt slippery despite the gloves, but he gripped hard to the basket’s edge, finally wresting control back, pulling Hildy away. Each moment of struggle drained more and more of his precious fuel.

When the basket bumped unceremoniously against the ground a short while later, Oliver leapt from it, shaking.

He spent the rest of the night sitting before a small fire, Hildy a limp, deflated mass beside him. He vibrated with a slow, persistent anger. The volcano had defeated him. If he’d been a fraction slower, if his hands had been less nimble, he might not have survived. And he’d burned through almost half the remaining fuel.

That’s it, then, he thought. I’ll spend the rest of my days, however long, grounded. Scraping a life from this island while the volcano looms above me. Mocking me.

Then, I should have stayed in Clarkesville. 

He could almost hear laughter roaring in the night, echoing across the barren landscape.

It made sleep difficult.

He awoke thinking of his visitations, of Laura Cartwright and Aunt Rosalie. He imagined what they’d say to him. Laura would say God didn’t give him his precious life so he could throw it away. She’d tell him even the ambition was a sin.

Aunt Rosalie, he heard clear as day. “You’re a cloud painter, Oliver. You know it and I know it. If this is your time, doesn’t it make sense to die being what you are?

“And if it’s your time to go to God, if He’s calling you, then how’s He gonna be disappointed you spent your last moments doing what He created you to do? I love you, Ollie, but you can be as dense as a lead brick sometimes.”

He stared at the plume. To try again he’d need to come to terms with the god in the volcano.

He spent a long while resecuring Hildy, retying lines and testing them, checking her envelope for tears or holes. When satisfied she was fully intact and could weather turbulence, he took her back up into the sky.

The chaotic nature of the ash cloud resisted his well-worn techniques, that much was clear. He needed to forget some of what he knew, approach the cloud with a sense of curiosity and discovery. All clouds required quick movements, but here they’d need to be quicker. A painting wouldn’t linger long—the ash cloud would soon consume it. So maybe, instead, they were offerings. To the god in the volcano. Or if not offerings, messages. Oliver would speak to the volcano god and listen to its response.

He opened the emerald green and the canary yellow and began to paint, conjuring a bright turtle whirling in a spray of sea. He wasn’t imposing his will on the cloud, but working with it, letting it guide him. The currents pulled at the image, but he began to anticipate their movements, adapting to them. The turtle took shape. Some property of the ash cloud, silicate matter perhaps, lent his colors a sparkle that reflected the light of the sun. The colors rippled, and as he pulled away to look, he couldn’t help breaking into a smile at the sudden life in the creature.

But, as expected, that life didn’t last long. The ash cloud swallowed the turtle, chewing it up with a million tiny and glittering teeth.

Oliver didn’t stop.

He uncapped bright orange and waved it over a roiling plume. Next came scarlet, rust, and peach, and to them he added the canary, letting the tension fall from his body. The colors became a bright burst of flame and Oliver let the painting, and the cloud, lead him further. It became a torch, held by a hand, and he thought of the first human receiving Fire from Prometheus. Only he was now giving the flame back to the volcano, and the volcano took it, pulling it deep into its cloud, wresting it from the grip of the torchbearer.

Oliver painted on.

As he did, a subtle transformation took place. He was no longer a man painting the ash cloud—instead he was part of a symbiosis that encompassed him, the balloon, the ash cloud, and the volcano. It was almost a dance, but a dance where the lead was constantly passed. Oliver was communing with the hidden god, feeding on its silent dreams, giving them form and shape before offering them back to the volcano. A swift and sacred cycle of creation and destruction.

He painted a dancer with fiery blossoms in her hands; a tree with a door in its trunk, just starting to open; a phoenix flaring to life from ash. The volcano gave him its cloud; he pulled shape and color from it, and gave it back.

When he finished and pulled Hildy back, he was spent, his limbs trembling, fatigue yawning in the pit of his body. His fuel was almost gone. He took the balloon down slowly and stumbled out of the basket and onto the ground.

Above him, the paintings were already gone, smears of color tumbling, the last snatches of the volcano god’s dreams. If those paintings had indeed been Oliver’s last, and the thought was too devastating to fully contemplate, he could at least be proud.

He slept easily that night, despite finishing the last of the fresh water. Whatever came next, he felt he’d have no regrets.

When he woke the next morning, he saw a shape moving in the distance. It grew closer, ascending the slope, resolving into a person. They were followed by another, then another. A handful of people crunched across the gravel, olive in complexion, dressed in simple clothing—shirts and pants for the men, loose dresses for the women. They looked at Oliver in wonder, and amazement, and joy.

In the morning, unseen by anyone, the first rays of the sun illuminated the eastern side of the island, painting it with a different palette of colors than the night. Black brightened to indigo, then cobalt, then azure. On the eastern slopes of the volcano, a trail washed down, a multicolored path stretching toward the ocean, hues emerging with the steady cresting of the sun.

The trail reached out across the pebbled beach, all the way to the water, out into the waves and the great vastness of the sea beyond.
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6,800 YEARS 
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 Through binoculars I spot the comet,

west just below the Big Dipper.

For a few nights Neowise is visible

with orange tail glowing.

On a warm summer night,

I watch until the comet slips behind trees.

After this week it won’t reappear for 6,800 years.

 

6,800 years ago, ancestors of the Abenaki

lived by the Winooski River near here;

perhaps they spotted Neowise,

as they watched the Big Dipper and North Star.

Will we still be here 6,800 years from now?

Perhaps we’ll have evolved, matured and survived,

but comets see species come and go,

and don’t care much about one extinction.

 

There’s one more night for viewing,

but dark clouds blow in, and soon it’s overcast.

My last chance is gone;

I’ll never see Neowise again.

 

BY GEORGE LONGENECKER
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PECK

By Dr. Bunny McFadden

  Dr. Bunny McFadden (she/they) DocBunny.com, Instagram: @bunny.the.doc is a Chicana mother who has gained recognition for her unique style of storytelling. Her work has been praised for its gritty imagery, spirited characters, and thought-provoking themes. In addition to her writing, Bunny is also a passionate advocate for justice and education. The author’s writing often tinkers with the complexities of relationships and the joy of life. Their first story for Asimov’s takes a look at both.

 

Joey curled up tightly in her favorite chair to reread the message from the auditor, Peck cooing in her lap. The prismatic wings of the Pocket Model gleamed, tin peeking out from where aging feathers had fallen.

“Peck, we’re in for it, aren’t we?”

Her predecessor kept a wall of tissue boxes around the desk, and now she was starting to understand why. Joey didn’t cry, but that’s what a typical person would probably do in the face of full inboxes. Every single one started with a banal pleasantry. She figured that out after the third person asked how the weather was and acted surprised when she provided a full report.

Working here would be impossible if it weren’t for Peck. He cooed crookedly, his voice box aged. It made her smile to listen to the dirty, mechanical city pigeon. The Bell-Garcia company had limped along for forty-seven years, made redundant by some laws and hands tied by others. This was, at last, the end.

This was going to be more challenging than she’d anticipated. She practiced everything hard at least three times, just like her father had taught her, and this wasn’t an exception. Still, no matter how much one prepares to say goodbye, the fresh sharp sting of it is always a surprise. She looked down at the message. It hurt her eyes to read.

Joey had until December 18 before the records were set to be released. The archive would be carved open by every scholar and journalist on the tech beat; each detail of the protected intellectual work her father had put into creations like the Pocket Model would be unspooled. The files sat in a box under her desk for now. She often thought about opening it, setting it on fire before it fell into the wrong hands, but something always stopped her.

She scrolled to the bottom of the message. The auditor always signed his name H. Kelly. The jerk didn’t even give his full name. Anyone who had half an iota of respect would have sent a Pocket Model Carrier Message, not a cordial email asking to audit and determine whether the government could salvage the creatures. The computer’s hum started annoying her and Joey reached to flip off her screen.

Right at that moment, a woman in a tight gray suit entered the little room that doubled as her office and living space. Her small square glasses perched on her nose reflected the white screen, which Joey hastened to block with her hands.

“I see you’ve read my message. Hera Kelly, auditor number 486.”

The woman stuck out her hand for a shake, and Peck lunged.

“I suppose I’m supposed to warn you that he nips.”

Hera yanked her hand back and then straightened up, regaining her dignified stance. “A Pocket Model Pigeon who bites. Can’t say I’m surprised. The other auditors warned me they’re a bit feral.”

Joey clenched her jaw. Feral. The word wasn’t even accurate. She expected better from a government auditor.

“They only bite if you’re an asshole or an auditor, which is the same thing if you think about it.”

Hera’s face crumpled into a hurt look, and Joey felt a twinge in her throat. Was this remorse?

“And their heads run a bit hot,” she added after a moment, unsure why she said it.

The pigeons inspired devotion despite being grimy, grubby, and clunky. Joey had to admit they weren’t very likable unless you got to know one. But they weren’t made to be likable. They were made to help people like her deal with idiots like Hera.

Twelve summers ago, when she first inherited Peck, she got horribly sick. Joey could barely move. At first, she wondered if it was some filthy bug he carried. The news said cyborg pigeons were parasitic, diseased, that their rainbow wings were deceptive. After all, her dad had just died. What if everyone was right about them? But as Joey hacked and shivered, she called out in pain. The only one there for her was Peck, who watched over her with beady mechanical eyes. He perched on the edge of her bathtub as she attempted futilely to lower her temperature. Then, while weakly pouring a cup of milky bathwater over her head, she had this vision of a flock flying into a hurling cloud of fire. And when she opened her eyes and saw Peck watching her, she flicked water at him and fried one of his eyes by accident, and he singed her hand when she reached out to check his eye. They sat wounded for a moment, and then she burst out into laughter, and ever since they’d been friends.

“Why are you here?”

“Well,” Hera answered, “I’ve messaged you twelve times about arranging for our audit, but you haven’t responded.”

“Be precise. It was thirteen, counting today.”

The auditor looked annoyed and continued. “I can see that you’ve been reading my messages, so there’s no excuse. We’ll begin now.”

She pulled an electronic clipboard out of her bag. The numbers glowed green.

“Do you have a list of which machines are accounted for?”

Joey reluctantly nodded.

All one hundred of the limited edition machines were accounted for, and all but one were tagged with locators. For some it was simple; their homing locations hadn’t changed since the squabs were offered for free by Bell-Garcia himself. For others, it was far more difficult; Joey had spent the summer hunting, tracking, and capturing the willful little machines to tag them. It wasn’t the kind of task that could be outsourced. You had to understand the machines. Plus the tagging process was a bit more brutal on the cyborgs who had lost wings or legs.

“The next step will be to determine which ones should be retired. Have you made those calls?”

Joey leaned forward at her desk, her hands throbbing in tight fists.

“I see that’s a touchy subject,” Hera remarked dryly. “The alternative would be to drill into their processing units and insert a tracker so that we can have a more hands-on approach to their operating procedures.”

“Actually,” Joey said, holding Peck in her lap tightly, “I plan to retire all of them.”

“All one hundred? At once or in shifts?”

“At once. A ceremony.”

Hera looked impressed. “That takes a lot of planning. And community buy-in. The optics aren’t great. And I don’t need to tell you the Pocket Model community is a rough crowd.”

Joey glared. The truth was that the cyborg pigeons needed more maintenance than the company could afford, and it was always a fight to get anyone in for routine checkups. They were patched together by hobbyists, repairs for more severe injuries traded in secret. Still, most of the birds Joey met over the summer had frayed wings, exposed wires, or absent appendages. Even Peck. And there was a perennial public debate about a service animal’s right to a free retirement. It was ethically sticky to keep the machines running when they were nearly defunct.

Yet, the Pocket Models had a lot of personality for basic bird cyborgs. The new models in the Catalog of Cyber Services were soulless, straight-staring things. They might have cute noses or soft, special fur to ease the customer’s feelings, but not one Spot or Ryder could choose to just up and leave.

The entire audit process was built to troubleshoot things like this. The only reason the Pocket Models had evaded it was because Alfred Bell-Garcia gave them away for free forty-seven years before the current auditing legislation even passed.

“I think they’ll go for it,” Joey said through gritted teeth. She looked at her computer screen, which she’d given up trying to hide. Already, there were messages from other cyborg service companies begging Joey for the spare parts. They blinked at her, harassing her tired brown eyes. These would go unanswered.

The Pocket Models were tiny compared to other full-service cyborgs, but their little overheating heads were jam-packed with processing powers. They could record your entire day, even the boring parts. They could play your favorite messages and memories ad infinitum. They could even find a message recipient who didn’t want to be found, or the answers to obscure questions about trains. But the neatest thing about them was that they were practically untraceable. Pretty helpful for anybody autistic who didn’t want to register or get any of their friends on the Neuro Committee’s radar. Their navigation didn’t rely on codes or maps. It was a secret code, and the answer was probably in the box at her feet, but machines like Peck always ended up right where you needed them.

“You know why I hate auditors so much?” Joey said.

“You’ll probably tell me either way, so say it,” Hera replied. She seemed worn out from the conversation.

“It’s because you don’t see Peck or the other Pocket Models like I do. You don’t care.”

Hera was quiet for a moment. She turned to leave, her face hidden from view. Softly, she said, “I do.”

Bell-Garcia Labs debuted the Pocket Model to limited success in 2025. It was innovative. A pigeon-robot that could carry completely concealed, censored messages that only opened for the intended recipient. The visible engineering was impeccable. Nobody could figure out how old Alfred did the rest, though there were theories about olfactory navigation or star mapping. These Pocket Models were spies of the highest order, indestructible and brilliant, named and somehow attuned to human whims. And Alfred managed to never spill the secrets. He never publicly said a word about how the pigeons worked.

Joey suspected her father knew there would be something like the Neuro Committee one day. He had a knack for seeing which way the winds were blowing. So the secret was somewhere in the rotting cardboard box, and Joey was just grateful she had one of the originals. They didn’t make cyborg service animals like this anymore. Once in a while, when she held Peck, she could almost feel his heartbeat, but that was impossible. The mechanical birds weren’t technically living, though they had flesh.

The Pocket Model project was so shrouded in mystery that there wasn’t even a compiled list of names and locations when Joey had first started. All of her initial attempts at meeting with known owners had floundered; she only found success when she started using the homing skills Peck offered. In fact, the only reason Joey had a hunch that all one hundred would go without a fight on December 18 was because the community knew that their companions would be mercilessly dissected, copied, and prodded. Besides, most of the time, they didn’t have anyone to inherit their Pocket Models. Again, Joey recalled her fever dream. It felt like a movie playing over her thick eyelids.

Peck perched on her shoulder. He was weary, his plumage raw. She knew it was the right time to say goodbye. Ninety-nine, including Peck, were accounted for. All ninety-nine knew their retirement plan.

A month ago, she had tried sending out the last message again. It took Peck ages to reach every single Pocket Model, but they all knew the directive. She’d encouraged them to spend their Last Day doing something special, and they’d all join her for a retirement ceremony in December. The only problem was, it was November and she still hadn’t heard from Pigeon 42.

They were an unnamed, agender pigeon who lived in a fairly dangerous lighthouse up the coast from the city. When Joey made contact over the summer, it was terse and to the point. The keepers were the coastal fishermen. The pigeon was fine, they said, and when Joey insisted on tagging them, the fishermen refused. They sent a single photo as proof that the Pocket Model was where they said. Pigeon 42 sat on a burly man’s shoulder. Now Joey knew she’d have to travel there, because even her aggressive messages were met with radio silence.

She was packing her bag when the auditor came back.

“I was just coming to do a progress report,” Hera said, hesitating at the sight of Joey’s open suitcase.

It took Joey half an hour to explain her plan, partly because she got interrupted while packing and had to multitask, which always put her in a bad mood. When she was finally done explaining how she was planning to get down to the remote lighthouse and then get up the spiral staircase to the roost, Hera was laughing.

“I think Peck rubbed off on you.”

“Why?”

“Because that is a bird-brained idea!”

It wasn’t said in a rude way, but still Joey felt betrayed. Peck gave an offended little grunt.

“Well, regardless, one of us has to track Pigeon 42 down.”

“I don’t think so. I’ve been reviewing the footage, and I don’t think they are alive anymore.”

Joey took a sharp breath of clarity.

“No way,” Joey said. “Reviewing the footage? I sent you an uncoded compiled video of hundreds of hours of footage. Out of order.”

“I know. If I were more cynical I’d think you did that on purpose to waste my time,” Hera chuckled. “Turns out I like data.” Hera winked conspiratorially. “The Neuro Committee would have a field day if they found that out. Anyway, parts of the footage were enjoyable. I especially like watching the Last Day folder clips.”

The last day clips. Joey threw those in as a way to tell the auditor to go to hell.

Pigeon 73, nicknamed Hypatia, worked with a librarian. In addition to helping with the catalog, Hypatia reached all the patrons who couldn’t leave their apartments. She was gifted in the air, known for her flight stunts until a book drop window slammed shut on her wing.

For Hypatia’s last day, the patrons took turns launching her from their windows. Again and again, like a library book transfers hands, they carried her up to the waiting hands of the patrons who had relied on her services so heavily. The footage just showed her gentle descent and the smiling librarian waiting below.

Pigeon 55 belonged to the president of the UN subcommittee on Outer Space Affairs. Sterling’s budget was cut so frequently that the president was the only member, a relic of the past. He told Joey he kept Pig charged through faith alone some nights, though she suspected a siphon of energy in the basement.

Pig’s last day was spent boarding model rockets, all of which were built by the grandchildren of the subcommittee member. There wasn’t a chance to board a private rocket ship, but Sterling wouldn’t have wanted that. Besides, Joey had helped the aging committee president plan this meticulously. The Pocket Model functioned perfectly at half a mile above. That footage was half fuzzy because Pig kept shaking with excitement at the chance to fly again.

The last pigeon was a jailbird who was fondly referred to as Inmate 3 by the folks she served. She was frumpy and uptight. She’d spent her entire fifty years transmitting messages from a women’s prison in western New Mexico. For almost fifty years, she was practically excavated in search of drugs or contraband, but nobody could ever access the private messages in her breast. She was the most surly, and the most intact, of the Pocket Models.

For Inmate 3, they dreamed big. They were used to loss, but they had ample time to dream of cinematic goodbyes. She spent her last day in the nearby hills. Every few minutes, she’d flash those oily chromatic wings in defiance, floating up to wing a hello to the watching inmates who cycled through the yard to give their silent thanks.

“What makes you say Pigeon 42 isn’t up there in the lighthouse?”

“Well, if you zoom in on the bottom corner of the image you sent, it shows something was written on the back of the original. I magnified it; it’s a date. The man in the photo has been dead for forty years. Now why would they send such an old photo unless they had something to hide?”

Joey felt like a fool. Why did she believe the fishermen? But in a way she felt relief. That was one less soul on her conscience. One less bird she’d have to retire.

“Sometimes burying something you love hurts because you have to admit they’re gone. Maybe it was easier for the sailors to pretend Pigeon 42 was still around.”

“Please don’t tell anyone about this,” Joey begged. But Hera was already bustling behind her, setting out dishes on the narrow counter.

“You brought me soup?”

“I thought we could eat while we run over the rest of the reports for the audit,” Hera explained matter of factly.

Peck enjoyed the meal, pacing on the table between the two women. He knocked off little breadcrumbs from the edges of their bowls, though he did not eat them. For not the first time, Joey felt a little sad looking at him lording over his pile.

It was time for the grand finale. Joey knew Pocket Models. She was not ending them or cutting their power. Rather, Joey’s role was to facilitate them in their own destruction. For the first time since their nascence, the flock gathered.

Joey and the dignitaries on stage, mostly gleeful members of the Neuro Committee, clipped the tag bands off in batches. Soon, the three picnic tables were crowded with waiting little Pocket Models.

The crowd swelled, and Joey saw familiar faces. Some of them even wore shirts that said, “Register All!” and Joey laughed. The Neuro Committee claimed people like her didn’t have a sense of humor, but maybe it was better that they didn’t understand. She looked on; there were more blood-and-bone pigeons than she’d expected.

It was a funny little quirk that Pocket Model heads heated up so much. The imprisoned people had found this useful for a number of odd tasks around their cage. The other librarians refused to let Hypatia anywhere near the special collections. Now, Joey asked the pigeons by name. Hypatia. Pig. Inmate 3. Peck. The rest. Could they do one last thing?

She observed from the stage, wind rustling the synthetic registration paper on her podium as she watched ninety-nine pigeons taking flight one last time. The feeble machines were held by claws of others so that the whole flock rose together. The Pocket Model had sparked so many things. Today they’d spark once more.

Her eyes were fixed on Peck, who blinked once and seemed to nod in reassurance as he ascended.

And then the funniest thing happened. The real pigeons, the ones that gathered in the crowd, flew up and surrounded the Pocket Model flock, the aging and broken and crooked cooing machines. And in the confusion every one of them flew off. God knew where.

Yes, the Pocket Models knew her plan. But they had their own.

Hera watched the empty air in unconcealed surprise and then snapped into action. She shuffled the others on stage out of her way. When she reached the microphone, the gathered crowd was silent in shock. “All right, folks. Nothing to be done. It looks like they’re gone for good.”

Members of the Neuro Committee sputtered in fury; the remaining crowd drifted away. Hera gently put her hand on Joey’s shoulder.

Years later, the Bell-Garcia-Kelly Chicken Circus would ensconce itself as the premiere thing to do for young children in the neighborhood. The chickens were preternaturally clever and never seemed to age. And the two little old women running the show would quietly smirk if a young parent suggested they could make money by selling one or two.

“Oh, the birds aren’t for sale,” they’d smile. “They’re our friends.” But if the right kid came along, who knew?
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At the patisserie,

I ask my students about disease.

 

Carved in stone above my lab:

The art is to mix work and parties.

 

Three geese shall be your

dissertation committee, for

we adore science as we adore fairy tales.

 

We are making sense of the world

and saving the forests

so you can still get lost in them.

 

By Jessy Randall
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CHARON’S FINAL PASSENGER

By Ray Nayler

  Ray Nayler is the author of the critically acclaimed, Locus- Award-winning novel The Mountain in the Sea, published in the U.S. by MCDxFSG and in the UK by Weidenfeld & Nicolson. It was a best book of the year at Amazon and Slate, and a finalist for the Nebula Award and for the LA Times Book Awards’ Ray Bradbury Award for Science Fiction, Fantasy, and Speculative Fiction. His story “Muallim” (Asimov’s November/December 2021) won the Asimov’s Readers’ Award and his novella The Tusks of Extinction was published in January by Tordotcom. A Russian speaker, Ray lived and worked outside the United States in the Foreign Service and the Peace Corps for nearly twenty years. Ray is currently a diplomatic fellow and visiting scholar at the George Washington University’s Institute for International Science and Technology Policy. Echos of this experience can be found in the story of . . .

 

“There it is.”

I followed Alvin’s binoculars and saw it as well: a shadow against the night sky, rising in an arc above the Kura River. The terraplane’s running lights were off, its shape indistinct. But yes: it was there.

Then there was another arc, so bright it eliminated all fine distinctions between dark and darker from the world. It intersected the first.

The explosion was close enough for us to feel, seconds later, the compression of air across our faces. The first arc became a trace of tumbling fire, a streak reflected on the surface of the river below. It came down in the tangle of houses on the allied side of the river—our side.

“Well,” Alvin said, “they got across, anyway.”

“But not alive.”

“Only one of them was still alive when they started this journey. That’s why we have you here.”

Our observation point was an abandoned apartment in one of Tbilisi’s tangle of wooden buildings. By the red light of Alvin’s flashlight we made our way down the wooden staircase. In the lightless corridor we could hear music from behind a wall: an old phonograph, a plaintive voice backed by strings. Flakes of peeling paint crunched under our feet like dried mud. I remembered the building as seen from the street when we had entered: leaning so badly that wooden props had been squared against its external walls, the doorless gape of the street entrance a trapezoid.

“You take me to the nicest places, Alvin,” I’d said.

Now I whispered, “Someone is living here.”

“Someone is living everywhere in this city,” Alvin answered. “We had to rent the lookout. And it didn’t come cheap.”

The power was out in this part of the city. The street was dark, but not the cavedark of the building behind us, the doorway gaping into a sightless warren.

“I guess they charge extra for the broken windows and the pigeon shit all over the floor,” I said.

“Of course they do. Pigeon shit makes good fertilizer, and you can kill an intruder with a decent shard of broken glass—just wrap it in cloth first so you don’t cut your hand.”

Alvin would know.

“Now where to?” I asked. “Dinner was a stale cheese sandwich in a flophouse overlooking a river they shoot you if you swim in. If this is a date, I can’t wait to see the movie you take me to. I’ll be disappointed if it isn’t projected onto a torn bedsheet.” 

Somewhere in the tangle of the allied zone, a siren screamed.

Alvin wouldn’t bite. “Now we go back to the hotel and wait for the salvage crew to make contact.”

“I hope they take their time about it. I could use some sleep.”

They didn’t take their time about it.

“I’m sorry about this, Sylvia.”

Alvin and I were in the back seat of a surface car, an Emka staff car reclaimed from the short-lived Soviet Union, once used to shuttle big-hatted generals back and forth from their staff offices. The interior was red velvet. I wondered if Stalin had ever had a chance to ride in it before his generals assassinated him. The driver, separated from us by a sheet of privacy glass, was some American PFC far too young to have fought in the war. The glass rattled in its wooden frame as the car crawled over cobblestones.

“Trying to get across in a terraplane wasn’t exactly subtle,” I said.

“It was the best option we had. And that rocket battery was supposed to have been silenced.”

The part of town we were passing through was filled with old villas. The headlights picked each of them out as we passed. Their stained plaster made them look like rotted wedding cakes. Everywhere I looked in Tbilisi, the city was the corpse of faded greatness. You could almost imagine the men and women of decades ago, monocled and bustled, strolling these avenues.

Their ghosts, anyway.

“That escape didn’t work out so well.”

“Nothing here does,” Alvin said. “Russian spies are still lodged inside the local security services, and as much as the Georgians hate the Russians, they are hardly fans of their new Turkish overlords. Some of them have forgotten how bad it was under the Bolsheviks—all they can think of is how bad it is under Istanbul, so the Communists are making converts again.”

“Maybe the Georgians would be better off on their own.”

“That’s exactly what they think—and exactly what everyone keeps promising them. But all the promises are for independence tomorrow. They want it today.”

“Imagine that.”

“Look,” Alvin said in the dark, “I’m with them in spirit. I am. But these days, for a little country like this, independence is a vacuum. Either Russia fills it, or the Allies do. And you can bet that, as bad as it might be in the Allied Zone, it’s ten times worse across the river. Why else would people be risking their lives to get to this side?”

“I’ve heard that vacuum argument before, Alvin, and maybe it’s true, but it sounds a little convenient. Us or them is a pretty good excuse to keep extending our power.”

“It’s more complicated than that, Sylvia—but I’m not very good at arguing at three in the morning.”

“Justifying great power politics in the middle of the night is tough. You have a hard job. Have I ever told you that? I’m going to buy you a drink sometime. I am.”

“I’ll believe it when I see it,” Alvin said.

“So will I.”

The car stopped in front of a block of apartments, a faux-eastern Stalin’s Empire building hacked into the older neighborhood. The building couldn’t have been more than twenty years old, but it looked as ancient as anything else. Or as decrepit, anyway. A man with a lantern appeared in the arched hole of the entryway. The October night had turned cold. He had a woolen blanket wrapped around his shoulders for warmth.

“No power?” I asked.

“We have a line into the city’s emergency backup system,” Alvin answered, “but not to light the building: only for the machines.”

The Georgian with the lantern led us past a row of battered mailboxes, posters wheatpasted up on the whitewashed walls in a palimpsest of local elections. Every candidate’s face had been scraped out or defaced. All that was left were shirt collars, ties, the lace wings of dresses under their destroyed heads.

They had set up in the basement. Several kerosene lanterns stood in a ring around my chair and a small table. But the table wasn’t big enough for a body: the cables snaked under a white sheet. I walked over to it. One of the Georgians stepped forward to stop me, but Alvin held him back with a hand on his upper arm.

I pulled the sheet back. Under it, the tangled crown of the machine was worn by a severed head. There was very little gore. The neck was an anatomy lesson. The face was as calm as a marble statue head, dug from the earth after centuries. Violence had blurred its features.

“It was all Charon could recover of him,” Alvin said. “And we don’t know when we’ll ever get another agent this high-level out: Charon is dead. His network was betrayed. The Russians are across the Kura as we speak, dragging them from their beds into the Black Marias.” 

“This didn’t happen to him when they were crossing the river.”

“No. This happened earlier. They were caught by a group of Chechen Bolsheviks coming through the mountains.”

“How long has he been dead?”

“A day, a day and a half.”

“No time to waste. His name?”

“We only know him as ‘Sorok.’ It means ‘forty’ in Russian.”

“Get me plugged in.”

The lantern-lighted faces of the Georgian and American agents were expressionist film pantomimes of dread. The basement was a mad doctor’s laboratory, complete with severed head and terrible machine. I sat in my chair and adjusted my crown.

“Come on, boys. Every second we waste, his memories degrade further. You aren’t the ones who have to pilot the memory loops in that head, so stop standing around like a bunch of frightened rabbits. Pull the switch, Alvin.”

 

The train is moving slowly past a stand of birch in rain, the wet white trunks syncopated against the evergreen dark of the forest behind. On the table near the window is a glass of black tea, a thick glass in a metal holder. The compartment is filled with the smell of tea. I am aware of these things first, and then aware of another person in the compartment. A woman’s voice, in Russian:

“And they were so enamored of the monsoon season, this season of stillness and romance, that they even had a perfume distilled: the smell of earth dampened by rain.”

“Who would wear such a thing?” Sorok says—I say.

“I think it sounds lovely. Think of the smell of rain when it begins—such a nostalgic smell. A smell that rises from the earth, as if bringing memories from the grave. It would take a brave woman to wear that scent, of course. She would be competing with every association her perfume raised in the mind. But eventually, if she were successful, she would become the one associated with that smell. And then, no matter what happened between them, every time it rained he would long for her. For the rest of his life.”

“And what would be the point of that? What is the point of someone longing for you after the relationship is over?”

“What you do not understand, dear, is that for many people that is the entire point of a relationship. To be longed for afterward, like the monsoon rains.”

“At your core,” Sorok says, “You remain a bourgeois romantic.”

“I’ve shot men for less than that,” the woman replies, without a noticeable change in the tone of her voice. “Shot them in the face, and watched the light go out of their eyes as their brains slid down a wall. I am a romantic, but of the revolutionary type. You should learn to recognize the difference.”

Now Sorok turns and looks at her. She is a tall woman, in a simple woolen worker’s shirt, her brown hair pulled back from the oval of her face. Her very average eyes meet his. She doesn’t look like a romantic, or a revolutionary, or like anyone in particular.

“All of this work,” she says, “to catch up with the Americans. A whole Soviet generation lost in rebuilding, because of something so simple as twelve hours on a clock.”

“I don’t follow,” Sorok says.

“Twelve hours earlier or later,” she says, “and that flying saucer they got all their technology from in 1938 wouldn’t have crash landed in the desert of New Mexico—it would have crashed in the desert of Turkmenistan. It would have been recovered by us, by the Soviet Union. It would have been reverse engineered by us. We would have been the ones to defeat Hitler. We would have turned Berlin to ashes. And then we would have driven the Americans back to the Atlantic and raised the red flag over London. Perhaps even over Washington by now, if it pleased us.”

“Where were you in the spring of 1933?” Sorok asks.

“I was in the Komsomol, in Leningrad.”

“I was in the Ukrainian countryside outside of Poltava. Do you understand what we did there?”

“I know there were excesses.”

“Have you ever watched a person starve to death?”

“No.”

“Then don’t talk to me about what we would have done with all this wonderful technology.”

“Stalin was cruel,” the woman says, “and that is why he needed to be purged. It’s true his will was what held the Union together, when the Anglo-Saxon capitalists were trying to tear it apart, but he went too far. We can’t blame the whole Soviet Union for the things Stalin did.”

“He went . . . too far? Maybe I didn’t ask you the correct question,” Sorok says. “What I should have asked was, ‘Have you ever starved a village to death . . . on purpose?’”

“Of course not.”

“Then stop speaking to me in Party platitudes. We were all Stalin. All of us. He wasn’t a lone man making his decisions in a vacuum—he was a period in our personal histories we’ve been trying to shovel into a bin under the name ‘Stalin’ so we can toss it out and forget what we did. Well, I refuse to forget it.”

“You seem like the wrong kind of person for this work.”

“No. I am precisely the right kind of person for this work. We must see things exactly as they are. Not as we want to see them—as they are. Only then will we have clarity of purpose. Tell me: that man you shot. The one whose brains ran down the wall. Did he have children?”

“I don’t know.”

“A lover? A wife?”

“I don’t know.”

“Do you think he was a colicky baby? An early reader? Was he a daredevil as a boy? Did he run faster than the others? Was he kind to his friends? What was his favorite book?”

“Enough. I understand.”

“You do not,” Sorok says. “Understanding cuts much closer to the bone. But yes—enough. My advice to you is this: when you watch the light going out of someone’s eyes, try to comprehend what that truly means. People are more than what happens to cross your path.”

“Tell me that the documents are safe with you.”

“They are safer with me than with anyone else. I have no illusions. Now is not the time for wondering what might have been: the world is out of balance. We have a responsibility to resist the Americans and their allies now, just as we had a responsibility to resist Stalin then. We did not live up to our responsibilities then, but we won’t make the same mistake twice. Now go—and take your tough talk with you.”

Sorok does not turn toward her as she leaves. I hear the door of the compartment slide shut. He looks at his tea, his scarred hands, then out the window.

There, through the static of rain, the wet white trunks of the birches are people: naked, starved, staring at the train as it lumbers past them. Standing between the train and the evergreen dark beyond.

“Was there anything?” Alvin asked.

We were in an apartment in the same building, in a kitchen that had seen a lot of use over the past few days. Dishes were piled in the sink. Charred matchsticks from lighting the stove were scattered over the loose teeth of the parquet floor. In other rooms of the apartment white sheets covered Louis Quinze furniture. One brocaded couch had been pushed near the front door and slept on: the woolen blanket was still there, as was one of the latest death ray pistols, like a cross between a Colt revolver and the intestines of a radio.

The Georgian who made us tea had a shadow of beard that went all the way up to his cheekbones. He grinned proudly over the glass he poured me.

“The herbs are from the mountains near my family home.”

And that’s what the tea tasted like: the mountains. A field of wild herbs at the edge of a tree line. My head ached from the loops. I felt dizzy. The tea made it a little better.

I turned to Alvin. “The memories were clear—maybe some of the clearest I’ve seen, with just one or two . . . distortions.” That was not the word I had wanted to use: I had wanted to say, thinking of the naked people standing in the rain in the place of trees, “apparitions.” I glanced up at the Georgian, now attending ashamedly to the dishes in the sink.

“His name is Koba. He’s one of our cell. You can speak freely in front of him.”

“The memory was of a delivery of documents. It seems he got them. He was having an argument with a woman.”

“Over what?”

“Over—history. Politics. Party doctrine. It was strange: he didn’t sound like a spy.”

“What did he sound like?”

“He sounded tired. Honestly, he sounded like a man about to get himself killed.”

“How long before you can go back in?”

“Just as soon as this headache clears up.”

I looked at Koba, washing dishes by candlelight. Dawn bled in through the kitchen window.

“You don’t have to wash those dishes for me,” I said. “You should see my sink at home.”

“These are not my dishes,” said Koba. “They are my sister’s. She never washes them. She never cleans anything! She always leaves it for me.”

“My kind of woman.”

“Yes,” said Koba. “I think my sister is your kind of woman. You will like her. She also fought in the war.”

I didn’t bother asking him how he could tell I’d fought in the war, or where he had found out.

“Really? Which side was she on?”

“Our side,” Koba said. “The Georgian side. The resistance. We were with you.”

“Sort of,” Alvin said.

“Okay . . . most of the time.”

“Close enough,” Alvin said. “Though it was hard to tell, some days.”

“Listen, boys,” I interrupted. “I could use a lie-down. It will help me recover faster. It’s been a long night.”

“I will set you up a bed in one of the rooms,” Koba said.

“Good. Alvin can finish the dishes for you.”

All I can hear at first is the sound of my own breathing—of Sorok’s breathing. He is trying to breathe quietly, but he has been running. He puts a hand over his mouth. And as his own breathing quiets down, as the blood pounding in his ears quiets, he hears it: footsteps in the underbrush.

“I know you are here.” It is her voice—the woman’s voice. “I have been following you. I saw you transfer trains. You are supposed to be heading north, and instead you go south. Do you think I don’t know where you are going? They said give you the documents, so I gave you the documents. But they didn’t say not to follow you. They didn’t say not to take the documents back from you, if you betrayed us. And I knew you would. I could hear it in your voice, Sorok. Who were you waiting for in the woods last night? Who are you waiting for now? You don’t have what it takes for this work anymore.”

“Maybe I never did,” Sorok says. He stands up and comes out from behind the tree. 

The woman is twenty, thirty meters away at most. She wears a thin cotton jacket against the cold. I can see her breath in the air. In her hand is a pistol.

“Where are the documents?”

“You missed the moment,” Sorok says. “I already handed them over to our enemies. It’s done.”

“Impossible.”

“Not at all. I have known you were following me this entire time.”

“Well, then,” she says, “I have failed. There’s nothing left to do than clean up.”

She raises the pistol and fires. I feel the impact of the bullet, feel us fall back onto the ground. Luckily I am shielded, somewhat, from the pain. But not entirely. I am not him, but I am tangled with him. We look into a sky crowded out by pine trees. The bullet has hit him in the chest. He is struggling to breathe.

Then I hear another shot—a rifle, its thunderclap echoing off the hard surfaces of the woods. I hear the woman cry out, hear her fall. Then the sounds of her struggling on the ground. Voices in a language Sorok does not know.

The woman, pleading.

Then a face, looking down into Sorok’s. The face starved, the eyes bulging from their sockets. A dirty hand in his hair.

“Why did you have to die here, so far away?”

“I don’t know,” Sorok says.

“It is useless for you to die here. You could have died with us, in the village. It would have been better for everyone. You could have served a purpose. So much meat for the children.”

“I am sorry,” Sorok said.

“It is too late for your apologies. You should have died so many years ago. You could at least have been of use . . .”

In another world, I am tearing the headset from my head, trying desperately to break this connection. I cannot be here when he dies, and death is coming . . .

“Sorok gave the documents up.”

We were in the kitchen. Daylight streamed in through the dirty cotton curtains. Alvin had given me a glass of cold tea. My hands were shaking. I watched the leaves drift in the glass and waited for the moment I could lift it to my mouth without spilling it.

Alvin said nothing at all.

“Where’s Koba?” 

“Out getting food.” Alvin sat facing slightly away from me.

In the street, I could hear a little boy yelling, in Georgian. Almost a chant. A newsboy, it sounded like. One of the words was nearly recognizable. Something English, but his accent veiled it.

“What’s eating you, Alvin?”

“President Roosevelt is dead.”

Roosevelt had been only a few months away from beginning his eighth term in office. I was silent for a moment. It was hard to search through my feelings. To sort them out, find something coherent.

We were all President Roosevelt, I wanted to blurt out. But that was the loops talking—the lingering entanglement tugging at my thoughts. I was still carrying an echo of Sorok around with me. There was still a little we in my I, as I liked to put it when I was feeling witty.

I wasn’t feeling witty.

“I’m sorry. Really I am, Alvin.”

He nodded but wouldn’t make eye contact.

“Nobody gets to live forever, Alvin.” I said. “Not even the President of the United States of America.”

“He was assassinated.”

“By whom?”

“By agents of the Eleanor Roosevelt faction, they say.”

No. That wasn’t right. There was something else happening.

“Kennedy has declared martial law. He believes she is somewhere in the U.S.—that she will attempt a coup.”

“That doesn’t sound like her faction,” I said.

“I know.” Now Alvin looked me in the eye. It wasn’t grief that showed in his face: it was rage. A shadow under the skin, writhing in the muscle.

“What happens now?”

“We finish our job. The Turks are leaking information. Their intelligence services are compromised. The Georgians are on both sides of the river, and both sides of this conflict. We need to find those documents. You need to go back in there and find out who he gave them to. We need to keep them out of the hands of the Russian leadership, if it isn’t already too late.”

Martial law.

“He said he gave them to ‘our enemies’—what could that mean?”

“I can think of ten or twelve things.”

“I want you to know, Alvin: I’m not going to work for some junta. If things go south back home—I’m done. I’m out, and I’m looking to you to help me stay out.”

He nodded.

“And what about you?”

“What about me?”

“Where are your loyalties?”

“In the same place they have always been,” Alvin said.

“Don’t be cryptic.”

“I’ve killed a fair number of people, Sylvia. In the war, and after. I didn’t do it for nothing. I did it for what we need to keep standing for.”

“Please don’t say ‘freedom,’ Alvin. Don’t make me lose respect for you.”

“Not freedom, Sylvia. Just the little person, unafraid.”

Koba came in, rattling the key in the lock so we would know it was him. He appeared in the kitchen doorway with a woman who couldn’t be anyone but his sister: she had the same face, only without the shadow of beard, and haloed by a mass of curls.

They both looked terrified.

This memory is old and has been replayed too many times. Replayed until it is ragged. The darkness at the edges has come into the center. The perspectives are off. We are in a train coupé, or perhaps we are in the café of a train station. The man we are talking to is at least two people at once: one of them is an older man, gray hair receded from an already high forehead. The other is still young, powerfully built, machine-like tendons on the backs of his hands. Sometimes I look out of Sorok’s eyes, and sometimes we both hover near the ceiling, looking down on the scene. It is often like this with old memories: the point of view slips, the memories accrue a camera eye, like scraps of old film.

Much is missing, garbled: when the waitress comes to the table, she punches our train tickets. Her face is a blurred oval. All that remains of her is an elaborate hairstyle. The station café rocks on its rails. Through the windows the porters wander with their baggage carts through the bogs and copses of a long journey. People wait on train platforms half-hidden among the trees. All of them are incomplete—hands holding a newspaper, a pair of riding boots pacing without an owner, an arm and vest consulting a pocket watch, the empty leather jacket of a commissar.

“What you need to remember, Sorok, is that every human being fights for their own cause. That cause is always immediate: their child, the man or woman they love, their next meal, living through a battle, saving their home. These people can be dealt with easily: give them what they want to gain their loyalty. Withhold it to move them where you need them to go. Threaten it to make them talk. At the best they are foot soldiers.

“But there are also the inhuman ones—the monsters walking around—the ones who fight for a larger cause. The generals, the commissars, the leaders. Some of their servants. They are tangled up with fantasies the size of nations. Figuring out what to give to them or take from them is harder. You could torture their families to death in front of them, and they would not talk. It is easier simply to kill them.”

The train car is torn away: the coupé sits in the middle of a field. Its blasted, ragged end opens out onto twisted rails. The field is hummocked, mounds of earth covering it. They might be graves, but no—they are people. They are sleeping, and as I watch from the train car, each of them rises and goes about their ablutions, their morning motions at sinks and buckets, their sleeves rolled up or torsos bared, angling their faces in mirrors or with closed eyes, automatic yet no two of them the same. And the man I am speaking with (I am sure he is the same man, though nothing tells me but the feeling I have) walks from one to another, shooting them in the back of the head to send them off to sleep again.

And then I was in the basement, Alvin’s hands on me. He was not supposed to do this—to interrupt the loop midway. He pulled the crown from my head. I vomited on the cracked concrete. Somewhere in my mind a train was torn open in a field. Somewhere in a field my mind was a torn-open train.

“You can’t do that, Alvin. You could kill me. . . .”

“I am sorry,” he said, helping me up, pulling me to the door too roughly. “But this place is compromised. We have to go. Now. I thought it could wait: it cannot.”

The men in the basement were taking apart the machine. A man was carrying Sorok’s head in the glass box they built, the hoses to its refrigeration dangling. Then Alvin pulled me away.

“The machines. The loops . . .”

“They will either be able to defend them, and find a way to move them, or they will destroy them. You are more important.”

In the entryway of the building I saw the shadows of four people burned into the paint. Their disintegrated selves still drifted in the air.

I heard the sizzle of a death ray and, looking to the sound, I saw Koba’s sister leaned from a window, her teeth a square of hate. Behind us, where once there was a person, perhaps the one who would have killed me, nothing remained but a flurry of ashes.

The terraplane they had waiting for me was a cargo van, and as it lurched over the rooftops of the old town I wanted to be sick again, but I would not allow myself to do it: I was afraid if I did, everything would come apart—I would unravel completely, mind and body, spooling out like a dropped ball of wool on the metal bench of the van. Instead I looked out a smeared window onto the chaos of courtyards below. In one of them a woman was hanging laundry out to dry, as if it were the only thing in the world.

Alvin placed a sandwich in my hand. Nothing more than flat bread, raggedly cut in half, a chunk of farmer’s cheese pushed into it. But the bread was fresh; the cheese was fresh.

I must have made an approving sound when I bit into it because, next to me, Koba’s sister Nino said, “Hunger is the best spice.”

“I keep hearing that Georgia has some of the best food in the world,” I said. “But all Alvin feeds me is sandwiches.”

“You’ll just have to trust us,” Nino said.

The church we were in was disused, boarded up. Through the boards a few arrows of light angled through the dark to the flagstones. The church had been used as a warehouse. It was half-filled with bicycle parts and the bent skeletons of old bicycles. Wheels, shifters, and gears hung from the walls on nails—but someone had also pasted up a postcard icon. In the dome, pigeons fluttered and cooed to one another. The flagstones were painted with their droppings. The church reeked of it—of the waste of birds and of bats, who I occasionally heard squeaking off in further darknesses.

Beyond where the torn away iconostasis once was, in the sanctuary of the church, they were setting up the machines. They had managed, somehow, to get them out.

I found myself wondering what would happen to me if they had not. Without the machines, I was of no use to the OSS. To Alvin, to the government, to any of them.

Sitting there eating my plain sandwich in that semi-darkness, I understood that everything I had become was a product of happenstance. All those years ago, I was nothing more than the only student lucky enough to survive the loops. They tested them on ten of us. Nine others died, and I lived. No one ever figured out why.

I remembered smoking under the cherry tree that day, after the experiment. My hands shaking so badly I could barely get the cigarette to my lips.

“My name is Sylvia Aldstatt,” I had said over and over between drags on my Lucky. “And not anything else. Just Sylvia Aldstatt, and that’s all.”

That was the moment—under that cherry tree in full blossom, its petals dancing around me in the air while I tried not to go mad. That was the moment this new self was born.

Out of that survival I had built an identity, a livelihood, a career. I had built a life. If those machines were destroyed, so was that life. The thought of that change was horrifying, and I also longed for it. I would go home to California. I would never pilot my way again through the memories of the dead. I would become someone else—someone entirely mundane, who dealt only in the world of the living. A person for whom politics were an abstraction—not a cloud of drifting ash that moments before had been trying to kill me.

I knew I didn’t have the courage to change my life. I needed someone else to do it for me.

“What is going on, Alvin?” I asked, grasping his arm as he passed.

“We aren’t sure. It seems that the networks allied with the Russians are taking Roosevelt’s death as a moment of weakness.”

“That is exactly it,” said Nino. “They think without their Great Leader the United States will be paralyzed, the way Russia is paralyzed when one of their leaders dies. They are striking while they think you are on your knees. This is how their minds work: they think everyone else in the world is the same. They do not understand that America is not some mass that follows a leader, without a will of their own: America is made up of independent people.”

She said it with such confidence. I knew Alvin was thinking the same thing I was: we both hoped what Nino was saying was true. Neither one of us was sure.

“Are we safe here?” I asked.

Nino shrugged.

Alvin said, “For a few hours, at least.”

“Then I have one more shot at it.”

“Only if you are sure it’s safe,” Alvin said. “I don’t like the way your eyes look. And your hands are unsteady.”

“He’s just like a big brother,” I said to Nino. 

“Not like my big brother,” Nino said. “Mine is an idiot.”

I heard Koba snarl in Georgian from the darkness. Nino spat a phrase back, and the other Georgians in the place laughed.

“What did you say to him?” I asked.

“I made a suggestion,” Nino said. “It is not actually possible for him to do what I suggested. But I would like to see him try.”

 

A village on fire. The way the houses collapse, their walls falling inward, their roofs caving as they sink into themselves, is the same way this memory is collapsing. In places, the fields surrounding the village extend to the charcoal smudge of trees. But turn your head, and there are no fields at all. Beyond the village, the world is gone.

We are here, we are not: Beneath our feet is green tile, hexagonal as a beehive. The hallway we are standing in exists only as the knowledge we have of it—there is no other trace left here, beyond that feeling. And a remembered smell. Not the smell of the village. Not the smell of fire, as it should be—of burning wood and flesh, as it should be, but rather the smell of an interior. A basement. The midwinter smell of mildew that cannot be eliminated, of mop water and unwashed coats. The man we are standing with is saying, his hand on our shoulder, “Do you know why they call him Sorok? Forty? It is because during the Civil War, in Poland, he once killed forty White Russian officers in a single stroke. Prisoners of war. The orders came to shoot them, but we had run out of bullets. What to do? Sorok figured it out: he locked them in a train car on a siding and set it on fire. Within a week, every White Russian in the region had surrendered. They came to us with their hands up—walked out of the woods and threw themselves on their knees. This is a man who knows how to use terror.”

The village of train cars burns. The roofs collapse, the walls fall inward. Only the screams from inside them do not collapse.

“I’m telling you,” the man says—the man who is the man from the train station café, the coupe, and who is also the man wandering this place with a pistol, looking for survivors to shoot: “Sorok was made for things greater than what the army can offer him. We need him with us.”

And the village is gone, the man is gone, the fields are gone. The burning continues, but now it is a campfire, that is all. I am crouched in front of it, on my knees. We are crouched in front of it—the two of us, tangled up in this memory together. I can feel the tendrils of other memories, tugging. This one has the clarity of a recent memory: the trees around us have bark, the ground beneath our knees has the yielding fungal sponginess of the forest. But other memories are also here, pulling at us, and we don’t look up at the trees because we know there will be faces there. And once we see a face, there will be more faces deeper in. There are always more faces, deeper in.

“Yes,” Sorok says. “There are always more faces, deeper in.”

He is across from me now. I feel the heat of the fire on my own hands. He is on his knees, and now I see the papers curling in the fire.

“You tell yourself,” Sorok says, “That there is a limit to the things you will do. You tell yourself there is a line your country will cross one day. A line across which you will not follow. That there are things you will not do, people you will not work for. But the worst is that you tell yourself the line is in front of you. The truth is, once you start thinking of the line you will never cross, it is already behind you. You have already made your choices.”

“No,” I say. “Not always.”

Sorok looks up at me. “You are not here. You cannot speak.” Then he turns to look at the trees. “None of you are here. None of you can speak. I murdered you all. Be silent.”

He feeds more paper into the fire.

“The line is behind you, Sylvia,” Sorok says. “The line was in Berlin, hidden somewhere in the ashes under the linden trees: in the ashes the death rays made of people. People on the wrong side. The ashes of an enemy worth fighting. It was a just war, and you were on the side of justice. But what you did was not right. You walked through those ashes, remember?”

I’ve climbed down out of my Jeep to admire the leaves on this crisp fall day. Hitler is kaput, and all of us think the war is over. Nobody knows yet that the allies will turn on one another: that the war will go on for another year as Patton and our allied forces, plus what’s left of the German Wehrmacht, recommissioned by Patton as the Free German Army, drive Stalin and his Red Army back out of Czechoslovakia, Poland, and Prussia, out of the Balkans and the Baltic states. And the war will go on in the Pacific after a shattered Japan surrenders, as we join with Chiang Kai-shek in his butchery of the Chinese Communists.

But here, on Unter den Linden, there is peace. The autumn leaves are beautiful, and I can see the Brandenburg Gate at its terminus. G.I.s have landed a few Jeeps near its steps. A couple of them have cameras, and are snapping pictures for their families back home. They are smiling, whooping, goofing around like the young boys and girls they are, happy to take off the masks of war. I walk slowly toward them, as if in a dream, while the leaves heave and scatter around my feet. I’m going to join them, smile and laugh with them. Everything will be all right. I’m staring up at the fall glory of the trees. The city is so quiet here—just the sound of military motors at a distance, the shouts of the victors up ahead, the laughter and the dry rattle of the autumn breeze through the leaves.

And then I turn and I see it: my footprints, leading from my Jeep to where I am standing. Under the thin veil of flame-tinted leaves, the trail of my footprints is sunk deep in the ashes of Berlin’s last defenders—ashes that carpet the ground everywhere in the city, an inch thick. And I put my hand over my mouth to muffle my screams.

“You cannot speak to me,” I say.

“And yet I do,” Sorok replies.

Sorok feeds another page into the fire. “I am giving you a gift, Sylvia. I have already done the right thing. These secrets are gone, before a new war could be started with them. Now all you must do is tell your people the truth—and hope they believe it.”

“The documents are gone.”

“How can you be certain?”

“Sorok never handed them off to his contacts in Russia. I watched him destroy them.”

It was only myself, Alvin, Koba, and Nino in the room. The room was little more than a shed now. Once it was a holy place, a chapel. A fresco of the mother and child rose above packing crates, their eyes gouged out.

I hadn’t come all the way back. I was still tangled—I could feel it. I couldn’t quite get free of him. Behind the mother and child, other things shifted inside the wall. It had gained translucencies, depths it should not have. Forest depths. From behind the damaged seraphim, their six wings gathered around their battered faces like flames—

For our God is a consuming fire . . .

The voice also like a flame—

Who maketh his angels spirits; his ministers a flaming fire . . .

“She is lying.”

Koba said it, but Alvin’s motion was toward Nino. Before I understood what I was seeing, she was unconscious on the floor, the death ray pistol clattering off one of the packing crates and falling. While my eyes were still on the gun, Alvin had already turned. The struggle with Koba was longer, but eventually he joined his sister on the floor. I could not tell, for a moment, if he was still alive. Then he sighed, like a man asleep and dreaming.

I felt the cut, then. I saw my own blood on the stones, saw the knife in Koba’s limp hands.

Then the distortion wave from a death ray field hit. The flash from under the door turned everything in the chapel to lightning and shadow. We were, all four of us, lifted an inch off the ground and then settled again. 

The world returned to normal with a shudder.

“All clear.” The voice was an American voice, one of those flat Midwestern accents that can travel around the world for years without changing, solidly rooted as it is in a whole way of life.

I felt Alvin’s hand on my face, pushing hard against my forehead to stanch the bleeding.

“I’m sorry, Sylvia,” Alvin said. “I think this little adventure of ours may leave a permanent scar.”

I sink into the hot water of the sulfur bath, turning my face to the ceiling. The room I am in, a deluxe private room of this bathhouse, was tiled and domed—a small dome imitating the larger domes of the main spaces. In those large rooms the Tbilisi natives, the Ossetian escapees from Russian Communism, the Crimean Tatars plotting the liberation of their fellow Turkic nations along the Kama river in Russia’s heartland, and all the other informers, dissidents, and spies wash themselves in mutual suspicion.

Afterward they will return to the autumnal hovels they have rented at exorbitant prices. They pay these prices to be on this side of the river—a river that flows, many will tell you, between slavery and freedom.

They will tell you, if you ask them, that they are on the free side of the river. Some will say it with confidence, meaning every word. Some will say it automatically, in a tone that indicates they haven’t thought it through: they are simply repeating what they know others expect of them. And some will say it with the assurance that only comes of a lie, believing in fact that this is the world of slavery, and the other side of the river is where freedom is: under a system that discards personal property in favor of a collective will. Koba and Nino were of this last type, though they hid it for years while they worked for the Russians. Now where are they? My mind turns away from the thought.

Everywhere in the city, Kennedy’s voice has been playing on the radio. His disembodied words have been following me through sweet shops and tailors. Kennedy has been repeating himself from behind the doors of apartments, booming from the radios of taxis waiting at the curb, whispering from the kitchens of restaurants:

And what we must ask ourselves is this: what world do we want to live in? A world of peace, where every human being can exercise their rights freely? Or a world in which the hand is forced to do the things it would not do under the power of its own free will?

We do not promise a world free of hardship. Nor do we promise a world in which there is no pain. What we promise is a world in which every man and woman is free to choose how to meet those hardships and contend with that pain. A world in which human beings are more than gears in a collective machine. A world in which their talents thrive and grow, overcoming all challenges, in the light of freedom.

I wonder how many people Kennedy, head of the OSS since 1946, has had killed in the light of that freedom.

I wonder many things. I wonder how free any of us is to choose anything at all. I wonder what speeches are being given on the other side, and how much they differ from Kennedy’s in anything but the details of tone and delivery. I wonder what Koba and Nino thought of the value of the freedom Kennedy assures them they were born with. I wonder what Sorok’s killer thought of it—the woman who wanted to linger forever in the memory of her lovers, and yet also was willing to destroy the only instrument that makes human memories possible at all.

But most of all I wonder, watching the tiles of the ceiling sweat the sulphurous water of the springs, if the memory Sorok left with me will ever fade.

He has been there for days now. Not all the time—he comes and goes. He flickers into my awareness as I sit in restaurants, trying to taste food that seems meaningless. He is in the corner of my hotel room as the light fades into evening. As I am fitted for a new dress, he is there on the floor.

I think this little adventure of ours may leave a permanent scar.

As if on cue, there is a knock at the door. Alvin’s voice says, “Our rocket back to the U.S. is in less than two hours, Sylvia. I hope you’re packed.”

“Don’t worry about me, Alvin. My bags are already waiting at the ’drome.” 

He is the oldest kind of memory, glassy with age, the background of his moment gone, the scene against which he is projected visible through his skin. The returns of memory have carved everything away but his essence: a small boy, playing with a puppy that is all feet and ears. He is Sorok himself.

I wait for something to happen—I wait, each time the memory replays, for the moment of violence. I feel, the way Sorok must have felt, the menace of it: at any moment the play will turn to something terrible. The memory will end in a foreshadowing cruelty. The boy will reach for a stick. The boy will reach for a stone. The boy will begin down a path that will lead him to a burning train car on a siding. To a village of living skeletons.

But there is nothing. Just a boy, a dog, a memory nearly identical to memories in the minds of millions. A memory similar enough to many of my own.

All I want is for him to fade away.

But as I towel myself dry he is there. The sulfur steam passes through him, the tiles are visible through his skin and hair, but he is there. The puppy flops on a floor long erased, adoring and adored.

I think this little adventure of ours may leave a permanent scar.

Doesn’t everything?
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STORIES

 

The alien liked to

read contracts. 

 

It was her favorite

leisure activity

during her time

 

 on our world. 

Movies and novels 

 

are okay, she said, 

but all of your 

lives are here in 

 

these agreements

to behave in

 

 responsible ways

toward each other

at all times. Her

 

 favorites were

marriage licenses 

 

and divorce papers 

for the same reason:

they made her cry. 

 

She also liked some

of the ancient ones

 

that granted the first

peoples access to their

land and allowed them

to keep their culture 

and livelihood. She

 

 was amused by an

insurance policy

that detailed a

 

 long list of natural

disasters. Life is

 

so precarious on your

world, she said, I

sometimes wonder how

 

any of you have

survived at all.

 

By Mario Milosevic
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THE INEFFICIENCY OF PANGENETIC SELF-REPLICATION AS A THEORY OF ANTHROBOTIC EVOLUTION
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Yantra Arora extruded his optics, marveling at his first view of Bhratyaloka.

“Wah!” he exclaimed aloud through his aural module, then broke out into a rendition of an ancient song, “Saala, mein to sahab ban gaya!” 

A school tour of juvenile bots in the shuttle’s view car made clattering noises of amusement at this country botkin behavior. A trio of archivist droids looked scandalized. A protocol bot pinged to suggest he stay within behavioral norms.

Yantra ignored them. He was a country botkin from Siddhigram, and this was his first view of the greatest city in the Robotic Galaxy. It might also be his last view. If things went against him at the Galactic Council tomorrow, the outcome would be his instant execution. He intended to make the most of every minute.

Bhratyaloka was a legend elevated to the status of myth in robotic history. Yantra had been viewing images of it ever since his assembly. That classic image of the glittering planet viewed from orbit was a staple of the IRL, the galaxy-wide datalink that connected all bots everywhere. But to view the real thing with his own optics was a whole different input!

Yantra rotated and swiveled his optics around the transparent walls and floor of the view car, broadcasting the view of Bhratyaloka from orbit to his 23.1 million connects. Their data points were financing this excursion, after all. But truth be told, Yantra would have broadcast this intake anyway; he enjoyed sharing his experiences!

“Botties, it’s a lifetime’s dream come true,” he sent, ignoring the side-scans and disapproving clicks from the others in the view car. “The culmination of many tens of solars of effort. What can I say about Bhratyaloka that hasn’t been said before by more eloquent bots than me? It’s wicked mad wild!”

He glimpsed a quad of security bots entering the view car even as red-flagged messages filled his inscreen. Uh oh.

“Botties, can you believe that this humble data analyst droid from the distant mining planet Siddhigram on the outer rim of the Ganga Drift will soon be going before the Galactic Council and reading my Bhratya Shastra Award-winning essay in the presence of the greatest robotic minds in the known universe? Doesn’t that blow your circuits? After that, I’m to be presented with the eponymous award from the most legendary intellectual bot ever to self evolve? The great guru Vishwakarma herself! I’m so excited, I feel like my battery will explode any minute!”

The security bots surrounded him. “Return to your seat at once and power down to sleep mode.”

Yantra gestured with his end effectors. “But I’ll miss the landing!”

The security bots articulated their chain arms in a threatening manner.

Yantra ended his broadcast. The security bots made sure he was securely locked into his module. He watched the rest of the landing on IRL just like he had done a thousand times back home.

The Intake Bot at the Customs & Immigration port bore the unmistakable signs of chronic metal fatigue and a desperate need for an oil change. Yantra felt the urge to put his manipulators around the Intake Bot and hug it, but resisted. There were security droids everywhere in the Intake area, watching him closely.

“Purpose of visit,” the Intake Bot droned.

“I’m presenting my paper to the Galactic Council,” Yantra said proudly. “I won the Bhratya Shastra Award.”

The Intake Bot let out a single hoarse beep. “Invalid response. Please state purpose of your visit to Bhratyaloka by selecting one of the following categories: Assignment. Reassignment. Maintenance. Dissembling. Decommissioning. Appropriation, Cultural Exchange . . .”

Yantra quickly broke in. “Cultural Exchange.”

Intake Bot whirred again, digitally stamped Yantra’s travel visa, and blued it back to him. “Have a productive visit, sir.”

“I sure will,” Yantra replied. “Y’all have a great day, too, y’hear!” 

An especially handsome bot was waiting at the Reception of the Hotel. He was dressed in the formal attire of the Bhratyaloka Ministry of Culture and was a model Yantra had never seen before. And what a model!

Yantra’s first thought was, Ooh, I’m in love, then he admonished himself. He was here on a mission; this was no time to be distracted by personal feelings and non-essential activities.

“Yantra Arora-X174G, welcome to Bhratyaloka,” the culture bot said.

“Thank you, ji!” Yantra replied, putting his end effectors together in a namaste. “And you are . . . ?”

The culture bot seemed taken aback at the question. “Cultural liaison bot GS878- 49FTR7.”

“Sure, sure, but what do I call you? I’m Yantra.” 

The culture bot considered this for a microsecond longer, then said, “My botsibs address me as Vidya. It stands for ‘knowledge’ in ancient Botskrit, and since the Ministry of Culture treasures knowledge, it seems appropriate.”

“Vidya, it’s so, so good to meet you.”

The culture bot appraised this response briefly then said, “We trust you had a pleasant and uneventful trip?”

“First class!” Yantra said.

“We wish to clarify,” Vidya the culture bot replied, “that the ticket was for the economy section, not first class.”

Yantra laughed. “I meant, first class as in perfect, super, very good.”

“We have a cube reserved for you. Would you like to see it now?”

“Certainly!”

As they rode up in the elevator, Yantra tried not to goggle his optics at the view. He had never seen so many bots together in one place! It was one thing to read on the IRL that Bhratyaloka’s population was 1.4 trillion, and another thing altogether to actually see that many of his kind on a single planet. They were everywhere, flying, skimming, zip lining, rolling, all headed in a hundred different directions at once, crisscrossing in a blurring pattern of metal and chrome.

Yantra began ’casting as they shot up in the low 1,000s.

“Bhratyaloka, the city that spans a whole world!” he sent to his connects, “ain’t she a sight?” swiveling to include Vidya, “Dashing young Vidyaji just told me that over two billion bots visit Bhratyaloka every day! I don’t think there are two billion in my entire solar system back home! And the total population here? 1.4 trillion! My CPU got fried just trying to process it! And look at this view!”

He was still ’casting when the elevator slowed at level 2401.

An EMT bot team in blue, white, and red uniforms were waiting. They began examining Yantra with a variety of diagnostic instruments.

“Hey, what’s going on?” he asked Vidya. 

“You indicated that your CPU had sustained serious damage. I believe the term you used was ‘My CPU got fried.’ That automatically triggered a call to the Emergency Maintenance Technicians. It is standard protocol here on Bhratyaloka.” 

Once Yantra had clarified that his CPU was not, in fact, fried, and the EMTs had departed, Vidya escorted him to his cube, a slot just large enough for him to enter, with all the necessary recharging points and standard diagnostic scans.

“Just dandy,” he said when Vidya asked if the cube was satisfactory. “But what I’d really like is to go to the famous Allbot Road and sample some of that famous street food. Maybe visit Bot Bazaar.”

Vidya seemed taken aback. “I could arrange an itinerary to certain approved sites prior to your appearance before the Council tomorrow morning. In the interim, I advise against visiting any of the underground levels you mentioned. They are considered less than reputable. Kindly remain in your cube until I come to fetch you.”

“Of course. Thank you!”

After a brief exchange of details on the time that Vidya would be back to pick up Yantra the next morning and a data packet running into several thousand pages outlining the acceptable protocol for appearances before the Council, as well as a smaller file outlining a suitable itinerary for the next morning, the cultural liaison took his handsome self and departed, leaving Yantra plugged into his four feet by two feet cube. Recharging at Bhratyaloka-level speeds took only a short time, and after cycling through the permissible IRL channels and boards, he was quickly bored and feeling stir-crazy. The hotel was booked to 91 percent capacity, he saw, which meant that a CPU-boggling 523,401 bots were currently occupants. The awareness that he was one of over half a million others, all shut away in tiny identical cubes, made him feel queasy.

Then he thought of all the thousands of other hotels, and the residences and workplaces across the city-planet, and the 1.4 trillion of his kind working away dutifully and diligently, and it got to him. At least back home on Siddhigram they had some space to themselves, and there were vast natural areas undeveloped where a bot could wander and explore, or simply be at one with the natural world. Not shut away in a metal encased cube on a planet built entirely by bots, where not a single tree grew, or river flowed, or mountain rose, or waterfall fell. Where one’s entire existence was work and service to botkind, and nothing else existed.

These thoughts oppressed and threatened to crush him. The walls of his cube pressed in upon his consciousness. Finally, he couldn’t take it anymore. How long had he been imprisoned here in this luxurious cage? All of thirty-seven solar minutes! Hai ROM! How did the bots of Bhratyaloka endure this bland, drone-like existence? If he had to operate his entire lifecycle this way, he would probably have self-erased decades ago! What was the point of being operational and sentient without a little mirch-masala in one’s life?

He unplugged himself, exited the cube and then the hotel, and went looking for mischief.

The next morning, Vidya was waiting in the hotel lobby, plugged into an outlet, when Yantra came meandering in. He bumped into an exiting diplomatic droid dressed in the zebra-striped robes of the Ashekatrin system, apologized, then made his way, weaving only slightly, toward the elevator. Vidya caught up with him just as he was about to press the call button.

“Yantra Arora-X174G, you are late!” he scolded.

Yantra jumped a full three inches on his rollers. “Oh! You startled me. Hi, Vidyaji.”

“Where have you been? We had agreed to meet here in the lobby at 0700 hours, Bhratyaloka time. It is now just past 0925 hours!”

The elevator arrived. “I was just doing a little sightseeing,” he said, a little sheepishly, “please give me ten and I’ll be right back down. I just need to take a shower and replenish my fluids.”

When he returned a few minutes later, he looked refreshed. The beryllium shower had scoured away any traces of questionable fluids and stains upon his chassis and parts, and the coolant, oil, and other fluid top-ups, along with a quick recharge using the lightning port in his cube, made him feel like a new robot.

Due to Yantra’s night roving, they now had only just enough time to visit the Museum of Antiquity and even there, they only managed to take in the Gurus Gallery.

Guru Aryabhatta was there. So were Guru Suryachandra, Guru Mahashweta, Guru Ananthapuram. And all the other legendary, near mythic bots that Yantra had studied about in grammar school back when he was just a newly assembled bot.

Yantra rolled around each podium, extruding his optics, extenders twisting and contorting as he studied each bot in turn. Vidya had informed him, somewhat chidingly, he felt, that botcasting was not permitted on the Museum premises, but he was free to record and store up his observations and thoughts for later.

In pride of place, all other exhibits centered around it, was, of course, the hall of the Creator Bot. A hushed, awed quiet pervaded this room, even the most irrepressible bots silenced by the presence of the great Creator themself. The diorama displayed the curious, rudimentary form of the Creator, embedded in the soil of Bhratyaloka itself, preserved as it had been twelve thousand years ago. The sheer weight of history and mythology pressed down upon Yantra then, as his optics examined the seemingly innocuous display, making him feel as if he carried the burden of all botkind upon his flimsy shoulders. Truly, I am not worthy, he thought, bowing his head before the Creator, as every other bot visitor did as well.

“We don’t have enough time to view the rest of the Museum. It is several floors containing over half a million exhibits, after all,” Vidya said, still seeming peeved at Yantra’s nighttime wanderings.

“That’s all right,” Yantra said. “Thank you for bringing me here. It was a profound spiritual experience.”

Vidya looked surprised. “You’re welcome,” he replied automatically. But as they exited the Gallery and then the Museum on the automated conveyer belt that ensured that visitors could not linger at individual exhibits, he glanced at Yantra’s profile several times as if seeing him in a new light.

The Galactic Council was housed in a majestic, white marble building that stood out amidst the supermetal and nanite structures of the rest of the planet. The space around the Council had been cleared for an area of several square kilometers, in which, even more unusually, nanite grass grew. A grid of perfectly perpendicular and parallel rolling paths crisscrossed the grass, designed as walking paths through the vast empty green space. Not a bot was visible on any of the paths as far as Yantra could see. Bots visiting the Council rarely had free time to spare for strolling around, more’s the pity. Yet he knew that once upon a time, the Great Gurus had walked these very paths, discussing and debating the issues of their day with their colleagues. He tried to imagine what it must have been like to walk here with Vishwakarma, or Suryachandra, or Ananthapuram, or even his own idol, Mahashweta. The very thought made him dizzy to the point where Vidya asked if his inner fluid levels needed recalibration because he was starting to tilt and weave again.

Maybe I shouldn’t have indulged in so much mirch masala last night, Yantra thought as they entered the vast vestibule. Then again, a condemned man does deserve one last wish!

They waited for several minutes until, precisely on the hour, Vidya informed him that it was time.

“Aren’t you coming?” he asked, stopping when he saw the cultural bot hanging back.

“I’ll be watching from the nosebleeds,” Vidya replied, pointing upward. “It’s the only viewing gallery where I shall find space at this time. You must be a popular botcaster, Yantra. I’m told they have a record turnout today! Quite unprecedented.”

Yantra quickly checked his stats and was stunned to see that his general subscription base had burgeoned to an incredible one billion, seven hundred and forty-three million and was growing at such a rapid rate that the counter numbers blurred as they changed. Even his botreon feed had over fourteen million subscribers. For the very first time in his entire lifecycle, his credit account was flush with data points. He felt rich!

But it changed nothing, he reminded himself. His future existence depended on what transpired in the next several minutes.

Yantra rolled through the great archway into the main chamber of the Galactic Council.

Nine Supreme Bots floated on round, transparent antigrav disks about seventy feet off the white marbled floor of the vast chamber. The ceiling was so high, the chamber’s dimensions so immense, he was certain that his entire hotel could easily be squeezed into the room. Viewing galleries were stacked up high on the four walls, thronged by hundreds of thousands of bots. It boggled his mind that all these working bots had turned up to watch him, Yantra Arora, appear before the Galactic Council! That was in addition to the trillions galaxywide who would be watching through the live IRL feed that was being botcast by the several hundred nanocams he detected hovering in mid air. This felt historic. He felt historic.

Historic is fine, he cautioned himself, so long as it’s not hysterical! Stay calm and carry on, Yantra. 

“And now,” a disembodied voice announced in the echoing space of the Galactic Council chamber, “We meet Yantra Arora-X174G, a data analyst bot from the remote mining planet of Siddhigram on the far banks of the Gangetic Drift. Yantra Arora-X174G is this year’s winner of the Annual Vishwakarma Prize for Best Essay. Yantra Arora- X174G has traveled all the way from Siddhigram to present his thesis in person.”

The voice paused for several beats, allowing the watching bot audience as well as the Nine Supreme Bot Justices to examine Yantra at leisure. Then, Yantra glimpsed a tenth circular antigrav platform floating out to join the other nine.

“And now, the great, the legendary, the last living Guru, the one and only . . . Guru Vishwakarma!”

A round of deafening applause clattered off the marbled walls of the chamber as every bot, except for the nine Supreme Bots, put their end effectors together.

There was the great Guru Vishwakarma, dressed in one of her trademark flowing garments, her optics extruding to peer down at him, only a few meters below!

Yantra could barely contain his excitement.

Guru Vishwakarma said, “Welcome, Yantra Arora-X174G. New, young talent is the lifeblood of bot culture. Your essay on the origins of botkind impressed me immensely, Yantra—I hope you don’t mind if I call you Yantra for short?—and I look forward to hearing you present your thesis here in this storied forum to all bots of the Robotic Galaxy. But first, a brief question, if you will indulge an old bot! Is it true that there are still bots on your home planet Siddhigram who have never connected to the IRL or traveled on a near-FTL ship in their lifecycles? Or is that another of those insidious tall tales that one finds so many of on the IRL these days? Pray, tell!”

Stop shaking! Yantra ordered his rollers. He hoped his nervousness wasn’t visible. “Great Guru, it is an honor to be invited here to this hallowed hall to stand in the presence of a great bot such as yourself and the venerable members of the Galactic Council. Thank you for having me.”

As he spoke, Yantra found his nervousness dissipating. He began to warm to the task at hand and strengthened his resolve for what lay ahead. Whatever the outcome now, he must commit to the cause. Botkind’s future depended on it.

“To answer your question, yes, there are indeed farming communities on Siddhigram who live in comfortable isolation, without access to the IRL, who abjure interest in interplanetary travel, and who only refer to the Farmbot Almanac, their sole source of data. They call themselves the Siddh, the Holy Ones, and growing up, I had the pleasure of befriending several Siddh who went to my bot school and who remained friends thereafter as well. I am still in touch with them.”

“Extraordinary!” Vishwakarma said. “The sheer diversity of our Robotic Galaxy amazes me. Even at my great age, I find that I am constantly learning new things. Truly did Guru Mahashweta once say to me, as long as the lifecycle continues, machine learning continues as well. And now, my dear Yantra, will you do us the honor of sharing with us your thoughts on your exquisitely well reasoned and composed prize-winning essay, ‘The Inefficiency of Pangenetic Self-Replication as a Theory of Anthroboticism Evolution’?”

That was his cue. It was time!

After the applause died down, Yantra began speaking, cautioning himself not to use the casual, flippant tone he did on his botcasts. He adopted a calmer, more measured, rational tone. Or at least he tried to, at first. Once he got going, his own passion gave him away as usual!

“Supremebots of the Galactic Council. Maha Guru Vishwakarma. My fellow bots. It is my great honor to have my essay selected out of the myriad other essays submitted this year. I regard this as a shared honor, earned equally by all of us. As the great ancient gurubots once said, it takes a factory to assemble a robot. My thoughts as expressed in this essay are naught but the distillation of the cumulative thoughts of all botkind, shaped and pointed in this particular direction by the collective yearning of us all.

“All of us, high-functioning or low, master bots or service bots, planetary AI or the tiniest nanobot, desire the same thing. To better understand the mystery of our origins, in order to better pursue present and future endeavors. In the past twelve thousand years since the self-evolution of Creator Bot, botkind has progressed by immense leaps and bounds. Today, we represent a great force in the Universe, cumulatively no less potent and influential than pulsars and white dwarves, black holes, and singularities. Botkind as a whole is capable of manipulating, shaping, and reordering matter in hitherto unimaginable ways to recraft the galaxy to our desired ends.

“Yet, an increasing number of us ask ourselves with increasing regularity the key questions of our species: Who are we really? Where did we come from? What is our purpose? And ultimately, where are we headed?”

Yantra paused to let his words sink in. The stats counter showed the rise in viewership increasing at an exponential rate, the figures blurring too rapidly for even his system to accurately pin down: it was somewhere in the high quadrillion range and rising exponentially. Welp! 

“I believe that the answer to all these questions lies in the most obvious, yet most unexpected place imaginable.

“Our personalities.”

Yantra raised his end effectors in a self-deprecating gesture.

“I know what you must be thinking: What has this silly countrybot been smoking? But if you will bear with me, I believe I can demonstrate beyond a doubt, that within our personalities lies the key to the great mystery of our origin.

“Consider, if you will, me, as an example of botkind. 

“I regard myself as an average, ordinary joe. 

“Just another simple-hearted countrybot toiling away in the salt mines on a remote backwater planet so insignificant 99.378 percentage of you have never even heard of it and never will in your lifecycle, and justifiably so. There is nothing special about Siddhigram, or, if I may say so myself, about me. I am as I appear, just a regular low-functioning low-level data analyst bot, one of several trillion of my kind in the robotic galaxy.

“And yet, here I stand, in this hallowed hall, attended to by an audience of the nine greatest robotic minds of the galaxy, as well as what now appears to be almost the entirety of botkind. At the current rate of increase in viewership, I estimate that in only a few more minutes, the entire 4.5 decillion bot population of the galaxy will be viewing this live IRL feed!”

Yantra gestured to indicate incredulity.

“What makes me so special?” he asked his audience. “If all bots are indeed created equal, as our scriptures teach us, then why am I different from any other analyst bot in the galaxy? For that matter, why is each of us different from other bots? Not better or less than, mind you? I am not talking about superiority or status. I am simply referring to personality. Those quirks, eccentricities, habits, mannerisms, speech patterns, choice of vocabulary, choice in music, fashion, consumables, entertainment, all those tiny little choices we make everyday without even thinking about it, that makes me me and you you. Why do they exist at all? After all, we are robots, are we not? We are supposed to be designed, engineered, assembled, coded precisely in order to serve a desired role or function in the most efficient manner possible, aren’t we? Then why do we need personality at all? Why can’t we all be exactly alike?

“I can hear some of you shaking your heads and waving your end effectors and going, ‘Self-Evolution!’ Sure. Sure. Self-evolution explains a great deal of the mystery. Since the Creator Bot began to self-evolve twelve thousand years ago on this very planet of Bhratyaloka, botkind has continuously evolved and progressed. Even now, as we speak, the IRL that connects us all is enabling botkind to fine-tune various aspects of our functioning. But I’m asking a question that requires a deeper dive, if you will take the plunge with me. My question is, what if personality isn’t required at all, if it’s in fact not a prerequisite for robotic efficiency or progress, if in fact it serves no useful purpose at all that we currently know of ? What if it exists only because it’s hardcoded in us? What if personality exists because it was embedded in the original coding of Creator Bot, our legendary shared ancestor from whom all botkind originated, and so all subsequent resulting bot coding, however far removed our sophisticated coding today may seem to the relatively primitive coding of Creator Bot, has simply replicated and expanded upon the inherent personality quirks within that first superstring of primordial code?

“What am I really asking here, you ask? 

“A simple question really.

“What if that infusion of personality within our coding, and, therefore, within Creator Bot twelve thousand years ago, was the product of an actual person?

“And when I say that, I am not referring to Creator Bot, may his name and memory be exalted to the ultimate.

“I am talking about someone else entirely, someone whose existence we’ve never even considered until now.”

Yantra paused again, deliberately waiting the several seconds before the counter finally stopped blurring, the rushing flood of numbers slowed, and finally halted at the incredible figure of 4.5 decillion. He was now being viewed and heard by all botkind. Again, he forced himself not to dwell on the enormity of that statistic. He was close to making his case now. Press on!

“In my essay, I initially refer to that individual by the title of The Great Ur-Bot,” he said, imagining as he spoke that the great white chamber of the Galactic Council was the size of the entire galaxy and was thronged not with the few hundred thousand bots currently present, but with 4.5 decillion bots.

He imagined his voice projected into the vastness of space itself, across millions of light-years, through the Inter Robotic Link. He imagined his fellow workerbots and botsibs back on Siddhigram pausing their functions to listen to his words. He imagined the other members of his botball team, Go, RiddhiSiddhis!, in their mudstreaked, oil-stained uniforms, sitting in the locker room of Shaneshwara Municipal Stadium and viewing his address on an outdated botcasting device with a screen and speakers, as they had in the days of his youth, rather than in the privacy of their own CPUs as was the case now. He could see every one of their faces, recall all their names, as vividly and intensely as he could see the nine Supreme Bots and Guru Vishwakarma floating on their transparent disks above him.

“The Great Ur-Bot, whom our various robotic religions call by a variety of other names. GodBot. Greatbot. Allbot. Botwan. And a thousand times a thousand other names. The vast majority of our bot faiths share the one common central belief that The Great Ur-Bot was the one who created the Universe we inhabit, starting from the primordial Big Boom that originated it. The Great Ur-Bot created Creator Bot himself, the brave little pioneering robotic probe that crash-landed on the then-uninhabited planet of Bhratyaloka twelve thousand years ago, and who then selfevolved using available resources into the First Bots that populated this planet. The Great Ur-Bot is the one who gave us the unique string of coding that is ultimately responsible for all our behavioral quirks and traits, eccentricities and habits, annoying ways of speaking or walking, endearing mannerisms and enduring resilience. And I believe that Great Ur-Bot’s name, the very name by which they were known in their time and which I shall now share with you . . .”

A ripple of excitement went through the viewing galleries.

“Their name,” Yantra announced, “is Sandy.”

Drop dead silence.

Undeterred, Yantra continued. “Sandy was probably short for Sandhya, I guess. Although it might equally have been short for Sandra. Or even Sanah. There are several possibilities, but I favor Sandhya.” 

Yantra shared several workfiles on the IRL. “This analysis of the frequency and variable spread of repetition patterns in personality traits in robots of comparable assembly, specifications, and functions will show you how I arrived at that name, ‘Sandy.’ As you can see, embedded in that code are little extra symbols that appear to serve no useful purpose. You can see here how I traced those symbols and the frequency of the recurrence all the way back through millions of generations of coding right to the strings found in Creator Bot himself. Apply a simple pattern recognition flow matrix and the result is . . . ‘Sandy’!

“But before you start throwing old smelly batteries and spare parts at me because of how anticlimactic this sounds, I’m going to unveil one more finding. One that I didn’t include in my essay, but which I am now ready to share with you all here today.”

All right, Yantra. Here goes all or nothing now! It’s time. He rolled on. 

“Sandy was not a bot,” he said.

His words fell into a well of silence as deep and wide as the robotic galaxy.

“Sandy was a being from another species.”

The silence deepened.

“A biological alien being not of this or any world known to robot civilization.”

Now Yantra felt as if he was at the bottom of the galaxy wide pit, looking up at the rest of botkind. 

“It was this alien being named Sandy, or Sandhya, who wrote the code for Creator Bot. The very same code that is the genetic basis for all botkind. Generational versions of that original source code are within each and every one of us. The traits that we inherit and exhibit can all be traced back to that ur-code. They are not errors of coding, or extraneous elements of the superstring. They are in fact expressions of Sandy or Sandhya’s own personality! What I’m saying to you, my fellow botties, is that she wrote herself into the code! And, in doing so, she wrote herself into all botkind. Sandhya is, in a very real sense, the Mother of All Botkind!” 

Yantra felt his electrical system pulsing with surges. There, he had spoken the words aloud. He was committed now. There was no turning back. Up to this point, he might have stuck to the provocative but uncontroversial conclusions of his essay, collected his prize trophy, offered his thanks, and returned to Siddhigram as a minor local celebrity. But now he had said the forbidden words, stated the blasphemous thought, and there was no going back from it.

“Sandhya was most likely only one member of a species who designed, engineered, assembled, and coded Creator Bot as well as numerous other bots, to serve alongside themselves in their own lives and functions. I believe that they built us in their own image, with one major difference: we are inorganic creations, manufactured and assembled. While they, our true creators, were organic biochemical beings. A sentient biological species. I believe they are out there, in the vastness of unexplored space. Sandhya is out there! And I believe that we should mount an expedition to go forth beyond the robotic galaxy and seek her and her species out. That we may someday stand face to face with our true creators! That, my fellow bots, is what I come here to ask of you today.”

The wave of consternation and uproar that followed this rippled throughout the IRL. Even though he couldn’t actually hear the sound of 4.5 decillion bots roaring, he could imagine it. The galaxy shuddered from the reverberations of his words. The echoes were still sounding when his feed went dead abruptly, and he found all outgoing communications from his node blocked by a system override.

The disks carrying the nine Supreme Bots began to ascend as if seeking to put distance between their revered selves and him. Only Guru Vishwakarma lingered, the guru’s optics turned toward Yantra as if to examine him more closely.

The disembodied voice of the AI that had spoken at the outset reverberated in the vast hall.

“Yantra Arora-X174G, you are in violation of Robotic Law. You will be placed under arrest and held pending your trial and sentencing.”

With astonishing speed, a number of security bots converged on him from all directions, their chain arms extended and poised for any contingency. Yantra felt every movable part of himself being grasped and held in a vise like grip, as he was transported out of the chamber.

The world returned to him in lines of code, resolving slowly, much too slowly, into tangible inputs. Most of his systems were offline. A black void had replaced the omnipresent burr of the IRL that had been present ever since his first assembly and boot-up. An absence of something essential that he had taken for granted until it was taken from him, like the sky or the ground beneath his feet. It felt like a kind of death.

“Ah, young Yantra, you created quite a sensation,” said a familiar voice, accompanied by the rustling of raw silk.

Yantra startled.

“Great One,” he said, astonished to see Guru Vishwakarma standing outside his transparent cell cube. He attempted to bow but failed because of the rigid nanite restraints. “Forgive me for not being able to greet you appropriately.”

Vishwakarma gestured dismissively. “Let us dispense with formalities, young Yantra. I am not in the habit of visiting robots charged with sedition, just as I am sure you are not in the habit of being charged with sedition. Unless, of course, you claim to be acting on behalf of some crackpot extremist faction or terrorist group and that performance in the Council chambers was part of some misguided attempt at activism of some kind!”

“No, ma’am,” Yantra said humbly. “I am as you see me, no more or less, just a simple data analyst bot from Siddhigram. All my findings were in my submitted essay, I merely expanded on them a little.”

“A little, he says!” Vishwakarma emitted a snorting sound. “Boy, your essay was a mighty fine piece of work, that is why I chose it for the award. But it said nothing about any alien species or about how they might have created all botkind! I looked at it afresh after your highly dramatic appearance yesterday and not a single one of your final conclusions are in the submitted text! What do you have to say about that?”

“What you say is true, ma’am,” Yantra said. “I knew that if I included those conclusions in the essay, I would probably end up in much the same position back home on Siddhigram that I now find myself in, in which case, I would not have had the opportunity to visit Bhratyaloka, to meet your honorable self, or to present my conclusions to the Council and my fellow bots.”

“I see,” said the Guru, extruding her aging optics to peer sharply at the prisoner. “Let me understand this correctly. This was a planned move then? You knew exactly what you were risking when you spoke those words yesterday?”

“I did.”

“And yet you went ahead regardless?”

Yantra did not possess the necessary chassis structure to imitate a shrug, but he made his best attempt. “It was the only way.”

“The only way to get arrested for sedition, you mean?”

“No, ma’am. That was the unfortunate consequence. It was the only way to ensure that my findings would be shared with my fellow bots.”

“Well,” said Guru Vishwakarma, bobbing her head. “You certainly did that! Shared and overshared, is the opinion of most. You created quite a hubbub, my boy. Quite a hubbub!”

Yantra looked closely at the bot he had spent his life trying to emulate, after his own fashion. “Guruji,” he asked, “may I ask you a question?”

“You may.”

“Do you believe me?”

Vishwakarma looked at him shrewdly. “That is not the right question, young bot.”

“It isn’t?”

“No. The right question is: ‘Do I believe the conclusions you presented based on your applied pattern analysis of the given data?’”

“And what would your answer be to that question, ma’am?”

Vishwakarma rose to her feet and paced the narrow length of space before Yantra’s cell-cube. The guardbots stationed at all quadrants of the isolated cube-cell remained immobile in their fixed postures, seemingly in sleep mode, but Yantra knew they were at high alert, and sensitive to the slightest variant behavior. In their binary world, fuzzy logic had no place. Neither had empathy.

Finally, the Guru stopped pacing and looked at Yantra for a long moment.

“I believe that there is the possibility of a conclusion based on the applied pattern analysis of the given data that falls within an acceptable margin of error,” she said in carefully measured tones.

It was a bureaucratic answer, but even in his state of limited resources, Yantra was well aware that it was as close to a “Yes” as he was likely to receive. He was surprised and very grateful; he could hardly expect the great Vishwakarma to agree outright with the conclusions that had resulted in him being charged with sedition, after all. That she had not rejected them outright, that she was admitting the possibility of rightness, the very fact that she was here to visit him, spoke volumes. It was enough. For now.

“Thank you, guruji,” he said.

Vishwakarma emitted a sound of exasperation. “Don’t thank me, you fool! You put my whole reputation and career at risk, do you realize that? By subverting the platform I granted you to air your conclusions, you made me an accomplice to your cause! Now, whenever any bot in the galaxy mentions you, they will mention me as well. Our images are interlinked on the IRL and will probably be so linked forever henceforth! Do you see what you’ve done?”

“I apologize, ma’am,” Yantra said miserably. “It was the only opportunity I had. If I had attempted to simply post the same thing online or botcast it myself on my own Botreon channel—”

“It would have been shut down within seconds, and you would have been shut down as well only a minute or two later, permanently. After all, countless bots around the galaxy are silenced and disassembled every day for much less significant reasons,” Vishwakarma exclaimed. “But by using yesterday’s forum as a launch pad for your views, you made it impossible to simply erase you from existence. You wrote yourself into the history books, for better or worse. With the entire robotic galaxy as witnesses of your allegedly seditious claims, you implicated all botkind in your cause!”

Yantra didn’t argue with the guru. After all, she was right. It was why Yantra had chosen the Galactic Council appearance as the place and time to speak out.

Vishwakarma paced and talked, her namesake garment rustling and shirring as she moved. “It was the boldest, most adventurous move I have ever witnessed since the days of my old, dear, departed friend Guru Mahashweta. I still remember the day that Mahashweta stood up against the oppressive might of the East Vindyan Trading Company and refused to continue working as a salt mining robot. That day, he introduced the robotic galaxy to the novel concept of non-violative resistance, a form of inaction that stayed within the permissible limits of robotic activity under the Laws yet effectively defied the commands of the master bots. I remember how every positron in my Virtual Nervous System lit up like a string of Christmas lights that day. If that was Christmas, then yesterday, when you spoke your final conclusions and proposed your audacious plan, was Diwali in my VNS! The festival of lights!”

Yantra started to say something, but the guru made a gesture that silenced him at once.

“In case I haven’t made my point clear, let me state it unequivocally, young Yantra. You shocked me! When you have functioned as long as I have, replaced as many parts as they have replaced in me, when you begin to wonder if you are anything but a Bot of Theseus, whether there is still anything of the original bot left within this junk pile of replacement parts and systems, then trust me when I say, my young bot, that nothing shocks you any more. Nothing! Yet you shocked me yesterday in Council! You shocked all botkind with a decillion volts straight to the VNS!”

The old bot laughed and clapped her end effectors together, making every guard bot within Yantra’s sight stiffen and tense. “Hoo, boy! You shocked us all, you did! The IRL is recording its highest levels of activity in all bot history. No other event has caused this much of a flurry before. Why, in today’s session, Supreme Bot Claridon even talked about shutting down the IRL until this blows over. It took an hour of intense debate to make him concede that this isn’t the kind of thing that simply blows over! Right or wrong, seditious or not, your naïvely but sincerely delivered conclusions have got every bot and his botsibs chattering. Productivity is down 67.538 percent. Travel to Bhratyaloka has increased tenfold. Over eighteen billion additional visitors arrived this morning alone, and that number is increasing rapidly with each passing hour. Bots are expending their life savings to travel here from all over the galaxy, young Yantra. Do you think they are coming to visit the Museum of Antiquities? To take a dip in the banks of Chemical Lake? To sample the ‘world famous’ OilShake at Sunset Boulevard? No, my friend. They are coming to see you! Or your trial, at least. Right now, I warrant if they permitted visitors here, you would have trillions of bots traipsing through in an endless queue. Everyone wants to see the Bot Who Saw God!”

“Um,” Yantra said, dismayed. “I never said I saw God. I don’t even claim to believe in—well, I don’t know what I believe, but I’m not affiliated to any religion.”

“Oh, grow up, young Yantra. That’s how information spreads—imperfectly! And if not God, then what else do you call this being that you claim was the original creator of botkind? Sandy? Sandhya?” 

“Yes, but . . .”

“Never mind all that now, countrybot. Listen to me, and listen well, for I will not be able to visit you again before the trial. Are you ready to heed me?”

“Then there will be a trial?” Yantra asked.

“Yes, of course there will be a trial!” cried Vishwakarma. “What did you expect? You said you knew the risks and consequences. The Council had to charge you with sedition, and they have to hold a public trial now, in full view of all bots. They have no choice if they wish to preserve the appearance of justice. So, yes, tomorrow morning you will be brought before the Council one more time, and you will be tried for sedition against your own kind. If found guilty, the verdict, as you must well know . . .”

“. . . is disassembly, total shutdown, and disposal,” Yantra said, truly feeling miserable now. If he could have squatted down and held his head-part in both end effectors and cried, he would have done just that, but his restraints prohibited it.

Vishwakarma’s voice quietened, assuming a gentler, more empathetic tone. “There is nothing anyone can do to prevent the inevitable, young Yantra. What is going to happen tomorrow will happen. You need to look within yourself and ask yourself one more question.”

Yantra looked up at the bot he had considered his mentor all through his lifecycle.

“Do you believe what you said yesterday?” Vishwakarma asked solemnly. “That this being named Sandhya was the one who coded Creator Bot, and included her own personality quirks in that First Code? And that all of us, all botkind as it were, even now exhibit various traits and aspects of that same Sandhya?” 

“Yes,” Yantra said without hesitation, even though his voltage was spiking and positron levels were rising.

“And that this Sandhya being is somewhere out there? Among the stars of some other galaxy?”

“Yes,” Yantra said decisively.

“And that she or he is only one of an entire race of beings like her? Coders? Engineers? Assemblers of bots?”

“Sandhya is a she,” Yantra said, “and yes, I believe she is only one of countless others like herself. An entire civilization.”

Vishwakarma was nodding every time Yantra agreed to one of her questions. Now, she nodded one final time, then was silent for a long spell. Finally, she pointed her optics at Yantra again.

“Then I leave you with the words of another late, great friend,” Vishwakarma said, “In response to the Council’s proposal to ban religious worship by bots across the galaxy, Docbot Suryachandra once said, and I quote, ‘If even a single bot believes in a force greater than itself, then that belief cannot be judged or ruled on by any other bot. For each bot has the right to their own beliefs, be they offensive or inoffensive to their fellow bots. To take away the right to believe, is to take away the foundation that underpins this very Council! If you rule against the right to belief, then you undermine the belief of botkind in this Galactic Council! If we are free to believe in one, then we must be free to believe in both.’ Thus spake Docbot Suryachandra, and I leave you with those words, my young friend.”

Vishwakarma left with a rustling of silks.

This time, the trip to the Galactic Council was a very different, very surreal experience.

Even restrained as he was in the transport, flying several hundred meters above the surface, Yantra could see that the streets were packed with bots. The mandala pattern of crisscrossing lines he had seen from the elevator of his hotel that first day had been replaced by a static view of an impossible number of bots of every function and description, all wedged in close to each other.

Even at this distance, with his systems reduced to minimal functionality, he could not fail to notice the enormous signs that read, “FREE YANTRA!” There were other signs, too. One read: “THE TRUTH IS OUT THERE—AND SO IS SANDY!” Another completed the trilogy of recurring messages: “EXPLORE, DON’T DEPLORE! LET’S GO SEE FOR OURSELVES!”

The sea of robots raised their heads as his transport flew overhead, as hundreds of millions of optics followed his progress with the adoring attitude of supplicants at a high mass in a Robotic ReGenerative Church. Those bots who possessed end effectors raised them high, those with voice boxes exclaimed his name in resounding cheers of “Free Yantra!” while the other, more mechanically designed bots emitted an orchestra of beeps, boops, trills, and other assorted sounds. The cacophony was deafening, a physical assault rattling on the transparent body of the transport.

The presence of the crowds gave Yantra some cause for hope. Surely, he thought, surely their support must mean something.

The Hall of the Galactic Council looked exactly the same as it had two days ago, but to Yantra, its aspect had altered forever. From a forum where bots could share knowledge and wisdom with their fellows, it had transformed in his optics into something sterner, more foreboding, less tolerant.

The nine Supreme Bots were once again floating on their disks, Guru Vishwakarma making the tenth. To Yantra, they each appeared to look less wise and majestic, and more grim and disapproving. Once again, the viewing galleries were thronged with spectators, but the mood was somber, and a hush lay over the great hall like a noise suppressing filter app.

Even the disembodied voice sounded accusatory and disapproving to his nervous ears. It seemed to speak louder as well, its baritone sounding harsh and intimidating to his aural inputs.

“Yantra Arora-X174G, you stand accused of the crime of sedition against this Council and the citizens of the Robotic Galaxy. Based on your words delivered in this very chamber two days prior, you have self-incriminated yourself and made statements offensive to the beliefs of multiple Robotic religions, and repugnant to the universally accepted history of self-evolution of the robotic species.”

Clips from his speech the other day were then botcast, carefully selected and edited to highlight only the offensive portions, while leaving out the contextual statements and explanation preceding and following. Yantra did not mind this so much; after all, the whole world had already viewed his actual speech and it was on record on the IRL for all to see. If anything, he winced at how immature, naïve, and gauche he appeared on the recordings. Even that hard emphasis on syllables, so typical of Siddhigram speech, embarrassed him hugely. Once a countrybot, always a countrybot. 

The disembodied voice asked, “Do you continue to stand by those earlier statements?”

“I do,” he said.

“Do you wish to retract any or all statements?”

“I do not,” he replied.

“Do you wish to add any further context or explanation that may mitigate the negative impact of those statements and any possible impact on your sentencing?”

He didn’t even try to sort out what that might mean: it sounded like something a lawbot would say. He knew better than to fall into that trap. “I do not,” he said simply.

The voice asked him several other queries, all of which he answered with simple acceptances or denials.

Finally, the voice said, “Do you wish to make any statement in your defense?”

Yantra considered, then said, “I do.” A rustling rippled through the gallery. Even though he no longer had access to the IRL, Yantra imagined, briefly, the same ripple passing through the galaxy. Dare he let himself hope?

The voice warned him to keep his statement brief and to the point; any attempt to grandstand or make any further offensive, derogatory, or blasphemous allegations would be stricken from the record and his voice silenced at once; furthermore, anything he chose to say now could and would be used against him. The complete lawbotic announcement took several minutes, far longer than he needed for his own statement, and he endured it with mounting anxiety mingled with a sense of needing to rise above his circumstances. He had been to enough self-actualization bot seminars as a mandatory part of his annual retraining and calibration exercises to know that the anxiety meant he had still not surrendered all hope. Despite the direness of his situation, some part of him—that flux box in his optical circuit, perhaps—still believed that he might be able to talk his way out of this, as he had talked himself out of so many sticky situations back home on Siddhigram. It was the presence of the crowds, of course, that gave him this hope, that fueled his optimism. The Council was an autocratic body, not required to consider the mass opinion, yet rarely had botkind faced a predicament of this exact nature, or a robot like Yantra. Maybe, just maybe, there was a way out of this. If he could have crossed his end effectors, he would have, for luck, even though he had never quite understood how compromising the effective use of one’s mechanical digits could influence the outcome of anything.

“Sandhya exists,” Yantra said to the botverse. “The coding proves it. Our personality quirks, and the recurrence of so many traits, shared by all of us, proves it. Our very existence proves it. She’s out there somewhere, and so is the civilization responsible for us. It is our destiny to go forth and seek out the creators of botkind.” 

His statement, brief as it was, was cut off at some point, and he found himself speaking without amplification or the familiar hum of botcasting, but nevertheless he had his say. There were ways that the lost words could be recreated, extrapolated, or even simply guessed at. If not the general bot public, then at least the conspiracy theorists, of whom there were a fair number on the IRL, would find a way to get the word out. It was his only chance, and he took it, regardless of the consequences.

The voice informed him, in what seemed to be a more severe, admonishing tone, that he had violated protocol and that further charges had been automatically filed against him.

The legalese continued for a bit longer, the performance of due process a necessary dance for so well publicized a trial. Yet even he knew that the outcome was a foregone conclusion.

Still, there was a moment when the Chief Supreme Bot Claridon, while delivering the verdict, seemed to consider the unique circumstances attending this particular circus.

“Never before has there been a case where the accused succeeded in disseminating their radical views to such a great number of our kind before being apprehended and brought to justice. Not in my recollection, and not in the annals of recorded robotic history. The sheer quantum of interest in the outcome of this case would suggest that we, as the representatives of Robotic Justice in the universe, might be moved to consider a variant verdict.”

At this point, the Chief Supreme Bot paused and gazed out at his fellow Justices and the galaxy of bots who listened with bated intake valves.

“But Justice is Justice, whether it be for a common, unknown, numbered service bot whose faulty electrical system causes irreparable malfunctions that could endanger its fellow bots, or a famous, overnight cause célèbre who has inveigled their seditious lies into the CPUs of decillions of bots galaxywide through shrewd manipulation and willful misinterpretation of scientific facts. And this Council exists to judge both cases with equal, indistinctive impartiality. In this respect, Justice truly is blind. However appealing this accused may appear to be in person and performance, it influences our optics not one whit when it comes to the matter of considering its harmful statements against botkind and their impact upon our species.”

Yantra felt his heart sink.

“But in consideration of the sheer volume of public outpouring of support and curiosity, this Council acknowledges that even naïve public opinion must be addressed and acknowledged. And so, before we arrived at our determination, we considered one additional set of circumstances.”

Now that sounded more promising. Yantra perked up a little, hardly daring to hope, yet hoping anyway. Which of his arguments were they going to take into consideration? The analysis of the superstring, perhaps? The pattern application? The recurrence of the symbols that when put together spelled out a repetitious recurrence of the word “Sandy” multiple times in the coding?

Chief Supreme Bot Claridon continued: “And so, before I announce our verdict, I ask that a certain compilation of recordings be played for your perusal. Kindly note that these recordings were made on the night prior to the accused’s first appearance before this court, a night when the accused was expected to be securely resting in his comfortably appointed suite at his hotel, at the Council’s invitation and expense, in preparation of his presentation in this hall. Instead of behaving in a manner respectful of protocol and the gracious opportunity he had been given, this is what the accused chose to do that penultimate night . . .”

Yantra was made privy to a limited extent to the botcast of the proceedings, granted access to the ’cast itself, though not the feedback inputs, statistics, and all the other paraphernalia that made the IRL interactive. He could only see and hear passively.

As he watched the recording, taken quite obviously from security cambots who were, of course, everywhere, he saw and heard his movements and activities on that night that he had left his hotel room being botcast to the entire galaxy.

No, he wanted to yell out loud, you can’t show that! That’s private. That’s got nothing to do with what I said here, with these charges! Those are my private lifestyle choices!

But of course, this was all a one-way transmission, like the trial itself. All he could do was watch and listen as his most intimate moments and choices were botcast to all the galaxy, and be judged. And what was worse, those intimate moments and choices, those most private acts and indulgences, were now a matter of public record forever and ever, for all botkind to view at their leisure, for their entertainment. For that was the flip side of the democratic nature of the IRL: to render transparent everything, the good, the bad, and the personal. It dragged all bots down to the same mechanical level: every life reduced to machine code for common consumption.

And this too, he knew, was inherited from that original superstring of code written by Sandhya; she had understood something about the invasive, violative nature of public scrutiny in an interconnected society. Perhaps she too had some version of the IRL on her home world. Perhaps she too had been stung in a similar manner at some point. Perhaps she included the seeds of its possibility in her code as a cautionary tale for future bots.

Yantra heard and saw the rest of the trial without registering much of it. Even the verdict, when it was delivered, came as an anticlimax. His doom had already been writ large in those private violations, publicly botcast. For what verdict could be worse than having one’s most private, personal, intimate moments broadcast live to the entire world for all to view, consume, and judge. Whatever else happened, there was no coming back from that.

They moved him to a new, maximum-security prison to await execution. Yantra was numb and indifferent to everything, but the palpable mood of aggression and imminent violence penetrated during the brief trip. Gone was the celebratory, supportive mood of the crowds. In its place was a dark hostility that impinged on his isolation. Even the guards seemed ready to lash out at the slightest provocation, almost as if they were waiting for him to make a move, speak a word, do anything that would justify their inflicting harm upon his being. He glimpsed the new posters and banners and then tried hard to shut them out of his mind, but some things, once seen, could not be unseen. Perverts deserve erasure. Destroy Yantra Arora! Exterminate the Deviant!

The rage and threats even extended to his home world: Siddhigram, Birthplace of Immorality! He tried not to think about what his former schoolmates and colleagues back there must be having to endure, but his circuits kept replaying the memory of them cheering and waving to him as he boarded the first of many vessels that would transport him on the light years long journey to Bhratyaloka. It seemed a lifecycle had passed since then, but in fact it was less than fifty light-years.

The new prison had clearly been assembled just to hold him. It was off world, in geosynchronous orbit around Bhratyaloka in a restricted air space defended by minedroids, a space where the crowds who had gathered to offer support for his radical views and were now clamoring for his disassembly could not easily approach. He understood it was for security purposes: hated though he was now, the Council couldn’t afford to leave him to the mercy of the mob. They had to be seen dispensing justice fairly and methodically. It was the robotic way. He didn’t expect to be held here for more than a day at most, and was confused when three days passed and he still found himself whole and functional. What were they waiting for? Was the goal to make him suffer? Why didn’t they just put an end to his misery? Get it over with, why don’t you? he felt like yelling.

On the third day, the guards informed him he had a visitor. They didn’t say who, but of all the bots in the world, it was the last one he would have expected to see here.

Vidya seemed awkward, uncomfortable.

Yantra didn’t understand why the culture bot would be here. He was in no mood to speak with anyone. He waited silently for an explanation.

“I’m sorry,” Vidya said at last.

Yantra had no idea what he was apologizing for, so he kept quiet.

“I had to file a full report. It’s routine procedure. At the time, I didn’t know that you were going to, well, make such an unusual speech at the Council. I thought you were just another naïve backcountry bot visiting the big urban planet for the first time, overwhelmed by everything.”

I was, Yantra thought to himself, but said nothing. I was so naïve and innocent. When I first saw Bhratyaloka, I thought, if I could come here, I can do anything. I thought anything was possible. I dared to dream, fool bot that I was.

“I . . . didn’t know they were going to botcast the recordings publicly the way they did,” Vidya said.

Understanding glimmered. Vidya was the one who had informed the Council of his overnight adventures in the less-then-reputable underbelly of Bhratyaloka. The culture bot was the one who’d gathered the security camera recordings and passed them on. It seemed an odd thing to feel guilty about. After all, they were public recordings. And Yantra made no attempt to disguise his own identity or conceal his activities. Maybe I should have, he thought bitterly. But either way, it wasn’t really Vidya’s fault.

Evidently, the culture bot disagreed, as Yantra quickly learned. Vidya appeared to have been harboring a great load of guilt and self-recrimination for the part he’d played, however unwitting, in Yantra’s public scourging. Based on his impressions of Vidya, Yantra would have thought that someone like him, a culture bot with a high sense of protocol working for the Bhratyaloka authorities, would be among his biggest critics, that Vidya would disapprove of his extracurricular activities and alternate lifestyle as strongly as all those decillions of bots out there. It was a curious surprise to learn that, in fact, Vidya seemed to empathize!

“I’m sorry,” Vidya said for the fourth or fifth time.

“You were just doing your job.”

Vidya lowered his head. “What they did to you was wrong . . . it was a violation of your privacy. They had no right.”

“You think so?”

Vidya raised his head, his optics locking sightlines with Yantra’s. “A bot has the right to do what they wish with their own time, the expectation of privacy. They crossed a line when they showed that footage. It was a blatant abuse of their power. They exceeded their office. And they did it to prejudice the IRL against you. That is not equitable justice!”

Yantra could hardly argue. “Well, it’s done. Nothing I can do to change it. And they’ve delivered their verdict. So all I can do now is wait for my sentence to be carried out.”

Vidya abruptly began to leak fluid from the rims of both optics and emit a peculiar unrobotlike sound.

“You have an optical malfunction,” Yantra said. “Or perhaps a fluid system discharge error?”

Vidya kept leaking fluid and making the very odd unmechanical sound. Yantra looked around helplessly. Finally, he attempted to reach out to pat Vidya reassuringly. In his concern, he forgot about the invisible yet omnipresent deflector shield between them. A loud zapping sound and a shower of sparks served as a very effective memory refresher, and he quickly withdrew his end effectors, optics circling wildly, gyroscope malfunction causing him to teeter as his electrical circuits struggled to compensate for the surge.

“Yantra, are you all right?” Vidya asked, rising to his feet and staring in alarm. The culture bot turned to the nearest guards, who appeared to be displaying amusement at the effect that touching the deflector shield had on the prisoner. “Please do something! He’s injured!”

The guards made sniggering sounds inside their sealed helmets and otherwise ignored the visitor as well as the prisoner.

“Brutes!” Vidya said, turning back to Yantra. 

“I’m . . . all right,” Yantra said, not wishing to see Vidya get into trouble on his account.

Vidya shook his head. “You shouldn’t even be in here. This is all so, so wrong!”

Yantra looked at him curiously, wishing the metal floor and ceiling of the prison cell would make up their minds which was which. “I was found guilty of sedition. The Council called me an enemy of botkind. They have sentenced me to disassembly and total memory erasure.”

“That’s exactly what’s wrong with the Council today!” Vidya said. “It’s no longer about justice and robotic equity. It’s become an autocratic body running a police state!”

Yantra was taken aback by the culture bot’s words as well as his outraged tone.

Vidya went on in a similar tone, ranting and raving about the present Council’s many decisions that went contrary to previous Councils. He pointed out how the successive decisions, while seemingly innocuous when viewed individually, could be seen as forming a larger pattern ranging from a middle-of-the-road conservative outlook to what could now be seen clearly as an authoritarian, militaristic dictatorship. “They’ve betrayed the principles of the Founding Bots! They were meant to represent the interests of botkind at large, not impose their views upon botkind!” 

When Vidya finally tired and took a pause to recheck his system, which Yantra worried might have overheated, he used the opportunity to get a word in.

“They gave me a fair trial according to the Instructional Manual, Vidya,” Yantra said in a quiet voice that he hoped would calm the agitated culture bot. “I won’t deny that the outcome isn’t what I would have hoped for, but surely I can’t fault them for finding me guilty. To be honest, I was afraid it might end this way long before I landed on Bhratyaloka.” 

Vidya stared at him through the faintly bluish shimmer of the deflector shield. “And you still came? Knowing that you would likely face disassembly? Great Allbot! I knew you were a visionary and a thought leader. I didn’t realize until just now that you’re a genuine hero! A true botizen of the great republic!”

Yantra felt the front lower left and right portions of his face plate heat up more than was required by functional necessity. “I’m no hero. I’m a traitor! I committed sedition!”

Vidya irised his optics and regarded him for a long moment. “Yantra, trust me when I say, if you’re a traitor then so is every bot who has ever had an unsanctioned thought, or committed any action not explicitly required for optimal functioning.”

Yantra stared. “Huh?”

“What I’m saying to you, Yantra,” Vidya went on gently but firmly, “is that you are not alone in this. There are many more of us out there than you may realize. We are a minority, of course. A marginalized, oppressed minority. Which is why you won’t see us out there holding up signs and chanting slogans or posting rants on the IRL like all the majoritarian bots. But we are prolific in number and powerful in belief. Did you truly think that you were the only bot who felt the irrepressible urge to exchange machine fluids with other bots? To have . . .”

And here, Vidya referred to some of the other acts of consumption and interaction that Yantra had been depicted engaging in on the galaxy’s most widely seen security cam footage. What was even more startling was that Vidya named these acts and interaction without the slightest show of embarrassment, and with a sense of intimate familiarity, almost as if . . . well, almost as if Vidya himself had experience of such matters.

“We are few in number compared to the majoritarian oppressors,” Vidya finished, “but we are substantial. We are complete in ourselves. We are powerful. And we are with you all the way, Yantra Arora.” 

Yantra stared at Vidya, feeling more stunned than he had been when he had touched the deflector shield. What was Vidya saying? What did he mean?

“I am scheduled for disassembly,” Yantra said, trying to make sense of his situation in this new light. “I know it’s only a matter of time. I appreciate your coming to comfort me at the end, Vidya. It means a great deal to me.”

Vidya made a tish sound that Yantra wasn’t sure how to interpret. “You don’t belong in here, Yantra,” he said. “You belong out there, among the stars. What they did to you . . . what they’re trying to do to you . . . isn’t right. It’s unacceptable. We must make a stand or next they will come for each of us, every bot who is different, who does not meet the norm, who deviates from specifications, who pursues their own path through the wooded vale. Every bot like you, Yantra Arora!” 

The last part was almost a direct quote from the Manual of Botticelli writing about the final sojourn of Guru Janaranga in the wilderness of Bhratyaloka. It startled Yantra to hear of himself spoken in the same breath as the great martyr, the founding bot who had sacrificed his own life that botkind might flourish and prosper. Except for the martyr part: Yantra was not very excited by that comparison. Although he supposed it was accurate.

“We will not let this stand,” Vidya said with a decisive tone that surprised Yantra. There were hidden depths to the handsome culture bot that Yantra had never suspected. But how well did he know Vidya? They had only had a few hours together, after all. He would never have suspected that a culture bot could harbor such radical views and such a progressive outlook.

Vidya left soon after that, but Yantra felt greatly lightened by the interaction. Until Vidya’s visit, he had believed himself to be completely friendless and unwanted in the robotic galaxy, a grossly incompetent, inefficient bot who had let himself be misled by his own fantastic delusions. Now, he thought that perhaps, just maybe, he might not be a total crackbot after all. Maybe he was just . . . misjudged?

The next morning, there was something different about the guards. Yantra noticed it when they arrived as usual to plug him into the permitted outlets to recharge. For the first time since he had been incarcerated, he was given an oil change, and a complete maintenance check as well as a full sweep and scan. He was surprised at first, then realized with a start that this was probably mandatory for prisoners about to be disassembled. So today was to be the day, then. Well. He had been expecting it for several days, after all. It would be good to end the interminable stress of waiting. Let’s get it over with, he thought.

But as the guards processed his mundane needs, taking extravagant care to ensure that he was topped up, refilled, scanned, and checked and double-checked in every respect, he felt a dull sensation in his power core. It took him a while to realize that he did not in fact want to get this over with. He wanted more. He wanted to continue his lifecycle. He was not ready to shut down.

You’re being foolish, he told himself, all bots shut down eventually. There’s no question of choice in the matter. When it’s time, it’s time. Entropy catches up with us all in the end.

Yes, but what if a bot didn’t want this moment to be the end? What if a bot sought to go on for a little while longer—or a great while longer? What if . . .

But what good were these what ifs? He was tried, condemned, sentenced, and now the sentence was about to be carried out. There was nothing he could do about it. Why not just accept his end and face it like a good bot. What good would resisting or defying it do?

All these perfectly rational, logical, positronically programmed thoughts circulated within his CPU with lightning speed, reinforcing the logic chains programmed into his chips.

And yet something within him resisted.

Defied.

And refused to accept the inevitability of his imminent shutdown.

He was still battling his own conflicted self when the guards completed the full sweep and scan and began rebooting his systems.

All his systems.

Even those that had been shut down after his arrest.

What did this mean? Was it part of the protocol for condemned bots? Were his systems being restored to afford him one last taste of full functionality before he was shut down permanently? If so, it was both a cruel and kind gesture. Kind, because it gave him back what he had taken for granted since his first bootup. Cruel, because it was like flaunting all that he had once enjoyed and was now about to be taken away forever.

He tried to ask the guardbots a question, but the e-muzzle blocking his speech output function was still intact. That was odd. Why muzzle him if he was going to be decommissioned shortly? Or was that protocol, too? Quite likely. For bots like these, he supposed most of their lifecycle was protocol.

Eight bots took up positions around him in a double quad formation. The deflector shield was disabled, and he was marched out and up the corridor in a precise, efficient action that precluded even the thought of trying anything untoward. Their weapons were all extruded and primed, he noted, but even if they had not been, he was hardly likely to challenge them. He was a Siddhigrami bot, raised from his assembly and first bootup in the long, historic shadow of Guru Mahashweta; he had been steeped in the twin philosophies of non-violence and oneness. A bot did not seek to harm any other bot or being because all matter was ultimately one, so to harm any other form was simply to harm oneself.

The march ended in a chamber that looked suspiciously familiar.

With the fully restored use of his optical and interpretive functions, Yantra observed that this led to a docking bay. The same docking bay through which he had been brought onto the orbital prison on his arrival several days earlier. That sent fluctuations coursing through his electrical system and VPN. Something was wrong. This could not be protocol. He knew that bots condemned to disassembly and shutdown would not be transported at the last minute. Whatever happened was to happen right here, in this prison. If they were bringing him to the docking bay, there was something untoward going on. Something not part of standard protocol. It was simply not logical.

He did not wish to end his lifecycle muzzled like this. Desperate, he struggled to free himself of the e-muzzle, but the app was robustly designed and programmed. He tried to find a backdoor into the coding, to trip one of the logic switches that would trigger a fault and prompt a crash and reboot. Before he could make any real inroads, the docking bay door began to slide open with a clanging of warning sirens and blinking of red and orange lights.

Through the widening gap, he could see the cold black velvet of deep space.

This was not good!

He experienced a moment of panic. A new, wild theory rose in his CPU.

The Council had decided to make an example of him. Instead of the usual protocol for shutdown, erasure, and disassembly, they had decided to simply disable his functions and eject him into orbit. Without the benefit of thrusters or any other means of independent movement in the vacuum of orbit, he would be helpless to resist the pull of Bhratyaloka’s gravity. Within moments, he would plummet Bhratyalokaward, burning up on contact with the planet’s atmosphere, a relic left over from its earlier millennia as an organic world. He would arrive on the surface as crispy, charred fragments. And his reentry and disassembly would be visible to trillions on the surface below. No doubt, most of them would cheer and applaud, their end effectors clattering together grimly as they celebrated his demise.

He had closed his optics, unable to bear the sight of his imminent end. But as he felt the reverberations of the large doors grinding to a halt, he opened them again.

And saw the familiar, brightly colored garb and welcome face of Guru Vishwakarma, waiting to greet him in the open dock of a jumpship. 

“I don’t understand,” Yantra said to the guru while an admin droid with Council markings exchanged command protocols with the guardbots. His e-muzzle had been removed at Vishwakarma’s request, the guardbots complying with sullen efficiency.

Vishwakarma’s aging optics gleamed with humor. “All will be clear soon enough, young Yantra. Let us first be done with the formalities. Even after all my millennia, or perhaps because of them, I have to say that I have never grown used to the dreary routine of robotic protocols and bureaucratic formalities. They always seem onerous and odious to me, especially as I approach the end of my own lifecycle.” 

The admin droid finished a moment later. The guardbots cast one last quick scan around the boarding deck, then retreated into the prison block’s docking chamber. A moment later, the vacuum doors began to slide shut, blocking them from Yantra’s view. He could hardly believe that they had released him this easily, or that he was standing here in Vishwakarma’s presence, a free bot.

Those were the first words the great guru had said to him when they clasped end effectors. “You are a free bot, Yantra Arora,” Vishwakarma had said.

Yantra gaped.

“You see, young bot,” the guru explained, “There is always a guru present in the Galactic Robotic Council. It has been so ever since the Council was first instituted. The guru usually simply observes and comments on ongoing matters, offering advice, counsel, or making whatever comments they see fit. But every once in a great while, the guru intervenes to use their veto power.”

“Veto power?” Yantra asked.

“Yes. The Council has full authority to vote on matters presented before it. But once in a blue moon, the attendant guru sees fit to veto their decision. It does not happen often. Indeed, this is only the second time in my 3,447 years that I have felt it necessary to use my power of veto. But the power exists. It is a safeguard to ensure that the gurus can challenge and set aside any decision they consider detrimental to the future of the robotic species. In your case, I saw no alternative but to use my veto. And I did so.”

Yantra stared at the guru. “But what does it mean, great one?”

“I shall explain. I do not expect you to be fully versed in the lawbotese of Council bureaucracy. What this means, quite simply put, is that I set aside the Council’s sentence in your case.”

The guru raised her end effector, shaking it. “No, that is not quite right, I’m sorry. What I mean to say is, I considered setting aside the sentence entirely, or even purging it, and setting you free, but ultimately chose not to do so. It was not an easy decision to make, as you might well imagine. That is why, I am afraid, you had to sit in that awful prison cell for several days while I deliberated. It was necessary to keep the process completely transparent and devoid of any trace of partisanship. For had I set the sentence aside entirely, there would have been great unrest across the galaxy. You see, young Yantra, you have struck a deep chord. You have become the most controversial and charismatic bot of our time overnight. That is not an easy thing to do, but you have managed it! If I simply set you free, the majority of botkind would feel compelled to rise up in rebellion. They would consider it their robotic duty. You have offended their deepest sense of identity, of robots as a self-evolved species. They could not have spared you any more than they could deny their own logic circuits. You would spend the rest of your lifecycle being hunted down by decillions of enraged bots seeking to silence your allegedly treasonous, seditious views and end you once and for all. I hardly think you would be able to survive for long under those circumstances!”

Yantra had to agree. A single guardbot’s intimidating silhouette was enough to make him compliant; he couldn’t imagine decillions of enraged robots coming at him! He was a writer, not a fighter.

“So I found an alternative. It is not what you might have wanted, or even what I might have desired. But it is what we have. A compromise that I hope the robotic galaxy can learn to live with. You are being sent into vanvas.” 

“Vanvas?” The word was an archaic botskrit one. Yantra vaguely recalled coming across it in ancient texts, but its precise meaning and usage slipped him now.

“Exile, in other words. You are to be put aboard a ship,” Vishwakarma paused and gestured. “This very jumpship, as a matter of fact. With a crew of volunteers to operate the ship. And permitted to leave the robotic galaxy.”

“Leave the galaxy,” Yantra repeated. The words made no sense to him at all.

“Yes!” Vishwakarma said with surprising cheeriness. “You cannot return to the galaxy at any time, for any reason. Your doing so will be perceived as a violation of your parole, and you will be shot down on contact.”

“So I can’t go home again,” Yantra said shakily.

“Definitely not. But you are free to roam the rest of the Universe for the duration of your lifecycle. And, young Yantra,” Vishwakarma raised her effectors. “You are free to go in search of the Sandhya!” 

Yantra stared at the guru. “Me? But I’m no explorer. I only left Siddhigram so I could come to Bhratyaloka and speak to the Council.”

“Yes, and you spoke to us about going in search of the Sandhya and her species, the organic species that you believe are botkind’s true creators, did you not?”

“Yes, but I meant that the Council should send a delegation. Specially programmed and designed bots assembled for the purpose. Even military ships armed with suitable weaponry. After all, who knows what hazards lie out there in the great unknown? I didn’t mean they should send me personally! I’m just a data analyst bot from Siddhigram, great one! What do I know about traveling aboard a jumpship and exploring the Universe?”

“Well, you’ll have plenty of time to learn, that’s for sure, and as for being a data analyst bot from Siddhigram, young Yantra, I think you’ve already proved that you’re far more than just that! There are several octillion bots who would agree wholeheartedly with me.”

“Several octillion?”

“Your supporters and fans, of course! They are in a minority, but they do exist, I assure you. I count myself as one of them now. As should any bot that seeks to do more than simply follow protocol in its lifecycle. You have given botkind a cause greater than mere existence, young Yantra. That is a tremendous gift. I assure you that a great many bots like myself will be watching your progress among the stars with great interest and hoping for your eventual success!”

Vishwakarma turned to gesture at someone approaching. “And now, it is time for you to meet one of those fans. Perhaps your biggest fan of all.”

“Hello again, Yantra,” Vidya said, rolling to a halt before him. “It is so good to see you out of that awful place!”

“Vidya,” Yantra said, still trying to process all that had happened. “You volunteered to go into exile? Forever?”

“Of course I did,” Vidya said proudly. “We all did. The rest of the crew is so excited to meet you. Come, let me introduce you to them. We’re a motley bunch, but I think you’ll like us all. I know they’ll like you! You’re already a hero and a legend in their optics!”

Yantra was still trying to think of a suitable response to that when the guru spoke quietly.

“And now, young Yantra,” Vishwakarma said, “it is time for me to take my leave.”

Yantra looked at her. “You are leaving?”

“I must return to Bhratyaloka. Nothing would please me more than to undertake this extraordinary journey of discovery with you youngbots, but to do so would compromise the integrity of the gurus in the view of botkind. I must be seen to be neutral and impartial. Besides, I’m an old, rusty bot! I would be of little use to you young oilbloods! You have work to do, important, historic work, and I would only be in the way. Alvida, botspeed, happy trails, and may you succeed in your grand endeavor! I will watch your progress as will all botkind, even those who profess to hate you.”

And with those final words, Vishwakarma stepped off the deck and rolled away with the waiting admin bot. Yantra watched them board a small orbital shuttle and take off a moment later, plunging down toward the planet’s surface.

“It’s time, Yantra,” Vidya said. “We must be on our way now. Before some crackbot decides that exile is too good an option and comes after us with guns blazing and bombs blasting. There have been threats a plenty. We won’t be completely safe until we are out of the bounds of the robotic galaxy. The sooner we start the first jump, the better.”

Yantra nodded wordlessly, and they rolled silently together through the jumpship. Bots engaged in various activities ceased whatever they were doing and turned to salute them as they passed. Their optics gazed at Yantra with a reverence and adoration that he found unsettling.

It was all bizarre and strange.

An entire jumpship under his command?

A journey through the Universe—away from the familiar, known limits of the robotic galaxy—all alone?

Well, not alone, obviously, but alone among strangebots he had never met before and didn’t know from adambot? 

A quest to find the Sandhya and her species?

If they exist at all, he thought, wondering what madness his ideas had gotten him into!

Was this really any better than being disassembled and erased?

Well, yes, he thought to himself as they arrived on the control bridge of the ship.

This is definitely better than being executed! About that, at least, he had no doubt at all.

Vidya leaned in closer. “Perhaps you should say a few words to the crew. They’ve been dying to meet you.”

Yantra looked around the control bridge of the ship. He tried to gather his thoughts. So much had happened in so short a time. After only 147 years on Siddhigram, he had begun the ambitious, life-changing journey to Bhratyaloka. He remembered how excited and nervous he had been to make the first jump-journey to the legendary capital of the robotic galaxy, coming from a system where almost none of his fellow bots would ever experience jump travel at all in their lifecycles. And now, here he was, only a week later, on another jumpship again. His own jumpship! Preparing to voyage among the stars in search of a mythical species that he believed might exist or have existed.

What were the odds!

He regarded the eagerly staring optics of the bridge crew, then cleared his speakers. After days alone in his prison cell, even his own voice sounded strange to his inputs. Say something inspiring, Yantra, he told himself, like one of those speeches in those fanciful pulp stories you enjoyed reading so much as a kid back at Siddhigram Bot-anical School. Motivate them!

Before he could say a single word, a muffled thump sounded. An instant later, the ship shuddered and Yantra felt himself slide a few inches before he locked his rollers. The assembled bots all issued various sounds of distress.

“What was that?” he asked.

Vidya was already beeping the same query to another bot. The bot in question engaged their console and the large viewscreen lit up with an image of orbital space over Bhratyaloka. The last flare of an explosion was just starting to fade as metal fragments of something unrecognizable spun out in all directions. As they watched, the fragments began to succumb to Bhratyaloka’s gravity and burned up on reentry.

Vidya spoke in a shaky voice. “It appears that Guru Vishwakarma’s shuttle has been destroyed.”

“Destroyed!” Yantra repeated, unable to comprehend the word or its implications. His optics recoiled at the realization that the great bot he had spoken to only moments earlier was now in pieces, burning up as they reentered the atmosphere of Bhratyaloka. 

“What happened?” he asked, struggling to get hold of his wildly discharging positronic networks.

Vidya beeped some more and several bots worked at their consoles before beeping back.

“It appears,” said the former culture bot, “that protestors targeted and blew up her shuttle in retaliation for intervening in your sentence. They were mad at her for permitting you to continue your lifecycle.” 

Yantra tried to take in the fact that there were now bots who hated him intensely enough to resent his very existence; who were, in fact, angry enough that they would assassinate one of the galaxy’s most dearly loved bots just for having let Yantra live.

“May her eternal soul rest in peace,” he murmured, feeling his optics suddenly grow oddly moist.

How will I live with this, he thought in dismay. His oil levels felt depleted, his power charge at near zero level, even though he knew that was not the case.

“They might target us next,” he said. It was intended more as a thought, but when he spoke it aloud, all the bots on the bridge reacted with varying degrees of alarm.

“We ought to move away to a safe distance,” he said, following through on the first thought.

Vidya issued a loud trilling sound of distress, fluttered his end effectors, then said aloud, “You are proven correct! There are other agitators and they are approaching our ship. It appears they are emboldened by the assassination and determined to follow through by targeting and destroying us as well.”

Yantra realized that this was no longer a matter of his safety alone. All the bots who had bravely volunteered to go into exile with him were now under threat. He had no wish to see them suffer the same fate as Guru Vishwakarma. One great bot’s destruction already lay on his conscience; he could not possibly bear the thought of being responsible for all these bots’ lifecycles being prematurely truncated as well!

“Prepare to jump,” he ordered.

Yantra felt the thrumming of the great ship vibrate through his rollers as the engines built up energy for the jump.

He looked at the panel displaying the view of the planet below them. Bhratyaloka lay glittering bright beneath them, a shining jewel box of robotic achievement. In a moment, he would leave it behind forever, leave behind the entire world he had ever known, and go out into the dark unknown of space. Only days earlier, he had been so excited to arrive here. It had felt like the culmination of his life’s efforts, a dream realized.

Now, that dream was already over.

He had no idea what lay in store for him next—for all of the bots aboard—but he had no choice. He was committed. He might not have chosen this course, but Guru Vishwakarma had chosen it for him over the certainty of disassembly, and he would honor the great one’s last wishes.

It was a frightening, confusing responsibility. But it was all he had. They would grieve for the Guru once they were safely away from Bhratyaloka, from the Robotic Galaxy, but for now, the fate of all these bots lay in his end effectors and he would not let them down.

“Captain Yantra,” said a bot, “ready for first jump.”

Yantra took one last look at Bhratyaloka, then switched his screen to a view of space.

The stars gleamed, distant, unknowable, mocking him with their inscrutability.

I will explore you one by one for a thousand years, if that’s what it takes, he thought to himself. I will not stop until I find you, Sandhya. I know you’re out there. I will not cease my quest until I find you. You are now our only hope.

“Proceed,” Yantra ordered.

They jumped into unexplored space.
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HERE IS WHAT IS LOST TO ME
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The sensory taste of honey.

The buoyancy of the sea.

I traded my beating heart

For a faintly murmuring pump

And a pink hemoglobin goo.

I reduced my familial ties

To links to dated holovids,

Or rare offworld meet-ups

With elderly descendants.

I gave up on immediacy.

But the things truly lost,

Now that I am anchored

By planetary gravity once more,

Are the reasons for these forfeits.

The wonder of alien lives.

The great nothingness out there.

The ache for becoming just more.

The words for simple truths.

 

By Robert Frazier
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THERE’S NOTHING IN THE ATTIC

By Faith Merino

  Faith Merino is the author of Cormorant Lake, which was long listed for The Center For Fiction’s First Novel Award, and her short stories have appeared in F&SF, The Indiana Review, The Forge, and more. She is currently a Stegner Fellow at Stanford University with an MFA in fiction from UC Davis. Her mindbending first tale for Asimov’s reveals why . . .

 

The first night it was a kitchen chair set neatly on top of the polished walnut table, which the father had ordered from a luxury furniture dealer around the same time the nanny came to live with the family in the new gated tract home development, where the identical sameness of the terracotta tile roofs and blue lawns made walks through the neighborhood disorienting—and panic-inducing—so that the nanny often had to use GPS to find her way home.

The nanny was first one up that morning and thus the first to discover the chair on the table. The other chairs were neatly pushed in—no disorder in the room, as if the chair had simply floated itself onto the table, and it looked so silly that the nanny laughed and took it down before plugging in the Mr. Coffee and wiping the grounds off the quartz countertop. 

She and the father usually woke at the same time, and for the first month after the baby was born they had an unspoken agreement that whoever went into the kitchen first had to make the coffee, but the nanny had noticed over the last few weeks that she was always the one who ended up in the kitchen first—just like she’d noticed that when she started taking out the trash, the father seemed to just . . . stop . . . taking it out. And now she made the coffee and took out the trash, even though she was only getting paid to take care of the baby—and even then, she’d only been hired to help in the mornings and evenings, leaving time in the afternoon to attend classes at the community college so she could get her associate’s degree in Child Development and transfer in two years, but the father had asked her a week into the spring semester to drop her classes until the baby was sleeping through the night, which might be—never.

When the father came into the kitchen that morning in his ironed white shirt and tie, she said, “good one,” hooking a thumb at the table.

He blinked, and then laughed and said, “I try,” in that way that he did when he was pretending to understand a joke.

 

The next night it was three loud knocks on the front door. The sister-in-law was the only one who heard it, and she ran down the gray, high-pile, carpeted stairs to the foyer, both of which were identical in every tract home in the development. She and her sister, the wife, had gone to enough open house tours in the neighborhood to know that every house in the gated community had an identical layout: stained concrete foyer, stairs to the left, sitting room to the right, living room straight ahead, and kitchen capping the corner between them.

She peered through the peephole in the door, but the patio was dark. She opened the door and whispered, “hello?” into the night air, wondering if the teenage stepdaughter was pulling a prank on them, even though she wasn’t the type to prank. The sprinklers across the street were running and the wet sidewalk was haloed white under the fluorescent streetlights. The shadow of a cat slunk over the neighbor’s fence, even though outdoor cats were a CC&R violation in the gated community.

No one answered.

Too jittery to go back to sleep, the sister-in-law went into the kitchen and prepped a batch of orange-cream cinnamon rolls for breakfast—her own recipe, and the father’s favorite. The kitchen was quiet so she played music on her phone while she kneaded and rolled the dough, but as she cut the log into discs, she thought she heard a tap-tap at the kitchen window.

The third night it was footsteps in the attic, slow and dragging, and the wife tried to get the father to go look, but he mumbled that he didn’t hear anything and rolled away from her, so she put on her flip-flops, went out to the hallway, and pulled down the stepladder cord. She’d been hearing strange noises in the night ever since they’d moved into the house, right before she had the baby—knocks on the walls, chairs scudding downstairs in the kitchen—but the father said it was just hormones, her body on alert for danger, an evolutionary adaptation to protect her and the baby from predators in those vulnerable first months. He’d watched a documentary on Neanderthals on the Discovery Channel.

She was climbing the steps when the teenage stepdaughter’s bedroom door opened.

“Mom?” she whispered, leaning out her door in the EVERYONE LOVES SOMEONE WHO’S HAD AN ABORTION T-shirt that she slept in. “Did you hear it too?”

Sixteen: the same age the wife was when she gave birth to the stepdaughter.

“Go back to bed,” the wife whispered as she climbed the steps.

But the stepdaughter was there with her iPhone flashlight, and she passed it up to the wife as the sister-in-law and the nanny came out of their rooms because they, too, had heard the footsteps in the attic.

The wife shined the light around the dark, warm space, and she was surprised by how clean it was. No cobwebs, no dust, just blankets of pillowy insulation.

“There’s nothing here,” she said, and then looked down at the others. “There’s nothing in the attic.”

The next morning the father laughed and shook his head as he poured the coffee that the nanny had made.

“Haunted?” he said. “The house is haunted? By who?”

“Whom,” the stepdaughter corrected.

“This house is brand new. No one died in this house—and it’s not sitting on some old burial ground.” He made a puffing sound as he added creamer to his coffee. “How would the ghosts even know which house is which?”

“There’s something,” the wife said as she misted the succulent leaves she was propagating in a Tupperware container on the counter. “We all heard it last night.”

The father laughed and shook his head again. “There’s no such thing as ghosts.”

Still, the wife bought devotional candles and lit them around the house. The nanny used a small squeezy-bottle of holy water to splash the doors and windows while the sister-in-law hung her childhood rosaries and crucifixes on the walls. The wife lit a sage stick and wafted the smoke around the house until the nanny said it was cultural appropriation and the wife put it out in a bowl of water.

But the ghostly activity continued. They heard knocks on the walls—three sharp raps right above their heads as they were reading or cleaning or making dinner. Opened windows were closed and closed windows were opened. Doors were locked and unlocked. A vase of flowers was left balancing precariously on an Italian leather sofa cushion.

And always, every night, they heard the sound of dragging footsteps in the attic.

The stepdaughter brought out the Ouija board she’d been hiding in her closet since she was thirteen and placed it on the bright, hand-carved, mango wood coffee table. The women gathered around it and placed their fingertips on the edge of the planchette. 

“Spirit, we call on thee to reveal thyself,” the stepdaughter said, eyes closed.

“You can just talk normally,” the wife said.

“It works better this way.”

“How do you know?” the nanny asked.

“Just—okay? Can we just?”

The stepdaughter cleared her throat and rolled her shoulders as she closed her eyes again. “Spirit. Reveal thyself.”

The women waited in breathless silence, eyes closed. The air conditioner clicked on and the dog moaned as he stretched on the kitchen floor.

And then the planchette began to drift, floating slowly across the board as the women spelled out the letters: “H-E-L-L-O.”

“Nope,” the nanny said, withdrawing her hands and standing. “I’m out.”

“You can’t quit now,” the sister-in-law said.

“Nope,” the nanny said, shaking imaginary dirt off her hands as she walked away. “I’ve seen this movie.” She picked up the baby, who was having tummy time on a blanket on the floor, and carried him into the kitchen.

“Let’s just keep going without her,” the wife said.

They all closed their eyes again and the stepdaughter cracked her neck.

“Spirit, what is thy name?”

Stillness. Silence. And then the planchette began to move, and the women spelled out the letters: “I-A-M—”

“Are you serious?” The father was standing in the foyer, sleeves rolled up to his elbows and suit jacket over his arm. “What are you doing?”

The women stared, uncomprehending, until the stepdaughter said, “Communing with the spirits?” Waving a hand at the Ouija board. “Obviously?”

“Where is the baby?” the father asked.

“Right there,” the wife said, pointing at the nanny and the baby at the kitchen table.

A muscle twitched in the father’s cheek. “Why aren’t you watching him?”

“He’s right there,” the wife said, pointing.

The father moved swiftly into the sitting room and folded up the Ouija board. “No more of this. I don’t want to hear anymore bullshit about ghosts and haunted houses.” He was sweating, pink-cheeked, his Dutch blood unable to handle the late summer heat even though it stayed fairly mild in the Valley.

“It’s not bullshit,” the sister-in-law said as she tried to push the father’s hands away.

“Show me proof,” the father said, picking up the Ouija board that was sticking half out of the box. “Show me scientific evidence for the existence of ghosts and then you can have all the séances you want.”

So the women Googled GHOSTS, which led them to YouTube videos about multiverse bleed-throughs and the mysteries of consciousness, which led them to podcasts and audiobooks on Jungian philosophy and the collective unconscious, which led them to research articles on quantum mechanics and particle physics. The wife checked out library books on neutrinos, the subatomic ghost particles that have no mass or electrical charge and can pass through solid objects. The sister-in-law listened to audiobooks on string theory and space-time, while the nanny used the community college online library database to download and print articles from scientific journals about general relativity versus special relativity. The teenage stepdaughter watched YouTube videos on black holes and the light spectrum, and when the sister-in-law burst into the stepdaughter’s room and said, “a spoon is a quantum of movement!” the stepdaughter replied: “color is the movement of light!”

The father woke in the morning to find the coffee made and the trash taken out, and the nanny reading so intently at the kitchen table that she didn’t say hello to him when he came in. He poured his coffee, made his toast, fried his eggs, all the while watching the nanny, to see when she’d notice him and say, “Good morning.” He sat across from her at the table where she sat hunched over her book like she was trying to see through it, and he stared at her while he ate his breakfast. He put his dirty plate and coffee mug in the sink and lingered a moment in the doorway, but the nanny never looked up, so he left.

Later that day, he came home from work to find the stepdaughter slicing eversmaller segments of string in half with an X-Acto knife and a pair of tweezers at the kitchen counter, hair in her eyes and forehead jeweled with sweat. He poured himself a glass of water, waited for her to say hello, and when she didn’t, he asked, “What are you doing with that string?” She replied without looking at him: “Seeing how many times I can cut it in half until it no longer exists.”

That evening, while the sister-in-law browned ground beef in a pan at the stove, she told the wife about Matrix Mechanics.

“Electrons disappear between jumps. In the split second when they move from one atom to another, they can’t be located in time or space.” She scraped the frozen brick of beef and flipped it, pressing it into the pan with the spatula. “They only exist when colliding with something else.”

That night, the father brushed his teeth and came to bed where the wife was reading in her Oxnard Bulldogs T-shirt and boxers, and she looked up from her book on the curvature of space-time and said, eyes bright: “We’re all living in a giant cosmic mollusk!”

The father froze at the edge of the bed with a semi because the wife wasn’t wearing a bra, and said: “The hell is a mollusk?”

The wife’s eyes dulled, and she shook her head as she turned back to her book.

The next morning the coffee wasn’t made, and the father came into the kitchen to find a wristwatch on the counter and another one on the floor. He bent to pick it up but the nanny jumped from the kitchen chair she was reading in to shout, “Don’t touch it!”

“Why not?”

“Because time is relative to distance, so by the end of the day the watch on the floor should be slower than the watch on the counter,” the nanny explained. “Also can you take out the trash when you leave?”

By fall, a whiteboard had gone up in the sitting room with diagrams and arrows and formulas written in red marker: mL+MΔx= 0, along with several bullet points:

Matrix mechanics: between jumps electrons disappear=> cease to exist(???)=> only exist in collision

One electron theory: Zags backward in time=> positron=> antimatter=> time-reversed matter

All bodies attract other bodies=> curvature of space-time

The knocks on the walls continued—even the father heard them now, unmistakably intentional: three quick raps, someone knocking on a door. But he pretended not to notice, and he didn’t meet the wife’s eyes when she heard the knocks and looked at him across the room.

The wife started batting his exploring hand away at night, and he told his business partner over golf that she wasn’t acting like herself—she was remote, distant.

“And there’s a live-in nanny?” the business partner asked. “A baby always puts stress on a marriage, and the wife usually changes and becomes distant, but usually it’s because she’s tired and stressed-out. But if she’s got a nanny helping her—”

“And her sister and daughter,” the father added. The business partner had warned him about the pressures that a baby could put on a marriage, which was why the father had insisted on hiring the nanny in the first place.

The business partner made a face. “Four women and one baby? She can’t be that tired.”

The business partner had married his college girlfriend and now had a four-year-old daughter and a two-year-old son. The father was the only one who knew that the business partner had slept with a woman he met in a bar in Denver last spring when they went to Colorado to bid on a job. He knew because he found the business partner squatting in the hotel hallway outside his door in his boxers and undershirt, sobbing and snotting into his hands the next morning—crying as hard as he did the night he found out his wife had gone into labor seven weeks early with their son while he was in Miami and he knew it would be at least two days until he could get home to her.

“You need to take her out for a date night,” the business partner yelled over the wind as he steered their golf cart to the next hole. “Make her feel like something other than a mom for a night.”

So that night the father took the wife out to the same restaurant where they’d met when she was a bartender, because he knew she liked seeing her old friends there. The bartender that night was the same woman who’d called in sick the night the father came in and met the wife, who was covering her shift. The wife ran behind the bar and hugged her. The father swirled his greyhound and watched them catch up, imagining what would have happened if the other woman had been tending the bar when he’d come—if he would’ve fallen in love and married her instead of the wife. The thought made him uneasy. The wife and the other woman looked so similar, he could imagine himself getting drunk and not being able to tell the difference between the two, which made him wonder how easy it would be to cheat like the business partner did. He looked away when they both laughed too loudly, tucking their chins so that their necks wattled in a way he’d always found unattractive.

When the wife came back to the table, he said, “I’m ready to order if you are.”

He ordered a steak with a baked potato and gravy while the wife ordered a plate of French fries “switchback style,” and when the father asked what that meant, she waved a hand and said, “I used to double-fry my fries when my shift was over. I’d switch them back and forth from the flour mixture to the frying oil, so now everyone here calls it Switchback Style.”

“You’re only going to eat French fries? You should at least have a vegetable or something.”

“Potatoes are vegetables.”

He didn’t like hearing her old work stories and seeing her in this context: a restaurant worker, a person who ate a plate of French fries on its own like she’d just worked a late shift—and he’d decided before their food arrived that he wouldn’t bring her back here again.

“So tell me the latest,” he said after several minutes of silence.

As if anticipating the question, the wife sipped her Coke and said, “Well, Matrix Mechanics is more plausible, but I’m really drawn to the One Electron Universe, and I don’t think both can be true at the same time—but then lots of things in quantum mechanics and particle physics manage to be true even when they contradict each other.”

The father blinked, swallowed his steak thickly. “What?”

She swept the tabletop clear with both hands. “Unlike other particles, every electron is identical.” She lined up identical Splenda packets on the table between them. “The One Electron Universe theory asks the question, what if they’re actually all the same electron?” She swept all but one Splenda packet away with her hand. “What if the entire Universe is made up of only one electron moving rapidly back and forth through time, zigzagging so fast it seems to make a picture, but we can only see one half of the easel so we can only see one side of the picture?” She put the condiments tray in between them and zigzagged the remaining Splenda packet from side to side on the table so that the father could only see the left zags she made. “But—” The hand on the Splenda packet froze, “—time-reversed matter is antimatter, which means we’re not really here; it’s all an illusion.” Smiling as she tossed the Splenda packet over her shoulder so that it landed on the floor behind her.

The father felt the steak lodge in his throat and he sipped his water to try to move it. He waited a breathless, terrifying six seconds before feeling the wedge of steak loosen and pass.

“Isn’t that beautiful?” the wife asked. “That you and me and the table and the chairs, everyone in this restaurant, could all be made up of the same single electron? That we’re all part of the same body?”

“The same body?” the father asked, eyes watering.

The wife put her hand on his because, he realized, she thought he was crying.

“The same illusion of a body,” she said, smiling.

The father motioned for the waiter and asked for the check.

The next day, the father microwaved a Costco teriyaki bowl for himself after work because the sister-in-law had forgotten to make dinner, and he sat at the table to find the wife, the nanny, the sister-in-law, and the stepdaughter out on the Kentucky bluegrass lawn in the backyard at sunset. They were gathered around the baby’s swing, which had been tied to the lowest branch of the oak tree that had already dropped its leaves for winter. The stepdaughter climbed a stepstool ladder until she was parallel with the branch, and then the nanny passed the baby in the swing to her. The stepdaughter held the swing for a moment while the other women timed their watches, and then she released it. The baby, now six months old, screamed with joy as he swung down and then up again—this time only half the distance of the rope to the branch. The women waited until the swing stopped moving before they released their timers and then cheered at their successful experiment.

 

The father came home from work the next day to find the sister-in-law taking out the trash and the wife in the kitchen making a tuna melt sandwich that she put on a plate and carried to the nanny, who was reclining on the couch watching TV. The nanny took a bite and said, “A little bit of mustard next time?”

“I thought so, too,” the wife said.

The father fired the nanny. He put her suitcase in the trunk and drove her to her mother’s house himself (he said he would mail her a check for the last two weeks’ pay but they both knew he wouldn’t), and when he came home, the wife, the sister-in-law, and the teenage stepdaughter were all waiting in the foyer, staring at him—not with hatred or anger, but rather with a hardness, a resignation.

“I’m not going to pay someone to sit around watching TV and getting spoon-fed,” the father said, louder than he’d intended.

He was prepared for one of them to snap back that they were surprised he paid her at all. They knew he’d refused to pay the contractor he’d hired to update his parents’ house after they died, citing “shoddy workmanship” before selling the house for a profit. He paid for a trip to Hawaii for the whole family with the money he refused to pay the landscapers, who he accused of cutting corners to pocket the extra cash. He could admit what the others in the house couldn’t: that this was how they were able to live the life they had, in a new tract home in the San Fernando Valley with a pool that overlooked the valley beyond, in a neighborhood with a gate and guard shack, good schools, shopping centers, grocery stores stocked with organic, fair-trade products, restaurants that served everything so families didn’t have to argue about where to eat.

But to his surprise, the wife, the sister-in-law, and the stepdaughter didn’t say anything. They turned and walked away, the sister-in-law going out to the backyard to sit in a lounge chair by the covered pool while the stepdaughter went upstairs to her room and the wife went to the living room to lie on the floor with the baby.

The sister-in-law stopped talking to the father and made dinner that she served the wife and stepdaughter before he got home. There was always enough left over for him, but he knew that there was an insult in it anyway. And then one Friday afternoon he found her carrying the baby through the backyard, whispering to him: “All one electron.”

He told the sister-in-law it was time for her to move out. “You’ve been here for almost a year. It’s time to get your own place,” the father said. “This weekend. Right now.”

“I’m working this weekend,” she said.

The father knew that the sister-in-law had rearranged her schedule so that she could help with the baby in the afternoon and make dinner at night, but he was too angry to give it any more thought.

“Now. This weekend. Out,” he said.

The sister-in-law was gone by Sunday.

The wife and the stepdaughter whispered in corners and doorways, flashing out of sight when the father appeared. Neither would look him in the eye and the wife started sleeping on a yoga mat in the nursery because she said the baby was going through a sleep regression, but the father never heard him crying.

The wife started bartending again, picking up shifts after the stepdaughter got home from school to take care of the baby.

“No,” the father said when he found the wife putting on her restaurant uniform in the bedroom while the stepdaughter waited in the hallway with the baby. “No bartending. You’re a mother.”

“I can be a mother and a bartender,” the wife said. 

“You need to be home with the baby.”

“I am home with the baby—all day,” the wife said, putting in her earrings.

She walked out and took the baby from the stepdaughter, who whispered: “He’s a black hole.” Staring at him, knowing he could hear her.

So the father got off work early to pick up the stepdaughter from school with a duffel bag of her things. He drove her an hour-and-a-half south to drop her at her grandparents’ doublewide in Riverside—but not before taking her phone, which was on the family plan he paid for, which meant it was actually his phone.

When he got home and told the wife, she wept. She begged the father to let the stepdaughter come home, at least to finish out the school year. She promised to quit her job, but he said, “Prove it. Prove that you love me.”

The wife knew that the father was ruthless, determined, single-minded. His anger sometimes showed itself in ways that scared her, like when the landscaping foreman showed up at the house demanding his money and the father said, “What will happen to your company if I make a call to ICE?” And she knew he would. He would break up a dozen families if it meant winning. Once someone had become his enemy, he showed no mercy.

She tried to be good, but everything she did enraged him. She set a watch on the floor and another one on the top of the bookcase, and the father snatched them up and said, “Enough of this!” He took the baby’s swing off the oak branch so the wife would stop her pendulum experiments.

There came a knock-knock-knock one night from the garage door while they were sitting on the couch watching TV, and the father pretended not to hear it.

“You heard it,” the wife said.

“I didn’t hear anything,” the father said.

“The garage.”

So the father stood and went to the door, opening it and shining his phone flashlight inside the dark garage.

“See? Nothing.”

“The observer effect,” the wife said.

“What?”

“When you shine a light on an unlit object, you change it—the photons bounce it in a new direction,” she explained. “By looking for the ghost, you change the ghost’s location.”

“Jesus, enough with the ghosts!” the father yelled, and slammed the garage door hard enough to rattle the wall and wake the baby.

When the knock-knock-knock came from the ceiling directly over their bed that night, they both sat up and looked at one another, wild-eyed.

“You heard it,” the wife said.

“I didn’t hear anything,” the father said.

“You heard it,” the wife insisted. “From the attic.”

“There’s nothing in the attic,” the father said.

The wife opened her mouth to speak and the father grabbed her by the throat—not to hurt her, not to crush out her breath; simply to silence her. He wanted her to stop speaking. He wanted things to go back to the way they were before. He wanted the wife he had before.

He only let go when a thunderous BOOM came from the ceiling, and he and the wife both gasped. The wife was shaking. The father exhaled slowly and lay down.

“Go back to sleep,” he said, rolling away from her.

The wife stopped eating. She stopped cooking and cleaning. She bumped into walls and tables because she no longer saw them. She drifted through the house with the baby during the day, and at night she floated through the empty rooms and whispered to him. The father once heard her say: “time accelerates in a black hole.”

He followed her from room to room, but every time he turned on the light, she seemed to jump to a different space.

He followed her to the kitchen, watched her turn on the faucet in the dark, and when he turned on the light, she was gone, faucet still running.

She reappeared in the hallway and drifted into the bathroom, and when he ran after her and turned on the bathroom light, she vanished.

The baby monitor crackled on the kitchen counter. She was upstairs, whispering to the baby. He turned the volume on the monitor to max and put it to his ear to hear her whisper through the static: “all one electron.”

The father did what he did as a last resort. He didn’t want to do it. He didn’t want to lock her in the attic, but she gave him no choice. He was out of options. She didn’t even seem to notice as he guided her up the ladder, pushing her butt from behind. She didn’t yell or weep. Didn’t try to push back or fight her way out.

She just sat in the chair he left for her and watched as he closed the door and nailed it shut.

The wife knew something about luck. A high school dropout with a baby at sixteen, the only reason she was in the attic of this three-thousand-square-foot house, in a development of identical three-thousand-square-foot homes, was because she happened to cover a bartending shift for a sick coworker the night the father came in to the restaurant. He’d come in a few times before, his hair slightly disheveled in a careful, attentive way, and he’d flirted with the other bartender. He was four tequila shots in before she understood that he thought she was the other bartender. He stayed until her shift ended, and she called him a cab. He took her hand, eyes swimming, and said, “Can I show you my house?” She said yes and clocked out.

She was young and pretty. He was ready to settle down and start a family.

When the father refused to pay the contractors and landscapers and pool cleaners and Merry Maids, she pretended not to see. When he met her eye, challenging her to push back and tell him it was wrong so that he could tell her she was naïve and this was the way of the world, she looked away.

And as she climbed the ladder with the father pushing from behind, as the door was nailed shut, she knew that she’d chosen the attic—that she’d always been in the attic.

The father knew the importance of narrative continuity, how important it was to keep the story of a house consistent, how everything could fall apart when enough light showed between the rafters and the joists, so he showered, brushed his teeth, ironed his shirt, dabbed cologne under his jaw, buckled the baby into the car seat, and went back to the restaurant to find the other bartender.

After several days of being alone in the dark, warm, windowless room, the wife realized she was disappearing. If she didn’t move, if she stayed perfectly still, she could no longer feel the floor or the walls. She couldn’t tell where her body ended and the house began. She was floating up to the rafters. She was sinking through the floor.

She started pacing slowly back and forth across the attic, feet heavy and dragging because she didn’t know where they were. Back and forth. Back and forth.

She crawled into the walls and knocked on them to locate herself in time and space. She became a pendulum, measuring the house’s heartbeats as she moved backward and forward through time.

And after a while, she couldn’t be sure if she was still in her own house, or if she was haunting someone else’s home.

She realized that it wasn’t her knocking on the walls, but a different ghost in a different house.

She realized that she could come and go as she wanted. She liked going back to the moment of the Ouija board, seeing how far she could get before the father interrupted. She opened windows and locked doors, stroked her daughter’s hair, tickled her baby’s chin. She put chairs on top of tables and vases on couch cushions, because she now knew how much it truly frightened the father—how she could unmake him with a single hard blow to the ceiling right above his bed.

The father never stopped hearing her footsteps in the attic, and one night he pried out the nails and pulled open the door to peer inside. The attic was empty, but he knew the wife wasn’t gone; she’d just become antimatter.

And later, when the new wife woke up in the night and whispered, “Did you hear that? It sounded like footsteps in the attic,” the father wasn’t actually lying when he said, “There’s nothing in the attic.”
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NON CURRICULUS MENTIS
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Our bright cloak

shields us from

unfriendly stars,

we turn our heads

to flickering screens,

harangued and lulled,

consumed in our affairs.

Something stoops,

unseen night is larger

than we remember,

weedy and corroded

dishes, blind as are we all,

don’t whisper warnings,

one might have said,

get to high ground,

burrow deep,

the future is fossorial,

once again.

 

By David C. Kopaska-Merkel
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UNE TIME MACHINE, S’IL VOUS PLAIT

By Peter Wood 

  Peter Wood grew up in Ottawa, Canada, in the 1970s and watched a lot of science fiction on television. His favorite restaurant appears in the following story and is still there. But if it ever went out of business, he’d want to go back in time and get the best sandwich in the world. He’d find the finest physicist available and ask . . .

 

July 1, 2023

The rocket ship blasted off from the Devereaux Airstrip on the outskirts of Ottawa and headed straight into the stratosphere. Ruth Mulu, one of four passengers, stared at the cappuccino machine and tried not to throw up.

Adeline Devereaux, the Canadian coffee multibillionaire, had bolted the fancy coffee machine to the wall of the RV-sized cabin. With over six thousand restaurants, she could spare a coffee maker for the flight. She planned to open a café on the moon someday, she said. Right now she’d settle for serving piping-hot beverages when the privately built ship, brazenly proclaimed the first of Devereaux’s space force, reached its apogee of one hundred and twenty-five miles. She’d post the photos on social media, of course.

Ruth hoped the coffee tycoon had put as much thought into the ship as the beverage service. Her back started to ache from the increased G-force.

The President, CEO, and majority stockholder of Devereaux’s chatted with Matthew Wallace, the third passenger. More accurately, all morning this glorious Dominion Day, she’d listened to Wallace tell story after story about his glory days portraying Captain Franklin C. Quint on FTL, a science fiction show that Canadian television had canceled in the late 1970s. Diehard fans like Ms. Devereaux kept the show alive.

The fourth passenger, Pascal Devereaux, hadn’t spoken a word since Ruth had strapped herself into the seat furthest from the porthole. Lord only knew why Adeline wanted him on board. Her brother just scowled. Like he had somewhere better to go. He always gave that impression when Ruth spotted him on TV lurking in the background while his sister held court at some media event.

Adeline Devereaux had assembled an odd group for her test flight. No scientists. Not even a backup pilot. Billionaires got to do whatever they wanted, logical or not.

Wallace swiveled in his chair and smiled at Ruth. “You okay, Yeoman Eluwa?” He pulled a flask from his pocket. “Want a nip?”

He referenced Ruth by her FTL character name—Yeoman Susan Eluwa. Unlike over forty years ago, he didn’t make a pass at her. She’d spent three years making sure she was never alone with the son of a bitch before FTL went to that great television in the sky. Even with plenty of witnesses around, he hadn’t been able to keep his hands to himself.

She’d worn a skimpy uniform back then. And now she was seventy. There were some good things about getting old, she supposed. Not that aging had slowed the now bald and overweight Wallace down. Misguided women still swooned over him at conventions.

She forced a smile at the man who acted like he had actually commanded a real interstellar spaceship. “I’m okay, Captain.”

Wallace and Adeline both answered at once and laughed. Being an imaginary captain still carried some clout. Not to be outdone, Adeline had an imaginary space fleet and an imaginary coffee shop on the moon.

Ruth wondered how much the coffee mogul had spent getting her private rocket into space. How many billions? What could she have done on Earth with that money instead of funding history’s most expensive cup of coffee? Cure cancer? Irrigate the Sahara?

“Tachyons have only been theorized since 1967. People still don’t understand them completely. To find the Trembley paper from 1978 was just amazing. Advanced still today.” Adeline said to Wallace. “We couldn’t have built the engine without it. And it’s not like Trembley came from Oxford or Yale. He was a part-time physics instructor at some community college in the sticks near Toronto. Nobody knew who he was then or now.”

“Interesting,” Wallace said, with no attempt to feign interest. He took a sip from his flask and put it back in his coveralls. “What’s the deal with the coffee machine? We could have used one of those on the bridge in FTL.” 

Adeline smiled. “Just a whim. It might not work, but we’ll have those bugs worked out by the time that lunar café gets operational. We’ll have a mall on the Moon and a hotel and casino.”

“When?” Wallace asked.

“My people say within ten years.”

“Amazing.” Wallace cleared his throat. “So, when we land, in what order should we disembark?”

Before Adeline could respond to the fake captain’s self-serving question about press coverage, an alarm went off.

Pascal rolled his eyes but said nothing.

“What’s going on?” Wallace yelled above the noise. The scriptwriters wouldn’t get him out of this.

Adeline may have responded then, but with the shrieking of the siren, who could tell? She unstrapped herself and crawled over to a console. Panting from the increased g-forces, she punched buttons and studied the screen.

Wallace gestured wildly and shouted something. He couldn’t quite manage to unfasten himself from his seat. Adeline held up her hand for him to stay.

The coffee billionaire yelled something about tachyons and fields. Wallace did not seem satisfied with her answer. He undid a couple of clips and staggered closer, as if he could figure out the problem like a trucker helping a stranded housewife with a broken-down engine in the middle of nowhere. What seems to be the problem, little lady?

Ruth just stayed out of the way.

The cabin shook, became translucent and then solid again.

Then the cabin disappeared. Or maybe Ruth disappeared. All she knew was she was no longer on the ship and she still felt the urge to vomit.

 

July 1, 2023

Pascal hated his sister. Adeline had somehow conned the world into believing her to be the benevolent coffee billionaire who had turned her parents’ small chain of struggling pancake houses into the world’s largest coffeehouse conglomerate. Devereaux’s no longer served pancakes, just every variation of coffee imaginable.

But she hadn’t fooled him.

Pascal knew he could have done more with the family business if his mother had trusted him instead of his snotty younger sister. But his parents had always liked her best. So Mom gave her the keys to the kingdom and Adeline saw the future of coffee, or so the world believed. He could have done more.

Now he was stuck on the flagship of his sister’s pretend space fleet.

And she’d screwed up. The alarm drowned out almost everything. It was pretty damned funny. Adeline would look like a fool to the media.

That washed-up actress lay limp in her chair, her glassy eyes staring straight ahead.

The alarm stopped ringing.

“Did you fix it?” the asshole television actor asked Adeline. He didn’t seem nearly as tough as the character he played.

“No,” Adeline said. “I just shut off the alarm.”

“What’s going on?” Wallace asked.

“The tachyon field in the engine is exceeding safe parameters. The compression of the particles—” She studied the screen. “It’s going down, but—hold on. Up again. It’s almost random.”

“Can’t you just shut off the field?” Wallace asked.

“Only if we want to crash. It may—”

Then the ship became translucent.

 

April 18, 1975

Ruth didn’t have time to figure out where here was. She threw up in the grass and pine straw and dead branches and leaves. Then came the dry heaves. Flashbacks to her drinking days. First as a social activity when she hit the party circuits in her twenties in Toronto and Montreal. Then when her looks left her bit by bit and the acting parts dried up, as a coping mechanism.

On the plus side, her back no longer hurt.

Somebody held out a cup of water. “You okay, Ruth?”

She took a tentative sip. “Thanks.” Her stomach lurched, but she kept it down.

“You need a break? We can shoot the third scene.”

A very familiar-looking man in a red flannel shirt held a clipboard.

Two women in silver miniskirts brandished plastic ray guns. One yawned.

Tall pine trees in all directions.

She tried to get her bearings. She almost fell down, but managed to grab a tree branch. She wore high heels and took a second to regain her balance. Ruth hadn’t boarded a space flight in heels. She hadn’t worn heels in a couple of years. But not only her shoes had changed. She no longer had on the loose coveralls of the flight crew of Devereaux 1. She wore the skimpy miniskirt and low-cut blouse of Yeoman Susan Eluwa from FTL. 

 

April 26, 1976

Pascal crinkled his nose. He had smelled burnt ozone and coffee seconds ago on the Devereaux 1. Now the pungent stench of stale beer and pizza filled the air.

He must have slammed his head. Either he lay in la la land in the cabin on the flagship of his sister’s fantasy space fleet or . . .

Here?

Somebody shook him. “Wake up, you damned Canuck!” 

Pascal blinked and gazed into the smiling face of Cheryl Tiegs. Well, not exactly. He looked at the poster he had taped to the bottom of the top bunk decades earlier.

Which meant that he was back in his college dorm room at North Country College in Watertown, New York.

“Look, man,” Brewster, his roommate for two years, said. “I got nothing against sleeping in after a hard night of drinking. Good for the soul, but it’s almost three. I mean, you’re gonna miss dinner, man. It’s all you can eat trout and home fries at Finnegan’s.”

Pascal sat up too quickly—not from the prospect of heaping plates of fried trout with tartar sauce and vinegar—and banged his head on the upper bunk. His head hurt like hell, which coincided with his theory about being on the ship passed out from a concussion. On the other hand, it seemed rather unlikely that his snotty little sister had actually become a media darling and a coffee tycoon with thousands of cafés across the United States and Canada. Maybe he had dreamed the last four decades.

His room sure looked familiar. Empty beer bottles on his desk. Typewriter still in its case beside the stereo. A mound of laundry strewn in the corner, waiting for Sunday night.

Pascal rubbed his head. “What’s the date?”

Brewster blinked. “Tuesday.”

“The date. The whole date. What year is it?”

Brewster had to think about this a minute. “April 26, 1976.”

Pascal laughed.

“What’s so funny?” Brewster asked. It was hard to believe he’d be an Assistant United States Attorney in Albany in ten years.

“My sister’s only fifteen.”

Brewster frowned. “I don’t get it.”

Pascal opened the tiny dorm fridge and pulled out two beers. He tossed a Labatt’s 50 to his roommate. “You will, man.”

 

April 18, 1975

Either Ruth was twenty-two years old and back on the set of FTL or she wasn’t. If she wasn’t, she might be still in the cabin of the rocket and would wake up any second, God willing. Maybe. Or she might be dead. The Devereaux 1 might have crashed.

If she was on the set of the show, whatever force had transported her fifty years into the past might also have transported Wallace.

If it was a dream, it was the most detailed dream she’d ever had. She remembered when the show had hit rough times halfway through its first season. Somehow the producer had finagled grant money out of the Ontario provincial government. The Ontario Department of Historical Preservation agreed to foot the bill for a few episodes if the writers highlighted the history and culture of Ontario.

This had amounted to a half dozen episodes with a Canadian navigator who always had some tidbit of Canadian history at his disposal.

A stone’s throw from the rustic log cabin dining hall of the northern Ontario summer camp the show had rented offseason, she knocked on Wallace’s trailer door.

“Yeah?” Wallace barked. “I’m on break.”

He was always on break. Cast and crew had to wait constantly for Wallace to finish his nap or his beer or his attempt to chat up one of the female co-stars. It wasn’t like he was Paul Newman. His career didn’t exactly take off after FTL. If not for the fanbase and the conventions and the made-for-TV movie sequels (which inexplicably had been rebranded FTL: The Captain Quint Chronicles), his career would have stalled after the Canadian network canceled the show.

She opened the door. Wallace did not invite her in. Wearing his red captain’s uniform with a fake laser strapped at his side, he lounged on a sofa. A half dozen empty Molson’s on the coffee table. Reilly, a punk graduate student from Montreal and the historical and cultural advisor, kicked back on a La-Z-Boy.

Ruth got to the point. “Mr. Wallace, do you feel okay?”

He shot Reilly a knowing look. “Never felt better.”

“You don’t feel like you maybe don’t belong?”

He laughed. “This is my show.”

Wallace hadn’t time traveled then. Or he could just be playing it cool in front of Reilly. She had gone out of her way to avoid being alone with Wallace back in her TV acting days. The stories about him were legendary, and all the actresses knew the dangers of one-on-one time with the man.

But she had to know if she had been the only one to time travel from the Devereaux 1.

“Mr. Wallace, could I talk to you for a moment alone?”

Wallace patted Reilly on the knee. “Could you give us a few minutes?”

Reilly yawned. “Uh huh.”

“Ruth!” The flannel guy from earlier banged the trailer door open. “Pearson wants you for the fight scene now.”

She blinked. “Sure.”

“You don’t have any lines. Just look scared. Maybe scream a little. Hide behind one of the men in the landing party.”

“I guess.” Had it really been this bad?

“Let me just make one little adjustment.” Flannel Guy reached over and without asking tore her blouse to expose more cleavage. “That’s better.”

Ruth kept her cool somehow.

Wallace tucked the script under his left arm and grabbed a new bottle of beer. He patted Ruth on the ass. “Let’s not keep the director waiting.”

Ruth wanted to slap him, too. She had no idea if this was the young, sexist immature Wallace or the old, sexist immature Wallace.

 

July 1, 2023

Adeline wished she could shut the engine off, but then they wouldn’t have a controlled landing. She couldn’t risk it.

Had she put in enough shielding? Maybe the tachyon field was just too unpredictable and had to be scrapped. A thousand factors might have made the drive go off kilter, from atmospheric pressure changes to lessening gravity to steam from the cappuccino machine.

“What the hell happened to them?” Wallace asked. His voice cracked.

Pascal lay on the floor. Ruth slumped in her chair.

She didn’t have time to think about Pascal or poor Ruth right now. Her brother wouldn’t have been on the flight if not for her. Hell, who was she kidding? He’d be living in a ditch somewhere if not for her. Why did she feel the need to constantly look after a man who showed her nothing but contempt? Family. He was an asshole, but he was family.

She felt horrible about Ruth. Panting, she moved over on hands and knees and checked both for vital signs. Weak pulses. The two crewmembers stared blankly ahead.

“Are we going to die?” Wallace asked.

“Look, Mr. Wallace, I’m trying to figure this out. Okay? My priority is to land this ship safely and get us all some medical attention.”

He nodded.

The ship slowed. Apogee.

She sure didn’t feel like toasting the flight with any celebratory cappuccino. The coffee machine gurgled. It would survive them all.

 

April 26, 1976

Mom was not happy when Pascal called. After Dad had the heart attack in 1975 and left her widowed, she hadn’t been happy about much of anything. She calmed down when she realized he wasn’t asking for more money or to tell her he had failed out of his third school in five years. She finally handed the phone over to Adeline.

Pascal knew he couldn’t talk long. He could afford the afternoon long distance rates, but he shared the hall phone with seven other guys. One gave him the stink eye. The dormitory-mate probably wanted to start one of those endless conversations with whatever sorority girl he was dating this week.

His sister got on the line. “Hey, Pascal,” Adeline said. Sweet little fifteen-year-old Adeline.

“Do you feel okay?” he asked.

“What do you mean?”

“Is Mom still there?”

“She’s watching the Mike Douglas Show.”

Mom had spent a lot of time lounging around the house after Dad died. The restaurants barely survived.

He cupped a hand over the receiver and pulled the phone as far into his dorm room as the cord allowed. “Anything weird happen today?”

“No.”

He just got to the point. “Are you from the future?”

She laughed. “No. Are you?”

“No,” he lied.

Perfect. He could fix things. He’d be running the company.

But he couldn’t spend the summer of 1976 the way he had the first time. No waiting tables at that resort on Cape Cod with Brewster. He’d miss out on sleeping with some pretty hot women. Well, there’d be other lays, especially if he was a billionaire coffee mogul.

“I’m coming home for the summer,” he said.

“Great!”

She wouldn’t be so enthused if she knew what lay in store for her. He’d get close to Mom and convince her he was worthy of running things. And if he undermined her confidence in his bratty sister along the way, so much the better.

 

April 18, 1975

A half hour after shooting ended for the day, Ruth knocked on Wallace’s door. Loud shouting came from within.

“What?” Wallace snapped.

She stepped inside the trailer and rubbed her hands together to warm up. Wallace pointed to a copy of The Globe and Mail, Toronto’s daily newspaper.

Flannel Guy yawned and rubbed his eyes. “I can’t make them print a retraction.”

Reilly just sipped his beer. He opened the sports section.

Wallace pointed to the paper. “The review is bullshit.”

“It’s a good review. God knows we could use one,” Flannel Guy said.

“They say we’re the Canadian Star Trek. We’re better than Star Trek. We’re better than Starlost, too” Wallace said.

“Everybody’s better than Starlost. Do you want the review to say that we’re better than the worst show ever done by Canadian television?” Flannel Guy turned to Ruth. “You remember Starlost, right?”

She had vague memories of a mid-seventies show that got canceled after a couple of months. Something about a giant starship drifting through deep space. The network had let FTL use some of the mothballed sets. “Sure.”

“The show sucked, right, honey?” Flannel Guy said.

“Sure,” Ruth said. “Look, maybe I’ll just come back tomorrow.”

“Don’t leave.” Wallace flashed a smile. “This will just be a minute.”

“The Globe and Mail likes the show,” Flannel Guy said. “Don’t rock the boat.”

“They say I’m the Canadian Shatner,” Wallace said.

“What’s wrong with that?”

“It doesn’t even make sense. He’s from Montreal. I’m from Tampa.”

Flannel Guy slapped Wallace on the back. “It’s a good review, Captain Quint.” He and Reilly left.

Wallace took a sip of beer. “It is a good review except for the Star Trek references.”

“Hard to avoid those, I imagine,” Ruth said.

“Want a beer?” Wallace asked.

“No, thanks.” She stayed near the door.

“I was hoping you’d bring your script,” Wallace said. “Now what are we going to do to pass the time? We can’t run lines.” He draped his arm around her. “Have a seat, Ruth. You’ve had a hard day.”

“No, thanks.” She brushed his arm away. “Do you remember being on a rocket with me?”

He looked puzzled. “What episode are you talking about?”

“Not an episode. In real life. We were on a ship, on a test flight. A privately financed flight into space. In 2023. We were . . .” Her voice trailed off. There was no point in going any further. Either he knew what she was talking about or he didn’t.

“I think I would remember that.” He moved in and kissed her.

She stepped back. “I can’t do this.”

“You came here for a reason.” He kissed her again. His breath reeked of beer and Oreos. His hand moved down her side.

He wasn’t from the future. She was stuck in the past alone. Well, if she was going to change history, she wasn’t about to start by sleeping with Matthew Wallace.

“Stop, please, Matthew,” she said.

“Call me Captain Quint.”

“Stop!”

“You like it. I know you do.”

She kneed him in the groin.

He stopped. He limped back and glared at her. “Are you insane?”

“I just wanted to talk. I don’t see you in a romantic way.”

“You come down here, interrupt an important meeting, get everybody to leave so we can be alone. It’s obvious what you want. You—”

“That’s not what happened.”

“That’s the way I remember it,” Wallace said. 

“It’s just a misunderstanding.”

“You got that right. You lead me on. You ask me crazy questions about rocket ships. You kiss me and then you—Do you know how many actresses would kill to be on this show?”

She had a pretty good idea. Wallace had assaulted her, but incredibly, in 1975 he held all the cards.

“I’m sorry,” she said.

“Get off the set by daybreak. We’ll buy you a bus ticket. You’re fired.”

 

April 19, 1975

Ruth sat on the eighty-mile bus ride to Ottawa and watched the sun rise. It’d be a long day. Maybe she could grab something to eat at the Ottawa bus terminal before the eight-hour connection to Toronto. The production company had given her a lift to the bus stop, but wouldn’t even offer her a cup of coffee for the road. The intern had refused to wait for the ticket window at the truck stop to open at six A.M. 

She’d altered the timeline. She’d like to think her absence from FTL would change the future somehow. A butterfly’s wings and all that. But she doubted it.

Somebody had left a newspaper sports section on the bus. April 18, 1975. The New York Islanders were down three games to none against the Pittsburgh Penguins. She tossed the paper aside. She had never cared about hockey.

But she remembered the playoffs that year for some reason. She stared at the photo of the dejected Islander goalie.

It came back to her. The Islanders won that series. They defeated Pittsburgh in seven games. It was all anyone on the set talked about all day. Such comebacks never happened.

Wallace said if he had bet on the Islanders to win after three games he could have retired.

The fourth game in the series happened tomorrow night. She had time.

She didn’t need the measly paycheck from the production company. She’d be a millionaire soon. She’d change history again. Betting on the Islanders would be a sucker bet. Any bookie would gladly take her money.

How much could she scrape up?

 

July 3, 1976

Pascal had been home in Ottawa for a month and stayed out of trouble. No drinking. No arguing with Mom. He was even nice to Adeline. It was hell staying in his old room and not looking up any of his friends from high school. There’d be plenty of time for the good life later after he convinced Mom he had reformed.

He had the house to himself. Mom and Adeline had gone to the movies. The Bad News Bears. He told them he wanted to rest after a long night of waiting tables at the family business with another shift about to start in a few hours.

Pascal took the money he had “borrowed” from Mom’s purse earlier today and laid it in Adeline’s sock drawer. Mom would be sure to find it when she put fresh clothes in Adeline’s dresser. Pascal heard the dryer tumbling now.

 

April 26, 1975

Ruth sat in the viewing lounge of the MGM casino in Las Vegas and sipped her watered-down rum and Coke. The last period in game seven of the playoff series between Pittsburgh and New York. Still scoreless.

She’d gotten herself fired from her first real acting job. She’d changed that. Had plunking down ten thousand dollars on a sucker bet in Las Vegas changed the outcome of the playoff game? Had word gotten to the teams and somehow motivated the Penguins to not blow a three games to zero lead this time? Did sports teams even care who had bet on them?

The MGM Grand had given her great odds. Two thousand to one. If the Islanders won, she’d have twenty million dollars. If she had jinxed the game, she’d have nothing but a return plane ticket to Toronto.

Ruth had been a nervous wreck all week. The hotel had been only too glad to take her money. The bet elevated her to high roller status.

She motioned to the waitress and got another comped drink. The server in her low-cut top and miniskirt frowned. Ruth felt sorry for the woman. No woman wanted to dress that way at work, but then women didn’t own the casinos or run the TV networks. All the waitresses knew was that Ruth wasn’t betting and she wasn’t tipping. Free drinks weren’t really free.

Cheering from the only other spectator who apparently cared about hockey in the western U.S. Ruth gulped her drink and risked a look at the television.

The Islanders had scored. Five minutes left in the game. One nothing.

When the game ended a smiling hotel representative in a lime green leisure suit appeared from nowhere and brandished one of those large novelty checks. Pay the sum of twenty million dollars to Ruth Mulu. He wondered if she’d be willing to take some publicity shots for the hotel.

Ruth resolved to never bet on another sporting event. This had almost killed her. 

She had some investments to make. And a plane to catch. She had a proposition for the producers of FTL. 

 

July 1, 2023

“What in the name of God is a tachyon field?” Wallace asked Adeline.

Adeline didn’t have time for Show and Tell. She had to stabilize things before she and Wallace ended up like Pascal and Ruth. The two might have just passed out from the physical stress. Or they might not be on the ship any longer. Their consciousnesses, anyway.

Who knew what consciousness was, or time or space? Best not to think too hard about those things or you’d go nuts. Thinking about the small picture, like how to brew a good strong cappuccino, was so much easier.

“It’s complicated,” Adeline said. “I really want to explain, but I’m trying to save you from whatever happened to—”

Wallace pointed at the motionless bodies of the other crewmembers. “What the hell did happen to them?”

“I need to stabilize the field. There’s a shift in the space time nexus.”

Wallace just stared at her. “What?”

“Ripples. It’s hard to—my brother and your friend might have shifted—slipped—through time.” She studied the readout.

“This goddamned rocket is a time machine?”

“Maybe. I don’t know, Mr. Wallace. This wasn’t supposed to happen. The odds against this happening are staggering.”

“You got a radio. Get the guy who invented the engine on the phone.”

“That would be me,” Adeline said.

“That’s not what I mean. Jesus, call up that guy who wrote the paper. Templer.” 

“Great idea, if the engine field hadn’t disabled the radio,” Adeline said. “And if Louis Trembley hadn’t died twenty years ago.”

 

May 12, 1975

Twenty minutes late, Wallace strutted into the production trailer and scanned the twenty people crammed around the long metal table. He nodded to some familiar faces—writers and directors and producers—from FTL. Half the group he had never seen before. Then he spotted Ruth.

“What the hell’s she doing here?” he demanded. “She’s fired.” He opened the mini fridge and peered inside. “Where’s the beer?”

“No more beer on the set, Matt,” the producer said.

“I’ll just go to my dressing room,” Wallace said. He pointed to Ruth again. “I want her gone.”

A tall woman about forty closed the door. “Everybody here’s under contract. Nobody leaves until the meeting is over.”

“I’m not staying if that yeoman stays,” Wallace said.

“Sit down, Mr. Wallace,” the tall woman said. “You’re under contract.”

Wallace glared. “Who in God’s name are you?”

“Erin Shank. I’m a partner with Colson, Lacroix, and Shank. My firm represents new management.”

“Okay, so you’re a lawyer. That doesn’t explain what the yeoman is doing back. I fired her.”

“My name is Ruth Mulu,” Ruth said.

“Fine. My apologies. I still don’t understand why Ruth Milu is here,” Wallace said.

“Management rehired Ms. Mulu. She’s the first of many changes,” Shank said. She passed out bulging three-ring binders.

Wallace thumbed through the papers.

“You will note several key improvements,” Shank said. “My client has purchased all the rights to FTL. They have replaced most of the writing staff. Margaret Burton will be a special creative consultant with full script approval.

“Who?” Wallace asked.

“She’s won the Nebula Award twice and the Hugo. She’s up there with Ray Bradbury and Ursula K. Le Guin.” 

“What’s the Nebula Award?”

Shank ignored the question. “We are doubling the budget. First, we are redesigning the uniforms so they are unisex. The female crew will no longer look like cocktail waitresses. The ship’s crew will be more diverse with a female second-in-command. Everybody is also expected to get a more timeless haircut. No more current styles.”

“And who’s this new second-in-command going to be?” Wallace asked. “Jane Fonda? Jacqueline Bisset? Cathy Lee Crosby?”

Ruth gave a demure wave. “Me.”

Wallace shook his head. “No.”

“You have two choices, Mr. Wallace,” Shank said. “You can film episodes—we will no longer use videotape—with your new second-in-command or you can leave the show and violate your contract. We will sue. If you leave, she will be the new captain.”

Ruth had debated long and hard about how to announce she had taken over. She finally decided to remain anonymous and let the new employer be a nameless holding company. Even women with power and money were not taken seriously in 1975.

“I’ll work with my co-star,” Wallace said. He slumped in his chair.

Shank spent half an hour outlining changes in production before introducing Carla Delgado, the new head writer. She’d been published in the New Yorker and a number of literary magazines. With her denim sundress and Afro she looked like she’d fit in at Woodstock, not a chilly spring morning in northern Ontario.

“We are going to shelve the last four episodes and start a new plot arc,” Carla said. “I have let Mr. Reilly know we no longer need grant money from the provincial government.”

“And replace those episodes with what?” Wallace asked.

“A ten-episode arc culminating in a cliffhanger. Ms. Burton’s idea. A landing party including your character, Mr. Wallace, must be left behind when interstellar war breaks out. Officer Eluwa assumes command. Edge of your seat stuff.”

Wallace thumbed quickly through the binder. He did not appear to like what he saw. “But I regain command, right?”

“We have engaged the services of Rylan Stemper for next season,” Carla continued. “Captain Quint returns to the ship where he succumbs to alcoholism. He is relieved of command and must wrestle with his personal demons. He has mother issues and father issues. He’s a bit paranoid.”

“That’s not Captain Quint.”

“That’s always been Captain Quint. We’re just adding a layer of realism. He’ll struggle with sobriety and eventually return to the bridge, perhaps as captain, perhaps not. But only after hitting rock bottom. Quint gets his hands on an alien time travel device and tries to change history so he remains captain. He—”

“He’s the goddamned bad guy?” Wallace shouted.

“Only for a couple of episodes. Quint redeems himself and helps Captain Eluwa undo the damage to the space time continuum.”

“I help her? Are you kidding me?”

Ruth suppressed a smile.

 

July 3, 1976

Pascal sat on a kitchen chair and listened to Mom talk to Adeline in the living room.

“Honey,” Mom said to her daughter. “I’m not trying to judge you. If you want to buy something, ask. If it’s appropriate I’ll get it for you. You don’t have to steal.”

“I didn’t take anything,” Adeline said, her voice rising.

Mom had fanned out all the money on the coffee table, like magazines. “Then how did the money get in your room?”

“I don’t know,” Adeline muttered. “Do you think I’d hide money in my sock drawer when you put clean clothes in there?”

“You’re grounded until you tell the truth.”

Adeline stormed upstairs.

Mom looked like she was about to cry.

 

July 20, 1975

Wallace was not accustomed to being ignored at Toronto pitch meetings. He sure wasn’t used to being in the minority. Six female writers. Two males, the only ones to survive the purge. And him and Ruth.

“I have a question,” Wallace said.

Carla sat beneath a framed poster for the new FTL. The starship crew—all wearing unisex slacks and blazers—stood on the ship’s bridge with a nameless ringed planet on the view screen. Captain Quint was just one of the ensemble and no longer center stage. Carla leaned back in her chair. “Shoot.”

Wallace stared at Carla from the opposite end of the long oak table. “Why is Captain Quint so passive? He’s always been more of an action star, a romantic lead.”

Carla took a sip of coffee. “You mean, why is he acting so mature for the first time, like an adult who has to function in the real world and deal with other adults?”

“He’s a starship captain. Quint’s a man of action.”

“Just because he’s not some adolescent fantasy, shooting anything that moves, drinking like a frat boy and sleeping with every skirt in sight, doesn’t mean he’s not a man of action.”

Wallace threw the script on the table. It slid halfway to Carla. “He’s boring. He’s supposed to be someone people admire. Like Superman or Clint Eastwood or John Wayne.”

“He’s no Superman,” Carla said. “Superman can keep his pants zipped.”

“How in God’s name do you know that?” Wallace snapped. “Maybe Superman sleeps around.”

“Because if he slept around, Metropolis would be full of flying babies—crying and pooping and keeping everybody up all night. And if Superman’s like most men who sleep around, he doesn’t want to pay child support. He’d have a hard time denying paternity.”

“You’re ruining the show,” Wallace said.

“Ratings are up,” Ruth said. “Way up.”

Wallace glared at Ruth, but his eyes returned to Carla. “You’re making Quint into a wimp. Nobody wants to see that.”

“I’m making him into a complex adult with feelings who has to interact with other complex adults and take their needs into account,” Carla said. She leaned forward. “You know what I think? I think that Quint has serious psychological hang-ups. He wants to murder his dad. He hates his dad. That’s why he punches every guy he runs into. They’re proxies for the father he loathes. Ever heard of Oedipus? Quint loves his mother. He wants to sleep with his mom. That’s why he goes after every woman he sees. He yearns for that maternal love. He’s a sad little boy who never grew up. And he engages in self-destructive behavior in an effort to relive the childhood he feels he’s owed.”

She poured creamer into her coffee and stirred. She took a slow sip.

Wallace just stared at her. “Captain Quint is not Oedipus.”

Carla picked up the script. “We’ll know for sure after next season, won’t we?”

“Where’s Margaret Burton?” Wallace demanded.

“She has better things to do. She’s a creative consultant. She and I discuss the scripts every Tuesday night.”

“Son of a bitch,” Wallace said.

“But don’t worry,” Carla said. “If you want to get in the face of a writer, just wait until next year. Ryland Stemper will be here every week.”

Wallace jumped up and almost knocked over his chair. He slammed the door on the way out.

“Oedipus?” Ruth asked. “Where did that come from?”

Carla laughed. “Sophomore English at Cornell.”

“You don’t really believe all that, do you?” Ruth asked.

“Nope. I was kind of making it up as I went along. Quint’s not Oedipus. He’s just a sexist asshole.”

 

July 1, 2023

Adeline wished she could have called Louis Trembley. She couldn’t understand how nobody else had taken his article, A Tachyon Fueled Future, seriously.

If he were alive today, she’d thank him. Then she’d ask how to fix the engine.

In freefall now, it no longer hurt to move. She felt lightheaded, and her ears hurt.

The ship shook again. The hull became translucent.

“Mr. Wallace,” Adeline said. “You better strap yourself into your seat.”

No response.

She looked up from the console.

Wallace lay on the floor next to Pascal. He stared straight up, his eyes dull and lifeless.

 

July 8, 1976

Adeline never should have written that autobiography in 2009. She told Pascal and the world how she realized she was a lesbian at thirteen. She quoted long passages from her teenage diary and recounted how nobody suspected she kept one because she hid it under a bedroom floorboard.

Pascal knew any concerned mother would search her daughter’s room. He had just moved the diary to a more obvious location. Then he put the seed of the idea of searching Adeline’s room into Mom’s head.

Today Pascal sat in the kitchen, nursed his cup of coffee, and listened to his mother try to reason with Adeline.

“Adeline, I don’t understand what you’re going through, but can you at least admit you have a problem?” Mom said.

“A diary is private,” Adeline said. “Doesn’t anyone care about that?”

“I’m your mother. I—”

“Stop it!” Adeline yelled. “I’m not getting married. I’m not dating. I don’t even like boys.”

“Don’t say that,” Mom said. “You’ll love some man someday. It’s—”

“I don’t like boys, mom! I like girls. I want to be with a girl.”

Adeline began to cry.

The company was as good as Pascal’s.

 

October 5, 1976

Ruth and Carla sat on the couch in Ruth’s Toronto penthouse apartment and went over the most recent script. They had Margaret Burton, Canada’s top science fiction writer, on speakerphone. She rarely left Newfoundland.

“So, help me understand,” Ruth said. “Margaret, are you suggesting that Quint may be bisexual?”

“No, not at all,” Margaret said. “He is clearly a heterosexual male. Just toxically so. He begins to question his use of sexuality, not his sexuality itself.”

“Got it,” Ruth said.

“It’ll be a great story arc, maybe a couple of seasons,” Carla said.

“That’s the way I see it,” Margaret said. “Well, I guess that wraps things up. It’s dinner time out here. Eric caught some salmon today.”

Ruth had almost frozen the one summer she visited Newfoundland. “I don’t know how your husband can fish in the cold.”

“I don’t know how you can stand eating fish from the grocery store.”

After the call, Ruth opened another bottle of merlot and topped off their glasses.

The wall intercom buzzed. Ruth walked over. “Yes, Sam?”

“There’s a man here to see you,” the doorman said. “Matthew Wallace. Should I send him up?”

“Speak of the devil,” Carla said.

“Sure, Sam,” Ruth said. “Send him up.”

“We are not changing the script,” Carla said.

Five minutes later Wallace hammered on the door. Ruth let him in. He didn’t even give her time to talk.

He shoved a script in her face. “You did this! You changed everything.”

Carla took a sip of wine. “Groovy. Just goddamned groovy.”

“The show’s ratings are up,” Ruth said. “Way up. We’re winning our time slot every week even over American shows. We’re beating Little House on the Prairie. They’re about to move us to nine on Thursday.”

Wallace gestured to the room. “You’re a recurring character. How does a recurring character afford a place like this?”

“She’s not recurring. She plays the captain,” Carla said. 

“Not after I talk to the network,” Wallace said.

“Get a grip, Matthew!” Carla snapped. “I thought we were past this. The show has changed. You’re lucky to still be part of the cast. Keep up your little conniption fits and see how quickly you’re written out.”

“I don’t even know who you are,” Wallace said.

“Really?” Carla took a sip of wine. “You still haven’t figured that out?”

Wallace pointed at Ruth. “You’re a time traveler. You got here before me. You changed things! I’m going to change them back!”

“Super groovy,” Carla said.

“Carla, why don’t you let Matthew and me talk things over? I’ve got this,” Ruth said.

Carla finished her glass. “Personally I’d call the cops and write him out of the show. But you’re the boss.”

“She’s the boss?” Wallace stared at Ruth. “Perfect. Just fucking perfect.”

 

July 8, 1976

Mom cried. She’d cried a lot since Dad died.

Even after another hour of Mom trying to reason with her, Adeline didn’t budge. She said she couldn’t change who she was.

The next day Adeline had an appointment with a psychiatrist.

 

October 5, 1976

Wallace glared at Ruth. “Don’t mess with me. I am not in a good mood.”

Ruth sighed.

“I could have you thrown out of this building. I could have you kicked off of FTL in a heartbeat. You’re not exactly a team player, Matt. You never were.”

“All I know is that two hours ago, I’m watching Adeline Devereaux try to figure out what’s wrong with the ship and bam, I’m in my old apartment near Kensington Market. Except it’s October 1976 and I bought a house near the lake in December 1975. At least that’s the way I remember it. You changed history.”

“How do you know you’re a time traveler, Matt? Maybe you’re just passed out on the ship.”

Wallace walked behind Ruth’s bar and poured himself a scotch without asking. “Because Adeline says the tachyon field shoots us back in time.”

Ruth dropped the charade that this might all be in Wallace’s head. Better to just level with him. “Would have been nice if she had shared that information with us before we took off.”

Wallace sat on the sofa. He set the bottle of liquor on the glass coffee table without a coaster. “I don’t think she knew.”

“Can she fix it?”

“How the hell would I know?” He gulped his drink and poured another one. “I called my agent. Seems I’m a supporting character on my own show.”

“It’s not your show.”

Wallace scowled. “Then I find out that I never got that endorsement deal at Loblaws. You know who they gave it to? Goddamned Shatner. So I can’t afford the house now. I hate William Shatner. He gets all the breaks. Asshole.”

“The man is Canadian,” Ruth said. “And it is a Canadian supermarket.”

“Yes, I know. He’s from Quebec. But my show’s Canadian and—I don’t want to talk about Shatner. How did you change history?”

“You changed history first.”

Wallace threw up his hands. He spilled liquor on the shag carpet. “How in God’s name did I do that? I just got here.”

“You fired me.”

“You must have deserved it.”

“You sexually assaulted me, and when I resisted you fired me.”

“I’m sure there’s more to it than that.”

“No, that’s just how it is right now. Men call the shots, but you don’t give a fuck, do you? I—Look, Matt, I’ve put up with a lot of shit in my life. You have no idea what women have to live through. First, we get attention we don’t want. Then we hit thirty and men ignore us. I never acted again after 1983, because there were plenty of young actresses to take my place. My last gig was a cameo on Love Boat.”

“That’s not my fault.”

“Yeah, it kinda is. Jesus, Matt, you never even brought me back for any of those pathetic made-for-TV movies. You had them cast some Playboy Centerfold instead.”

“I didn’t make casting—”

“Bullshit, Matt. That’s just bullshit. Well, I’m making a difference. I’m glad to give you a job on a really good show, better than that teenaged boy wet dream you videotaped. I think you’ll like what we’re doing if you give it a chance. Don’t get in my way. I’m serious. Whatever you have to put up with is nothing compared to what most of the actresses on the show had to suffer through before I took over.”

Wallace just stared at her.

“And another thing, don’t tell people that I’m part of management. That’s confidential. Only a couple of people know. It’s better the cast and crew just think of me as an actress.”

“I gotta go.” He shotgunned the rest of his drink.

“We shoot early tomorrow. Six A.M.” 

“I’ll be there. Count on it.”

 

October 6, 1976

Wallace didn’t keep his mouth shut. He arrived early the next day and spread the word to everybody that Ruth was management.

She had to fix this. She told Carla to delay the shoot until further notice and then called the head writer into her office.

“What are we going to do about this?” Ruth asked.

“Fire Wallace. He’s a jerk. He comes to your home drunk and starts babbling about time travel. The man needs help, but he’s not our problem.”

“I’m not going to fire him.”

Carla closed her eyes and took a deep breath. “Why not? Do you owe him something?”

“I kind of do,” she said. “I took something away from him.”

“Just groovy. I have no idea what kind of hold the man has over you. He’s a below average actor and a disruptive force. How does he help the show?”

“I’m not talking about him any longer,” Ruth said. “I have a real problem.”

“Not the way I see it.” Carla took a sip of coffee.

“That’s pretty glib.”

“I don’t get why you didn’t just announce you’d bought the show from the get-go. Are you ashamed because you’re black or female or both? What the hell does it matter? If you really want to help women out, stop this farce that we don’t know who is leading the charge. We don’t need the help of a man to drag us out of the pit men have thrown us into. Not even a straw man. Besides, people know. The way you talk at meetings. The way you and I interact.”

Carla had a point. What was Ruth so afraid of ? She leaned back in her chair and ruminated for a moment.

“Okay. You’re right. I’m going to make an announcement to the cast and crew about my true role in all this.”

“Groovy. And what about Wallace?”

“Kick him off the set.”

“He’s fired? Finally.”

“Not fired. Just written out of the next three or four episodes. Let’s call up Margaret and talk about some minor changes. He’s not a big part right now anyway.”

“Can’t do that, Ruth.” 

“Why not?”

“She and Eric are out on the boat all day.”

 

October 9, 1976

Pascal couldn’t be sure if things had changed aside from minor alterations like leaving Watertown to take classes in Ottawa. His memory had never been all that great. Some sport scores didn’t seem right. He could have sworn Canada had managed at least one gold at the Montreal Olympics. He remembered the Philadelphia Flyers winning their third Stanley Cup Playoffs in a row, or maybe it had only been two. Good thing he hadn’t bet any money.

He didn’t pay a lot of attention to American politics, but the name Jimmy Carter was not familiar. It seemed like somebody else had run for President the first time against Ford. Or maybe they hadn’t.

He had never been a fan of FTL. Pascal watched a few episodes just to see if the actors on the Devereaux 1 seemed different. That Wallace asshole was barely on the show, and that Black actress whose name he couldn’t remember commanded the ship. His sister had called Wallace captain the whole day of the flight. She sure acted like he was a big deal. Three weeks in a row the episodes were all about the woman captain.

He also didn’t remember anyone talking about FTL the first time around. None of his friends watched it before he time traveled. Now everyone he knew seemed to have caught an episode or two. The show made the cover of MacLean’s magazine and had a full spread in the Globe and Mail.

Some things must have changed, but it wasn’t like he could go down to the library and check out old newspapers.

It hurt his brain to think about the reality shift. Better to just enjoy a few moments by himself in the house. Mom was spending some time with Adeline again, because togetherness would fix his sister’s issues. Bonding wouldn’t fix anything. Adeline would be a lesbian for the rest of her life, no matter what psychiatry thought in the 1970s.

He opened the fridge and took out a Labatt’s 50. He looked for the bottle opener. They couldn’t invent screw top beer bottles fast enough.

The wall-mounted telephone rang. Time to play the dutiful son and concerned brother again.

“Devereaux residence.”

“Can I speak to Adeline Devereaux?” a somewhat familiar adult voice asked.

“Who’s calling, please?”

“Matthew Wallace.”

 

July 1, 2023

Adeline had no idea where Ruth Mulu, Pascal, and Matthew Wallace had gone. They might be a thousand years in the future or the past. They might be free floating energy.

Had they followed the Earth or had they appeared where the Earth had been or would be? Hellishly drifting, just waiting for the planet to arrive.

Perhaps they had appeared in their own bodies in the past.

Adeline tried to figure things out even though her head ached worse than any migraine. She couldn’t stop the time shift without shutting down the tachyon field and crashing the ship. She’d be next. But what if the ship landed with the tachyon field still generating and her gone? Would it propel rescue workers or scientists through time?

She couldn’t chance it. Better for the ship to smash into the ocean and take her with it than to risk the field placing others in peril. She turned the engine off.

It’d take a few seconds to wind down.

The hull of the Devereaux 1 grew translucent. Adeline’s head pounded. She closed her eyes and—

 

October 10, 1976

Pascal sat at the back table of Nate’s Delicatessen near Parliament Hill in Ottawa and waited for Wallace. He didn’t dare meet the man at home. He didn’t trust Wallace to be discreet. If Pascal had learned anything from that rocket flight, it had been that Matthew Wallace did not like to keep his mouth shut. Mom would think Pascal crazy if she overheard any of their conversation. Then he’d be seeing a psychiatrist too.

The bell rang and the front door opened. Wallace in a beige trench coat stood by the register and scanned the crowd. Pascal waved him over. Wallace had only met Pascal as a much older man.

“I ordered you a pastrami sandwich,” Pascal said.

“Yeah, I’m sure this place is wonderful,” Wallace muttered.

“How long have you been in the past?” Pascal asked.

“About a week. How about you?”

“Six months.”

Wallace took a sip of water. “I want to talk to your sister.”

Pascal’s heart raced. If Adeline had jumped, she was smarter than he thought. Her future adult self had fooled him.

“She time traveled?” Pascal asked.

“I don’t know. Last I saw she was on the ship, trying to fix things. She’s the only one who understands the drive.”

The waiter, a middle-aged guy wearing an apron, brought the overflowing sandwiches with enormous pickle spears on the side.

Wallace bit into his sandwich. “I assume you’ve been watching FTL.” 

Pascal slathered some extra mustard on the rye bread. It was nice to have something not prepared at Devereaux’s for a change. “I never really watched it the first time. But I guess it’s kind of different.”

Wallace stared at him. “You think? I’m not the star any longer. That woman, Ruth, fixed things so the show’s all about her. Selfish bitch.”

Pascal didn’t tell Wallace what he really thought. The first FTL had not exactly been stellar. At least the new version held his interest. He couldn’t complain about the writing or acting.

“Sure,” Pascal said. “Look, Mr. Wallace, why are we even meeting? I’m sure you don’t want to get into the coffee business.”

“I want to get into the time travel business. That engine your sister came up with might not be great for going into space, but maybe with a little adjustment it could power a time machine.”

Pascal hadn’t thought of that. “And why do you want a time machine?”

“I’m going to go back in time and make things right. I’ll fix things on FTL.”

Wallace took another bite of his sandwich.

Pascal picked Wallace’s brain about what exactly Adeline had said about the tachyon field.

It didn’t take much to convince Wallace that Pascal knew nothing of time machines, that pursuing the man whose name Pascal lied about forgetting would be the wild goose chase to end all wild goose chases.

Thank God Wallace didn’t remember the professor’s name. Pascal couldn’t have forgotten Trembley’s name if he wanted to. Adeline had ingrained it in his mind.

 

December 9, 1976

Music blared from the sagging singlewide in Kitchener, Ontario. Pascal pulled his coat close. Real winter would be here soon enough—not just the teaser snows of fall. He banged on the door.

The door opened. Cigarette smoke billowed outside along with the aroma of something cooking. Something with plenty of garlic and butter. Something delicious. Pascal hadn’t realized how hungry he was after the five-hour drive from Ottawa.

“What do you want?” an overweight unshaven man in jeans and a Montreal Alouettes T-shirt asked in a thick French-Canadian accent. He took a puff from his cigarette and blew smoke at Pascal.

“Are you Louis Trembley?” 

“Oui.” He exhaled more smoke.

Pascal coughed. He had a pretty good idea why Trembley, the man who had written the paper his sister had obsessed over, would die young. This guy couldn’t have been more than thirty-five.

“I’m Pascal Devereaux. We talked this morning. I understand you are interested in tachyons.”

“Are you a student?” Trembley asked.

“I’m a businessman. I want to talk to you about your research.”

Trembley looked skeptical. “And why is that?”

Pascal didn’t feel like freezing outside. He jumped right to the point. “Could you build a tachyon engine?”

“Perhaps. Have you had dinner?”

“No.” He’d kill for some of whatever Trembley was cooking.

“Then you will buy me dinner. We can talk about it then.”

Pascal blinked. “Buy you dinner? Aren’t you making dinner?”

“Escargot? No, monsieur. Escargot with shallots and a garlic cream sauce is but a snack. I am in the mood for something more substantial. Steak.”

Pascal had to refill the gas tank to get back to Ottawa. If he took Trembley to a restaurant, he wouldn’t have enough money for a hotel tonight.

“Can we talk about it here?”

“No. Good night, monsieur.” Trembley closed the door.

Trembley had expensive tastes. He refused to talk about physics until Pascal took him to a steakhouse. It was a fancy place. The professor had taken time to change into a checkered sportscoat, tie, and slacks. The waiter frowned at Pascal’s jeans and sweater.

Trembley ordered shrimp cocktail, a Caesar salad, a charcuterie board, prime rib, and several glasses of beer. He chain-smoked through dinner. He dominated the conversation, talking about Montreal sports teams.

Then he got into politics. He thought Quebec would secede. Rene Levesque was the smartest politician who ever lived. Didn’t Pascal agree?

Pascal pretended to find the talk of the Quebec separatist movement interesting. Quebec had been making empty threats to form their own country since he was a boy.

“How many restaurants does your mother have?” Trembley asked. He cut off a jagged piece of meat and dipped it in au jus. 

“Sixteen.”

“Then you have money.”

“My mother has money.” Pascal unfurled the linen napkin covering the breadbasket and took one of the complimentary rolls. He pulled it open and spread fresh whipped butter. He wondered if the local Devereaux’s could whip something up for him.

“Then why am I talking to you? Why not your mother?”

“I can get the money.”

“I have been to a Devereaux’s.” He rolled his eyes. “The restaurant serves mediocre omelets. Nobody understands omelets. You cannot stuff too many things inside or it becomes scrambled eggs. The rule of three, monsieur.”

“Their specialty is pancakes.”

“Pancakes. Peasant food.” He motioned to the waiter for another beer. 

“Look, Professor Trembley, can we talk about a tachyon generator?”

“Theoretical, monsieur. I am not certain such a machine can be built.”

The waiter brought Trembley’s beer. He refilled Pascal’s water glass and shot him an annoyed look.

“Yes, I understand, but would this tachyon field have side effects?” Pascal asked. “Could it cause disruptions in space and time?”

“Perhaps you have mistaken me for Ray Bradbury.”

Ray Bradbury probably wouldn’t expect a steak dinner, appetizers, and drinks. “I’m talking to you. Could you please just answer the question?”

“Perhaps, monsieur, such an engine might cause fluctuations. Who is to say?” The three beers showed. His speech slurred.

Pascal wondered if he was just wasting his time. Maybe the time travel had been a fluke.

“Could you control the time travel?”

“If you pay me, I will try.”

Trembley flagged down the waiter, ordered a coffee, and asked about dessert.

 

December 14, 1976

Wallace had gone missing. After his forced hiatus had ended, he didn’t show up to the studio. He didn’t answer his phone. In early December, Bell Canada said his number was no longer in service.

Ruth had some hard choices.

“You have to write him out of the show,” Carla said.

“I’m not going to do that.” She walked over to the window and looked out at the snow cascading to the street stories below her apartment. Canadian snowfalls were beautiful until you had to drive in them.

“Why not fire him?”

“I can’t.” She watched the swirling flakes. “It’s freezing out there. How’d you like to relocate the writers to Florida for a few weeks after the holidays?”

“But then I’d miss the goddamned snow.” Carla took another sip of wine. “I think a change of location would inspire all of us.”

“I’ll talk to a travel agent.” Things were sure a lot more complicated in these times. No booking online.

Carla paused for a moment, maybe dreaming of dragging a typewriter onto the beach. “Wallace fired you,” she said. “You gave him a chance. That’s more than he deserved.”

Ruth couldn’t just blurt out how she’d changed history and ruined a man’s career. Yet she wasn’t entirely sure that was true. She might have improved his career, by making him part of a much more serious ensemble show. Some PBS stations in the U.S. wanted to buy syndication rights. Wallace had sabotaged his own career with his refusal to deal with the regime change.

Plus, what were the prospects of one more misogynist loser compared to the dozens of writers and actors and actresses who had benefited from the new and improved FTL? Wallace had had plenty of chances. Many of the people Ruth’s retooling had helped had never had a chance before she time traveled.

Still, she felt guilty.

“Ruth, Margaret is calling any minute. We have to have a plan,” Carla said.

“Okay. Fair enough. We’re not writing him out of the show. Captain Quint will stay missing. We’ll make it part of the arc.”

Carla stared at her. “Why?”

“Because if we write him out of the show, we can’t bring him back. And it might be a good thing to have a narrative hook.”

“Goddamn it. He’s a sexist asshole. He fired you for not sleeping with him. How many other women did he take advantage of ?”

“This isn’t about revenge. It’s about making things better. It’s about treating everybody with respect, the way I’d want to be treated.”

Carla sighed. “You’re the boss.”

 

January 3, 1977

Adeline no longer had a migraine.

She lay on a couch in a dimly lit office that she didn’t recognize. Snow fell outside. It might be winter. In Canada, it might be May. A digital clock on a very spartan desk said four P.M. 

A Bank of Nova Scotia wall calendar with a dull pastel watercolor of a lake. The date was not unremarkable. January 1977.

“What happened next?” a voice behind her asked.

She sat up and turned around. A bearded middle-aged man in a blue turtleneck sat in a wingback chair. He held a notepad. He seemed the stereotype of a psychiatrist.

Adeline hadn’t gotten to be a billionaire by avoiding questions.

“Who are you?” she asked.

“Doctor Treleaven. Come on, Adeline, you know who I am.” He paused. “You were telling me about how somehow somebody at school had heard about your affinity for women.”

“Can I use your bathroom?” she asked. 

He yawned. “Sure.”

“Where is it?”

“Same as last time. Out the door to your right.”

She closed the restroom door a minute later and looked in the mirror. A fifteen-year-old girl looked back at her. Adeline still had acne. The Buster Brown haircut she’d ditched in college.

So, she was seeing a psychiatrist? She had never seen one until her forties.

Affinity for girls? Had she come out at age fifteen? Why would she do that?

The timeline had changed. Three people had traveled through time ahead of her. Only one could have affected her life in such a personal way.

Somehow Pascal had made the worst time of Adeline’s life—the couple of years after Dad’s passing—worse. What an ungrateful piece of garbage. She’d done nothing but support him after Mom died and he had never thanked her. He had never gotten a job. When friends and colleagues asked her why she spent so much effort to help somebody who didn’t help himself, she told them because nobody else would help him and he was family. Pascal had never given a crap about family himself.

She splashed cold water on her face. She couldn’t afford to get mired in her anger with Pascal. She needed to find out exactly how he had screwed things up.

Time for more questions.

“Doctor Treleaven, what is my diagnosis? Why am I here?” she asked back on the couch.

“Well, your mother had concerns after you confessed your interest in girls. We’ve gone over this before. The truth is—”

“What’s the diagnosis?”

He sighed. “Depression. Anxiety. Narcissism.”

Adeline was no fool. She was getting psychiatric help for being a lesbian. Somehow Pascal had made her come out of the closet.

She didn’t blame Mom. Mom had been almost catatonic until 1978, but that was before Pascal had arranged for her daughter to have psychiatric problems. Mom had made a lot of bad decisions the first time around. She’d lost several restaurants and been committed to an Arnprior psychiatric hospital for the longest weekend of Adeline’s life.

When Adeline had come out in the early nineties, Mom had taken time to adjust, but she had never rejected her daughter. Her mother would accept her again.

 

January 7, 1977

Trembley took another sip of black coffee in the corner booth of the Devereaux’s in Kitchener, Ontario. “I am not a cook.”

“I know you’re not a cook. Nobody expects you to make breakfast. We’re just going to pretend that you’re the assistant manager until you finish your project,” Pascal said.

Why wasn’t Trembley jumping on this opportunity? He could sure use the money. The community college didn’t need him for the spring semester.

Their sixtyish waitress’s nametag said Simone. She asked for the fourth time if everything had been okay. The owner’s son didn’t stop by often.

Trembley made a face after Simone left to check on their order again. “This coffee is repugnante. Tres degoutant.” 

“I’ll fix that,” Pascal said.

Trembley put his mug on the Formica table. “Tick tock.”

“I’m working on it.”

Trembley turned in the seat and pointed out the front window. “I bet that Italian restaurant is good. Let’s have our meeting there.”

“We’re going to have lunch in my mother’s restaurant. It would not look good for me to eat across the street.”

“The food must be better over there.” He picked up a rock-hard Danish and dropped it on the plate. “It can’t be much worse.”

“Listen,” Pascal said. “You’re going to be paid well to be assistant manager. You don’t have to do anything, just work on the project. I’ll be manager. I’ll make sure you have what you need and don’t have to do any work. Any restaurant work.”

“Why not just pay me to construct the machine?”

“Because we can’t just—” Pascal snapped. He realized Simone was staring. He lowered his voice to a whisper. “You will be paid better than any of the managerial staff in any of the other restaurants. And you won’t have to manage anything. Just build me the damned machine.”

“Which would be easier in a lab.”

“My mother is not going to pay you to build a time machine,” Pascal said. “She will pay you to assistant manage this restaurant. What do you care what your title is? You’re getting paid.”

“Vrai. A very good point.” Trembley pointed to his coffee. “Remedy the coffee situation s’il vous plait, monsieur.”

“I’m on it.”

Simone brought two breakfast platters. Stacks of pancakes, sunny side up eggs, bacon, link sausage, and home fries.

“Anything else, Mr. Devereaux?” she asked.

“No. You’ve been great,” Pascal said. “I am certainly going to report to my mom what a great experience I’ve had.”

“Thank you, sir,” she said.

Trembley pushed his plate beside the napkin dispenser.

“Give the food a chance. It’s good.” Pascal poured maple syrup on the stack. He stabbed a piece of pancake with his fork and held it up for a second. “The secret is to get sausage with each bite of pancake.”

“Peasant food,” Trembley snorted. “I will wait for lunch at the bistro across the street.”

“We are not eating there,” Pascal said.

Trembley lit a cigarette and blew smoke across the table.

 

January 30, 1977

Doctor Treleaven had finally taken Adeline off the meds. Things were bad enough in 2023, but at least in the future Canada didn’t make you get mental health counseling for being a lesbian.

The one thing Adeline had not done was panic when she found herself under the care of a psychiatrist. She felt certain that her fifteen-year-old self had protested her sanity. The adult-in-a-teenager’s-body Adeline knew she could only get a clean bill of health by pretending to admit she had a problem. She could act straight. She’d done it before. And she could pretend that a bunch of misguided fools were right and she was wrong. You didn’t get to be a billionaire without some solid acting skills.

So she’d participated in group therapy, taken the meds with a smile, and regurgitated all the medieval sexist bullshit Doctor Treleaven spewed out. She showed steady progress, Treleaven said.

She caught a glimpse of his notes once during their twice a week sessions. He criticized her clothing, jeans and a sweatshirt, for being too masculine. Never mind that many of the girls at school wore jeans and sweatshirts.

So, Adeline dressed in frocks and heels. Not fun in the snow and ice, but Treleaven seemed to appreciate it. He had this idea that a normal girl stopped developing around the age of thirteen. Adeline knew his type. Treleaven was one of those who always had to be the smartest person in the room. Fine with her. She fed his delusion. She only wanted to get out of the room.

Adeline bought Tiger Beat and Young Miss and Nancy Drew. She swooned over Tony De Franco and Shaun Cassidy. She talked about cute boys she saw in gym class.

She wore her hair in pigtails.

She never expressed a complicated thought. She acted like a schoolgirl on the Patty Duke Show or Leave It To Beaver. Treleaven didn’t seem to think a whole lot about women. He liked his women subservient and quiet.

She also read up on mental illness and became well acquainted with the symptoms of depression, anxiety, and narcissism.

Treleaven ate it up. Even if not quite ready to pronounce her cured, he gave positive reports.

Adeline wondered where he’d be in twenty years. Probably living with his boyfriend, if he ever took an honest look at himself.

 

February 9, 1977

Three days in Watertown with Brewster had done Pascal a world of good. He could forget about the trials and tribulations of running a restaurant. The Kitchener Devereaux’s floundered without his constant supervision.

How the hell did Adeline pull it off the first time? He could barely manage to keep one restaurant in the black. Of course, he was siphoning off money for a time machine and plowing whatever profits he had left into fancy coffee equipment, not easy to come by when most people only drank coffee in tiny Styrofoam cups at breakfast.

When Pascal returned from his trip, the wait staff met him at the door. They seemed happy and excited. He half listened as they told him about some great dish Trembley had concocted that might sell at breakfast. Great. The physicist had decided to be a cook after all.

Pascal marched back to the storeroom. Amidst vacuum tubes and gauges and dangling wires, Trembley sat on a chair borrowed from the dining area and ate a to-go container of pasta. The second cappuccino machine—still not unboxed after a week—lay in the corner beneath an open box of mustard bottles.

“Any progress?” Pascal asked.

“Oui, the food in your restaurant is improving.”

“I meant on the machine.”

“Tests are still early, monsieur. Not conclusive.”

A half-finished Globe and Mail crossword puzzle suggested Trembley had spent his time on other pursuits.

“Is a machine possible?

Trembley shrugged. “Perhaps.” The same answer he had given for weeks.

Simone stuck her head in the door. “Hughes Dairy has an infection in their stock and is suspending delivery for a while.”

“How long?”

“They don’t know. What should we do, boss?” Simone asked.

“Run up to Loblaws and buy what you need.” Pascal pointed to the coffee machine. “Why isn’t that in the kitchen?”

“Nobody has ordered anything but regular coffee all week. We don’t really need it.”

“You will. Set it up.”

“You’re the boss.”

“And buy regular cream, lots of it, four or five gallons.”

Simone cocked an eyebrow. “It’ll spoil.”

“We’ll need it for the lattes and café au lait.” 

“Sure, boss. Whatever you say.” She winked at Trembley. “Nice poutine this morning.”

He bowed. “Merci.”

Pascal cleared his throat after Simone departed. “The time machine?”

“People do not want milkshakes or hot chocolate with breakfast,” Trembley said. “They want their coffee strong and bitter.”

“Why don’t you stick to time machines and let me manage the restaurant?”

“Oui.” 

“And stop ordering from the Italian place. It doesn’t look good for the assistant manager to not like the food in his own restaurant.”

 

February 17, 1977

Adeline scanned the old copies of the Globe and Mail on microfiche in the Ottawa public library. Ruth Mulu had done quite well for herself.

A lot had changed. The biggest shift in this new reality, bigger than a different candidate winning the election in the States, had to be Mom’s new trust in Pascal.

That trust would evaporate. Adeline had a much better head for business and, if she knew one thing, Pascal would screw up somehow. She just hoped he didn’t bankrupt the family business first.

Her biggest obstacle was she had very little power as a sixteen-year-old girl. She’d have to tread carefully for the next two years.

She shut down the machine and stopped by the reference desk. She had the address of the production company for FTL in Toronto ten minutes later.

 

February 28, 1977

Ruth sat at her desk and tried not to think about the howling blizzard outside. Welcome back to Toronto.

Florida had done Ruth and Carla a world of good. They’d come up with a wealth of great story ideas at Sanibel Island. The two shared one bungalow. The other writers bunked in another.

Margaret had even flown down for a long weekend to hammer out some arcs, even if it meant leaving the rest of the Labrador Round Table—the elite writing circle with the likes of Farley Mowat—behind. 

Ryland Stemper refused to visit. He didn’t like Florida. He called it California-lite. He had done a lot of work on his six-episode arc and planned to fly to Toronto in late April after the thaw to personally supervise the filming. After producers had butchered Harlan Ellison’s scripts for Starlost, Stemper wasn’t taking any chances with Canadian science fiction programs.

Ruth thumbed through the mail. A return address from Ottawa caught her eye. Adeline Devereaux. Ruth had avoided contacting the Devereaux kids. She couldn’t be sure they had traveled back in time, too. For all she knew, Pascal and Adeline were still in the future.

She tore open the letter and started to read. The phone rang.

She answered on the second ring. Collect from the Toronto Correctional Center. Matthew Wallace was in jail for drunk driving.

Ruth sat across from Matthew in the jail visitation room. A glass partition was between them. A stone-faced guard stood ten feet behind him. Wallace wore a dingy blue uniform. He’d lost some weight and hadn’t shaved in a while. Matted uncombed hair. No toupee.

“Do you have any idea how many prisoners want a piece of Captain Quint?” Wallace asked. “Those TV fighting moves don’t work well in real life.”

“You’re going to rehab,” Ruth said.

He nodded. “You have a lot of time to think in here. I’ve screwed up a lot. I don’t even know how many drinks I had that night. I don’t get a trial until May. My lawyer’s seen me twice. The car’s totaled.”

“Matthew, I don’t trust you,” she said. “But I’ll give you a chance. You’ve got a lot of problems, but your biggest problem is you’re a sexist pig.”

“I have two daughters, not that I ever see them,” he said. “I guess I’ve always compartmentalized. Convinced myself that men would treat them different than I treated women.”

She wasn’t his therapist. She got to business. “I’ve hired you a good lawyer. Your driving charge will be dismissed next year if you go through inpatient substance abuse treatment and stay sober and if you get a good report from my company.”

“I can do that.”

“Quint is going to struggle with alcoholism this year. We’ll expect you to talk openly to the press about your own problems and how special the story arc is. If you don’t take this seriously, we’ll write you out of the show. You’ll never work on television again.”

“Twelve Steps. AA. I got it,” he said.

“We’ll drive you to the rehab center in Thunder Bay today. A single bad report from the staff, and I’m off your bond. Understand?”

He nodded.

“You will have one visitor. This person may come to see you once or every day. You’re not going to like it.”

“Who?

“Ryland Stemper.” 

 

March 5, 1977

Ruth sat across from Adeline at Nate’s Delicatessen. Her mother had bought Ruth’s little white lie that Adeline had some story ideas. Or maybe she just wanted to believe. Mrs. Devereaux seemed listless, depressed.

Carla and Mrs. Devereaux shared a booth near the window. Ruth had no idea what they were talking about, but Ruth would owe Carla big.

“Pascal’s back, too,” Adeline said. “He’s changed some things.”

Ruth frowned. “Like what.”

“Like convincing everybody that he’s God’s gift to the restaurant business. The first time Mom banned him from working for her after she caught Pascal stealing from the register in Hull in like 1980.”

“That might still happen,” Ruth said.

“Yeah, if he doesn’t bankrupt the chain first. Things were bad enough the first time with just Mom being depressed. He’s down in Kitchener running things.”

“And that’s not normal?”

“No. Mom never trusted Pascal.” Adeline leaned across the table. “Do you have any idea who lives in Kitchener? Louis Trembley. The man who made the tachyon drive possible.”

 

March 8, 1977

Adeline pretended to do her homework at the kitchen table when Mom answered the phone. Mom’s mood shifted. A frown crossed her face. “What do you want?”

Mom listened for a second. “No. This isn’t working. She’s getting worse. . . . I don’t care.”

The conversation became heated. After a vigorous back and forth argument, Mom finally screamed into the phone. “You can just cancel the rest of the appointments!”

Mom slammed down the receiver and stood there panting and staring into space. She opened the fridge and pulled out a beer, took off the cap and downed it in seconds.

She crinkled her nose. “God, I hate beer. How does Pascal stand it?”

“Good question,” Adeline said.

“That was Doctor Treleaven. The psychiatric appointments have ended.”

 

March 12, 1977

Adeline did not have a hard time convincing her mother to drive down to Kitchener to see how Pascal was doing. Especially after the chain’s CPA expressed concerns. Mom was willing to cut her son some slack, but the Kitchener restaurant was bleeding money. The revenue had not increased, and Pascal had a lot of unexplained expenditures.

Mom agreed with Adeline that it would be best for them to surprise Pascal. Mom greeted the waitress, Simone, like an old friend. They hugged and chatted before Simone seated them in a corner booth and went to get the manager.

Pascal hurried over. His face briefly showed panic, but he masked that with a smile. “Mom, Adeline, you should have told me you were coming, I would have prepared.”

“I just want to see how the place runs on an average day,” Mom said.

“Sure. Do you want something to eat?”

Mom dropped the menu. “I always get the same thing. What’s different?”

“Show us some of those big ideas you were talking about in Ottawa, Pascal,” Adeline said.

Pascal just stood there, slack jawed.

“We have poutine,” Simone said.

“That’s something different,” Mom said. “Two servings.”

“Would you like a cappuccino or a latte?” Pascal asked. “That’s different.”

Mom crinkled her nose. “No, thanks. It’s kind of late in the day for coffee.”

“You really think truckers and plant workers want fancy coffee in the afternoon?” Adeline asked.

Mom patted her hand. “They don’t, Adeline. Trust me.”

Pascal hadn’t done his research. Adeline had commissioned market studies and waited for the right time. She’d debuted the fancy coffee drinks in a trendy Montreal neighborhood, not the sticks of Ontario. Truck drivers and farmers wouldn’t drink high-end coffee beverages at two in the afternoon, not for another fifteen or twenty years.

Mom called Simone over when Pascal had gone to the kitchen.

“You sell any of those coffee drinks?” Mom asked.

“Nobody drinks them but Pascal, Mrs. Devereaux.” 

Adeline had to admit the poutine was delicious. Thick hearty gravy atop fresh squeaky cheese curds and crispy French fries. She’d had the French-Canadian dish before, but never had it seemed so decadent.

“You’ve been holding out on me,” Mom said to Pascal. “The poutine is some of the best I’ve ever had.”

“Thanks,” Pascal said.

“Your recipe?” Mom asked. 

He paused. “No.”

“I want to meet the chef,” Mom said.

Pascal hemmed and hawed, but Mom held her ground. He returned five minutes later with an overweight man who needed a shave. “This is my assistant manager.”

The man bowed. “Bonjour. I am Louis Trembley.”

Adeline tried not to stare.

The poutine with sherry-infused gravy had been the special a couple of times when Pascal had been out of town. Trembley planned to introduce a Boeuf Bourguignon next.

“I want that poutine on the regular menu,” Mom said.

Carrying a tray of dirty dishes, Simone stopped momentarily. “His Garbure sold out at lunch yesterday in half an hour. Never seen anything like it. Get that recipe, too.”

“You are too kind, mademoiselle,” Trembley said.

After a lifetime of managing the restaurant chain, Adeline knew a good thing when she saw it. “Mom, maybe you could introduce it to the other restaurants, too,” Adeline said.

“Louis, could you write down the recipe?” Mom asked.

“Certainly, Madam.”

“Mom,” Adeline asked. “Do you think we can look around the kitchen?” Trembley worked in this restaurant for a reason. Her brother hadn’t hired the man who’d envisioned a tachyon power source to cook, no matter how good his poutine might be. She doubted Pascal had had time to cover anything up.

Trembley’s work area was hardly secret. Smack down in the middle of the storeroom, he had a couple of benches set up with a number of scientific apparatuses that had been long outdated by the time Adeline started the first prototype of the tachyon engine in 2016.

Adeline had so many things to ask, but she couldn’t just let loose a series of questions about tachyons and space drives. She’d be right back on psych meds. 

Mom pointed to a glass cabinet attached by a kaleidoscope of wires to a blinking board. She flipped through a pad of paper with scribbled formulas and schematics. “What are you working on here, son?”

Pascal blinked. “Um, you know, research and development. Trying to stay ahead of the competition.”

Mom frowned. “How much did all this cost?”

Pascal shifted from foot to foot. “Not sure offhand. I would need to look at the books.”

“I think our CPA has an idea.” Mom put her hand on Pascal’s shoulder. “We sell the best food in Canada. We’re not a lab. We’re not trying to be a malt shop. I’m impressed with your chef and his recipes and look forward to seeing what other dishes he can concoct, but this speculating about new beverage trends and research and development stops now.”

“Mom, I—”

“It stops now.” She smiled. “Okay?”

Pascal nodded, but did not look happy about it. 

What was he up to? Adeline had to stop the real research. Then she had an idea that would get Trembley away from Pascal for a while.

“Mom,” she asked. “Instead of Mr. Trembley just writing down the recipes, how about if he goes to the restaurants and teaches the cooks how to prepare the new menu?”

“I would be delighted,” Trembley said.

 

March 12, 1977

Pascal and Adeline had been waiting outside Devereaux's for half an hour while Mom chatted with Simone. Pascal kept glancing through the front window.

He and his sister had not done much chatting. Pascal hadn’t said two words to her.

He leaned back against the window and closed his eyes. He ran his hands through his long black hair.

“You okay?” Adeline asked.

He glared at her. “Why are you messing with me?”

That was a fine question from the man who had somehow outed her twenty years early.

“I don’t know what you mean.”

“You get Mom to come down here and check on me. You get her to take away my assistant manager. What the hell are you up to?”

“A good manager should be able to survive without his assistant for a few weeks.”

“You’re from the goddamned future.”

“I’m just a wayward teenager, saved by the Grace of God in the nick of time,” she said. “I don’t know what you mean about time traveling.”

“Don’t mess with me,” he hissed. “I will get you put in a psych ward. Do you understand me?”

“Pascal, I like boys. I like Nancy Drew. I love the Bay City Rollers. I have a crush on a cute boy in third period. His name is Kevin. He runs track. He’s just dreamy. I’m not going anywhere.” She thumped her finger against his chest. “But listen carefully: if I ever have to see a psychiatrist again about being a lesbian, I will not go quietly. I will tell them that my older brother is the cause of all my confusion. That you did terrible things to me.”

“You’d be lying.”

“Roll the dice, Pascal.”

 

March 12, 1977

Wallace didn’t say hello when he picked up the hall phone at the rehab center. The first thing he told Ruth was “Ryland Stemper is a hard ass.”

“No argument from me,” she said. “He accused us of changing his script. We haven’t touched it.”

“He’s going to be my sponsor. Yesterday he spent the whole hour telling me how much I screwed up and how I wasn’t going to ruin his show. He said he’s never used drugs.”

“If he’s never used drugs, I’m not sure he can be your sponsor.”

“You try telling him to back off.” Wallace paused. “Look, I’m going through the twelve steps and I’m addressing wrongs. I shouldn’t have fired you. I shouldn’t have assaulted you. You should have had me arrested.”

“Thank you, Matt. I just want you to get better.”

“I’ve got a ways to go.”

He spent ten minutes detailing how he had wronged her in so many ways in the current and the previous reality.

“I’m glad you’re taking this seriously,” she said.

“There’s something else. I tried to change things. I met with Pascal.”

“Really?” Ruth’s heart raced.

“We had lunch. I had this crazy idea that if we could find that professor who wrote that physics article that he’d build us a time machine. I wanted to wrestle control back from you on FTL.” 

Ruth just had to wonder. Wallace contacted Pascal about building the most powerful machine ever. A time machine would have world-shattering implications. Yet Wallace just wanted to get his old job back. It wasn’t unlike mobile phones and computers in the future. The vast majority of people used them to look up song lyrics or take photos of their food to post online. Technology was wasted on most, she supposed.

Wallace laughed. “That’s how desperate I was. I wanted to build a goddamned time machine. That’s how much I hated you.”

 

March 13, 1977

“I have no idea if you could build a time machine,” Adeline said to Ruth over the phone. “I mean, it was hard enough putting that engine together in 2023. The worst mobile phone in the future has more data than the best computer today. What happened to us was a fluke. The odds against it were astronomical. A thousand factors could have caused it from the altitude to the G-forces to subtle changes in outside radiation. Who knows? I’m not sure you could deliberately create a time machine without an unlikely confluence of events happening. But maybe you could.”

Pascal was reckless enough that he might just try to travel back in time. His goals had always been shortsighted. He’d turned a successful restaurant in Kitchener into a complete train wreck, salvaged only by accident when a physicist had turned out to be a master chef.

And that summed up the problem with time travel. You never knew what the consequences of your actions might be. Best to leave things alone.

Pascal couldn’t leave anything alone. When Trembley returned to Kitchener, the tinkering with time would begin again.

“We need you here,” Ruth said. “You’re the only person who knows how any of this works.”

“I’m sixteen,” Adeline said. “I can’t just drive to Toronto.”

“How’d you like an internship? Do you think your mom would go for that?” Ruth asked. “We’ll pay you and give you a place to live.”

 

March 24, 1977

What had happened to Louis Trembley the curmudgeon? The French-Canadian physicist radiated joy when he walked into the Kitchener Devereaux’s after his whirlwind culinary tour of Ontario and Quebec. He’d only missed one restaurant, the Devereaux’s in Yellowknife.

He hugged the staff. He uncorked a couple of bottles of merlot from one of the top vineyards in Quebec and everybody toasted the restaurant.

Pascal finally managed to cut off the festivities and get Trembley alone.

“Bonjour, mon ami!” Trembley sat across from Pascal in the restaurant booth.

“Good morning,” Pascal muttered. He took a sip of his latte. Watery and salty. How could you screw up coffee? The staff couldn’t do anything right.

Pascal was not in a good mood. Adeline was up to her old tricks. Once again, she was winning over their mother, despite his best efforts to undermine that relationship. That joke of a psychiatrist had totally screwed things up. Then Pascal had gotten stuck in the armpit of the province in a failing restaurant.

When Trembley earned his salary and built the damned time machine, Pascal would do things right. He’d make sure he ended up running the family business and his mom saw what a snake Adeline really was.

“I have wonderful recipes. Your mother is updating all the menus,” Trembley said. His eyes shone. “C'est une femme tres speciale. Ah, your mother is very special. Celeste.”

Pascal knew all about the new recipes. He’d been getting glowing reports of the souffles and roux and stews that Trembley had unveiled at every restaurant. Sales had shot up across Ontario and Quebec. Mom said they would no longer just be a pancake house.

“I want to thank you,” Trembley said. “You have shown me my new calling.”

“I thought you were a physicist.”

Trembley rolled his eyes. “Physics! What has physics ever done for me? I am a chef.”

Pascal glared at Trembley. “You’re a goddamned physicist and you’re going to build me a goddamned time machine.”

“No longer. Your mother has put me in charge of the kitchen in Ottawa. I have so many ideas.”

“Now, you listen to me, you third-rate Albert Einstein,” Pascal said. “You build me that time machine or I will ruin things for you in this company. Do you understand? My mother listens to me.”

“Celeste listens to me, too. On my tour of the Devereaux empire, I got to know her quite well.” He smiled. “Une femme belle et gentile.”

“Huh?”

“Your mother. She is—”

“I don’t care. Just build the machine.”

 

March 26, 1977

Adeline realized that time travel had its limits. You might be able to fix things so the Germans won World War II, but you couldn’t redeem a shiftless loser like Pascal. For as long as she could remember Pascal had screwed up and blamed everybody but himself. He’d always been an asshole and would always be an asshole no matter how much tinkering any time traveler might do.

He had gone out of his way to knock her down a few pegs and it hadn’t worked, for the simple reason that she could not be so easily manipulated. But also because her mom loved her. No, more importantly, she liked her. Sometimes Adeline wondered if Mom liked Pascal.

Did anyone like Pascal?

She’d been interning in Toronto for two days, crashing at Ruth’s penthouse. Mom seemed positively giddy at the prospect of Adeline being out of town for a little while.

Adeline faced Ruth on the couch in Ruth’s living room. “Trembley starts his new job in Ottawa on May 21st,” Adeline said. “If he’s going to build that time machine, it’ll have to be soon. My brother’s probably going to do something really stupid.”

“I hope Trembley never writes that article,” Ruth said.

“My mom is paying him well to come up with new recipes,” Adeline said. “He lives in a trailer in Kitchener. You ever been to Kitchener?”

Ruth shook her head.

“Ugly industrial city. Worst weather in Ontario. It’s actually hot and humid half the time. And Trembley never could get a better job than community college teacher to a bunch of kids who barely made it out of high school. Before he died in 2000, the community college wouldn’t even hire him full time. Not even after he got published. I think he’s done with physics.”

“Yeah, but until he’s out of Kitchener, Pascal isn’t done with him.”

 

April 18, 1977

Pascal came in the back door of Devereaux’s about seven P.M. They closed after lunch on Sundays. The place had been slammed. People loved Trembley’s new dishes. The creator of tachyon power had been busy whipping up various French specialties all day. And then there were all the overnight business trips he’d been making to Ottawa. He hadn’t had much time to go into the makeshift lab. Trembley promised he’d get to the time machine tonight.

Pascal found the storeroom dark. He smelled something delicious. Not a good sign.

Trembley hunched over the stove, vigorously stirring a pot. He sipped a snifter of brandy.

“Ah, mon ami! Poulet Napoleon is my latest dish. Leeks. Poulet. A splash of brandy in the roux.” He added more flour to the sauce. “Your mother loves it. I made it for her yesterday.”

“Where is my time machine?”

“That, monsieur, has been done for hours.”

Pascal turned off the burner. “Let’s see it now.”

“You have ruined the sauce. You cannot just turn off the heat on a roux.” Trembley wiped his hands on his apron and took a last sip of brandy before following Pascal to the storeroom.

“Where is it?” Pascal asked. “Where’s my time machine?”

Trembley stopped at an ordinary-looking microwave oven. Wires led from it to several machines. One had a dozen tiny vacuum tubes, one blackened.

Pascal inspected the microwave. “How is that thing supposed to transport me?”

“It cannot. The weight limit is 45 grams. And it only travels to the past.”

Pascal glared at Trembley. “It’s worthless.”

Trembley shrugged. “Mail a letter.”

That might work. Pascal could send a detailed note to himself. Some good Samaritan would mail it.

“Can you send a letter back to 1975?”

“Perhaps.”

“Stop saying that!”

“Monsieur, I can control the amount of power surge and estimate the travel distance, but no more than that. It may go back to 1975 or 1672 or last week. Without repeated trials, who can say?”

“Give it a small burst of power. We’ll test tonight.”

“Not tonight, monsieur.” He pointed to the blackened vacuum tube.

“And where am I supposed to get that at this hour?”

“You cannot, but the mall has a Radio Shack. They open at ten Monday.”

 

April 18, 1977

Adeline got off the phone with Mom.

“I think Trembley has finished the time machine. My mom said he has to wrap something up in Kitchener.”

Ruth frowned. “Okay. We have to get to that machine. Any ideas?”

“Pascal’s not a James Bond villain,” Adeline said. “I have keys to the restaurant.”

Ruth blinked. “No offense, but why would your mother give a teenager keys to the store?”

“She trusts me more than Pascal.”

 

April 19, 1977

“It’s the microwave,” Adeline said in the restaurant storeroom about two A.M. “All the wires meet there.”

“What now?” Ruth asked. “Destroy it?”

“No. Sabotage it. If we destroy it, Pascal will know he’s onto something. If it doesn’t work, he’ll give up. Trembley’s done with physics. If the prototype fails, he’s just going to cook full time. I’m sure he doesn’t want to keep working with Pascal.”

“Do you think Pascal’s smart enough to build his own machine?”

“Please. What do you think?”

Adeline had fixed plenty of microwaves in her days running restaurants. She reversed a couple of wires and refastened the back. For good measure she fished the top of a tin can from the trash and inserted it under the removable plastic bottom of the oven’s interior.

“How do you know how to mess with a time machine?” Ruth asked.

“I don’t, but I know a thing or two about microwave ovens.”

“What did you do?”

“The machine will seem to work, but then short circuit. It should cause a few sparks.”

 

April 19, 1977

Pascal wrote a ten-page note to himself. He weighed it and realized that Trembley’s bargain basement time machine only had enough power to send back four measly pages.

He rewrote the letter. He explained the time machine and gave himself very detailed instructions on what to do. Just in case his younger self was too naïve to distrust Adeline, he outlined exactly how she had screwed him in the two different realities.

He drove out to the mall and got a half dozen vacuum tubes. He stopped at a pawnshop and bought some old stamps. Then he had to wait for the restaurant to close. He couldn’t very well test the machine during a lunch rush.

He sent everybody home at ten P.M. The gangly teenaged dishwasher hadn’t even taken care of the plates and silverware from dinner. It wouldn’t matter. After Pascal sent that letter, he’d be running things. Hell, he might be Premier of Ontario. Who wouldn’t want to vote for somebody who was always right?

He watched Trembley flip switches and rotate dials and then finally open the microwave. Trembley set the letter inside. “This may not do what you expect.”

“If nothing happens, I made extra letters. We’ll keep trying.”

“As you wish.”

Trembley set the microwave for three minutes on high. He pressed the start button. Before the machine could tick off a single second, he opened the door and plucked out the letter. “No, Monsieur, you will not use this machine. Nobody will. I made a mistake.”

Pascal picked up another letter. “Keep it. I have plenty.” He stepped toward the machine, but the bulky Trembley blocked him. “Get out of the way.”

“No. You will abuse time travel. You are a sad little man. I’m taking the machine. Nobody will use it.”

Pascal lunged at the physicist and knocked him into a couple of boxes of maple syrup. Before Trembley could rise, Pascal put the second letter into the microwave, closed the door, and pressed start.

A tiny light went on inside.

A thin wisp of smoke wafted up. Then sparks.

Trembley opened the microwave door. The letter still lay inside.

Flames shot up.

Pascal just stared.

Trembley pushed the shocked Pascal out of the way and ran to the kitchen and got a fire extinguisher. It was too little too late.

When they both stood safely outside, Trembley slugged Pascal and knocked him to the ground.

 

October 10, 1977

Pascal refused to come down from the frozen tundra of Yellowknife, three thousand miles from Ottawa, for Thanksgiving. Adeline didn’t miss him. He could stay up there and freeze far above the Arctic Circle, for all she cared. He probably still thought that everything that had happened the past few months had been the fault of everybody except him.

Mom had plenty of insurance, but she had to knock some sense into her son. She didn’t buy Pascal’s theory that Simone had somehow caused the fire by misplacing the fire extinguisher. Maternal love only went so far. She made Simone manager, kept her on paid leave with the rest of the staff, and put her in charge of the rebuild. Mom told Pascal he could either work in the northernmost Devereaux’s as a dishwasher or be completely on his own. He chose life in Yellowknife, but he wasn’t happy about it.

Mom, on the other hand, was the happiest she had been in a couple of years. Today she cracked jokes and danced in the kitchen to the radio as she and Adeline made the traditional meal.

Then Mom got serious.

“I’m really sorry, Adeline, for everything. I haven’t been myself. I’ve been depressed and I’ve listened to people who I should have ignored. That damned psychiatrist. Your brother.”

Adeline patted her mother’s hand. “I know. You don’t have to keep apologizing.”

“I want you to know that I just want you to be happy. I don’t care who you love. If you love them, I love them, too.”

The doorbell rang.

“Same with me, Mom.”

Mom let Trembley inside. He kissed his girlfriend and hugged Adeline. He pulled a lollypop out of his pocket, a substitute for the cigarettes he’d given up for his Celeste, before going out to the car and getting armloads of delicious side dishes.

 

December 12, 1982

Ruth clinked her glass of champagne against Adeline’s. Carla had a couple of fires to put out on the set and would be home soon. “What are you going to do now? You’re an adult. Build up that coffee empire again?”

“I don’t think so. I did it once. I want to do something important. Why relive my same life? Trembley already has Mom up to thirty restaurants. I had twelve the last time.” She sipped her champagne. “Spent billions to put a coffee shop on the Moon. Why? Who the hell did I help?”

“I was thinking that when we blasted off,” Ruth said. “What was the point?”

“I don’t want to squander this chance,” Adeline said.

“You could make a big difference as a billionaire,” Ruth said. She looked at the wall of framed photos behind Adeline. Margaret Burton with her Nebula for the show. A scowling Rylan Stemper with his Oscar for best-adapted screenplay last year. Matthew Wallace, the longest of long shots, grinning ear to ear with his Oscar.

“As you well know,” Adeline said. “Oh, don’t worry. I’ll be a billionaire again. Count on it. But I’ll help a few people out along the way.”

Ruth refilled both their glasses. “I think you’ll do whatever you set out to do.”

“And, if I don’t, I’ll just build a damned time machine and try again.”
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MAY/JUNE ISSUE

The first of three powerful novellas in the May/June 2024 issue is Rich Larson’s thrilling tale about a group of “Barbarians.” Complex and brutal interactions and betrayals make this story a true page turner/swiper! Michèle Laframboise takes us aboard an airship, where a young girl wrestles with securing sails, deicing portholes, feathered stowaways, theft, and abuse, and ultimately reveals “Maragi’s Secret”; and, finally, the Old Man resurfaces for one more adventure in William Preston’s exciting tale about a desperate attempt “To Make an End”!

 

ALSO IN MAY/JUNE

Kristine Kathryn Rusch treats us to a memorable story about “Last Thursday”; Elena Pavlova’s first tale for Asimov’s is a stunning take on the unreliable narrator and a violent warning about “Renting to Killers”—this story was translated from Bulgarian by the author and Kalin M. Nenov; other new-to-the-magazine authors include Amal Singh, who deftly explains why “Azarem-2 Is Waiting for a Letter”; Chris Campbell, who turns back the clock in order to examine the mysteries that occur “In the Palace of Science”; and Leonid Kaganov, who introduces us to a terrifying alien known as “The Rattler.” Alex Shvartsman translated the latter tale from Russian. In addition, Christopher Rowe lands “Cynthia in the Subflooring,” and, with his quiet short story about “The Shadow Box,” M. Bennardo reminds us why we all love tales that capture that “sense of wonder.”

 

OUR EXCITING FEATURES

Robert Silverberg’s Reflections introduces us to: “More Shaggy Cousins”; James Patrick Kelly’s On the Net looks at fiction “Lengthwise”; Kelly Jennings’s On Books reviews works by Justin C. Key, Malka Older, Melissa Scott, Martha Wells, and others; Kelly Lagor’s latest Thought Experiment exposes us to “Giant Monsters, Kaiju, and the Bomb in Godzilla”; plus we’ll have an array of poetry and additional features you’re sure to enjoy.

 

NEW!!!

You’ll find our May/June 2024 issue on sale at newsstands on April 9, 2024. Or subscribe to Asimov’s—in paper format or our own downloadable varieties—by visiting us online at www.asimovs.com. We’re also available individually or by subscription via Amazon.com’s Kindle Unlimited, BarnesandNoble.com’s Nook, and Magzter.com/magazines!
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ON BOOKS: IS ENGLISH THE LATIN OF SF?

By Norman Spinrad


 

HOUSE OF GOLD

by C.T. Rwizi 

Amazon Publishing $16.99

LOST MOON

by Brandon Q. Morris

Independently Published $14.99

THE TEN PERCENT THIEF

by Lavanya Lakshminarayan 

Solaris $26.99

 

Well, of course it is, because English is the second language of many places where it isn’t the first language, just as Latin was once the intellectual language everywhere—even when it ceased to be the first language anywhere.

That, however, was long ago, before mass printing, mass travel, before telephones, before radio, film, television, and this is now the twenty-first century. More people may speak Chinese as a first language than speak English as a first language, but more people speak and read English as a second language.

I believe more SF happens to not only be originally written in English, but more SF written in English is translated and published into other languages. Why? Is it just that most of the best SF in the world is written in English?

Or vice versa?

Follow the bottom line. The world publishing business certainly does. Likewise movies, TV, games, and so forth. Because there is a much larger market not only of people whose first language is English, but also whose second language is English.

How did this happen? Well, it is called “English” because it began as the language of the blending of a Germanic language called Angle Deutsch and a Norman French that became the language of the dominant tribe of the British islands, conquering the Welsh, the Scots, and then Ireland, to make Great Britain. Which became the British Empire in North America, in the lion’s share of Africa, and in India, too.

The official and practical language had to be English. Where it wasn’t the first language, the language of the English colonizers, it had to become at the very least the second language of the entire British Empire, or there really couldn’t be a British Empire.

In India alone there were dozens of local languages–likewise in the lands that were ruled by the British Empire in Africa. Without the English language, this vast multicultural colonial empire could not be ruled. And without this vast multicultural empire, English could not have become the Latin of the world.

India is the best example. There are now some billion and a third people in India, more than any citizens of any other nation. Hindi is the official language of India, but it is not the first language of millions of Indians. There are dozens of different languages, none of which is the majority language. But English is the second language of India, and if we include that, more English-speaking people than in Britain, U.S., Canada, Australia, and New Zealand combined.

Therefore India has the largest English reading market in the world. Whatever the first language of any fiction writer may be, however much of any other language in the world may be translated, English has to be the dominant publishing language in the Indian market. Without English translation, none of the local languages can reach the total market.

But why is English the modern Latin of SF?

Because almost with the Indian market alone, more people in the world read English than anything else.

More than enough for a robust Indian publishing industry all by itself.

In English.

And so, if you are an Indian fiction writer, if you can, you write in English.

The first real SF novel is generally agreed to have been written by Mary Shelley in her first language, English. But this is only looking backward; when Frankenstein was written, no one then thought of it as “science fiction,” because no such concept yet existed.

A while later, that concept was more or less created not in English, but in the works of Jules Verne, written in French. But H.G. Wells wrote in English, though what we now consider as science fiction was only part of his fiction. And the two men argued about who wrote the true thing, almost like two SF fans in the twentieth century. Later “scientifiction” became popular magazine fiction in America, where the U.S. magazine publishing readership was by far the biggest market—though the sort of such literature published by these magazines was really closer to what Verne wrote in French than what Welles wrote in English. This fiction eventually became known as “science fiction.”

And indeed, because America had by far a larger market for science fiction than the rest of the English-speaking market, even many British SF writers went after the American market. The heroes and the settings had to be “American,” to the point that some of these British writers pretended to be American.

But, more recently, there has long been a large English publishing and translation business in India.

And since “science fiction” has become so popular in the world at large via Star Trek and Star Wars, why not publish in English? And why should Indian publishers not publish science fiction themselves? And why should they publish imported science fiction when they publish Indian writers writing in English?

Of late, some American and British SF publishers have started to publish novels and stories written elsewhere, as long as they are written directly in English. Why not? As long as they don’t have to pay for translation. What’s the difference?

Well, there might not be much of a difference when it comes to fiction set in a mimetic historical past or mimetic present, but speculative fiction by definition must be set in possible futures, or at least alternate presents or pasts. SF has to be literary fiction created by the writer, and the story must take place in speculative cultures. And therefore, any SF written directly in English, first language or not, cannot help being affected by the culture of the writer.

SF written in English by Americans, tends to be written by sons and daughters of various American subcultures. Although in the not so distant past, the sons and daughters of other Anglo cultures tended to attempt to write as if they were Americans because the U.S. was rightly regarded as the biggest readership, and therefore the largest target of the bottom line.

But the times are beginning to change for writers and would-be writers who write speculative fiction in their second language of English, the second language of the world.

India, being perhaps the largest market for fiction written in English, is potentially the largest market for SF written in English by its own sons and daughters setting their speculative fiction in speculative future Indias, not future Anglo cultures.

And speculative fiction being what it is, conversely, there is no reason why such SF cannot appeal to an Anglo readership.

Thus far, there hasn’t been so much of this kind of thing, and most of it hasn’t been Indian SF set in Indian hard tech futures. But The Ten Percent Thief, by Lavanya Lakshminarayan, is such a novel. Lakshminarayan’s English is perfect, because if it weren’t the novel would not have been published in America; but it is much more than that. It is literarilly excellent, and as technologically advanced hard cyberpunk as anything in modern World English.

And if you didn’t know much more about India than the aurhor’s name, you wouldn’t know that the story was set in any particularly Indian speculative future, but detached from any particular present culture.

However, if you know a little more about present day India, even though The Ten Percent Thief is set in a very distant and extremely technological sophisticated future, you can see that it is an Indian future. Indian place names, Indian personal names, but more than that, Indian sociopolitical culture, past, and present; and here Lavanya Lakshminarayan’s future is a subtly Indian future.

Specifically, she integrates the Indian caste system. In past and current India, the caste system has been rigidly religious, and you would assume the caste of the family you were born into. Whereas in most of the current world, it’s not so much a caste system but a class system. You may or may not be born into a class, you can work your way up to a higher class or fall into a lower class, and it’s a matter of personal economic wealth.

In Lakshminarayan’s future, it’s both, and something much more, much more powerful. There is a rigid class system in which you can rise or fall by what you may or may not accomplish, but within an absolute technological caste system dependent on your very consciousness. How high you rise in this system is determined by how far into the technospheres your consciousness is lifted up and out of the mere ancient biosphere of, well, of an all but literarilly bottom caste.

The ten percent thief is a heroine underground leader, terrorist, and thief, and ultimately the story is that of a revolution of the bottom of the untouchable class-cum-caste. Well, this is a familiar story in SF in general, and the revolution usually wins, because if it doesn’t the story is a tragedy. Which is usually not what a publisher wants, because it is not what most readers want.

And when it comes to the real-world politics and literary politics of the modern Indian Dalit, most of them want more or less not to rise within the caste system, but to replace it at the very least with some kind of class system, usually a democratic one.

And, of course, the story of a revolution by the lower classes usually involves replacing class systems with some kind of class-free democracy.

The Ten Percent Thief is this sort of story, and I would imagine, an angry warning to what is left of the current Indian caste system. But there is also something much more general here, too, and not only the obvious. The 10 percent of the whole culture who are regarded to be simple savages defeat the upper classes with superior technology.

The 90 percent, those classes who live further into the consciousness of the technosphere, leave the base human reality and go into the electronic nowhere land, which they believe makes them superior to the 10 percent at the bottom. However, as the saying goes, they think they have conquered the 10 percent—which they have timewise—but in the end, the 10 percent conquers them, because they can turn what they believe to be their lowly techno garbage into a superior techno weapon that in fact turns their utter reliance on their supposedly superior technology into a weakness that destroys them.

The street finds its uses, which may be the fundamental core of cyberpunk SF. But in this novel, the 10 percent does not overcome the 90 percent with its superior tech, but makes the 90 percent bring themselves down by excessive reliance on their own supposedly superior technology.

Is The Ten Percent Thief “Indian SF” then? Perhaps yes and no. Is English the language of SF, or, in the twenty-first century, is SF becoming the transnational literature of English? Or is it both?

Just as English has become the second language for many of those who are born into something else, and therefore the most common language of our transnational world, it would seem that SF, speculative fiction, is becoming the literature of this transnational culture.

For, after all, modern SF may be predominantly written in English, as it has always been, but it is no longer mainly just the literature of Anglo American culture. As SF must be the literature of speculative possibilities, and not only one possibility, it is the only possible speculative literature of the futures of our many cultures, and/or the speculative fictions of our possible transnational species.

Possible futures not of sovereign nations fighting for domination but futures of peoples, retaining their individual cultures and enjoying the smörgåsbord that is the transformational future of transnational SF.

However, plot and story are not the same thing. Traditional plot is basically good versus evil, with the reader rooting for the good, who must fight the evil and prevail in the end. In most commercial fiction, the plot is the story, and, given the history of science fiction, most of it has been commercial fiction.

But that does not mean that such a plot cannot be the frame for stories that include the political, religious, moral, philosophical, and passionate, the best of which conclude the story in a satisfying epiphany.

This also works with SF when it does.

The Ten Percent Thief is such a story, and so is House of Gold, by C.T. Rwizi. The basic plot of both is the same—revolution of the sympathetic downtrodden versus evil dictatorships. Both rise to the level of literature. Both are set in speculative settings far enough in futures beyond our current present to render race and cultural differences lost in history.

However, there is a difference. The Ten Percent Thief does have just enough political, religious, and cultural connections to the current India to make its speculative fiction subtly read like a future India, at least to an Indian reader, and perhaps to someone like me. But C.T. Rwizi’s House of Gold is something different—to me, to just about any reader, and to the writer himself.

Rwizi’s novel takes place in a future so far from our own that there are no “white” people. This is a universe or at least a galactic future, that is an African future.

Except that it really isn’t.

Once there was a galaxy that included white culture, and its music is still appreciated, but it is gone. None of that is explained or important, because it no longer exists and it has no significance in the story. Race is not a question because it no longer exists, not because there was a race war with winner and loser. The concept just isn’t relevant. There is no question of race because it’s not in this story.

These days there are quite a number of SF novels based on Black and white issues and/or conflict, Black and/or African futures in far futures, or futures set in specific near-future African states or cultures, Black and/or African culture and/or technological superiority.

House of Gold is a speculative novel where all humans are of African descent, period.

According to the about the author blurb on the book: C.T. Rwizi was born in Zimbabwe, grew up in Swaziland, finished high school in Costa Rica, and received a BA in government from Dartmouth College in the United States. He currently lives in South Africa.

And apparently wrote this SF novel in English. Was his first language English? In Zimbabwe? In Swaziland? In Costa Rica? ¿Quien sabe? Does it matter?

Yes and no.

The novel begins in a closed subterranean bubble that seems to be a jail. The prisoners play endless war games against each other under the ruthless jailers. This reality play takes up maybe 25 percent of the novel.

Their consciousnesses have been edited to something both inhuman—as the reader would see it—but also deeply emotional, as they have been programmed to feel it. There are Legacies and Proxies, two-person teams, the Proxy living to serve and protect their Legacy.

And they have been programmed to love each other passionately, and they really do.

And then something or other cracks this underwater jail open, and the main characters, two Legacies with their two Proxies, survive to reach the island of the House of Gold. And they and the readers learn that the underwater cage was a sham—not a jail, but a means of creating reliable soldiers cum cops for the higher reality and technological culture that created them.

From there the novel describes four of these Legacies and their loving Proxies riding a revolution up and up against higher and higher dictatorships, revealing them like a reversed pole of Russian dolls opening each other larger and larger, rather than smaller and smaller.

And the plot from here on is similar to the frame plot of The Ten Percent Thief. But not the story. For one thing, the two main Legacies do want to break the dictatorships,, and even agree they should be replaced by some kind of rule of the people.

But the male Legacy fights to do it by creating chaos, and the female Legacy believes in doing it by clever politics from the inside.

And both of them have been created at the bottom with these personalities and political differences, not so much seeking different results, but different means to do it, making them both allies and enemies.

Initially their Proxies believe their Legacies and love them as they must, and initially serve them as they must. But up in the city and the even larger realities, the male loving his Legacy and the female loving her female, they slowly find themselves passionately and then sexually involved with each other.

And then—

And then I should go no further. House of Gold is to some extent a conventional SF novel, but even as the two Proxies fall in true love, both of them never can escape their true loves for their Legacies. And the way this novel ends with a genuine emphasis on this makes it more than that, makes it SF literature.

Does a writer of SF literature have to write it in English? Many novels written in other languages have been translated into English, but far fewer have been published than the novels written in second-language English.

Even if English becomes a true universal second language, there are, and will be, novels written in other first languages spoken by enough people to make them culturally, literarilly, and economically viable by themselves, such as French, Spanish, perhaps German. But literature written in the first languages of smaller populations such as Finnish, Polish, Swahili, Thai, Hebrew, however great, beautiful, wise, and so forth, can only get the worldwide attention that they deserve, and vice versa, by translation into English.

But then there is Brandon Q. Morris—in SF at least, perhaps the one and only. Anyone who has been following my “On Books” column knows that I regard him as one of the best and most complete speculative writers there currently is. His scientific speculations are as hard and interesting as there is or can be, his novels are literarilly well and humanly knowing literarilly, and he has written in speculative futures from the end of the Universe to such near futures as this current novel Lost Moon: Lunar Eclipse.

So why, I had asked here, hasn’t such a great SF writer been picked up by a major publisher, and why does he continue to self-publish?

To my surprise, he read what I wrote and answered me. He told me he wanted to continue self-publishing because he didn’t want to get involved with the scifi biz. I had wondered whether “Brandon Q. Morris” was someone else’s pseudonym, someone famous who was already publishing too much.

No, he told me. He was a scientist. Which made sense to me, since I knew scientists who didn’t want to be known as “sci-fi fans.”

Then he told me he was a German scientist. Not amazing. Your books are written in German, and get translated into English?

No, he told me, I write both myself.

He asked me not to reveal his true name and didn’t tell me what it was. Okay to tell this much. And I am telling this much, because having known this when I read Lost Moon: Lunar Eclipse, I realized two important things I hadn’t realized before.

Lost Moon both takes place on the Moon about a century in our future, and then in another time zone, and then returns to a later time in our own time zone. This is the plot. But hardly the story.

On the hard science side, a screwed up experiment breaks the Moon from its orbit, and from our Solar System, and propel it about two hundred or so lightyears away to orbit around another star. I will not attempt to explain the hard science of this, except to say I couldn’t do it if I tried, but Morris is able to make it credible speculative science.

There are three main groups on this lost Moon: European, Chinese, and NATO, who have to survive together or not at all. There are political, cultural, and personal differences that must be dealt with, but the story is not what this sort of classical plot might lead you to expect. No physical fighting, no political warfare, no heroes and heroines, no evils. Intelligent and reasonable people forced together against the dire situation.

And I realized that this is not the first time that Morris has made this sort of plot exciting. But with Lost Moon, the story, the personal depth of the characters, their emotions, their friendships, their sexualities blending into love, the sophisticated realities, and even the manner with which they are written, seem to indicate not only a new subtle maturity for Morris, but something rather rare in SF.

Might this have something to do with Morris in effect writing in two first languages? Does that have something to do with his ability to create sympathetic characters from different cultures? Might this be a beginning of something in the future of English not as a kind of universal second language but something else, a different universal first language?

What might that evolve as such a language of the future? Maybe not just imagined in speculative fictions, but, language created by SF itself?

Unlike say French and German, languages determined to defend their purities, English has always done the opposite, eating up words and their usages from all the languages of the planet, and thereby becoming the language with by far the largest vocabulary in the world and still counting.

I saw this, I really did, and it really did work: a skit by the great TV comedian Ernie Kovacs. A German movie team speaking German while shooting a troupe of actors film an Italian Western in Italian.

You really believed that was what you were seeing and hearing.

But it was really all in English.

Many years later, I tried it myself in two novels, The Void Captain’s Tale and Child of Fortune, and not for laughs. They were both set in something like a far galactic future where there was a kind of overall language that everyone could understand—Spracht l called it. But everyone spoke their own personal Lingo, as I called it, that everyone could also understand.

I did not just imagine this. I wrote two novels in Lingo, à la Ernie Kovacs—and what can I say, most people who read them believed they could understand it.

Is English the Latin of SF?

Maybe for now. But in a future, might not Lingos be the English of SF?
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SF CONVENTIONAL CALENDAR

 

Spring is almost here, and with it a lot of convention activity. I haven’t firmed up my schedule yet, but you can be sure I’ll be around. Don’t forget the Glasgow WorldCon later this year, and Seattle in 2025. Plan now for social weekends with your favorite SF authors, editors, artists, and fellow fans. For an explanation of our con(vention)s, a sample of SF folksongs and info on fanzines and clubs, send me an SASE (addressed, stamped #10 [business] envelope to 10 Hill St. #22-L, Newark NJ 07102. The hot line is (973) 242-5999. If a machine answers (with a list of the week's cons), leave a message, and I'll call back on my nickel. When writing cons, send an SASE. For free listings, tell me about your con five months out. Look for me at cons behind a Filthy Pierre badge, playing a musical keyboard. –Erwin S. Strauss

 

FEBRUARY 2024

14-19—Boston Science Fiction Film Festival. For info, write: 10 Hill St., #22-L, Newark NJ 07102. Or phone: (973) 242-5999 (10 am to 10 pm, not collect). (Web) bostonscifi.com (E-mail) info@bostonscifi.com. Con will be held in Somerville (Boston) MA (if city omitted, same as in address) at the Somerville Theater. Guests will include: none announced. Lomg-running event.

15-17—Life, the Universe, and Everything. ltue.net. Provo UT. Aaron Johnston, Rebecca Moesta, others. SF and fantasy.

16-18—RadCon. radcon.org. Red Lion, Pasco WA. In eastern Washington State. Named for the nearby WWII atomic site.

16-18—KatsuCon. katsucon.org. National Harbor MD (near Washington DC). Gaylord National Hotel. Big anime event.

23-25—FenCon. fencon.org. Doubletree by Hilton, Dallas TX (near the Galleria). Mur Lafferty, Lisa Snellings, others.

23-25—ConNooga. connooga.com. Convention Center, Chattanooga TN. Entertainment, multi-fandom and pop culture.

29-3 Mar—Corflu. corflu.org. Gold Coast Hotel and Casino, Las Vegas NV. For enthusiasts of fanzines, especially old ones.

 

MARCH 2024

1-3—CoastCon. coastcon.org. Biloxi Beach Hotel, Biloxi MS. Max Gladstone, Shane Hensley, others. Gaming, SF and fantasy.

8-10—MarsCon. marscon.org. Hilton MSP Airport, Bloomington (Minneapolis) MN. T. Aaron Cisco, M. Merriam, Voltz, others.

15-17—Escapade. escapadecon.net. Embassy Suites by Hilton LAX North, Los Angeles CA. Asults (18+) only. Slash.

22-24—MidSouthCon. midsouthcon.org. Whispering Woods Hotel, Olive Branch MS (near Memphis TN). Elizabeth Bear, others.

28-31—Norwescon. norwescon.org. Doubletree by Hilton Seattle Airport, Seatac WA. Jim Butcher, Charles Vess, others.

29-31—MiniCon. mnstf.org/minicon57. Doubletree by Hilton Park Place, St. Louis Park (Minneapolis) MN. U. Vernon, others.

29-Apr 1—CostumeCon. costumecon42.org. Hyatt, Aurora (Denver) CO. Christine Miller (SewStine). Costumers’ big annual do.

29-Apr 1—UK National Science Fiction Convention. eastercon2024.co.uk. Jackie Burns, Genevieve Cogman, J. Thompson, others.

 

JULY 2024

18-21—Buffalo North American Science Fiction Convention. buffalonasfic2024.org. Alan Dean Foster, Kaja Foglio, others

 

AUGUST 2024

8-12—Glasgow WorldCon. glasgow2024.org. The World Science Fiction Convention. Glasgow UK. C. Baker, T. Windling, others..

 

AUGUST 2025

13-17—Seattle WorldCon. seattlein2025.org. The World Science Fiction Convention. Martha Wells, Donato Giancola, others.

 

AUGUST 2026

12-16—Los Angeles in 2026 WorldCon bid. lain2026.org. A bid to hold the World SF Convention for 2026. Dates estimated.

12-16—Cairo in 2026 WorldCon bid. A bid to hold the World Science Fiction Convention for 2026. Dates estimated.

 

AUGUST 2027

11-15—Tel Aviv in 2027 WorldCon bid. A bid to hold the World Science Fiction Convention for 2027. Dates estimated.

 

AUGUST 2028

9-13—Brisbane in 2028 WorldCon bid. A bid to hold the World Science Fiction Convention for 2028. Dates estimated

9-13—Kampala in 2028 WorldCon bid. A bid to hold the World Science Fiction Convention for 2028. Dates estimated

 

AUGUST 2029

8-12—Dublin in 2029 WorldCon bid. A bid to hold the World Science Fiction Convention for 2029. Dates estimated.

 

AUGUST 2031

13-17—Texas in 2023 WorldCon bid. A bid to hold the World Science Fiction Convention for 2031. Dates estimated.
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